AGENDA

Committee
Date and Time
of Meeting

Venue

Membership

- County Hall
\Y l diff
Neg | G,
(/ Tel: (029) 2087 2000
-.gil- ‘ 3 Neuadd y Sir
CARDIFF E?f&dfﬁﬁv
CAERDYDD

Ffén: (029) 2087 2000

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
TUESDAY, 17 MAY 2016, 2.30 PM
COMMITTEE ROOM 4 - COUNTY HALL

Councillor Richard Cook (Chairperson)
Councillors Boyle, Chaundy, Gordon, Joyce, Morgan, Murphy,
Dianne Rees and Lynda Thorne

Mrs P Arlotte (Roman Catholic representative), Carol Cobert (Church in
Wales representative) and Mrs Hayley Smith (Parent Governor
Representative) & one Parent Governor Representative vacancy

Time
approx.

1 Apologies for Absence 2.30 pm

To receive apologies for absence.

2 Declarations of Interest

To be made at the start of the agenda item in question, in accordance
with the Members’ Code of Conduct.

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 19
April 2016.

4 Care & Social Services Inspectorate Wales - Inspection of 2.35 pm
Children's Services (Pages 7 - 40)

To receive the Inspection Report on Cardiff's Children’s Services
following the inspection in January 2016.

(a) Lead Inspector Pam Clutton will introduce the report and be

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have
saved the Authority approx. £9.06 in printing costs



available to answer questions;
(b) Questions from Committee Members;
(c) Councillor Sue Lent (Cabinet member for Early Years, Children
& Families and Deputy Leader), together with Tony Young
(Director Social Services) will respond to the Inspection Report;
(d) Questions from Committee Members
Children's services Quarter 4 Performance Report (Pages 41 - 78)
This report enables the Committee to review and assess the
performance of Children’s Services across a number of key

performance indicators.

(a) Tony Young (Director of Social Services) will introduce the
briefing and be available to answer questions;

(b) Questions from Committee Members;
Estyn Monitoring Visit Letter (Pages 79 - 94)

This report enables the Committee to be presented with the outcome
letter from the final inspection monitoring visit.

(a) Clive Phillips, Assistant Director will introduce the Monitoring
Visit letter and be available to answer questions;

(b) Questions from Committee Members;

(c) Councillor Sarah Merry ( Cabinet Member for Education)
together with Nick Batchelar (Director of Education and Lifelong
Learning) will respond to the monitoring visit letter;

(d) Questions from Committee Members.

Education Quarter 4 Performance Report (Pages 95 - 132)
This report provides the Committee with an update on the corporate
performance indicators the Education and Lifelong Learning

Directorate.

(a) Councillor Sarah Merry (Cabinet Member for Education) will be
in attendance and may wish to make a statement;

(b) Nick Batchelar (Director of Education and Lifelong learning) will
present the report and be available to answer any questions
Members may have;

(c) Questions from Committee Members.

3.05 pm

4.00 pm

4.30 pm



Specialist Provision for Primary Aged Pupils with Speech and
Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social
Difficulties (Pages 133 - 216)

To provide members of the public with the opportunity to address the
Committee on their views on the proposals.

(a) Martyn Hutchings — Principle Scrutiny Officer, will briefly
introduce the report;

(b) To invite Councillors and members of the public to address the
Committee;

(c) Questions from Committee Members.

Committee Business Iltems

9

10

11

Draft Task & Finish Report on Child Sexual Exploitation in Cardiff
(Pages 217 - 276)

To provide the Committee with copies of the draft report for approval:
(a) Scrutiny Officer to briefly introduce the report;
(b) Members’ questions;
(c) Approval to present the report to Cabinet.

Draft Task Group's Report on visit to schools causing concern
(Pages 277 - 284)

To provide the Committee with copies of the draft report for approval:
(d) Scrutiny Officer to briefly introduce the report;
(e) Members’ questions;

(f) Approval to present the report to Cabinet.

Committee's Draft Annual Report 2015/2016 (Pages 285 - 316)
To provide the Committee with copies of the draft report for approval:
(g) Scrutiny Officer to briefly introduce the report;
(h) Members’ questions;

(i) Approval to present the report to Cabinet.

5.15 pm

6.00 pm



12 Way Forward 6.20 pm
13 Date of next meeting

The next meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny
Committee is Tuesday 14 June 2016 at 2.30 pm.

David Marr

Interim Monitoring Officer

Date: Wednesday, 11 May 2016

Contact: Mandy Farnham,

029 2087 2618, Mandy.Farnham@cardiff.gov.uk

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg



Agenda ltem o5

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
19 APRIL 2016

Present: Councillor Richard Cook (Chairperson), Councillors Boyle, Chaundy,
Gordon, Joyce, Murphy and Dianne Rees

Also: Co-opted Members: Mrs P Arlotte (Roman Catholic representative),
Carol Cobert (Church in Wales representative) and Mrs Hayley Smith
(Parent Governor Representative)

82 : APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Derrick Morgan and Lynda
Thorne.

83 : DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No declarations of interest were received.
84 : MINUTES

The minutes of the meetings held on 12 January 2016, 16 February 2016 and 15
March 2016 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairperson.

85 : EDUCATION DELIVERY PLAN 2016-2018 & CENTRAL SOUTH
CONSORTIUM BUSINESS PLAN 2016-2017

The Chairperson welcomed Angela Kent Head of Achievement and Inclusion, Nick
Batchelar Director of Education and Lifelong Learning, Councillor Sarah Merry
Cabinet Member for Education, Robert Hopkins Head of School Improvement Central
South Consortium and Neil Hardee Head of Performance Resources and Services to
the meeting.

Nick Batchelar presented the Directorate Delivery Plan for Education to the
Committee.

The Chairperson invited questions and comments from Members:

¢ Members asked to be directed to the page in the delivery plan that addresses
the catchment area issues affecting many schools in Cardiff. Officers advised
that page 33 of the Plan contained this information, however Members
considered that there was not enough information on this issue detailed.

e Members made reference to the Directorate Action 4.1 ‘Further develop
working relationships with health, children’s services and other partners to
promote a single approach to assessment, planning and provision’; and asked
what this would mean in practice and if budgets would be pooled. Officers
stated that this was included as a corporate commitment, it was early days,
the consultation period had recently finished and they were exploring options.
With regards to pooling budgets, officers stated that they would be having
discussions with the partners, however this would not be ruled out; officers

Page 1



were looking at collaboration between schools and between local authorities
and other stakeholders as there were significant challenges and financial
pressures on the Additional Learning Needs area of provisions.

Members made reference to priority 4 — ‘Improve the availability of appropriate
school places across the city’ and noted that in this section of the plan, only
primary schools were referenced. Officers explained that projected numbers
are known and that there are sufficient places in Secondary schools at the
current time therefore the focus was on Primary School places as this was
where the pressures were being felt.

Members discussed the Youth Service and where it fitted with Education.
Officers stated that there would be tighter alignment going forward, it was
noted that budgets were reducing but more efficient and effective working was
in place with the new structures that were in place; there would be a focus on
pupil outcomes and their impact on wellbeing and accredited attainment.
Officers made reference to a grant from the European Social Fund which
would enable more resource to be targeted towards joining up schools and the
youth service and providing wider support. It was added that provision needed
to be appropriate and balanced, there needed to be recreational aspects to it
rather than providing provision that prolonged the school day.

Members expressed concern regarding the transition between school and
employment and training, noting that due to reduction in budgets, not as much
support could be offered as was previously.

Members noted the reference made to the European Social Fund and asked
what would happen if the United Kingdom left the European Union following
the referendum. It was considered that this was a question to be taken back
to the Leader.

Members were disappointed that the plan did not contain any performance
measures or timescales. Officers understood these frustrations and explained
that it was a draft plan that would be completed, finalised and brought back to
committee.

With reference to the appointment of a Head teacher at a secondary school in
the west of the City, Members asked for timescales for this process. Officers
advised that the application process had finished and that the appointments
process with the temporary Governing Body would begin within the next week.

Members asked when the ‘Planning for the Future’ section of the Plan would
be finished and were advised that all actions in the plan would be populated
by the end of the month.

Members referred to the ‘Context, Opportunities and Challenges’ section
within the plan, noted that they were all bullet points and asked if these would
be expanded upon. Officers explained that they are broad headings and that
there would be a range of actions below them.

Members asked for clarification on what was meant by rationalisation of
centrally held school budgets. Officers explained that there is centrally held

Page 2



budget for schools for projects such as Wi-Fi or energy schemes, whereby
efficiencies could be made by borrowing and putting such schemes into
schools across the board rather than doing so on a piece meal basis;
therefore, there were retained budgets for such projects.

Robert Hopkins presented the Directorate Delivery Plan for the Consortia to the
Committee. Members were advised that the priorities for the next year were based
on an analysis of the self-evaluation process.

The Chairperson invited questions and comments from Members:

e Members noted that certain operational aspects would be taken from the
Council to the Consortia and asked for clarification on what these would be.
Members were advised that the Directors of 5 local authorities meet regularly
and take decisions of where there is scope to collaborate; decisions had been
taken on collaboration on 14/19 services; HR/Advice services (particularly for
under performing schools), Governor training and data production.

e Members referred to Improvement Priority One, objective 1.1 and particularly
to ‘Increase the supply of secondary mathematics teachers in the region
through a dedicated recruitment drive’ and asked for an update on this.
Members were advised that this was a commitment, mathematics had been
problematic so it was a current issue to address; giving it a higher profile and
making recruitment more attractive to the region. There had been a recent
recruitment event which had promoted leadership and working in the area and
over 100 people had attended including head teachers who spoke about their
experiences of working in the region.

e Members discussed immersion and asked if there was any progress on the
establishment of an immersion centre for people with EAL needs. Officers
noted that this had been a debate that had been ongoing for many years, and
that evidence had showed that immersion into the classroom environment had
been most beneficial. Members discussed Welsh Language immersion
EMTAS and considered that they needed more information on the respective
budgets.

e Members were concerned with some wards being over capacity with children
with EAL needs and that Cardiff had not yet started receiving the Syrian
refugee families.

The Chairperson thanked Robert Hopkins for this contribution to the Committee and
wished him well on his retirement.

The Chairperson thanked the Cabinet Member, representatives from the Consortia
and officers for attending the meeting, giving their presentations and statements and
for answering Members questions.

AGREED - That the Chairperson writes on the Committee’s behalf to the Cabinet
Member to convey their comments and observations.

Page 3



86 : CHILDREN'S SERVICES ELEMENT OF THE SOCIAL SERVICES
DELIVERY PLAN 2016 -18

The Chairperson welcomed Councillor Sue Lent Cabinet Member Early Years,
Children and Families, Tony Young Director Social Services and Irfan Alam Assistant
Director Children’s Services to the meeting.

The Chairperson invited the Director of Social Services to introduce the Directorate
Delivery Plan. Members were advised that the plan outlined Core business, key
outcomes, aspirations and achievements and that performance had improved
significantly in the directorate in the last year.

The Chairperson invited questions and comments from Members:

e Members asked for clarification on the number of Agency staff that worked in
the directorate; officers advised that the number had been eroded on yearly
basis but it wasn’t specifically referenced in the plan; Officers agreed to
provide the figures to Members.

e Members made reference to vacancy levels and the employee pool and asked
how this would work in practice. Officers explained that vacancies would be
filled and the recruitment process would be continued, posts would be created
and filled from the pool; there would be seven grade 7 social workers in the
pool to service the whole Children’s Services Directorate; they would be based
in the Intake and Assessment team initially as the turnover of work is greater,
then when they are allocated caseloads they can transfer to the relevant
section with that case load making it less disruptive for the service user.

e Members noted that the current turnover was noted in the report as being
zero, it was noted this was an error and the correct figure would be relayed to
Members.

e Members discussed the time taken for schools to refer children to social
services and asked if this would be addressed in the delivery plan. Officers
considered that the referral process was timely and that there were prescribed
timescales to adhere to, however sometimes a school may consider a referral
to be urgent when in fact it isn’t so there could be misconceived delays. It was
added that going forward officers would have to work with partners to
understand the processes, and working with MASH and JAF would help; the
relationship with schools would need to be reengineered to become more of a
partnership approach.

e Members discussed the Family First Strategy and reiterated previous
concerns about management and leadership arrangements when transferred
from the community to Children’s Services. Officers explained that they were
not planning to make any changes, the strategy was highly prescribed and the
status quo would remain. It was added that the strategy would be aligned with
the Early Help Strategy. Officers welcomed the transfer to Children’s services
and explained that they would work with partners and third sector
organisations to ensure that the early help offer was as good as could be. It
was added that information would be shared with Committee in an open and
transparent way in order that officers are held to account.

Page 4



The Chairperson thanked the Cabinet Member, representatives from the Consortia
and officers for attending the meeting, giving their presentations and statements and
for answering Members questions.

AGREED - That the Chairperson writes on the Committee’s behalf to the Cabinet
Member to convey their comments and observations.

87 : DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The date of the next meeting was noted as being Tuesday 17 May 2016 at 2.30pm.
It was also noted that there would be a call in meeting on the same day starting at
11.00am.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

17 MAY 2016

Care & Social Services Inspectorate Wales - Inspection of Children’s
Services in Cardiff

Reason for the Report

1. The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is responsible for
scrutinising the performance of Children’s (Social) Services. This report
provides a copy of the Inspection Report resulting from an inspection
undertaken in January 2016 by the Care & Social Services Inspectorate

Wales. A copy of the Inspection Report is attached at Appendix A.
Issues

2. The Inspection was focused around the following five themes:
a) Theme 1: Providing direction.- page 9
b) Theme 2: Delivering Social Services - page 12.
c) Theme 3: Shaping Services Page - 16.
d) Theme 4: Access Arrangements page - 18.

e) Theme 5: Assessment Care Management- page 21.

3. The Inspection Report, published in March 2016, highlights a number of
positives as well as areas for improvement. The report’s

recommendations for improvement are:

Providing Direction

(i) Strong political and corporate support for Children’s Services should
be continued in order to achieve the Council’s vision for children and
young people in Cardiff, while continuing to manage the consistent

high volume of demand on statutory services.

Page 7



(i) The Council must strengthen the operational plans to support the
effective co-ordination of the remodelling of Children’s Services and

its interface with the Early Help Strategy.

(iii) The Council should assure itself that arrangements for
accommodation and ‘agile working’ which it was planning to

implement will support effective social work.

Delivering Social Services

(iv) The Workforce Strategy should be fully implemented to maximise
retention of staff and action taken to promote more timely

recruitment of staff.

(v) The Council should consider how it can increase the opportunities
for staff to be engaged in the development and transformation of
services; and for the voices of children and their families to be

included in service planning.

(vi) Staff must have the capacity to complete the training which has been

identified to support their professional development.

(vii) The quality assurance framework should be systematically
implemented across Children’s Services. This should include

management oversight of the quality and frequency of supervision.

Shaping Services

(viii) The Council must review its arrangements to ensure services can
meet the needs of children and young people, particularly for those
being subjected to domestic violence.

(ix) A timely review of the effectiveness and the impact on outcomes for
people of the remodelling of children’s services and its interface with
the Early Help Strategy should be included in the planning

arrangements.

Page 8



Access Arrangements

(x) A range of user-friendly information should be developed and made
easily accessible for families, children and young people not only
with respect to signposting to preventative services but also how

Children’s Services carries out its work.

(xi) The Council must develop more effective arrangements to ensure
that the needs of children and young people are assessed if contacts

and referrals about their well-being are repeated.

(xii) The Council must work with partners to agree a shared

understanding of the threshold for statutory services.

(xiii) Careful consideration should be given to how the current effective
interface between ‘children’s access point and the intake and
assessment teams’ is maintained when the remodelling of the

service is implemented.

(xiv) Arrangements for Children’s Services staff to access information

held on parents who are users of adult services should be reviewed.

(xv) The ‘out of hours’ arrangements for the completion of ‘welfare
checks’ on children and young people should be agreed with partner
agencies.

Assessment Care Management

(xvi) The quality of plans should be improved to be more outcome-

focused and reflect the needs identified in the assessments.

(xvii) Work to agree a model of risk assessment should be completed with

a strong focus on consistency in risk management.

Page 9



(xviii)More emphasis should be given to recording the views of children,

young people and their families.

(xix) The Council should review the use of written agreements with
families which should only be used within safeguarding or public law
outline arrangements. Guidance for social workers and managers for

their use should be developed.
Scope of Scrutiny

4. Members may wish to note the contents of the Inspection report and to
make any recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Early Years,

Children & Families and Director of Social Services.
Way Forward

5. Members are invited to consider the information set out in the attached
report and presentation from the inspector to identify any issues on

which they would wish to receive further information.

6. Councillor Sue Lent, Cabinet Member for Early Years, Children &
Families has been invited and may make a statement. Tony Young,
Director of Social Services may wish to comment on the Inspection
Report, and explain the actions being developed to address the areas for

improvement.
Legal Implications

7. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend, but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations
in this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal
implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the
matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications.

Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to the

Page 10



Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those
recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council
must (a) be within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any
procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the
body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be
undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by
the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and properly
informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and

proper in all the circumstances.

Financial Implications

8. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend, but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations
in this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct
financial implications at this stage in relation to any of the work
programme. However, financial implications may arise if and when the
matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications.
Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to
Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those

recommendations.
RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to consider the contents of the report
attached at Appendix A and provide the Cabinet Member and Director

of Social Services with any comments or concerns.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



@CSSIW

Alg thIGw ethau Cmdh ol Cymru
and Social Services Ins

Inspection of
Services

in City of
Cardiff Council




Mae'r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.
This document is also available in Welsh.

OGL © crown copyright 2016 WG28359  Digital ISBN 9781F)?a.@5é 14



Contents

Introduction

Summary

Recommendations

Findings

Theme 1: Providing direction
Theme 2: Delivering Social Services
Theme 3: Shaping Services

Theme 4: Access Arrangements

Theme 5: Assessment Care Management

Appendix

Page 15

12

16

18

21

25



Introduction

Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) undertook an
inspection of children’s services in the City of Cardiff Council in January 2016.
Inspectors looked at the access arrangements for children and young people
and their families who were either referred for care and support or where
information was received about children’s well-being. This inspection included
reviewing the effectiveness of the interface between preventative and
statutory provision; there was no focus on services for disabled children. We
considered the quality of outcomes achieved for children and families who
received a service. Inspectors read case files and interviewed staff, managers
and professionals from partner agencies. An electronic staff survey was
carried out across children’s services. Wherever possible, they talked to
children, young people and their families. In addition, inspectors evaluated
what the local authority knew about how well it was performing and what
difference it was making for the people who it was trying to help, protect and
look after. We also considered how the council had made preparation for the
implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

According to the 2014 mid-year estimates, Cardiff had a population of
354,000. This compares with an average population in the South East region
of 150,000. The 0-17 population was 73,087 in 2014; the next highest local
authority population in Wales for this age group for the same period was
49,977.

As Wales's largest city it also has the most diverse population, and although it
contains areas of significant affluence, there are also those of considerable
social-economic disadvantage. This demography is reflected in the demand
for statutory services, with 4,195 referrals screened from 28,354 contacts
received during 2014/15. The authority has developed a strategy to assist in
the management of this high volume of needs presented to children’s services
and was on the cusp of remodelling the ‘access arrangements’ at the time of
the inspection.

The inspection team would like to thank City of Cardiff elected members, staff,

partner agencies and the children, young people and families who contributed
to this inspection.

Page 16



Summary

Theme 1: Providing Direction

The council was committed to prioritising services that support those who are
most vulnerable, but had to deliver this against a backdrop of a declining
budget and increasing demand. There was strong corporate support for
children’s services which had a high profile across the council. Elected
members and the corporate management team demonstrated a common
understanding of the direction and drive needed to ensure the service
effectively supported improved outcomes for children and young people in
Cardiff.

Scrutiny arrangements had been strengthened. Partner agencies were well
engaged strategically and evidenced understanding of the complex issues
facing the authority. There were some inconsistencies between the
effectiveness of strategic and operational arrangements, but overall inter-
agency working was effective.

There was a clear strategic direction articulated for children’s services which
was effectively led by the director of social services There was a high level of
confidence expressed in the leadership arrangements, particularly considering
the relatively short time these had been in place. While the senior
management team had a common understanding of the approach being
planned to remodel the service, overall the workers were less clear about how
the operational arrangements would translate into practice.

Theme 2: Delivering Social Services

There had been a high level of staff vacancy during 2014/15 (31%) but
investment in workforce planning had resulted in improvement in the ability to
recruit suitably qualified and experienced staff. This focus will need to be
maintained in order to increase staff retention; sustain the progress made;
and further reduce the need to employ agency workers. The planned
remodelling of the service will require a suitably experienced workforce if it is
to be successful in reducing the demand for statutory services, and support
better outcomes for children and young people living in the community.

Staff morale was generally positive and the senior management team were
well regarded by staff. There was a degree of anxiety about the ’agile working’
arrangements and relocation of services which were about to be
implemented. Workers valued the accessibility of managers, and peer support
from team members in assisting them to manage the high volume of work. It
was not clear at the time of the inspection how the change of arrangements
would impact their effectiveness. There were also potential changes ahead for
the senior management structure which could pose a threat for the recently
stabilised team.

Performance management was well embedded across the service and the
need to review the supervision policy and ensure it was more consistently

Page 17



applied throughout the service had been identified. Quality assurance was
inconsistent and dependent on individual managers. A detailed quality
assurance framework had been developed but had not been implemented.

Theme 3: Shaping Services

Corporate and senior officers evidenced good strategic preparation for the
impending implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act
2014. Senior managers were able to articulate how the remodelled services
and the early help strategy would deliver the intended outcomes. The plans
for the overall co-ordination of the services were not fully developed at the
time of the inspection. This was reflected in staff's lack of confidence in their
readiness for operational changes.

The high demand for family support services and the volume of contacts with
children services (particularly with respect to domestic violence) was marked.
Managers and social workers were optimistic about the plans for improving
early preventative services but had concerns about whether the capacity and
range of services would be increased to meet the high level of needs being
presented.

There was evidence of communication with staff who were kept informed of
the key developments in the re-modelling of ‘early help and targeted services’.
There were few opportunities for the workforce to contribute their knowledge
and expertise and be engaged in the remodelling of the service. The
participation of children and young people appeared to be restricted to the
looked after population which, while valuable in itself, did not impact on the
reshaping of the ‘access arrangements’.

Theme 4: Access arrangements

The arrangements for managing contacts and referrals were well organised
and mainly effective. The volume of work coming into the service was very
high and numbers of contacts had increased significantly since 2014.

Timeliness for managing contacts and referrals had improved in the first two
guarters of 2015/16 but remained an area for progress. The recording of
previous history of multiple contacts was inconsistent and did not support
effective risk assessment.

Thresholds between ‘early help’ and statutory social services interventions
were generally appropriate but inspectors were informed there was a lack of
capacity within community-based support services.

Workers were not confident that partner agencies always understood the
threshold for statutory services. While staff reported mainly positive working
relationships, there were occasions when partners appeared to exert
influence to ensure that child protection procedures were instigated
unnecessarily.

Page 18



The timeliness of initial assessments had also improved in the two quarters of
2015/16 before the inspection took place. The quality of the initial assessment
work reviewed was mainly good, though it was not always apparent whether
children had been seen.

Children and young people who were, or were likely to be at risk of harm were
identified and work was appropriately undertaken to help keep them safe. The
arrangements for child protection enquiries and investigations including those
which were outside working hours were timely and effective.

Theme 5: Assessment Care Management

The needs of the child were kept at the forefront of assessments but the
recording of children‘s and families’ views on case files reviewed was
inconsistent.

Core assessments seen were comprehensive and good quality. This quality
was not reflected in care and support plans reviewed. Plans were formulaic
and did not identify outcomes and measures which when reviewed would
indicate where progress had been made.

Transfer arrangements between teams worked well to support the flow of
work and weekly meetings had been initiated to improve the process. Workers
were clear about the process with the majority expressing satisfaction with the
transparency and fairness of case allocation.

Workloads were reported to be manageable and proactively reviewed,
although this was dependent on workers bringing cases rather than managers
having a system in place. In some cases reviewed, families were not engaged
in the step down services before the case was closed. This will need to be
addressed if families are to sustain progress made while receiving social work
support. Workers reported that supervision was regularly completed but there
was no performance management system in place to capture the frequency.
The quality of support and management oversight was mainly positive but the
loss of a team manager post has significantly increased the team caseload for
some managers. Informal management support was readily available and
valued by staff.

Child protection procedures were well understood by staff, and despite the
variable quality of child protection plans reviewed, families were being
supported to keep children safe.

The use of a number of different ‘family agreements’ was noted, some of
which were outside safeguarding and public law outline arrangements. This
practice needs to be reviewed so that social workers and managers are clear
about their use and effectiveness.

The threshold for instigating the Public Law Outline (PLO) on cases reviewed
was appropriate and arrangements to seek legal advice were effective. The
system for identifying cases to be considered for PLO was not so defined and

5
Page 19



a number of children had been on the child protection register (CPR) for over
two years.

Page 20



Recommendations

Providing Direction

1.

Strong political and corporate support for children’s services should be
continued in order to achieve the council’s vision for children and young
people in Cardiff, while continuing to manage the consistent high volume
of demand on statutory services.

The council must strengthen the operational plans to support the
effective co-ordination of the remodelling of children’s services and its
interface with the Early Help Strategy.

The council should assure itself that arrangements for accommodation
and ‘agile working’ which it was planning to implement will support
effective social work.

Delivering Social Services

4.

The workforce strategy should be fully implemented to maximise
retention of staff and action taken to promote more timely recruitment of
staff.

The council should consider how it can increase the opportunities for
staff to be engaged in the development and transformation of services;
and for the voices of children and their families to be included in service
planning.

Staff must have the capacity to complete the training which has been
identified to support their professional development.

The quality assurance framework should be systematically implemented
across children’s services. This should include management oversight of
the quality and frequency of supervision.

Shaping Services

8.

The council must review its arrangements to ensure services can meet
the needs of children and young people, particularly for those being
subjected to domestic violence.

A timely review of the effectiveness and the impact on outcomes for
people of the remodelling of children’s services and its interface with the
Early Help Strategy should be included in the planning arrangements.

Page 21



Access Arrangements

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

A range of user-friendly information should be developed and made
easily accessible for families, children and young people not only with
respect to signposting to preventative services but also how children’s
services carries out its work.

The council must develop more effective arrangements to ensure that
the needs of children and young people are assessed if contacts and
referrals about their well-being are repeated.

The council must work with partners to agree a shared understanding of
the threshold for statutory services.

Careful consideration should be given to how the current effective
interface between ‘children’s access point and the intake and
assessment teams’ is maintained when the remodelling of the service is
implemented.

Arrangements for children’s services staff to access information held on
parents who are users of adult services should be reviewed.

The ‘out of hours’ arrangements for the completion of 'welfare checks’ on
children and young people should be agreed with partner agencies.

Assessment Care Management

16.

17.

18.

19.

The quality of plans should be improved to be more outcome-focused
and reflect the needs identified in the assessments.

Work to agree a model of risk assessment should be completed with a
strong focus on consistency in risk management.

More emphasis should be given to recording the views of children,
young people and their families.

The council should review the use of written agreements with families
which should only be used within safeguarding or public law outline
arrangements. Guidance for social workers and managers for their use
should be developed.

Page 22



Key Findings

Theme 1: Providing Direction

What we expect to see

Leadership management and governance arrangements comply with
statutory guidance and together establish an effective strategy for the
delivery of good quality services and outcomes for children, young
people and their families. The authority works with partners to deliver
help, care and protection for children and young people and fulfils its
corporate parenting responsibilities for looked after children. Leaders,
managers and elected members have a comprehensive knowledge and
understanding of practice and performance to enable them to discharge
their responsibilities effectively.

1. Leadership, management and governance arrangements complied with
statutory guidance.

2. Elected members interviewed had a good understanding of how to
interrogate performance and were well informed of the strategic direction
of children’s services.

3. There were high aspirations to develop an authority-wide approach to
improving outcomes for children and young people in Cardiff.

4. There was a clear strategic direction articulated for children’s services
which was effectively led by the director of social services.

5. Corporate changes in working conditions could impact on the working
arrangements which support effective social work.

6. Safeguarding and the development and improvement of children’s
services had a high corporate profile.

7. The voices of children and young people were not sufficiently captured
or used to provide assurance that services were effective.

8.  Senior staff and partners were clearly committed to driving forward the
preventative and early help agenda; however, staff had not been
sufficiently engaged in these developments.

9. Staff and partners commented favourably on the increased visibility and
improved leadership of the senior management team.

Page 23




Explanation of findings

1.1

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

Corporate support for the improvement of the effectiveness of supporting
children and young people to achieve better outcomes was evidenced
by:

o considerable investment in promoting improvement in children’s
services - using expert advice to support better practice and
strengthen scrutiny arrangements;

o a Cardiff Partnership Board chaired by the chief executive officer
has agreed priorities for actions needed to improve outcomes;

o corporate officers, elected members and senior managers share an
understanding of the work and resources needed to successfully
implement the strategic plans to transform children’s services

o strong corporate support for the development of Cardiff's Early
Help strategy.

There was a high level of confidence in the director of social services’
leadership and ability to advocate for children’s services on corporate
and partnership agendas. Inter-directorate communication and
collaboration was reported to have significantly improved since the
director of social services had taken up his post.

Strong performance management and reporting mechanisms which
included opportunities to challenge kept elected members well informed.
There were no mechanisms in place for elected members and corporate
officers to hear the views of children, young people and their families
using the intake and assessment service.

The strategic direction developed for the service evidenced good
preparation for the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being
(Wales) Act 2014. However, workers were less confident that they were
fully trained and prepared.

There was evidence of good communication and joint working between
partners at a strategic level. This included plans for the development of a
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub which was regarded optimistically as the
way forward for the better management of the demand for statutory
services. Senior managers were more cautious about this but did believe
that potentially thresholds could be more consistent and that joint
investigations would be more effective. Operationally, workers
expressed concern that they were not adequately prepared for the
changes in the intake arrangements and that operational detailed plans
were under-developed.

The senior management team were highly motivated to implement the
proposals for the transformation of children’s services. There was a

10
Page 24



constructive collaborative approach to managing change, despite the
possibility that there could be an impact on them individually. The
impending change to the post of assistant director and the requirement
for all operational managers to apply for their own posts had the
potential to impact on the effectiveness of the team.

11
Page 25



Key Findings

Theme 2: Delivering social services

What we can expect to see

Services are delivered by a suitably qualified, experienced and competent
workforce that is able to meet the needs of children, young people and
their families. The council is able to ensure that staff and services meet
the standards that have been set for them.

Key findings

1.

The ability to recruit suitably qualified staff has been improved by
investment in the recruitment strategy, but some managers reported
delays in the recruitment process.

There was a culture of supportive management that prioritised staff well-
being and promoted their professional development which was valued by
staff.

There was a good range of training opportunities but staff reported they
did not always have the capacity to take them up.

Workers interviewed valued the support available for them to complete a
first year in practice’ programme.

The quality of supervision recording was inconsistent across case and
staff files.

Staff morale was positive despite some anxiety about capacity to manage
the high level of demand at the ’front door".

Workers were concerned that the impending moves to ‘agile working’ and
relocation of the service may impact on the opportunity for management
oversight, effective peer support and ‘shared learning’ ethos within teams.

Performance management was well embedded and understood across
the service.

A draft quality assurance framework had been developed but this had not
been implemented; there was limited service user feedback or
organisational learning from complaints.

12
Page 26




Findings

Explanation of findings

2.1

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

Senior managers were kept well-informed of workforce capacity issues
and a draft workforce strategy had been developed. All vacancies were
covered by agency staff at the time of the inspection, but cover for
sickness and other staff absences was provided by existing staff.
Although overall the percentage of vacancies across children’s services
had reduced, there were still 33 vacancies (23%) at the end of
December 2015, with 11 of these posts in the appointment process.

The intake and assessment service experienced a high level of
vacancies over the previous 12 months. It was reported that during
December 2015, staff had to work long hours to ensure that the service
was effective although they were well supported by mangers during this
period. Senior managers were well aware of the need to build more
resilience in the workforce. There was evidence that the high rates of
vacancies and sickness, combined with turnover of social workers, was
impacting on continuity and the progress of work with some families.
Managers and workers were very conscious of this and efforts were
made to minimise the effect whenever possible.

The remodelling of the service has been designed to support better
retention of staff and all workers interviewed were positive about working
in Cardiff, with some agency staff agreeing to become permanent
employees.

Morale amongst workers interviewed was good, but the staff survey
indicated this was not consistent across the service. The majority of
concerns expressed in the survey were about volume of work, retention
of staff, and the changes to working arrangements. There was a level of
optimism about the plans to increase the preventative approach and the
new models of intervention being introduced. The authority had made
attempts to engage with the workforce by carrying out a staff survey in
2015 and had developed a number of communication and engagement
strategies. It was apparent that, given the risk posed to staff morale by
multiple changes to both models of service and working conditions, there
needed to be more focus on engaging representatives from all teams
and different roles in the planning process.

The experience and long-term local knowledge of the service inherent in
the operational manager group had provided stability and continuity for
the service. Although not co-located, workers were confident they could
access senior managers. The team managers were on the whole a
stable and experienced group who were valued for their support and
approachability. It was evident that social workers and managers
particularly in the intake and assessment service had developed
effective working relationships.

13
Page 27



Quote from a team manager

"Staff are getting on well with the day job, with a strong focus on better
outcomes for children and young people, ensuring that safety and effective
management of risk is central to everything they do.”

Quote from Operational Manager
“Social workers in the CAP team would stay at their desks until all their work
was completed no matter how late it was.”

2.6. These arrangements were mutually supportive and improved the

capacity in the service, particularly for managing the high demand and
the risks. There was anxiety amongst this staff group that the agile
working arrangements about to be introduced, the relocation of the
teams, and the move of the Children’s Access Point (CAP) team into the
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) would impact on their positive
working environment. While accepting that these significant changes
were being introduced to improve the ability of the service to respond to
the needs of people, staff expressed their concern about a lack of
detailed planning. Senior managers did not appear to have clearly
communicated the plans for a phased introduction of MASH, nor the
chief executive officer’'s undertaking that corporate resources would be
made available. Crucially, workers need to be engaged better in the
change process to reduce the possibility of destabilising the workforce
and the disruption of service delivery.

2.7. Workers interviewed were positive about the support for the ‘first year in

2.8.

practice’ programme, although the co-ordination was said to be affected
by variation in the numbers of staff who were in the programme.
Individually, social workers were positive about managers’ support for
their personal development and were able to give examples of how they
had benefited. There was also a comprehensive programme of relevant
training available with an effective system in place to facilitate its
delivery. The consistent demand on workers’ capacity was reported to
have impacted on their ability to attend planned training.

Performance management was well embedded across the service with
effective mechanisms in place to collect and disseminate information.
Data was systematically discussed at management meetings and
compensatory actions agreed to address any dips in performance.
Workers interviewed were all aware of the standards expected by the
service and that managers used the Care First System to generate
reports on whether timescales were being met. Timeliness for making
decisions on referrals and completing assessments had improved over
the previous six months, but this was still vulnerable to increases in
demand and unplanned staff vacancies. The remodelling of the ‘front

14
Page 28




door’ services poses a potential risk to performance and this will need to
be monitored closely during the transition period.

2.9. A draft quality assurance framework had been developed but had not yet
been implemented. Case file audits undertaken by inspectors indicated
that quality assurance of assessment and planning work and feedback to
staff was inconsistent across the service and dependent on individual
managers. Supervision notes reviewed confirmed this view. There were
some examples of managers keeping good practice files which could be
shared more consistently across the service. Whilst peer supervision
had been recently introduced, opportunities for both formal and informal
sharing of good practice and experience were limited by the high
demand on capacity.

2.10. Information about making a complaint was not routinely provided to
children, young people and their families and this was evidenced on files
reviewed.

2.11. Systems were in place with a clear role for the complaints officer (which
was followed) but complaints are not routinely investigated within the
prescribed timescales nor reasons for delay clearly evidenced.
Investigations of complaints at Stage 1 and written responses did not
always address all the issues raised leading to escalation. The format
and tone of letters seen by inspectors was at times confrontational and
should be reviewed.

Good practice

One team manager had introduced a buddy system for social workers which
not only supported less experienced workers but improved continuity for
families.

Quote from staff survey

“Difficulties in recruitment and retention impact my day-to-day work and more
importantly the families and children who require support from the local
authority.”

Quote from case track interviews ‘an agency worker’

‘S’ spoke very highly of the supervision she receives and of the support of her
team. She described her Principal Social Worker as “amazing”. She is
enjoying the challenges of working in such an ethnically diverse authority.
She also commented on the availability of the Operation Manager and quoted
ringing her from court, getting through straight away, having a decision and
being able to report straight back to the court.

15
Page 29




Theme 3: Shaping Services

What we can expect to see

The services and support for children, young people and their families
improves their outcomes. Work with partners in shaping the pattern and
delivery of services is informed by local needs analysis assessment and
includes the views and experiences of children and young people.
Strategic plans are converted into commissioning arrangements which
provide safe, quality services and deliver best value

Key findings

1.

Sound preparation for the implementation of the Social Services and
Well-being (Wales) Act was evidenced in the strategic direction outlined
by the authority.

The strategy for remodelling early preventative services was ambitious,
well-developed and had been jointly developed with partner agencies.

There was a lack of engagement and consultation with staff around the
implementation of plans to support the early prevention strategy and the
remodelling of the service.

There was an unmet need for the high demand for support services for
the victims and perpetrators of domestic violence, and workers also
reported a lack of capacity in the community support services which
impacted on families moving to non-statutory interventions.

The voice of the child was not evident in shaping service planning.

Senior managers were able to articulate how families would benefit from
the strategy to develop an integrated approach to preventative and
targeted service provision, but operational plans to co-ordinate the whole
model were under-developed.

16
Page 30




Findings

Explanation of findings

3.1. A number of developments indicated that the authority had made good

strategic preparation for the implementation of the Social Services and
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014:

An ‘Early Help’ strategy designed to make prevention everybody’s
business with a strong partnership approach was in place.

The remodelling of the ‘first point of contact’ access to services
helping to provide information, advice and assistance.

The development of a range of services to help prevent children and
young people needing to be looked after.

3.2. More work is needed to plan for the co-ordination and interface between

these developments and statutory services. Workers expressed concern
that they had not been sufficiently engaged in the scoping and planning

of the remodelled service. It was not evident that children, young people
and families had been consulted about the new developments.

3.3. Staff had concerns about the current lack of capacity for some crucial

3.4.

support services, particularly those for families experiencing domestic
violence and primary mental health care. It was not clear how the
demand for these services would be met, and the opportunities to
reduce repeat contacts and referrals and promote better emotional well-
being for those affected could be maximised.

Although the views of families had been sought with respect to the
development of the ‘Early Help’ strategy, there had been no consultation
with respect to the remodelling of children’s services.

Quotes from staff survey

“There has been an important commitment of resource to develop
arrangements for early intervention and prevention. The longer-term
ambition is to reduce numbers coming through needing higher tier
interventions.”

“There has been good vision and leadership shown by senior managers
in developing the Early Help Strategy. There is also a commitment to
continuous improvement, for instance, the development of restorative
practice, the introduction of signs of safety and the remodelling of
children’s services.”

17
Page 31




Theme 4. Access Arrangements

What we expect to see

First contact services are readily accessible and prompt in their
response. Children, young people and families are offered help
appropriately and proportionate to risks when need and/or concerns are
identified. Thresholds between “early help” (the provision of
information, advice and signposting) and statutory social services
interventions are appropriately understood and are operating effectively.

Key findings

1. Children and young people in need of protection received a timely and
effective service, including ‘out of hours’ to help keep them safe.

2. Access arrangements were well organised but there was no system in
place to monitor repeat contacts; this resulted in a lack of timely
preventative support for some children.

3. There was a lack of clarity about the system to access information from
adult services when screening contacts and referrals.

4. There was insufficient analysis of the very high volume of contacts from
partner agencies into the intake service.

5.  Appropriate thresholds for access to statutory services were not
consistently understood by partner agencies.

6. Workers did not feel well informed about the range of preventative
services available in the community.

7. The range and quality of information for children, young people and
families was limited and dependent on individual workers rather than a
service standard.

8. There was evidence that families signposted to support services as they

were assessed as not meeting the threshold for a statutory service were
frequently re-referred to children’s services.

18
Page 32




Feedback from family interview

The father of S was very happy with the service he had received. He believed
that he had been treated fairly and with respect he was kept well informed of
decision making and planning for his son. The rehabilitation plan was well
implemented which was clear from the young child’s evident well-being.

Findings
Explanation of findings

4.1. The arrangements for access to children’s services were well organised
and mainly effective. Timeliness for decision making on referrals in one
working day stood at 83% for 2014/15, and the 28,354 contacts
screened during the year had resulted in 4,195 referrals. This
consistently high volume of work continued into the first two quarters of
2015/16 with 7,280 contacts received in quarter 2, but there was an
improvement in timeliness to 94%. Improving and sustaining timeliness
is dependent on stable capacity in the CAP team and is vulnerable to
unplanned staff absence or any delays in recruiting into vacant posts.
The percentage of re-referrals within a year remained constant at 25%;
given the numbers of referrals this equates to 968. This indicated that
not only is there a possible duplication of a high volume of work but that
there was a lack of timely support for some families.

4.2. The threshold to statutory services was relatively high but there was
timely appropriate response to concerns about children or young people
who might be at risk. It would appear from the high number of repeat
contacts seen by inspectors that the demand will only be reduced if there
are sufficient preventive services to effectively support families sooner.
Multiple contacts meant that the same case was screened many times,
but even though the majority of families were signposted to support
services, this was not effective in meeting the presenting needs.
Systems to record multiple contacts had been disabled following a
systems review, which resulted in a difficulty for staff in being able to
easily consider the accumulative effect of multiple incidents which might
have led to a decision for an initial assessment to be carried out. This
had subsequently been identified as an issue and the process had been
amended at the time of the inspection. Inspectors were informed that
other agencies were not contacted in these cases, as if the parent’s
consent had not been sought at the point of contact this was a barrier to
gaining further information. The development of the information advice
and assistance service (IAA) and the MASH is intended to help ensure
that contacts and referrals are better prioritised. This should result in
families being able to receive support at an earlier stage reducing the
need for statutory services and improving outcomes. Senior managers
were aware that supporting families to engage in accessing support was
the key to the success of this approach.

19
Page 33




4.3. There was a lack of user-friendly information for children, young people
and families to inform them about their right to make a complaint or the
availability of advocacy services. There was good availability of
translation services which were in constant demand given the diverse
profile of the population in Cardiff. Families interviewed were very

positive about this facility and complimented staff on their efforts to
ensure communication was good.

4.4. Workers reported that although there were good ‘working relationships’
with partner agencies they did not have a common understanding of the
threshold for statutory services. It was evident that families were not fully
aware that they had been referred to children’s services, or what this
might mean. More multi-agency work was needed to improve
communication and agree how the remodelled service would translate
into practice. Partners should be engaged in the quality assurance
process, particularly with regard to decision-making around thresholds.

20
Page 34



Theme 5. Assessment care management

What we expect to see

Children and young people identified as being in need of help or
protection, including looked after children, experience timely and
effective multi-agency help and protection through risk-based planning
authoritative practice and review that secures positive outcomes.

Key Findings

1. There was evidence that outcomes for children and young people had
been improved as a result of social work intervention.

2. Timeliness of assessments was variable but the quality of those seen on
case files was good.

3.  Workers were using a number of risk assessment models and the quality
of risk analysis within assessments and care planning was variable.

4. Care and support plans did not reflect assessments and were not
outcome-focused with timescales for action and roles and responsibilities
often unclear.

5. Case work was child-focused but did not articulate children’s wishes and
feelings often enough.

6. Child protection enquiries were thorough and timely and were informed by
decisions made at a strategy discussion.

7. The actions of partner agencies did not always prioritise the best interest
of the child.

8. There was a lack of consistency in the guidance for the use of ‘written
agreements’ with families and there was a lack of clarity about their
purpose and effectiveness.

9. Thresholds for the instigation of PLO were appropriate but those for
admission to care following police powers of protection were inconsistent.

10. Effort had been made to improve the interface with “Team around the

Family* which was positively received by workers in both services.

21
Page 35




Findings

Explanation of findings

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

Timeliness for completion of initial assessments had improved
significantly in quarter 2 of 2015/16 to over 91%; numbers of
assessments completed remained high at 841. This was good progress
as timeliness varied between 46.5% at the lowest and 67% at the
highest in the previous 12 months. The volume of demand showed no
signs of reduction, and sustaining this improvement will be a challenge
unless the remodelling of the service described earlier in this report
succeeds in signposting families to access appropriate community-
based services.

The quality of initial assessments seen was good, with appropriate
decision-making and records clear and up to date. A good range of
information had been used to develop the analysis of need, but it was
not always evident that the child had been seen. All assessments were
signed off by managers in a timely way and included their comments.
There is a need to address the inconsistency in which elements of the
work were being quality assured by managers.

Timeliness for core assessments also improved in the same period with
75% of the 555 assessments being completed in 35 days; performance
in the previous 12 months varied between 55% and 71%. The quality of
core assessments reviewed was good, with analysis of needs well
recorded. Recording of risk assessment was inconsistent, although
management of risk was apparent in the majority of assessments
reviewed. Core assessments reviewed by inspectors were embedded in
the Sect 47 investigations. This allowed easy access to critical
information and supported the timely updating of recording. It was less
helpful when Sect 47 investigations were discontinued because risks
were assessed to be minimal but there were presenting needs.

The quality of care planning was inconsistent with limited identification of
desired outcomes. Timescales, responsibilities for actions and what
services were to be provided were not routinely outlined. It was not
evident how families were engaged in the planning process or whether
they had received copies of the plans. Workers were using the ‘signs of
safety‘ model to address risks and identify and build on the strengths of
the family. The quality of these plans seen was again inconsistent and it
was noted that risks identified on case file recording did not always
feature in the plans. Some files contained a child protection plan in
addition and it was not always clear which plan was being implemented
with the family. More guidance is needed for staff to increase
consistency of risk management and agree planning priorities.

While it was evident the children and young people’s welfare was
paramount for social workers, examples were seen of where this was not

22
Page 36



5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

5.10.

5.11.

always the case for partner agencies. It was not clear why social workers
were unable to successfully challenge these actions. Managers had
identified these issues and reported that work was on going to address
the concerns.

There had been a relatively high number of occasions in the 12 months
prior to September 2015 when police had invoked their powers of
protection (41). A third of the children and young people subject to these
arrangements only remained looked after for a very short period. Senior
managers agreed to work with partners to analyse this practice to ensure
that the best outcomes are being achieved for children and young
people.

Inspectors noted that social workers were using written agreements with
families outside those within child protection or public law outline
arrangements. These agreements cannot be monitored effectively
unless they are part of multi-agency work so have the potential to
provide false assurance that children are being protected. There should
be guidance developed for the use of these agreements and cases
where they are in place should be reviewed to ensure that they are being
used appropriately.

The workflow arrangements in the access service were timely at the time
of the inspection. The system was well established and the handover
from the CAP team into the Intake and Assessment team worked well,
ensuring that there was no delay in completing Section 47 investigations
when these were needed. The quality of this work seen by inspectors
was good with some examples of very good outcomes being achieved
for children and young people.

Action had been taken to improve the working together arrangements
between children’s services and the ‘Team around the Family‘ (TAF)
service. This was reported to have worked well with a member of the
TAF team routinely spending time in the intake and assessment team.
Social workers did have a concern that the criteria for referral to the
service were too specific as it related to the number of services the child
required (4) rather than the level of need.

There were delays in families accessing the support services which had
been identified as part of their plans. Inspectors were informed that there
had been an overall reduction in the range of services available and
there could be up to a six month waiting list for others. Certain key
services for parents to help reduce domestic violence were in high
demand, and examples were seen where families remained apart or s
child’s name had to remain on the child protection register because this
work could not be completed.

Where ‘children in need’ cases were concerned, these delays
influenced workers referring families to these services as there would be

23
Page 37



5.12.

a long gap before families would be able to access the support they
needed.

During the previous 12 months, a significant investment had been made
to reassess the high number of ‘children in need’ cases which had
accumulated due to a lack of capacity. This had resulted in increasing
the ability to focus on those families in the highest need. Inspectors did
see some cases closed where it appeared there was work outstanding,
and while this was not a concern with respect to risk, it had the potential
to result in families being re-referred because ‘step down’ services were
not in place to help sustain the progress made. Monitoring was in place
to identify families who were re-referred but there needed to be more
effective arrangements to help reduce the likelihood of this happening.

Quote from a social worker
"It's been a really positive experience as a newly qualified social worker in
Cardiff; | feel well supported and am staying here for the foreseeable future.”

24
Page 38




Appendix
Information about the inspection.
Methodology

Fieldwork for this inspection was undertaken during the weeks commencing
January 11" 2016 and January 28" 2016.

Most inspection evidence was gathered by looking at individual children and
young people’s experiences. This was done through a combination of case
tracking and case-file reviews.

Additional evidence was collected from a review of documentation including a
staff survey, supervision records and complaint documents. Also, a range of
individual interviews and focus groups with senior and operational managers,
elected members, partner agencies, senior practitioners, social workers and
support staff.

We reviewed/tracked 64 case files. This included 27 individual interviews with
staff.

Six interviews with families and 7 direct observations of practice.
A staff survey — we received 100 responses.

The inspection team

The inspection team consisted of:
e 2 inspectors employed by CSSIW
e 2 fee paid inspectors
e Area manager for Cardiff.

Lead inspector: Pam Clutton;

Area Manager: Bernard McDonald;

Team inspector: Bobbie Jones;

Fee paid inspectors: Sheila Booth and Norman Host.

25
Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem o5

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

17 MAY 2016

CHILDREN’S SERVICES PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

REASON FOR THE REPORT

1.

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising
the performance of Children’s (social) Services. This report sets out performance
data outlining progress against the objectives aligned to the social theme for the
quarter ending 31 March 2016.

BACKGROUND

2.

The Cabinet have identified that the delivery of their key priorities and the Council’s
performance against key indicators should be the focus of future quarterly reports.
Quarterly reports are prepared on that basis, allowing for trend analysis to be
undertaken on an appropriate basket of indicators and the effective delivery of the
Administration’s key priorities as attached at Appendix A.

The ongoing development of the Cardiff Performance Management Framework has
brought into line the monitoring and evaluation of progress against the key objectives
as set out in the Corporate Plan and the performance indicators set to assist in the
understanding of the overall performance position of the Council. This range of
performance data relating to Children’s Services is contained in Appendix B to this
report.

The performance report attached at Appendix B has been constructed to highlight
the progress made in delivering the key objectives, associated performance
indicators, and commentaries that help to identify progress, issues and actions
planned where the trend in performance is falling. To make the information in the
performance report clearer, each indicator is accompanied by an arrow, and in some
cases, a happy, indifferent or sad face.

For your information, these symbols represent the following:

e The face symbol shows whether performance is likely, unlikely to, or may meet
the target set for the year.

e The arrow direction shows whether performance has declined, has been
sustained or improved when compared with an appropriate previous period.

At the meeting officers will be present to explain the performance information to the
Committee, to highlight performance issues, and to answer questions that Members

Page 41 1



might have.

In total Children’s Services have 47 national performance indicators, of which the
Welsh Government have identified 11 as wither National Strategic Indicators (NSls)
or Performance Accountability Measures (PAMs). Where relevant, the narrative in
the report that follows indicates the status of an NSI or PAM indicator.

PERFORMANCE DURING QUARTER 4: JANUARY TO MARCH 2016

8.

Performance is being reported against the following corporate outcomes:

People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe
People achieve their full potential
People in Cardiff are healthy

Cardiff is fair, just and inclusive

The Service has three main functions:
a. Promoting the welfare of children in need

b. Safeguarding children
c. Improving outcomes for looked after children

OVERVIEW OF QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

While there has been some continued progress in Quarter 4, there has also been
slippage in some areas in the context of increasing referrals and overall caseload
numbers.

For example, recording of decisions on referrals decreased from 88% in Quarter 3 to
87% in Quarter 4. Timely completion of initial assessments decreased from 83% in
Quarter 3 to 69% in Quarter 4. Despite this decrease, there was a steady
improvement in performance throughout Quarter 4 (from 57% in January to 87% in
March). The 80% target was met for March, although the full year figure falls just
short of this at 77%. This, however, is a significant improvement on the 51% outturn
for 2014-15. There was also a decrease in the percentage of children who were
seen by a social worker during their initial assessment (PAM) — from 58% in Quarter
3 to 54% in Quarter 4.

Timeliness of initial child protection conferences decreased from 93% to 91%, but the
92% target was met for the year. There was also a decrease in the timeliness of
initial core groups from 98% to 91%, although the 93% target was met for the year.

There was further improvement in relation to timeliness of core assessments with

performance reaching 83% for Quarter 4 (from 79% in Quarter 3). This is the first
time that quarterly performance has exceeded the 80% target time since Quarter 1
2013-14.

There was an improvement in the recording of initial care plans for looked after
children - 89% from 78% in Quarter 3.

Page 42 2



15. Work to progress the Directorate’s business plan has continued and key areas of
progress include:

a. Early Help Strategy - the Strategy was launched during Quarter 3 and is being

implemented. The following developments have been made during the quarter:

o Joint Assessment Family Framework (JAFF) pilot progressing; Family Plan
template finalised; JAFF Training DVD commissioned to assist practitioners
undertake the assessment.

o Review of Family Intervention Support Service (FISS) capacity being
undertaken following ongoing success of rapid response project.

o Adolescent Resource Centre — premises secured, post creation commenced;
model for psychology input agreed with Health.

. Gateway Database - single gateway for young people aged 16 or above to

access direct housing, advice and support went live in Quarter 3. The Gateway
has been a very positive development for young people needing to access
accommodation and for the staff supporting them to do so. The process is very
accessible and has reduced the anxiety for young people. It has strengthened
relationships across the Directorates and is enabling the Looked After Children
Service to respond to the requirements of young people and to work together to
develop appropriate resources that meet need.

Remodelling of Children’s Services - meetings are underway with a Signs of
Safety training provider to plan the delivery of training. The Risk Assessment
Framework has been agreed and will be implemented in Quarter 1 2016-17.
Evaluation of OM roles has been completed and discussions with Trade Unions
are underway prior to proceeding with the re-structure. Subject to agreement
being reached with Trade Unions, it is anticipated that OM appointments will be
completed by end of Quarter 1 2016-17.

16. There has been some slippage in progress against some of the milestones in the
Corporate Plan relating to the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Strategy,
implementation of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and work with
Education to improve educational outcomes for looked after children and care
leavers.

a.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Strategy - the Cardiff Child Sexual
Exploitation Strategy was approved by the Cardiff and Vale Safeguarding
Children Board in its role as the statutory body to which all agencies are
accountable and this has provided the basis for Directorate and partner activity
both in developing a strategic response to CSE and in ensuring effective
operational interventions when necessary. More broadly the Directorate has
been working very actively with South Wales Police as the key lead agency in
relation to CSE overall and this strong local relationship in Cardiff is reflected
both in the Strategy and in joint operations on the ground. A full programme of
training has been planned for partner agencies and other groups, and
awareness raising sessions are underway. A briefing to informal Cabinet is
being arranged in the near future which will demonstrate significant progress
over the last 12 months.

Implementation of Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) - governance
arrangements, operating model, staff composition, ICT infrastructure and

Page 43 3



accommodation (Cardiff Bay Police Station) agreed. Information sharing
protocol under development. Vetting process for staff almost complete.
Process mapping for referral pathways completed. On target for launch at the
end of Quarter 1 2016-17.

Work with Education to improve educational outcomes for looked after
children and care leavers - following concerns raised in Quarter 2, and the
introduction of information for managers to enable proactive monitoring of
PEPs, there are some signs of improvement at the time of writing. Operational
Managers for relevant services are continuing to re-enforce the need to ensure
that staff give high priority to completing the PEP when children become looked
after.

17. There has also been some slippage in progress against some of the milestones in
the Children’s Services Plan relating to:

a.

Improving the quality of referrals - the review of the Multi-Agency Referral
Form planned for Quarter 2 was integrated with work being undertaken in
relation to the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act. Required amendments
have been made and the form is to be agreed collectively by colleagues in
Education, Probation, Police and Health in readiness for use in 2016-17.

Safeguarding monitoring requirements - work on the development of a suite
of performance measures and reporting mechanisms that cover the broad range
of work undertaken by the safeguarding and review unit has been undertaken
and it is anticipated that this work will be concluded in Quarter 1 2016-17.

YOS - progress in relation to YOS governance has been made and plans are in
place to address membership, contents of meetings, presentation of
performance information and financial information which will accord with
recommendations made by the Police and Crime Commissioner’s
commissioned report and the YOS inspection report. YOS Management Board
to facilitate workshops to address governance issues. Achievement of the
planned YOS restructure has been deferred to 2016-17.

. Corporate Parenting Strategy - will be considered by Cabinet in Quarter 1 and

the launch will follow shortly after.

Re-commissioning of the Supervised Contact Service - contract awarded —
service to be implemented in Quarter 1 2016-17.

Enhanced Fostering Scheme - plan in place to address financial implications.
Engagement with alternative provider and three promising models proposed
(currently being considered by Children’s Management Team). Work
undertaken with Legal and Procurement to terminate current contract and put in
place a new contract for an individual placement for the one young person who
was placed within the scheme and remains in placement.

Welsh bilingual service - operational pressures have made the completion of

the Linguistic Assessments more difficult. 21 assessments have been returned
to date and reminders issued regarding the outstanding assessments.

Page 44 4



h. Savings - the month 11 position for Children’s Services shows a projected
overspend of £1.750m. Despite a reduction in the number of looked after
children during the year (from a high of 662 in June 2015 to 644 at 31st March
2016) the commissioning mix for placements has become more costly. This is
because there has been an increase in the proportion of children presenting
extremely complex challenges who need externally purchased placements with
very high support ratios. In spite of this however, there is also a significant
shortfall (£1.1m) against the £2.7m savings target set for the service as part of
the 2015-16 budget which is attributable principally to the failure of a provider to
deliver services in support of a new Payment by Results initiative. Nevertheless,
there has been a continued focus on returning children placed in high cost out of
area placements to Cardiff that has been successful in returning 7 children to
Cardiff at an estimated saving of £316,000.

i.  Quality Assurance Framework - a Quality Assurance Officer has been
appointed and the implementation of the Framework is planned for Quarter 1
2016-17.

DETAILED COMMENTARY

A) PROMOTING THE WELFARE OF CHILDREN IN NEED

Children’s Services received 1,138 referrals in Quarter 4 (Referrals 1) compared with
954 in Quarter 3. A detailed breakdown of contacts and referrals is provided at
Appendix C1 & 2 for the Committee’s information. This report shows the source of
the 7,960 contacts received by Children’s Services during Quarter 4, along with the
outcome and a summary of the trend over the last 2 years. Similar information is
provided for the 1,138 referrals received during Quarter 4. The number of referrals to
the service continues to be closely monitored (see graph below). The proportion of
referrals received that were re-referrals within a year (SCC/010) reduced to 23.4%
from 24.3% in Quarter 3.

18.

19.

Number of referrals

1400
1300
1200
1100
1000

900 -
800 ~
700 +
600 -
500 -
400 ~
300 -
200 +
100

Referrals to Children's Services

1,264 1,2901308

1,173 1,125 1204, 137 [7] 1,160 1,163 1.1511:169

1,112 1 11229 148 » — — 1142 — 1138

1,077 M 1,075 1,050

986 969 [7] 1,007 954

— — — et ~— ~ — ~ — piy - — — — — — ~— - - ~— — — ~— — — — — —
' 1 ' '

In relation to the recording of decisions on referrals (SCC/006), performance declined
slightly in Quarter 4 to 86.5% (984 / 1,138) from 88.2% (841 / 954) in Quarter 3. This
in the context of a sustained high number of contacts to the service (7,960 compared

Page 45 5



with 7,280 in Quarter 2) and capacity issues at Intake & Assessment (1&A) in the
early part of the quarter. The performance report is based on electronic records, but
there is evidence that the electronic capture of the information is delayed. There
were particular issues in Quarter 4 where a number of days access to electronic
systems were lost due to ICT issues. However, management oversight confirms all
referrals are subject to manager decision and prioritisation on the day of receipt.

20. There has been further progress during Quarter 4 towards the implementation of a
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). Please see pages 3-4 for further
information. Next steps are:

Complete vetting process,

Finalise Information Sharing Protocol.
Implement revised Multi Agency Referral Form.
Implement MHub.

Review delivery plan

21. Source of referrals — a table summarising the source of referrals to Children’s
Services during Quarter 4 is included below:

Source of Referrals Q4

Ambulance Service 0
Central Government Agency 2
Family, Friend or Neighbour 66
Housing 0
Independent Provider Agency 0
LA Housing Dept. or Housing Association 17
Local Authority's own Social Services Department 99
Other Agency 131
Other Departments of Own or Other LA 82
Other Individual 7
Other Social Services Department 0
Other Type 0
Police 279
Primary Health / Community Health 174
Probation Service 46
School 226
Secondary Health 7
Self Referral 1
UK Border Agency 1
Total 1,138

22. Outcome of referrals — 87.3% (994 / 1,138) of referrals were allocated to a social
worker for initial assessment in Quarter 4 compared with 93.6% (893 / 954) in Quarter
3 (SCC/007a). 8.4% (96 / 1,138) of referrals were allocated to other grades of worker
for initial assessment compared with 3.4% (32 / 954) in Quarter 3. 4.7% (54 / 1,138)
of referrals did not proceed to assessment during the quarter. In these cases,
referrers were signposted to other agencies, given advice or information, or the
referrals were closed with no further action. As noted in previous reports, while we
have improved the management of the front door and determining what contacts
should become referrals, we are also seeing an increase in the complexity of the

Page 46 6



23.

24.

25.

26.

cases that stay open to Children’s Services.

Performance in relation to the timeliness of initial assessments declined in Quarter 4
t0 69.4% (729 / 1,050) from 83.2% (691 / 831) in Quarter 3 (SCC/042a). Following a
decline in performance in Quarter 3 as a result of capacity issues at Intake &
Assessment, recruitment of agency staff in Quarter 4 has helped the service get back
on track. There was a steady improvement in performance throughout Quarter 4
(from 57% in January to 87% in March). The 80% target was met for March,
although the full year figure falls just short of this at 77%. This, however, is a
significant improvement on the 51% outturn for 2014-15.

53.7% (564 / 1,050) of children were seen by a social worker during their initial
assessment compared with 58.0% (482 / 831) in Quarter 3 (SCC/011a — PAM).
Inclusion of children seen by a Children's Services worker other than a social worker
increases the percentage of children seen to 61.2% (643 / 1,050). 28.4% (298 /
1,050) children were seen alone by a social worker during their initial assessment
(SCC/011b — NSI), compared with 30.7% (255 / 831) in Quarter 3. There has been a
significant drive in empowering social workers and managers to undertake the most
appropriate assessment at the point of referral. This has led to a range of outcomes
including initial assessments:

e Proceeding straight to child protection investigations / core assessment /
specialist assessments.

e Being closed with no further action after receiving managers have re-
evaluated the decision to proceed to initial assessment.

In these circumstances a full initial assessment would not have been completed - a
more appropriate assessment would have been undertaken and the child seen as
part of that assessment. This is commensurate with the new Social Services &
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 wherein a proportionate assessment will be undertaken
following all referrals. The 80% target set by the ADSS, WLGA and CSSIW pre-
dates this new approach which is consistent with the direction of travel across the
country.

The percentage of initial assessments where information regarding ethnicity, religion
and first language were recorded during Quarter 3 is as follows:

a. Ethnicity — 62.0% (651 / 1,050)
b. Religion — 33.3% (350 / 1,050)
c. Firstlanguage — 51.3% (539 / 1,050)

A detailed breakdown of the ethnicities, religions and first languages of children and
young people who were subject to an initial assessment during Quarter 4 is available
on request.

Performance in relation to timely completion of core assessments was 82.7% (354 /
428) in Quarter 4 compared with 78.6% (319 / 406) in Quarter 3 (SCC/043a).
Performance against this indicator continued to improve in Quarter 4 with quarterly
performance exceeding the 80% target for the first time since Quarter 1 2013-14. A
graph displaying timely completion of (initial and) core assessments is below:

Page 47 7



% assessments authorised within timeframe

100

Timely Initial and Core Assessments

90

80

70

60 |57

50

40 H

30 1

20

2009-10

2

B) SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN

27.

28.

29.

% timely initial and review CP conferences

100.0

The number of children on the child protection register at the end of Quarter 4 was
342 (from 311 at the end of Quarter 3) (CS CPR 4).

90.9% (159 / 175) of initial child protection conferences took place within the 15
working day timescale in Quarter 4 — from 93.0% (106 / 114) in Quarter 3 (SCC/014).
Performance has dropped slightly in Quarter 4 in the context of a 54% increase in the
number of required initial conferences (175 compared with 114 in Quarter 3). 11
conferences were late in January relating to 2 sibling groups. One conference was
late because the interpreter did not attend, so had to be rescheduled. The other was
due to human error. 5 conferences relating to 1 sibling group were late in March due
to human error. All conferences have since been held.

Timeliness of review child protection conferences was 99.6% (252 / 253) in Quarter 4
compared with 100% (282 / 282) in Quarter 3. Performance against initial and review
child protection conferences is displayed in the graph below:

Timely Initial and Review Child Protection Conferences

99.6
1000 1000982 99.5086 99.5 99.0 99.5 100.0995 oo . o7.5 o084 988 ©7.0 ©7.0 96.6 97.0 100.0 100.0 692 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0y5 5  100.0 99.6
92 Jo2.2J}|°63 03,9

91.0
90.0 4 q 86.

80.0
74.8}
70.0 +
60.0
50.0 +
40.0 +
30.0 +
20.0 +

10.0 +

0.0

4
5
5
5
5
6
6
6
6

— | - || v |~ ||| ||| ||~ |~ |~ |~ v ||| ||| |||~ |

3
4
4
4
4-
5
5
5
5

(9]
Y
2
0
N
0
w
2 20
2
9]
N
0
w
0
5

@Timely Initial CP Conference @Timely CP Reviews ‘

Page 48 8



30.

31.

32.

Initial core groups took place within the 10 working day timescale in 90.7% (127 /
140) of cases in Quarter 4 compared with 98.4% (127 / 129) in Quarter 2 (SCC/015).
Performance reduced in Quarter 4 in the context of a 9% increase in the number of

required initial core groups (140 compared with 129 in Quarter 3), although the 93%
target was met for the year.

100% (342 / 342) of children on the child protection register had an allocated social

worker at 31st March 2016.

The Cardiff Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy was approved by the Cardiff and Vale
Safeguarding Children Board in its role as the statutory body to which all agencies

are accountable and this has provided the basis for Directorate and partner activity

both in developing a strategic response to CSE and in ensuring effective operational
interventions when necessary. More broadly the Directorate has been working very
actively with South Wales Police as the key lead agency in relation to CSE overall
and this strong local relationship in Cardiff is reflected both in the Strategy and in joint
operations on the ground. A full programme of training has been planned for partner
agencies and other groups, and awareness raising sessions are underway. A

briefing to informal Cabinet is being arranged in the near future which will

demonstrate significant progress over the last 12 months.

C) IMPROVING OUTCOMES FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN

33.

Number of looked after children

The number of children who were looked after at 315t March 2016 (not including

those children being looked after as part of a respite care arrangement) was 644

compared with 625 at 315t December 2015 (CS LAC 3e). This represents a rate of

8.8 children per 1,000 in Cardiff, which is lower than the all Wales rate of 9.1 per
1,000 as at 318t March 2014. The recent fluctuation in the number of looked after
children is displayed in the graph below.

700
650
600
550

500 1
450 -
400 A
350 A
300 A
250 A

150 A
100
50

Number of Looked After Children

648 650 062

579 578 592

611

55
502 521 546 54p 551 968 560 53 55 =

503

510 514 530 519 510
— = e

et

626 623

ee]

—

|t

830

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~— ~— ~ ~ ~ ~ ~
' ' '

Pt e e (o) IR R (R RS (i B i i (A i A [t . A R R R R i e et il




34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

Initial care plans were in place prior to children becoming looked after in 88.7% (63 /
71) of cases during Quarter 4, compared with 78.1% (50 / 64) in Quarter 3
(SCC/001a). Performance against this indicator improved during the quarter and is
now above the threshold for manager intervention.

88.1% (37 / 42) of permanence plans were in place by second looked after review in
Quarter 4, compared with 96.3% (52 / 54) in Quarter 3 (SCC/001b) meeting the 87%
target for both the quarter and the year.

72.0% (363 / 504) of looked after children were placed with independent sector
providers at the end of Quarter 4 (CS LAC 44), an increase from 70.0% (340 / 486) in
Quarter 3. The number of children placed in independent sector residential
placements has reduced to 50 from 55 at the end of Quarter 3.

62.5% (315 / 504) of children in regulated placements were placed in Cardiff at the
end of Quarter 4 compared with 60.9% (296 / 486) at the end of Quarter 3 (CS LAC
58). A further 83 children placed outside Cardiff were within 20 miles of their home
address. 3 of the children not placed in Cardiff are placed with relative carers. For
some children placement outside the authority is in their best interests, examples
include children placed with family members who live outside Cardiff, children placed
in specialist placements and some children who are placed in areas that are closer to
their home address than some parts of the city.

92.7% (395 / 426) of statutory reviews for looked after children were held within
prescribed timescales in Quarter 4 compared with 95.9% (397 / 414) in Quarter 3
(SCC/021). 91.1% (388 / 426) of statutory visits were held in accordance with
regulations in Quarter 4 showing an increase from 85.3% (353 / 414) in Quarter 3
(SCC/025 — PAM).

99.8% (631 / 632) looked after children were allocated to a social worker at 31st
March 2016. The one case that was not has since been allocated.

YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE

40.

41.

42.

The numbers of First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth Offending Service (YOS) has
increased during Quarter 4 to 38 (from 29 in Quarter 3) primarily as a result of an
increase in motoring offences. This is also an increase on Quarter 4 2014-15 when
there were 21 FTEs.

Relevant staff continue to attend the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB)
training on Child Sexual Exploitation.

Progress in relation to YOS governance has been made and plans are in place to
address membership, contents of meetings, presentation of performance information
and financial information which will accord with recommendations made by the Police
and Crime Commissioner’'s commissioned report and the YOS inspection report.
YOS Management Board to facilitate workshops to address governance issues.
Achievement of the planned YOS restructure has been deferred to 2016-17.

Page 50 10



STAFFING

43.

44.

45.

The percentage of social worker vacancies in Quarter 4 was 22.2% compared with
21.6% in Quarter 3 (Staff 1). The vacancy position has remained reasonably stable
in Quarter 4, although there has been a small increase in vacancies in the Looked
After Children Service. The recruitment campaign is ongoing and an agreement is in
place that when all vacancies have been filled, Children’s Services will continue to
recruit to a “pool” of additional social workers. This will enable the service to maintain
consistency of service provision and caseloads whilst managing healthy staff
turnover without needing to rely on expensive agency social workers. The ambitious
15% target has been revised to 18% for 315t March 2017. The Children’s Services
Workforce Strategy has been agreed, but is being revised to capitalise on messages
in the inspection report and to profile the benefits of mobilisation. A plan is in place
for engagement with Adult Services with a view to developing a Social Services
Workforce Strategy in 2016-17.

The average number of days of sickness absence for staff in Children’s Services in
2015-16 was 13.8, compared with 13.9 in 2014-15. In order to improve compliance
with the sickness process in Children’s Services, progress will continue to be closely
monitored on a weekly basis at the Children’s Management Team and in addition,
Operational Managers will work closely with a Human Resources representative who
will assist in the monitoring of the process.

88.0% compliance with finalisation of objective sheets and 76% compliance with
completion of half yearly reviews for 2015-16 had been achieved at the time of
writing. A small percentage cannot be initiated / reviewed due to staff absence (e.g.
maternity leave and long term sick leave), and a high level of recruitment activity and
new intake accounts for a proportion of the outstanding PPDRs. In order to improve
compliance in Children’s Services, all Operational Managers are monitoring the
completion of PPDRs for 2015-16 and the initiation of objectives for 2016-17. A
template has been created for managers that informs the development of consistent
objectives in Social Services and give staff a clear line of sight to the Corporate Plan
and Directorate outcomes.

WAY FORWARD

46. Members are invited to consider the information set out in the report and to identify

any issues which require more detailed scrutiny.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

47. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend,

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to
consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal
implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or
without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to
Cabinet / Council will set out any legal implications arising from those
recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf the Council must (a) be within
the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed
by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers of behalf of

Page 51 11



the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements
imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and properly
informed,; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the Council's
fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the
circumstances.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

48.

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend,
but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to
consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in
relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if
and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any
modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet /
Council will set out any financial implications arising from those recommendations.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to:
Consider the contents of the report and report any comments to the Cabinet Member.

Tony Young
Director of Social Services
11 May 2016

Page 52 12



Q4 Delivery and Performance
Report 2015/16

Progress against actions in the Corporate Plan 2015/16

Q4 2015/16 - (399*)

Green ' Amber

| 70% (278) 25% (99)

*Including 1 (0.25%) N/A

Progress against relevant Performance Indicators

Q4 2015/16 - (225%)

Green Amber
39% (88) 11% (24)

*Including 56 (25%) Annual Indicators, 18 (8%) with no results and 14 (6%) N/A

Page 53



Contents

Corporate Overview

City Operations

Communities, Housing and Customer Services
Economic Development

Education and Lifelong Learning

Governance & Legal Services

Resources

Social Services - Adults

Social Services — Children’s

Key to RAG Status

Page 54

Page 3

Page 11
Page 15
Page 19
Page 23
Page 28
Page 32
Page 36
Page 40

Page 45

Page 2 of 46



Q4 Customer

Contact

Twitter Media followers

54,715 followers in English
;938 followers-in-Wels

5,474 Likes on Facebook

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1l Q2 Q3 Q
(14/15)|(14/15)|(14/15)|(14/15)|(15/16)| (15/16) |(15/16)|(15/1

New Complaints Received 682 676 507 533 497 603 569 625

Complaints

Corporate Complaints 675 | 670 | 502 | 547 | 490 599 563 | 623
Complaints through the medium - 6 5 6 7 4 6 2
of Welsh
Acknowledgements not sent 2 15 15 12 7 23 18 19

within 5 days

Response not sent within 20 55 37 33 25 39 34 36 38

days
\ Comeliments Received 434 427 371 328 288 293 303 V

Members Enquiries A total of 680 Member En-

Directorate Received Responded on time quiries were received during
o Quarter 4, giving an annual
Q2 Q3 Q4 Q4 Q4 % total of 2854, 98 of Quarter
4 requests were deemed as
City Operations 567 | 543 516 77% Requests for Service, with
Highways & Waste continu-
Communities 127 | 101 136 90% ing to have the highest Re-
quest for Service. The AD
0 for Communities has carried
67% out training on how to deal
with member enquiries to
Education 10 100% improve the response times.
The Members Central Team
Gov & Legal 1 100% are also developing a com-
munications strategy for the

Directorate which will cover
0,
Resources 83% Member Enquiries, this is

SS - Adults 75% alongside the AD issuing
guidance to Members on

. what enquiries and Request
SS_ Chlldren’s 100% for Service are.

Economic 2 6 2

79%

Page 3 of 46



Total Staff Costs at Q4 £176,924,245

Total Agency Costs at Q4 £15,756,681
Total Overtime Costs at Q4 £3,751,851

The spend on agency may reflect an overspend against budget as there may be vacant posts where there

is a budget but the staff are employed through an agency, so the permanent staff budget will show an un-

derspend and the agency staff an overspend.

Staff Costs to % of Annual
End Q4 Budget

City
Operations

£49,076,181 99.57%

£22,967,667 102.96% [N @Le18818 8101811821

£1,682,246 97.73% Corp Mgmt

£11,802,445 103.77% Economic
£20,969,134 96.66% Education

£3,194,074 92.66% [NCTo VA Legal
£35,259,437 89.29% Resources

£15,244,373 101.84% SS-Adults
£16,728,687 101.32% [T O] aY]le [R=]a

Ag enc* o
/o Page 56

% Spend % Spend
Agency Overtime

14.09% 3.57%

8.11% 1.55%

4.91% 0.15%

10.10% 3.76%

3.95% 0.80%

4.44% 0.21%
2.72% 1.12%
3.95% 3.52%

18.75% 0.41%

Overtime

2.08%

Page 3 of 46



9¢ Jo G adeq

S| UoIleWIOoUI BY) ‘DI0}

IS 9S9Y3 se sjooyds pa
‘puadsidn0 ue ey
2Je Jjels ayl inq 198pnq e s

~ SJJAISS |BID0S pue s}npy

3Jn}puadxa BINSUBWOY) pue SHIOM JipJe) uo paseq Ajjueuiwopaad
D19 ] "S|ooyds paleda|ap 01 padieyd aie 3sayj se siaydea) Ajddns o1 uone|as ul SuiylAue apnppuljousaopl e

['sisAjeue ay3 woJj way}l apnjoxa pue Ajauapi o1 ajqissod
10U Si }l Janamoy \ﬂ_ﬁhm J14199ds Ule13D 03 UOIIER|3J Ul 3INYPUAAXd SIPN|IUI UOIIBWIOLUI BY] "pund [BJDUID S,|I2UNO) Y1 SPISINO

83]a@ pue uNno2dYy anuaAay SuisnoH ‘Allioyiny snoqueH dy3l 01 uolle|al ul aanypuadxa Adusse ousialayl e
s Aouage ay) pue puadsiapun ue moys ||Im 138pnq Hels Juauewuad 3yl os ‘Aduade ysSnouyl paiojdwa Susaq
1 3191 a19ym s1sod jueoen aq Aew 213y se 198pnq 1sujede puadsiano ue 109404 Aew Aduade uo puadsayl e

ua1p|Iyd

L S321A19S |100S J0j S34nS1Y 3Y) S9PN DUl INg |BI0) SAIIAIIS [BI20S 3Y) SBPN|IX3 193png Jjeis Joj [e10] YL,

%IL'S 189'9SLST SEEVO9S |%80°C 1S8‘ISLE SZS'STO'E |%98'L6  SEZ'vZe’9LT  9Ev'008°08T [e10] puead
%SL'8T  895'G60'E  0£6°0LS %Lv0 9zv'L9 %CETOT  [89'8TL9T 0LZTIS9T *SUBJP[IYD - SIIIAIBS [eID0S
%S6°E T6ET6S oceoe %CS'E €9v°LTS 02/°8S %¥8'T0T  ELEVVT'ST 000°696V'T *S3|NPY - $32IAIBS |B1D0S
%CL’T S/8°CTL0'T 056S87 |%CT'T [4 K577 081°98€ %6¢°68 LEV'6STSE T80°061'6€ $324N0SaYy
%ttt 95T €ST %1C0 LST'L %99°C6 #L0V6T'E (VS TAVA A S301AIIS |e8a7 73 ADUBUIBAOD
%S6°€ ¥1t'958 062°0T2 %080 10, A YA %9996 €1'6960C 0SS‘€69°T¢C uonednp3
%0T0T TOT'6VT'T OEv'Tey |%9L'E 1TV'LTy 0S6°LLE %.L°€0T  SPPT08TT 0L0VLETT juawdojanaq d1wouod3
%16V TISV8 %S1°0 09T %EL'LE 9v2‘789°T 08¢17LT juswagdeue|y a1e10dio)
%T1'8 7€6'808°T  0/T‘T9T %SS'T 9TESPE o1C'LeE %96°C0T  /99°/96°CC 0Z€'90€ ‘2 SJAS Jawo3sn) g 8UISNOH ‘saliunwwo)
%60Vl VEL'YYP6'D  SET'ELEHE |%/LS'E G8T'/SLT S9v'S/8T |%L5'66 1819/0°6Y S09°/8Z°6Y suonesado A
198pnq 123png v ajelorallqg
3eis E Heis 3
3 3 Heis 3 3
|ero) puads [e101 puads
128pn 198pnq ||ejol jo % puadswnpuno  3138pnq
20 i E:wun 10% N AWIUIQ | se puads els (e10 e1s |e1o
sepuads Aualdy sepuads 3wiHaAQ : o P . HEs IR0l Hes %0l
2
Auasdy AWM HEIS 1101

¥ J91ienp 1e s350) JJeis

Page 57



Sickness Absence Q4
FTE days

2015/16

9.56

Av FTE FTE 2015/16
Numbers Annual Day Lost
Target
City Operations 1,375 13.0
Communities 960 9.0
Economic Development 245 6.0
Education 750 8.0
Education - Schools 5,400 7.8
Governance & Legal 85 6.0
Resources 927 8.0
SS - Adult 650 13.0
SS - Children’s 350 13.0
Total 10,746* 9.0

Difference

-0.20

1.42

2.25

-0.64

0.46

-0.61

0.78

1.33

0.71

0.56

*This figure includes schools based education staff. Whilst the target of 9.0 FTE days lost per employee has not been

achieve, the performance for the provisional Outturn figure of 9.58 FTE days lost per employee remains the lowest

outturn in 5 years. Performance continues to improve through the targeted and focussed work being carried out by

HRPS within specific areas of Directorates such as Waste; this has resulted in significant improvements to City Opera-

tions sickness absence and the overall performance of the Authority.

Sickness FTE days lost per persan
(Cummulative data)

LY

12.00

10.00

8.00

6 00
FTE days logt]

4.00

.

0 00 et - -
o~ o~ o™ o~ o) el o ~ -t ~ o -t [¥2) 'v) wl w 0 w «w (=]
== = = = = b = = s = = = = I g == = = = =
T £ £ ¥ 8 &8 @ 8 & & & & F F ¥ FT & B & B
& 8 8 R |8 8 B 8 8 8 8 8§ B8R R | 8 R &8 & =~
~ o~ o -+ ~— o (2] -+ ~— ()] o~y ~t -~ (o] o~ ~ ~ o~ (2] -
o (=] a o a (e (4 a (e (e ] a a o o (e ] a (e a a a

Page 3 of 46



G740 £ asded

| %6°TY L0S¢ S86S jelol
%0'1S 819 9101 (jerol) sed1n1aS |B120S
%891 29 69¢€ SUJP[IYD — SIIIAIIS |e1d0s
| %s 0L 9sv LV9 S}NPY — S9IIAIDS |e1D0S
%€'9 18 L8CT $924N0S3Y
%€ 'St 0€ G8 SDIIAIDS |EEDT 3 DIUBUIBAOD
%T'T9 AR I8 (s19yoea) |es3uad pue sjooyds dxa) uluied] Suo|ayi] 1y uonednp3
%L'SC 99 LST uawdo|anaq dlwouod3
%196 TOTT Wit S3JIAIDS JBWOISN) 13 SUISNOH ‘SaIUNWIWO)
%911 L61 €9ET suonesadp A
. S T 3uno) peaH)
e e : eoL : Suwep uonesiuesio
doueljduto) pu3 JedA Yadd
9T0¢ __._Q< .._Ipw.ﬁ je S pu3j Je9g) — wucm__n_EOU MOIINDY u:wEﬂO_w>wn_ pue QUCNE.-O*._UA_ jeuosiad

y Joyenp

Page 59



Information Re

uests

Change and Improvement Managed Requests
FOI DPA Overall IR Compliance
Compli-
Function Due | Compliance | Due ance Due Compliance 6 o 7
Children’s Services 19 84.21% 13 92.31% 32 87.50%
Crematoria & Cemeteries
Communication & Media ReqUQS"s
CTS
Culture & Tourism 1 100.00% 0
Democratic Services 8 75.00% 75.00% 8 3 @ 3 6 f@
Econ & Major Projects | 13 23.08% 23.08% .
Education 23 86.96% 1 _ 100.00% 87.50% comphance
Emergency Management| 23 86.96% 1 100.00% 87.50%
Enterprlse : In Quarter 4 the Council handled
Enterprise Archi 607 information requests under
Environmental Health 20 80.00% 2 100.00% 81.82% FOI & DPA Legislation. Compli-
Exchequer & Dev ance with requests handled cen-
Facilities Management | 2 50.00% 50.00% trally by the Information Manage
Finance & Procurement | 40 97.96% 1 | 100.00% 97.56% ment Team remains at a con-
Harbour Authority ' sistent level & work will be under
Health & Safety taken in Quarter 1 2016/17 to
Highways &Transport | 63 | 100.00% 100.00% ;‘:‘éfs""wﬁlz"C’;gmpglci’:szefex':mz
HRPS 63 100.00% 100.00% low. Compliance with requests
ICT 1 100.00% 100.00% managed by individual Direc-
Improvement & Info 7 100.00% o6 | 9821% 98.41% torates remains below the Coun-
Infrastructure cil’s target compliance. The Infor
Legal Services 3 100.00% 100.00% mation Management Team will
Licensing 15 86.67% 1 86.67% be looking at opportunities for
Parks & Sport 15 86.67% 86.67% managing these directorates’
Planning 15 86.67% 86.67% requests as set out within the
; : Corporate Assessment actions

F’o'llcy, Part'nershlp 15 86:67% 86.67% duriF:wg Quarter 1 2016/17.

Project, Design, Dev ) )
Multi Function requests cover a
Procurement 15 86.67% 86.67% number of service areas. The
Registration & Coronors | 15 86.67% 86.67% Council handled 56 of these re-
Risk & Audit quests during Quarter 4 & com-
Scrutiny Services pliance with these was 75%,
Shared Services which remains at a consistent
Strategic Estates level.

Trading Standards 5 60.00% 60.00% During 2015/16 the Council han-
Traffic Network Man | 4 | 100.00% | 54 | 100.00% (ONEA  dled 2333 information requests
Waste Management 15 66.67% 66.67% with overall compliance with re-

= quests for the year at 83%
Total 302 83.77% 134 97.01% 87.84%
Multi— Function 48 70.83% 8 75.00% 71.43%
Total 407 78.87% 200 2.50% 83:36%
1 1 5 Requests Managed by Directorates
FOI | DPA Overall IR Compliance
Function Due |Compliance| Due |Compliance SIS ef111]s][F111)
Customer Services 12 75.00% 0 - 12 75.00%
Req U eStS Health & Social Care 24 33.33% 56 83.93% 80 68.75%
) Housing 21 80.95% 2 100.00% 23 82.61%
72.17% Total . 2965% 58 84.48% 115 7217%
age-ouo

compliance



W7oty vy b R R i i R ‘saIuNWwod yum Suidesus
P S B N 1M AR L|1.I.II[I|J||I.|[IL||I
[
. pue s1uaAs Sulpjoy ‘Sa2IAIaS gnH pue Aleaqi] sy3 UM INo patised 3uiaqg JIom
S — e e el 1U3||30%d 9y} SIIBJISUOWIP SIYL "E¥6°0TS JO SWN|OA ST/HTOT 7 4814enD syl
pomsrmpsop A — ¥ - 1suteSe g88‘y8 4O a5ea.dUl Ue ‘SIOUSIA TE'G6S MBS 9T/STOT ¥ JauenD :91epdn
AR n.r.:...vn ] — - — — —
oo > = O A 5 s > (<3 O A s sA
—T PPN APt P P Pt N I AP APt
By Yy piriia o
_.::...____ztra__t__!..?_.uwcr«ao‘.l ananary
___..... (9,019 92
N I—— A /A oo
I\ / _ 00000T
Tt pu Tasey s — [\ ____ G \% /,.
| \ f AR / L 000'0093 0Q0OSsT
| \ ”~ | / . S x ==
Wy Burinirg 1__ ..— | PN [ /./ A
| | \/ ../r i L . 000007
areioN sl IFE Mg Ty / 000057
< e l1ej3o004 Aseaqrl pue qnH apin A
BIrsqam, Syl EA apTus SIUSWARY AJYIuopg (O anes
. 31sga/M ay1 ysSnaay) apew sjuawAed 40 anjea 3yl A1) 3y1 ssoude sqni '3 salleaqi] yioq ul ||ej1004 |e1oL VI_
i €D 01 paJedw o0 uaym sjjed puesnoy} jjey % ue
BUOI}IPPE Ue PaAIaIAI ! 2JE|A UO jewJou ueyl JaijJed ueda m
¢ 1911eND SuLnp . 3 |euonlipp paAl 220 YT Ydley uo | yi 1ol q
3ul|)1q [enuue xey [12uno) yim pajdno) ysiy ulewsad sanss| Juswadeuew SFem

yuow yaea aus 3yl Jo mco_uuwn
'28ed / 152191ul JO S|aA3| aAlleIE

"y - i

it
R v [ e s =iy, i —— Vrape,

pamalA 1sow QT dol 3y} UO S13W0ISNI Ag SMIIA
wod 3y} (419p40 Bulpuadsap ut) SMoys 1eyd syl

wim

faneiL N
st PO SnmoR Huoqeg o

par

i

¥
™

HD seasy FULSGIAN |1DUNOD PIUSIA ISOIN

Sealy JSGI /W PIUSIA 1SON

Buipiedal sjlewa pue S||B2 JO SBWN|OA 3yl pue Aienuga4 pue Asenuer Jo m_maoE
ay1 SuLinp aA110e paulewal swweldold SUOIIIIISAY S Syl 1epdn

SACMYBIY PUE JISC N\ e JuaLtag BUiSNoOY R xXE] DUND) —7——  dUrl Funioday seday —e - pICpUL)S —e—

%

-
w

9I-JeW
91-q8y
9t-uer
ST-AON
$T-10
s1-dag
5T-3ny
sTne
stung
§T-Ae
57-1dy
ST
148
ST-uef
#1-32Q
bT-AON
¥1-20
pl-dag
vl-dny
yrinf
yr-unf
pl-Aei
l-idy

0

aoo’s

000’0t

000'ST

o007

000’52

x00€

aur] Aq pa1ayo siied

J7J 01 pat3yjo sjey

19e3U0) 13WOoISh)




St 40 01 @8ed

‘suolndo paseq Ajlunwwod 01 spual|d 1sodusdis 0}
yoeoudde s |15uno) 3yl JUNOIJL OJU| Y] 10U S0P |d Juswanoidw uedtyusis jo Ajogaled ay3
siyl "sa8exoed swoy aJed 13 518 JWOY 01 SID43J /N ul padejd s|ooyds ¢ pue ssnsesw [e1dads ul padejd s|ooyds 7,

'$aNss| aouewsojiad
ssauppe 01 3de(d ul aie suojlay "9TOZ |4dy Jo pua anp
3nsaJ [euly ‘ale) JO S19jsuel] paAe|aQ 01 SR PaY,

"Slueual 4oy pedwi J331aq e 3|qeud

01 awwea3doud Lm__on.wf as1uuo1d 03 uoIs|Dap JuswaSeuew J1831e41S
e 01 anp 1951e1 ay) papaadxa Aja3ie| sspesddn J3jioq Jo Jaquinu ay|
"198pNg UiyLM pUe 3WI] UO 1IN0 PaLIIED 349M SqO[ pPajnpayds ||y

paim

ploysaiyy
wioniFdier e 1
e 7 7SN slidnd 9
[ESLE

SIS [ENUY -

SoINSelN]

1981e) }nsay
lenuuy 91/ST0C a.nsealn enuuy | Jnwspesy aun€ebin

9JUBWI0}13d B4E) [BIIOS 13 Y}|EaH 1981e] | ST/pT Jeai

133N 3uIwod3q Jo ysu 1e ajdoad SunoA aiow
1oddns 01 9104 U0 peaT 3yl 01 Aldeded
jeuonippe 3ulq ||1m 970z |11dy Ui Supuswuiod
s1aloud pue pasijeury usaq aney spiq pun4
|e1os ueadoing om] ‘Bujulel] Jo uoleaInpy
JuswAojdw3 ur jou aue zgt ‘sjidnd spgs

10 110402 B JO 1IN0 1By} SMOYS B1ep 3A1eIIpU|
‘s1anea| TT Jeah 01 uolle|as u) '9TOZ ABA |1IUN
P3YLISA 3G 10U [|IM S3UNB1Y 13N S JHIPIBD 4 5
"SJuswiaoe|d aauaLIadxa yJom

10 @¥eldn Jamo| ul paynsal sey syl Alolepuew
J38uo| ou 9suBIadX3 Y10M Y}Im pue ‘siapiroid
1uswsoe|d pue sjooyds uaamiaq Alelpawiiaiul
ay1 Buiaq ul Awapedy |1PUNo) ipJed

AQ paJa)jo 921A13S BY3 104 pIdU 3Y] UoIIS3Nb
03ul p3j|ed s1y] ‘sjuswade|d susiadxa yiom
01 uonejaJs ul susAojdwa yum sjuswaduelle
UMO J19Y] 9)BW 0] 5|00YdS uo snuo ayl pade|d
JUSWUIBAOD YS[3/\ GTOZ 419quiaidas wold,

123.1e] 1jnsay
|enuuy 91,/5102

SINSEIN

}nsoy
9T/STOZ

ainseap

1981e] JeNUUY




Directorate: Social Services - Children’s

Director: Tony Young Councillor: Sue Lent

Q4 2015/16 Budget Projected DA 1 Variance

Outturn (%)
£46,552,000 £48,302,000 £1,750,000 3.62%

Number of Employees (FTE) 350

ok 9 Target Projected Vo) ‘ Variance
Sickness Absence YTD (D.ays Per Person)  13. :} Savings 15/16 j Savings | (%)
PPDR Year End Completion(permanent staff}  16.8% £2.781,000 £1,728,000 £1,053,000 37.86%

Q4 Progress agamst Corporate PIan Commltment Actions 2015/16 (7)
Green ' Amber 43% (3)

Amber 47% (9)

Progress on Challenges Identified Q3 (previous quarter)
Late publication by Welsh Government in December of the statutory guidance relating to Information, Advice and
Assistance means that the time available to design, plan and train staff to support a new model of delivery that is
compliant with the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act will be highly constrained. It is unlikely that the service will
be able to deliver a fully compliant model before April 2016 although we understand that most Councils are in a similar
or worse position:
Children’s Services now have a First Point of Contact (FPoC) delivered through the Children’s Access Point team. This is a
single agency FPoC and plans are in place to develop a multi agency FPoC. A project team has been established, supported
by Organisational Development, and the anticipated Go Live date is at the end of Quarter 2 2016-17.

Q4 Service Delivery
Budget
The month 11 position for Children’s Services shows a projected overspend of £1.750m. Despite a reduction in the
number of looked after children during the year (from a high of 662 in June 2015 to 641 at 31* March 2016) the
commissioning mix for placements has become more costly. This is because there has been an increase in the proportion
of children presenting extremely complex challenges who need externally purchased placements with very high support
ratios. In spite of this however, there is also a significant shortfall (£1.1m) against the £2.7m savings target set for the
service as part of the 2015-16 budget which is attributable principally to the failure of a provider to deliver services in
support of a new Payment by Results initiative. Nevertheless, there has been a continued focus on returning children
placed in high cost out of area placements to Cardiff that has been successful in returning 7 children to Cardiff at an
estimated saving of £316,000.
Directorate Delivery Plan
Of the 7 actions in the Corporate Plan, 3 are rated amber at 31.03.16:
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Strategy: The Cardiff Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy was approved by the Cardiff and
Vale Safeguarding Children Board in its role as the statutory body to which all agencies are accountable and this has
provided the basis for Directorate and partner activity both in developing a strategic response to CSE and in ensuring
effective operational interventions when necessary. More broadly the Directorate has been working very actively with
South Wales Police as the key lead agency in relation to CSE overall and this strong local relationship in Cardiff is reflected
both in the Strategy and in joint operations on the ground. A full programme of training has been planned for partner
agencies and other groups, and awareness raising sessions are underway. A briefing to informal Cabinet is being arranged
in the near future which will demonstrate significant progress over the last 12 months.
Implementation of Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH): Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) governance
arrangements, operating model, staff composition, ICT infrastructure and accommodation (Cardiff Bay Police Station)
agreed. Information sharing protocol under development. Vetting process for staff almost complete. Process mapping
for referral pathways completed. On target for launch at the end of Quarter 1 2016-17.
Work with Education to improve educational outcomes for looked after children and care leavers: Following concerns
raised in Quarter 2, and the introduction of information for managers to enable proactive monitoring of PEPs, there are
some signs of improvement at the time of writing. However, Operational Managers for relevant services are continuing to
re-enforce the need to ensure that staff give high priority to completing the PEP when children become looked after.
9 further actions from the Directorate Plan have been rated as amber. These relate to:
Improving the quality of referrals: The review of the Mult| -Agenc Referral Form planned for Quarter 2 was integrated

Page

NDAarn AN Af AL



with work being undertaken in relation to the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act. Required amendments have been
made and the form is to be agreed collectively by colleagues in Education, Probation, Police and Health in readiness for
use in 2016-17.
Safeguarding monitoring requirements: Work on the development of a suite of performance measures and reporting
mechanisms that cover the broad range of work undertaken by the safeguarding and review unit has been undertaken and
it is anticipated that this work will be concluded in Quarter 1 2016-17.
YOS: Progress in relation to YOS governance has been made and plans are in place to address membership, contents of
meetings, presentation of performance information and financial information which will accord with recommendations
made by the Police and Crime Commissioner’s commissioned report and the YOS inspection report. YOS Management
Board to facilitate workshops to address governance issues. Achievement of the planned YOS restructure has been
deferred to 2016-17.
Corporate Parenting Strategy: The Corporate Parenting Strategy will be considered by Cabinet in Quarter 1 and the launch
will follow shortly after.
Re-commissioning of the Supervised Contact Service: Contract awarded — service to be implemented in Quarter 1 2016-
17.
Enhanced Fostering Scheme / Payment by Results: Plan in place to address financial implications. Engagement with
alternative provider and three promising models proposed (currently being considered by Children’s Management Team).
Work undertaken with Legal and Procurement to terminate current contract and put in place a new contract for an
individual placement for the one young person who was placed within the scheme and remains in placement.
Welsh bilingual service: Operational pressures have made the completion of the Linguistic Assessments more difficult. 21
assessments have been returned to date and reminders issued regarding the outstanding assessments.
Savings: See above.
Quality Assurance Framework: A Quality Assurance Officer has been appointed and the implementation of the
Framework is planned for Quarter 1 2016-17.
Good progress has been made in relation to:
Early Help Strategy: The Strategy was launched during Quarter 3 and is being implemented. The following developments
have been made during the quarter:
® Joint Assessment Family Framework (JAFF) pilot progressing; Family Plan template finalised; JAFF Training DVD
commissioned to assist practitioners undertake the assessment.
® Review of Family Intervention Support Service (FISS) capacity being undertaken following ongoing success of rapid
response project.
® Adolescent Resource Centre — premises secured, post creation commenced; model for psychology input agreed
with Health.
Gateway Database: Single gateway for young people aged 16 or above to access direct housing, advice and support went
live in Quarter 3. The Gateway has been a very positive development for young people needing to access accommodation
and for the staff supporting them to do so. The process is very accessible and has reduced the anxiety for young people.
It has strengthened relationships across the Directorates and is enabling the Looked After Children Service to respond to
the requirements of young people and to work together to develop appropriate resources that meet need.
Remodelling of Children’s Services: Meetings underway with Signs of Safety training provider to plan the delivery of
training. Risk Assessment Framework agreed — to be implemented in Quarter 1 2016-17. Evaluation of OM roles
completed - discussions underway with Trade Unions to agree position prior to proceeding with re-structure. Subject to
agreement being reached with Trade Unions, it is anticipated that OM appointments will be completed by end of Quarter
12016-17.
Management
At the time of writing, the Directorate had achieved 90% compliance with finalisation of objectives and 76% of 6 monthly
reviews. A small percentage cannot be initiated due to staff absence (e.g. maternity leave and long term sick leave), and a
high level of recruitment activity and new intake accounts for a proportion of the outstanding PPDRs. Social Services staff
have met with colleagues in Communities to discuss and share the good practice work that Communities have developed
around the PPDR process. Work is being undertaken to determine how this can be applied across Social Services so that
there is a clear line of sight for all staff from the Corporate Plan to their PPDR objectives.

Page 64

NAarmA A1 ~Af AL



Key Performance Indicator Data — Q4 2015/16
o} Progress agalnst Performance Indlcators (Corporate & Delivery Plans) 2015/16 (36)
Greer ——————————— Amber 29% {2) —
of the total number of |nd|cators above 31% (11) are annual and 50% (18) have no or limited results as yet.

During 2014/15 Social Services focussed on improving performance in relation to indicators that have the greatest
significance for safe and effective practice concerning children — these are represented in the second table below*.
The stronger strategic focus that has characterised the Directorate’s work in 2014-15 will provide a basis for
improving performance against NSIs and PAMs.

National Strategic Indicators and Public Accountability Measures

[ ) o ° ) - - -
Performance Indicator § g e 5o |Eg|Ze L2 |25 g | >
= |8 g g |g " |®2 |8%2 |0
~SEE/002—Pereentage-of-children-looked-afterat31
March who have experienced one or more changes
of school, during a period or periods of being 17.80% Annual Result 11%
looked after, which were not due to transitional
arrangements, in the 12 months to 31 March
SCC/004 - The percentage of children looked after
on 31 March who have had three or more 10.50% Annual Result 8%
placements during the year
SCC/011b - The percentage of initial assessments
that were completed during the year where there 26.40% | 28.5 295 30.7 8.4 § 29.2 §

is evidence that the child has been seen alone by
the Social Worker

Not appropriate for RAG rating as there is no target or threshold for intervention.
SCC/025 - The percentage of statutory visits to
looked after children due in the year that took 88.90% | 85.1 85.3 85.3 95%
place in accordance with regulations
SCC/033d - The percentage of young people
formerly looked after with whom the authority isin | 90.50% Annual Result 96% 94.0 A
contact at the age of 19

SCC/033e - The percentage of young people
formerly looked after with whom the authority is in

0, 0,
contact, who are known to be in suitable, non- oA 200 AUl Result =6
emergency accommodation at the age of 19
SCC/033f - The percentage of young people
formerly looked after with whom the authority is in 56.10% Annual Result 58% 52.4 A

contact, who are known to be engaged in
education, training or employment at the age of 19
SCC/037 - The average external qualifications point
score for 16 year old looked after children, in any 191 Annual Result 220
local authority maintained learning setting
SCC/041a - The percentage of eligible, relevant and
former relevant children that have pathway plans 60.50% Annual Result 90%
as required

SCC/045 - The percentage of reviews of looked
after children, children on the Child Protection
Register and children in need carried out in line
with the statutory timetable

70.80% Annual Result 90%

28 |80 | 80|82 Sol 58 Pox 2
*performance Indicator o | 2R 28| 28| 8| 5= n28 2
S S S 8 SN R
% of referrals with decision made within 1 working day 83.1 [ 89.8 | 941 | 88.2 [ 865 | 100 | 89.5 [l
Page 65

NDa~A AY Af AR



Performance has decreased in Quarter 4 as in the context of a sustained high number of contacts to the service (7,960
compared with 7,280 in Quarter 2) and capacity issues at Intake & Assessment (I&A) in the early part of the quarter. The
performance report is based on electronic records, but there is evidence that the electronic capture of the information is
delayed. There were particular issues in Quarter 4 where a number of days access to electronic systems were lost due to
ICT issues. However, management oversight confirms all referrals are subject to manager decision and prioritisation on
the day of receipt.

% of referrals that are re-referrals within a year of previous
referral 254 | 25,6 | 25.2 | 243 | 234 24 234
% of initial assessments carried out within 7 working days 50.6 | 67.1 | 91.7 | 83.2 | 69.4 80 773 | A

Following a decline in performance in Quarter 3 as a result of capacity issues at Intake & Assessment, recruitment of
agency staff in Quarter 4 has helped the service get back on track. There was a steady improvement in performance
throughout Quarter 4 (from 57% in January to 87% in March). The 80% target was met for March, although the full year
figure falls just short of this at 77%. This, however, is a significant improvement on the 51% outturn for 2014-15.

609 | 644 | 66.6 | 58.0 | 53.7

% of children seen by a social worker during their initial 30 60.3
assessment )

There has been a significant drive in empowering social workers and managers to undertake the most appropriate
assessment at the point of referral. This has led to a range of outcomes including initial assessments:

e Proceeding straight to child protection investigations / core assessment / specialist assessments.

e Being closed with no further action after receiving managers have re-evaluated the decision to proceed to initial

assessment.

In these circumstances a full initial assessment would not have been completed - a more appropriate assessment would
have been undertaken & the child seen as part of that assessment. This is commensurate with the new Social Services &
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 wherein a proportionate assessment will be undertaken following all referrals. The target set
by the ADSS; WLGA & CSSIW pre-dates this new approach which is consistent with the direction of travel across the
country.

% of core assessments carried out within 35 working days 61.0 | 71.2 | 75.1 | 78.6 | 82.7 80 76.6

% of child protection reviews carried out within statutory

timescales 99.8 | 100 | 99.6 | 100 | 99.6 | 100 | 99.8

% of social work vacancies in all teams 27.2 | 235 | 214 | 216 | 22.2 15 22.2 A

The vacancy position has remained reasonably stable in Quarter 4, although there has been a small increase in vacancies
in the Looked After Children Service. The recruitment campaign is ongoing and an agreement is in place that when all
vacancies have been filled, Children’s Services will continue to recruit to a “pool” of additional social workers. This will
enable the service to maintain consistency of service provision and caseloads whilst managing healthy staff turnover
without needing to rely on expensive agency social workers. The ambitious 15% target has been revised to 18% for 31%
March 2017. The Children’s Services Workforce Strategy has been agreed, but is being revised to capitalise on messages in
the inspection report and to profile the benefits of mobilisation. A plan is in place for engagement with Adult Services
with a view to developing a Social Services Workforce Strategy in 2016-17.

Q4 Challenges Identified Q4 Actions being taken
None None
Q4 Risk Update

Corporate Risk

Inherent ' Residual Risk
Risk Description . ] itigating Acti
i escriptio Risk Risk Mitigating Actions Owner
e Governance arrangements in place to ensure effective
monitoring of progress across the region.
e Senior lead officers identified with responsibility for
Failure to implement the EaeH woTkestream;
. . P ; e Regional task and finish groups established for each Tony
Social Services & Wellbeing . . .
work stream and action plans being delivered. Young

(Wales) Act 2014.

Director leading workforce development planning for
the region.
Updated Social Care Development and Workforce

a@lén eemitted to Welsh Government in September

Darn A2 ~AF AL



Failure to reduce the cost of
delivering social services.

Strategic service improvement governance arrangements

2015.

Successful partnership workshop held to ensure full
engagement.in.process.

Officers contributing to national work groups as
required.

Regular reports to Scrutiny Committee with
references to Cabinet in place.

National Learning & Development Plan being
developed by Care Council for Wales to support
implementation of the Act.

Staff attending workforce development sessions on a
prioritised basis.

including:

e @ @ o

Organisational Development Programme.
Multi-agency Improving Services to Children Board.
Vulnerable Families Partnership Board.

Sacial Services Reshaping Programme.

Robust and transparent scrutiny of budgets in place
but this remains a significant challenge.

Page 67

Tony
Young

NDana AA AF AL



Page 68



Quarter 4

Indicator Indicator Title 2007- |2008- [2009- (2010- |[2011-12|2012-13|2013-14|2014-15(Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015-16|Current |Status |2015-16| Level Comments
Ref 08 09 10 11 2015-16|2015-16|2015-16|2015-16 Progre Target Trigr?/lertin
ss g Mg
Against Action
Children are protected from significant harm and ar e empowered to protect themselves
Referrals 1 |Number of 2,576| 3,241 3,793 4,525 4,730 4,744 4,531| 4,195 844 936 954| 1,138 3,872 Target Target | Target (Q4 2013-14 = 1,151
Local PI Referrals Received setting setting | setting |Q4 2014-15 = 1,007
not not not |January = 392
appropri appropri|appropr|February = 375
ate ate jate [March =371
In addition to referrals the service received 7,960
contacts in Quarter 4 of which 1,138 proceeded to
referral and are included in the number of referrals
above.
SCC/006 |The percentage of | 98.4%| 98.6%| 99.2%| 90.4%| 89.6%| 90.7%| 80.3%| 83.1%| 89.8%| 94.1%| 88.2%| 86.5%| 89.5% ® v 100.0% 984 /1,138
Core referrals during the (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) Performance has decreased in Quarter 4 in the
Indicator |year on which a context of a sustained high number of contacts to the
decision was made service (7,960 compared with 7,280 in Quarter 2) and
within 1 working capacity issues at Intake & Assessment (I&A) in the
day early part of the quarter. The performance report is
based on electronic records, but there is evidence that
the electronic capture of the information is delayed.
JlY) There were particular issues in Quarter 4 where a
QO number of days access to electronic systems were
«Q lost due to ICT issues. However, management
@ oversight confirms all referrals are subject to manager
o decision and prioritisation on the day of receipt.
o) All Wales average 2014-15 = 97.0%
SCC/007 |The percentage of | 42.2%| 44.0%| 44.4%| 42.2%| 57.1%| 61.9%| 92.0%| 91.9%| 94.1%| 92.0%| 93.6%| 87.3%| 91.5%| Target v Target | Target (994 /1,138
@) referrals that (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) (Ave) setting setting | setting |8.4% of referrals were allocated to someone other
Core proceed to not not not |than a Social Worker for initial assessment in Quarter
Indicator |allocation for initial appropri appropri|appropr|4 (96 / 1,138).
assessment during ate ate iate |4.7% of referrals did not proceed to initial assessment
the year allocated in Quarter 4 (54 / 1,138).
to a social worker All Wales average 2014-15 = 73.2%
for initial
assessment
SCC/010 |The percentage of | 23.1%| 22.2%| 25.1%| 29.1%| 29.5%| 32.3%| 25.6%| 25.4%| 25.6%| 25.2%| 24.3%| 23.4%| 23.4% @ i 24.0%| 30.0%|906 / 3,872
Core referrals that are re: All Wales average 2014-15 = 21.1%
Indicator  [referrals within 12
months
CS CPR 4 |CPR caseload 207 213 283 272 255 372 314 255 300 322 311 342 342| Target Target | Target [Figure does not include 13 temporary registrations
Local PI setting setting | setting |where case management responsibility for the
not not not |children is retained by their home authority.
appropri appropri|appropr
ate ate iate

Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted

Page 1 of 6

09/05/2016




Quarter 4

Indicator Indicator Title 2007- |2008- ([2009- (2010- |[2011-12|2012-13|2013-14|2014-15(Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015-16|Current |Status |2015-16| Level Comments
Ref 08 09 10 11 2015-16|2015-16|2015-16|2015-16 Progre Target Trig’?ﬂertin
ss g Mg
Against Action
SCC/014 |The percentage of | 48.9%| 73.5%| 72.7%| 86.3%| 82.6%| 84.6%| 83.8%| 90.7%| 96.4%| 98.5%]| 93.0%| 90.9%| 94.4% @ v 92.0%| 75.0%|159/175
Core initial child (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) Performance has dropped slightly in Quarter 4 in the
Indicator  |protection context of a 54% increase in the number of required
conferences due in initial conferences (175 compared with 114 in Quarter
the year which 3).
were held within 15 11 conferences were late in January relating to 2
working days of sibling groups. One conference was late because the
the strategy interpreter did not attend, so had to be rescheduled.
discussion The other was due to human error. 5 conferences
relating to 1 sibling group were late in March due to
human error. All conferences have since been held.
All Wales average 2014-15 = 92.6%
SCC/015 |The percentage of | 69.3%| 78.6%| 82.6%| 87.6%| 88.7%| 90.4%| 88.4%| 92.4%| 95.2%| 97.4%| 98.4%| 90.7%| 95.3% @ v 93.0%| 85.0%|127 /140
Core initial core group (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) Performance reduced in Quarter 4 in the context of a
Indicator |meetings due in 9% increase in the number of required initial core
the year which groups (140 compared with 129 in Quarter 3),
were held within 10 although the 93% target was met for the year.
U working days of All Wales average 2014-15 = 91.1%
QD the initial child
«Q protection
D conference
SCL[§34 |The percentage of | 98.9%| 99.2%| 99.5%| 99.2%| 98.5%| 98.0%| 98.5%| 99.8%| 100.0%| 99.6%| 100.0%| 99.6%| 99.8% @ - 100.0%| 70.0%|252 / 253
C child protection (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) (Ave) All Wales average 2014-15 = 98.0%
Indicator  [reviews carried out

within statutory
timescales during
the year

Children and young people are supported to live saf

ely within their families with the lowest appropria

te level of intervention

Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted

Page 2 of 6

09/05/2016




Quarter 4

Indicator
Ref

Indicator Title

2007-
08

2008-
09

2009-
10

2010-
11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

Q1
2015-16

Q2
2015-16

Q3
2015-16

Q4
2015-16

2015-16

Current
Progre
Ss
Against

Status

2015-16
Target

Level
Triggerin
g Mgt
Action

Comments

SCC/042
(@)

Core
Indicator

The percentage of
initial assessments
carried out within 7
working days

79.8%

69.8%
(Ave)

54.4%
(Ave)

37.9%
(Ave)

44.8%
(Ave)

67.4%
(Ave)

40.1%

50.6%

67.1%

91.7%

83.2%

69.4%

77.3%

©

80.0%

50.0%

729 /1,050

Following a decline in performance in Quarter 3 as a
result of capacity issues at Intake & Assessment,
recruitment of agency staff in Quarter 4 has helped the
service get back on track. There was a steady
improvement in performance throughout Quarter 4
(from 57% in January to 87% in March). The 80%
target was met for March, although the full year figure
falls just short of this at 77%. This, however, is a
significant improvement on the 51% outturn for 2014-
15.

The average working days taken to complete initial
assessments that took longer than 7 working days =
15.1 (4,851 / 321).

All Wales average 2014-15 = 75.9%

SCC/011
(@

Core
Indicator

T/ obed

The percentage of
initial assessments
that took place
during the year
where there is
evidence that the
child has been
seen by the Social
Worker

26.8%

31.0%
(Ave)

40.7%
(Ave)

45.1%
(Ave)

44.9%
(Ave)

59.6%
(Ave)

67.1%

60.9%

64.4%

66.6%

58.0%

53.7%

60.3%

80.0%

60.0%

564 /1,050

Performance against this Pl has a relationship with
SCC/007a.

There has been a significant drive in empowering
social workers and managers to undertake the most
appropriate assessment at the point of referral. This
has led to a range of outcomes including initial
assessments:

« Proceeding straight to child protection investigations
|/ core assessment / specialist assessments.

« Being closed with no further action after receiving
managers have re-evaluated the decision to proceed
to initial assessment.

In these circumstances a full initial assessment would
not have been completed - a more appropriate
assessment would have been undertaken and the
child seen as part of that assessment. This is
commensurate with the new Social Services &
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 wherein a proportionate
assessment will be undertaken following all referrals.
The target set by the ADSS, WLGA and CSSIW pre-
dates this new approach which his consistent with the
direction of travel across the country.

Inclusion of children seen by a Children's Services
worker other than a social worker increases the
percentage of children seen to 61.2% (643 / 1,050).
28.4% of children were seen alone by a social worker
(298 / 1.050)

Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted

Page 3 of 6

09/05/2016




Quarter 4

Indicator Indicator Title 2007- |2008- ([2009- (2010- |[2011-12|2012-13|2013-14|2014-15(Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015-16|Current |Status |2015-16| Level Comments
Ref 08 09 10 11 2015-16|2015-16|2015-16|2015-16 Progre Target Trigr?/lertin
ss g Mg
Against Action
SCC/043 |The percentage of | 27.3%| 41.2%| 49.5%| 36.3%| 49.5%| 68.2%| 71.1%| 61.0%| 71.2%| 75.1%| 78.6%| 82.7%| 76.6% @ A 80.0%| 50.0%]354 /428
(a) Core [required core (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) January = 72.9%
Indicator |assessments February = 88.3%
carried out within March = 82.9%
35 working days Performance has continued to improve in Quarter 4
with quarterly performance exceeding the 80% target
for the first time since Quarter 1 2013-14.
The average working days taken to complete core
assessments that took longer than 35 working days =
66.4 (4,914 / 74).
All Wales average 2014-15 = 80.7%
Looked after children experience the best care and support to help them recognise their abilities, hav e aspirations and achieve their full potential
CS LAC 3e|LAC caseload (not 521 520 530 521 568 557 611 650 662 630 625 644 644| Target Target | Target [Cardiff rate at 31.03.16 = 8.8 per 000
Local PI including respite setting setting | setting |Wales rate at 31.03.14 = 9.1 per 000
o care arrangements not not not
for disabled appropri appropri|appropr
,2 children) ate ate iate
C C 58|Percentage of New for| 61.4%| 64.8%| 67.0%| 65.6%| 62.2%| 62.0%| 60.7%| 60.4%| 61.6%| 60.9%| 62.5%| 62.5% @ i 65.0%| 60.0%]|315 /504
Locadl PI children in 2008- The PI counts only children placed within the LA
~ regulated 09 boundaries and excludes children placed in
N placements who neighbouring authorities close to their home area and
are placed in attending Cardiff schools.
Cardiff 17.0% (32) of children not placed in Cardiff are placed
within 10 miles of their home address.
3 of the children not placed in Cardiff are placed with a
relative carer.
Planning always takes account of placement location
for children. Some children need a specialist
placement that is not available in the city or need to
live away from families, communities or individuals
that could present risks for them.
SCC/001 |The percentage of | 75.8%| 83.4%| 82.3%| 78.3%| 72.3%| 64.2%| 62.5%| 75.0%| 67.0%| 76.5%| 78.1%| 88.7%| 77.0% @ i 95.0%| 80.0%|63 /71
(@) first placements of (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) Performance against this indicator has improved
Core looked after during the quarter and is now above the threshold for
Indicator |children during the manager intervention.
year that began All Wales average 2014-15 = 92.2%
with a care plan in
place
Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted Page 4 of 6 09/05/2016




Quarter 4

Indicator Indicator Title 2007- |2008- |2009- |2010- |2011-12|2012-13(2013-14|2014-15|Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015-16 |Current |Status [2015-16| Level Comments
Ref 08 09 10 11 2015-16/2015-16|2015-16 |2015-16 Progre Target T”QEAE”“
g Mgt
ss )
Against Action
SCC/001 |Forthose children | 69.2%| 80.2%| 90.7%| 90.4%| 87.1%]| 83.0%| 76.4%| 81.1%| 85.7%| 96.6%| 96.3%| 88.1%| 91.9% @ v 87.0%| 80.0%|37 /42
(b) looked after whose (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) 87% target met for both quarter and year.
Core second review All Wales average 2014-15 = 94.7%

Indicator |(due at 4 months)
was due in the
year, the
percentage with a
plan for
permanence at the
due date

SCC/021 |The percentage of [ 92.3%| 95.9%| 96.2%| 96.4%| 95.2%| 95.2%| 92.4%| 88.3%| 93.2%| 96.0%| 95.9%| 92.7%| 94.5% @ v 100.0%| 70.0%]395 /426

Core looked after (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) All Wales average 2014-15 = 95.5%
Indicator  [children reviews
carried out within

statutory
timescales during
the year
SCC/025 |The percentage of | 69.3%| 79.5%| 88.2%| 83.9%| 85.1%| 89.5%| 87.7%| 88.9%| 85.1%| 85.3%| 85.3%| 91.1%| 86.6% @ A 92.0%| 85.0%(388 /426
Core statutory visits to (Ave)| (Ave)| (Ave) (Ave) All Wales average 2014-15 = 87.7%

Inm@or looked after

Q children due in the
(@) year that took
D place in
accordance with
~ regulations
L)
oo

Cardiff is the destination of choice for committed social work professionals

Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted Page 5 of 6 09/05/2016



Quarter 4

Indicator
Ref

Indicator Title

2007-
08

2008-
09

2009-
10

2010-
11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

Q1
2015-16

Q2
2015-16

Q3
2015-16

Q4
2015-16

2015-16

Current
Progre
Ss
Against

Status

2015-16
Target

Level
Triggerin
g Mgt
Action

Comments

Staff 1
Local PI

abed

~l

Percentage of
social work
vacancies in all
teams

22.1%

26.1%

15.2%
(Ave)

14.7%
(Ave)

15.9%
(Ave)

14.5%
(Ave)

20.8%
(Ave)

27.2%
(Ave)

23.5%

21.4%

21.6%

22.2%

22.2%

©

15.0%

25.0%

100/ 450.9

1&A = 36.9%

CIN = 20.2%

LAC = 15.8%

The vacancy position has remained reasonably stable
in Quarter 4, although there has been a small increase
in vacancies in the Looked After Children Service.
The recruitment campaign is ongoing and an
agreement is in place that when all vacancies have
been filled, Children’s Services will continue to recruit
to a “pool” of additional social workers. This will
enable the service to maintain consistency of service
provision and caseloads whilst managing healthy staff
turnover without needing to rely on expensive agency
social workers. The ambitious 15% target has been
revised to 18% for 31st March 2017. The Children’s
Services Workforce Strategy has been agreed, but is
being revised to capitalise on messages in the
inspection report and to profile the benefits of
mobilisation. A plan is in place for engagement with
Adult Services with a view to developing a Social
Services Workforce Strategy in 2016-17.

~

Children’s Services are provided on the basi

s of th

e most efficient and effective use of resources

CSLAC 44
Local PI

Percentage of LAC
placements with
independent sector
providers

56.4%

56.6%

58.9%

62.0%

64.2%

68.6%

67.4%

71.8%

70.3%

70.3%

70.0%

72.0%

72.0%

®

v

60.0%

363 /504

Of the 363 placements with independent sector
providers, 154 started within the last 12 months.
Following concerns raised in Quarter 2 regarding the
capacity of the provider to deliver on its commitments,
the decision was taken in Quarter 3 to end the
contract due to a lack of suitable placements. A plan
is now in place to address the financial implications
and the following actions are being taken:

« Engagement with alternative provider and three
promising models proposed (currently being
considered by Children’s Management Team).

« Work undertaken with Legal and Procurement to
terminate current contract and put in place a new
contract for an individual placement for the one young
person who was placed within the scheme and
remains in placement.

Targets set by CSSIW are highlighted

Page 6 of 6

09/05/2016




Contacts - Quarter 4 2015-16 Summary

Breakdown of Contacts by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16

[No. of Contacts - Quarter 4 2015-16 [

73%0]

G) abed

[Source of Contact [Total [Total %
[Central agen Breakdown of Contacts by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16 Breakdown of Contacts by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16
Family, friend or neighbour 10,000
ider agency ! 3620 1%_0% ox m Central government agency
LA Housing Dept. or Housing Association m Family, friend or neighbour
Local Authority's own Social Services Dept.
[Other Agency ® Independent provider agency
Other Depar f own or other LA LA Housing Dept. o Housing Association
|Other individual
ol m Local Authority's own Social Services Dept.
Primary health / Community health = Other Agency
Probation
|School m Other Departments of own or other LA
jsecondary health = Other individual
|Self referral 8
rﬂ< Border Agency 16| = Police
(SEndiotal 2,360  Primary health / Community health
= Probation
(blank) =No information recorded on CareFirst = School
1 Secondary health
= Self referral
UK Border Agency
Breakdown of Contacts by Outcome - Quarter 4 2015-16
[Contact Outcome [Total [Total %
[Contact to Close Breakdown of Contacts by Outcome - Quarter 4 2015-16
|Contact to Referral 10,000
ion Received on Open Case . 2,885
PPD1 Received on Open Case
Provision of Information
Significant CP Information on Open Case o0 1138 1
Grand Total " 493
100 + 85
| l
1
Contact to Close Contact to Referral Information Received on Open  PPD1 Received on Open Case. Provision of Information Significant CP Information on
Case Open Case
Contacts Received Over 2 Years
Month [Month Total [Quarter Quarter Total } Contacts Received Over 2 Years
Apr-14 ,995|
May-14 ,ﬁ{ I 5000
Jun-14 ,360/|Q1 - 2014-15 6,@
Jul-14. ,397 8000
Aug-14 ,080)|
Sep-14. ,560|Q2 - 2014-15 7,037
Oct-14 ,688| 7000
Nov-14 ,487 |
Dec-14 ,245|Q3 - 2014-15 7,4% 6000
Jan-15 ,656)
Feb-15 ,329] |
Mar-15 ,554(Q4 - 2014-15 7,539| 5000
Apr-15 ,274)
May-15
Jun-15 7,531 4000
Jul-15
Aug-15 3000 1
Sep-15 7,280|
Oct-15
Nov-15 2000
Dec-15 7,976
Jan-16
Feb-16 1000
Mar-16 ,917]|Q4 - 2015-16 7,960
0

ai- Q- a3-
201415 201415 201415

Q-
201415

ai-
201516

Q-
201516

a3
201516

aa
201516




This page is intentionally left blank



Referrals - Quarter 4 2015-16 Summary

[No. of Referrals - Quarter 4 2015-16 |

Breakdown of Referrals by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16

ource of Referral [Total _[Total %
entral government agency 2 Breakdown of Referrals by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16 Breakdown of Referrals by Source - Quarter 4 2015-16
amily, friend or neighbour 0%
AHousi or H T 1%, 0%
I Authority's own Social Services Dept.
er Agency  Central government agency

Lher Depar own or other LA  Family, friend or neighbour
olice = LA Housing Dept. or Housing Association
rimary health / Community health ® Local Authority's own Social Services Dept.
robation = Other Agency
chool
eondary e = Other Departments of own or other LA
elf referral = Other individual

F Border Agency = Police.

(Grand Total 1132 ' Primary health / Community health

[ in next quarter 1 # Probation

|Referrals conta ' School

[ contacts in current quarter | 1,138] = Secondary health

Self referral
UK Border Agency
Breakdown of Referrals by Outcome - Quarter 4 2015-16
Outcome of Referral

tal ¢

(o Further Action and Close (Referral) Breakdown of Referrals by Outcome - Quarter 4 2015-16
eferral to JAFF
ransfer In Conference

rand Total

1097

[ in next quarter

Referrals conta 5
T contacts in current quarter | 1138

1

/] obed

Inital Assessment No Further Action and Close Referral to JAFF Transfer In Conference
(Referral)

Total Referrals Over 2 Years

Month Month T{Quarter |Quarter Total
Apr-1a 339) Total Referrals Received Over 2 Years
May-14 403| 1400
Jun-14 425/Q1 - 2014-15 1,169
Jul-14 36¢
Aug-14 256]
Sep-14 385|q2 - 2014-15 969 1200
oct1a 37
Nov-14 360)
Dec-14 327|Q3 - 2014-15 1,058
Jan-15 303] 1000
Feb-15 335
Mar-15 354/Q4 - 2014-15 992
Apr-1s 253]
May-15 285| 00
Jun-15 318/Q1 - 2015-16 857
Jul-15 343
Aug-15 340)
Sep-15 250|q2 - 2015-16 933 600
oct15 257]
Nov-15 398]
Dec-15 297|Q3 - 2015-16 952
Jan-16 38 00
Feb-16 375
Mar-16 369|Q4 - 2015-16 1,132

200

- Q- as- Q- a1- Q- as- Q-
201815 201415 201815 201415 201516 201516 201516 201516



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem ©

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
17 May 2016

ESTYN Monitoring Visit — Inspection Letter

Purpose of the Report

1. The purpose of this report is to enable the Committee to be presented
with the Estyn inspection outcome letter by Clive Phillips, Assistant
Director for Estyn (copy attached at Appendix A), as published in
March 2016.

Background

2. Estyn inspected Cardiff Local Education Authority in 2011 and, whilst
judging provision to be ‘adequate’, the Inspectorate placed the
authority in Estyn’s Monitoring category . Two monitoring visits were
carried out, in June 2012 and February 2014, the latter judging that
Cardiff Local Education Authority required ‘significant improvement’.
Estyn left the authority with six updated recommendations and agreed
a monitoring programme outlining the scope of three further visits in
Spring 2015, Autumn 2015 and Spring 2016. The six

recommendations from the February 2014 visit were:
R1 Raise standards, particularly at Key Stage 4;

R2 Reduce exclusions and reduce the proportion of young people

who are not in education, employment or training post — 16;

R3 Make sure that the arrangements for delivering school

improvement services challenge and support all schools

Page 79



effectively, in order to improve standards for learners at all

levels;

R4 Improve the effectiveness of joint planning across the range of

partnership working;

R5 Improve performance management processes to ensure a

consistent approach to delivering objectives;

R6 Improve the scrutiny of local authority education services and

partnership working.

Monitoring Programme

3. The monitoring visit in October 2015 focused upon Recommendations
2 and 4. The inspection team return in January 2016 to inspect
progress against Recommendation 1 and all recommendations, by
which time two years of verified data across all key stages would be

available.

Spring 2015 Monitoring Visit

4. Huw Davies HMI led a team of four inspectors on the second
monitoring visit during the period 25 to 29 January 2016. The
inspection team held discussions with the Leader of the Council,
elected Members, the Chief Executive, senior officers, head teachers
and Partnership representatives. The team also scrutinised
documentation including evidence on the progress made against each
of the recommendations. At the end of the visit the team verbally
reported their findings to the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet
Member for Education, Chair of this Scrutiny Committee, the Chief

Page 80



Executive, the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning and a

representative from the Welsh Government.

5. The Assistant Director, Clive Phillips will provide the Members with an
overview of the inspection, together with the broad messages arising
from the inspection for the Committee, which the Members may wish to
take into consideration during its future monitoring of the Education

service.
Scope of the Scrutiny

6. Members will receive a presentation on the Director of Education and
Lifelong Learning’s views of the monitoring visit findings, and the plans to

address the issues highlighted in the letter.

Legal Implications

7. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations
in this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal
implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the
matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications.
Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet will
set out any legal implications arising from those recommendations. Al
decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the
legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person
exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in
accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by the Council
e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be
properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the Council's fiduciary
duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the

circumstances.

Page 81



Financial Implications

8. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations
in this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct
financial implications at this stage in relation to any of the work
programme. However, financial implications may arise if and when the
matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications.
Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet will

set out any financial implications arising from those recommendations.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to receive and consider Estyn’s Inspection
Outcome Letter, and provide any comments or recommendations to the
Cabinet Member for Education and the Director of Education and Lifelong
Learning.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 82



7» Estyn

Arolygiaeth Ei Mawrhydi dros Addysg a Hyfforddiant yng Nghymru

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Education and Training in Wales

Dr Paul Orders

Chief Executive
Cardiff County Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf

Cardiff

CF10 4uw

March 2016
Dear Dr Orders
Estyn Monitoring Visit 25 — 29 January 2016

Following the outcome of the Estyn monitoring visit of education services for children
and young people in February 2014, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector was of the
opinion that the local authority was in need of significant improvement.

A plan of follow-up visits was agreed and teams of inspectors undertook monitoring
visits in March and October 2015. The third and final monitoring visit took place from
25 to 29 January 2016. Huw Davies HMI led a team of five inspectors to review the
progress made by the authority against all of the six recommendations arising from
the monitoring visit in February 2014.

The inspection team held discussions with the leader of the council, elected
members, the chief executive, senior officers, headteachers and partnership
representatives. Inspectors scrutinised documentation from the local authority,
including evidence on the progress made against each of the recommendations.
They also considered outcomes from Estyn inspections of schools in the authority.

At the end of the visit, the team reported their findings to the leader of the council,
cabinet member for education, chair of the scrutiny committee, chief executive,
director for education and a representative from the Welsh Government. This letter
records the outcomes of that visit.

Outcome of the monitoring visit

Cardiff Council is judged to have made sufficient progress in relation to the
recommendations that arose from the monitoring visit in February 2014. As a result,
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales considers that the
authority is no longer in need of significant improvement and is removing it from
follow-up activity.

Estyn, Llys Angor/Anchor Court, Heol Keen/Keen Road, Caerdydd/Cardiff, CF24 5JW
Ffon/Telephone 02920 446446 « Ffacs/ Fax 02920 446448

ymholiadau@estyn.govgeymru_® engi ies@estyn.gov.wales
www.estyn.llyw. yna-g - g/n.gov.wales



Estyn
Background

The monitoring visit in February 2014 noted that there had been significant turnover
in senior management posts, with periods where key posts were unfilled.

The director for education and lifelong learning had been in post for five months. He
had clarified the relationship between the authority and its schools and had taken
action to challenge schools more robustly.

Since then there has been a period of stability and the local authority has
strengthened its education service. The director has re-structured the department
and is now supported by new posts including an assistant director, a head of
achievement and inclusion and a head of school organisation, access and planning.

The chief executive continues to have a sound understanding of the areas for
improvement in Cardiff's education services for children and young people. He plays
a pivotal role in both supporting and challenging the education directorate.

Recommendation 1: Raise standards, particularly at key stage 4

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation.

Since the monitoring visit in 2014, performance has improved across the key stages
in most of the main indicators.

Over the past three years, performance has improved in both the Foundation Phase
Indicator and the core subject Indicator at key stage 2. Performance in these
indicators has improved at a faster rate than for Wales as a whole and, in 2015, is
above that in similar authorities, and is now broadly in line with the average in
Wales.

Performance in the core subject indicator at key stage 3 has gradually improved over
the past three years, although at a slower rate than the Wales average. In 2015,
performance in this indicator continues to be above that of similar authorities, based
on free-school-meal eligibility.

At key stage 4, performance in the level 2 threshold including English or Welsh and
mathematics has improved significantly over the past three years. In 2015,
performance in this measure exceeded the benchmark for performance set by the
Welsh Government for the second year running. Performance in the core subject
indicator has also improved well over the past three years.

In the other main indicators at key stage 4, including the wider capped point score
and the level 2 threshold, there has been steady progress. However, performance in
these measures remains below the Wales average and Cardiff has been amongst
the lowest performing authorities for the past three years. The authority has not met
the Welsh Government benchmark for the wider capped points score for the last
three years. Performance in the level one indicator declined in 2015 and is now one
of worst in Wales.

Page 84



Estyn

In 2015, performance of schools in Cardiff is too variable across the range of key
stage 4 indicators when comparing with that of similar schools across Wales, based
on the proportion of pupils eligible for free school meals. In the level 2 threshold that
includes English or Welsh and mathematics and the core subject indicator, many
schools are in the top 50% of schools. However, performance in the other main
indicators does not compare favourably to that of similar schools based on
free-school-meal eligibility. For example, performance in the wider capped points
score, level 2 and level 1 places around two thirds of schools in the lower 50% of
similar schools.

More able pupils have performed well over the past three years at key stage 4 and
the percentage of pupils achieving the equivalent of five or more A*-A GCSE grades
has been consistently higher than the Wales average.

Pupils eligible for free school meals perform well at the Foundation Phase indicator
and the core subject indicator at key stages 2 and 3 compared to similar pupils
across Wales. At key stage 4, these pupils generally perform well in the level 2
threshold including English or Welsh and mathematics, the core subject indicator
and level 2 threshold. However, in 2015, the performance of these pupils declined in
the wider capped points score and level 1 and is lower than the Wales average for
similar pupils.

In 2015, in all the main indicators at key stage 4 except for level 1, the gap in
performance between girls and boys is smaller in Cardiff than the Wales
average. This is mainly due to the relatively poor performance of girls. Their
performance is lower than the Wales average in most indicators across the key
stages. This was identified in the 2012 monitoring visit and continues to impact
negatively on outcomes in Cardiff, particularly at key stage 4.

Outcomes for pupils who are educated other than at school (EOTAS) are generally
poor. Many pupils supported by the range of EOTAS provisions leave with very few
or no recognised qualifications.

Recommendation 2: Reduce exclusions and reduce the proportion of young
people who are not in education, employment or training post-16

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation.

The local authority has taken strong and timely action to reduce the rate of
exclusions from schools.

Overall, fixed-term exclusions in secondary schools continue to fall. However, there
remain wide variations in the rate of short-term exclusions between secondary
schools.

Many primary schools have no or very few fixed-term exclusions. Where exclusions

take place, they are generally due to the serious nature of a small number of
incidents that have occurred in a very few primary schools.

Page 85



Estyn

The rate of permanent exclusions in Cardiff has historically been low. This remains
the case and compares favourably to the situation in other authorities in Wales.

The authority continues to take appropriate actions to both challenge and support
schools where the level of exclusion is a concern. For example, the local authority
has frequent discussions with school leaders regarding approaches to engage and
support pupils.

The local authority has provided additional support and training to the minority of
schools where there are concerns around continuing high levels of exclusion. The
local authority has supported the implementation of appropriate interventions. As a
result, exclusions in many of these schools are beginning to reduce.

Speech and language screening has been introduced for all pupils in the primary
phase and is beginning to be introduced at key stage 3. However, screening for
speech and language needs is not consistent in secondary schools. Where it has
been introduced it has identified that pupils most at risk of exclusion often have
speech and language difficulties.

Schools that have successfully implemented restorative approaches (a behaviour

management approach to resolving conflict and preventing harm) are sharing their
knowledge and experience with targeted schools. Early indications are that these
approaches are beginning to have a positive impact in the targeted schools.

As part of its five-step approach to managing exclusions, the local authority has
delegated funding to schools to enable them to provide a more appropriate
curriculum and support pupils at risk of exclusion. This has helped to reduce overall
exclusions in secondary schools.

The majority of secondary schools have implemented the five-step model to
managing exclusions appropriately. However, a minority of schools do not
implement this approach consistently and their exclusion rates remain high.

Most schools have developed partnerships with local organisations that provide
education for pupils away from the school site. However, the level of contact that
schools have with these providers is inconsistent. As a result, schools cannot
guarantee that the learning experiences are matched well enough to pupils’ needs or
that they achieve accredited outcomes at a level of which they are capable. The
level of information that the authority has on the number of hours’ education that
pupils receive, pupil outcomes, attendance and possible exclusions from provisions
is generally weak and this is unacceptable and needs to improve.

The monitoring visit in October 2015 noted that the role that senior leaders in
education had in shaping, understanding and driving the reduction in the number of
young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) was unclear and that
the local authority had no overarching single NEET strategy. Since then the
authority has produced a single strategy for youth engagement and progression.
This strategy is in line with the six priority areas outlined in the Welsh Government
guidance and outlines broadly the actions that need to be taken.

Page 86



Estyn

In 2015, 300 pupils identified as being at risk of becoming NEET were supported
over the summer term and through the school holiday. Young people were able to
access ongoing support and advice to help them to secure suitable education,
employment and training placements. This approach is beginning to have a positive
impact. However, unverified data for 2015 indicates that Year 11 NEETS has
worsened slightly and that Cardiff remains one of the worst performing authorities in
Wales. The variation in NEETs across schools remains too great.

In order to improve destinations for looked-after children the authority has recently
implemented a trainee programme. This aims to provide looked-after children with
new skills and qualifications. However, it is too early to judge the impact of this
scheme on the outcomes and destinations of looked-after children.

All secondary schools now use the vulnerability assessment profile and this has
been extended to the pupil referral unit and special schools. The profile assists
schools in identifying pupils that are at risk of becoming NEET.

All pupils that are educated other than at school (EOTAS), now access taster
courses with local providers and receive information and support in respect of
next-step opportunities. This has slightly improved the destinations for this group of
learners. However, the overall percentage of pupils that are NEET from the
authority’s special school for pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties
and EOTAS provision is far too high.

In October 2015, we reported that relevant information on school exclusion and
NEETSs data is provided to the regional consortia’s challenge advisers but that not all
challenge advisers discuss concerns over exclusions or NEETs with their schools.
This aspect of the challenge advisers’ work with schools is beginning to improve.

Recommendation 3: Make sure that the arrangements for delivering school
improvement services challenge and support all schools effectively, in order
to improve standards for learners in all key stages

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation.

Overall, Cardiff schools are being challenged more rigorously and supported more
effectively to improve. There have been improvements in most of the outcome
indicators at all key stages, although the performance of a few of Cardiff secondary
schools is still a significant concern.

The work of the school improvement service commissioned from the regional
consortium is based on clear priorities and a good understanding of Cardiff schools.
Since the monitoring visit in 2014, the local authority has worked well with its schools
to engage school leaders and to develop a change in culture in which schools are
more aware of their responsibility for their own improvement.

The local authority is developing a good understanding of its schools.
Communication between the local authority and school leaders is open, honest and
productive. An improved use of data allows the authority to track the progress of
pupils in schools and across the city, and to identify those pupils who are at risk of

Page 87



Estyn

underachieving. Sharing this data across all schools has helped to raise
expectations and to develop greater accountability, although there is not enough
emphasis on the analysis of the performance of particular groups of pupils, for
example girls, and pupils with special educational needs.

There is a strong working relationship between the local authority and the regional
consortium. The local authority has moderated the outcomes of categorisation in
partnership with the regional consortium, and this has led to a more accurate view of
school performance, an improved model of differentiated support and challenge, and
earlier intervention in schools causing concern.

The two senior challenge advisers support the work of challenge advisers well. The
performance management and quality assurance of the work of challenge advisers is
now more systematic, and the authority has taken robust steps to improve practice
where underperformance is identified. Senior challenge advisers undertake joint
visits with challenge advisers to schools to appraise the quality of challenge advisers’
work. There are robust processes to quality assure the reports of challenge
advisers, and this has led to an improvement in the consistency and precision of
their reports. Processes to validate judgements through the collection of first-hand
evidence are improving, and this is beginning to provide the authority with a more
accurate evaluation of their schools. Through school improvement meetings,
challenge advisers are developing a better understanding of the role that wider
services in the local authority play in improving schools.

The local authority has refined its processes for schools causing concern. This
allows the local authority to tackle underperformance earlier and more
systematically. Local authority officers hold headteachers and chairs of governors to
account well for the progress of their school through a programme of half-termly or
termly performance review meetings. These meetings focus suitably on pupil
outcomes and school leadership. The local authority has very useful mechanisms to
raise issues with leaders in the education directorate so that swift action, including
the use of statutory powers, may be taken where schools are not making enough
progress.

In 2014-2015, the local authority issued five statutory warning notices and eight
letters of concern to schools. These letters outlined clearly the expectations for
improvement. The local authority has used its powers of intervention in five schools.
These strengthened arrangements to identify and intervene in underperforming
schools are impacting positively on leadership, standards, and the quality of
provision in schools. Outcomes improved in ten out of the fifteen schools that
received a warning notice or letter of concern, or where formal intervention actions
were taken.

The local authority uses a wide range of approaches to improve its underperforming
schools. It is beginning to implement strategies to improve the quality of leadership,
provision and teaching and learning more sustainably across these schools.
However, support strategies that focus on the performance of pupils are still focused
too heavily on Year 11 pupils at risk of not achieving their level 2 qualifications in
English or Welsh and in mathematics.

Page 88



Estyn

The local authority works productively with its regional consortium to address the
specific needs of Cardiff schools, and to promote school-to-school working. A few
Cardiff schools are acting as hubs to disseminate good practice and to provide
training and networking opportunities across the consortium. School improvement
groups (SIGs) of teachers and leaders across the region are working on key
improvement issues, and these groups focus well on evaluating their work in terms
of outcomes for pupils.

Recently, in schools categorised as being effective, a system of peer review is
developing. This process facilitates the sharing of good practice and is developing
the skills of the headteachers involved.

The local authority has commissioned the regional consortium to deliver a
comprehensive range of leadership development programmes specifically to address
leadership issues across its schools. These include training for aspiring leaders,
middle leaders, headteachers at various stages of their careers, and development for
those leaders who are capable of supporting other headteachers, or leading more
than one school. Itis too early to judge the impact of these programmes.

Processes for strengthening school governance are developing well. This includes
bespoke training for governors of its underperforming schools. The council has
revised the process for appointing local authority governors and it has brokered a
wide range of partnerships with businesses in the city to identify and deploy
governors who are better able to support their schools. In schools where
governance is particularly weak, the regional consortium has recruited a number of
experienced governors to act as consultant governors to work alongside challenge
advisers to support the governing body.

Overall, schools in Cardiff are becoming more resilient and are demonstrating a
greater capacity for improvement. Since the monitoring visit in 2014, there has been
an increase in the number of higher performing schools and a decrease in the
number in need of significant improvement as determined by the national model of
school categorisation. However, schools’ performance at key stage 4 at level 1 and
level 2, and in the capped points score, has not improved sufficiently.

Recommendation 4: Improve the effectiveness of joint planning across the
range of partnership working

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation.

The local authority has worked well with partners to rationalise joint planning for
services to children and young people. The structures supporting partnership
working have been revised, with further changes underway. The revised structures
include management boards, operational committees and joint planning procedures.
These arrangements are beginning to improve collaborative working across
organisational boundaries, to pool resources and align services more effectively to
address the key challenges facing the city.

The Cardiff Partnership Board provides a clear direction for joint planning and
working to address children and young people’s education and support needs based

Page 89



Estyn

on the priorities set out in the single integrated plan ‘What Matters’. This plan is
used well to inform planning across the various partnership boards.

The Education Development Board and the Vulnerable Children and Families
Programme Board are developing clear strategies to address well-understood
common priorities. These priorities include improving services to disabled children
and vulnerable families, early intervention and prevention work, services to support
young people’s emotional and mental health, and corporate approaches to
safeguarding. An outcome of these strategies is joint working between partnership
programmes such as Families First, Flying Start, Communities First and Integrated
Family Support, to contribute towards improved attendance, behaviour and
attainment of young people in schools. However, the challenge remains to reduce
the number of young people not in education or training.

The work of the six neighbourhood partnerships in Cardiff has enhanced the
authority’s capacity to offer locally-delivered and more efficient, multi-agency
services. These neighbourhood partnerships are a key component in identifying
vulnerable young people and providing early intervention and prevention services
before needs become acute and require more costly interventions from specialist
services. An important feature is the improving use of outcomes data to evaluate the
effectiveness of service delivery, for example by measuring the increases in school
attendance, measuring the reach of support services, and evaluating outcomes for
young people who use neighbourhood based services. This approach is helping
officers to rationalise and identify gaps in provision and to reduce duplication.

Historically, an important barrier to efficient joint working has been the lack of
effective information sharing policies and protocols. The Early Help Strategy has
been put in place to address this. However, it is too early to assess the impact of
this strategy.

There are much improved links and working relationships between officers and
schools which are based on a better understanding of their respective roles, mutual
expectations and accountabilities. The local authority consults schools with
increasing effectiveness, which has resulted in better engagement between the
authority and its schools. Headteachers consider that they are better-informed,
engage in constructive dialogue with officers and contribute more directly to
identifying the local authority’s priorities. There is a strong emphasis and shared
commitment to develop the capacity of schools in Cardiff to lead and support their
own improvement.

The Education Development Board has developed effective partnership working with
higher education institutions, further education institutions and the business and
enterprise community. This has helped broaden the curriculum for some secondary
school pupils, improve educational and employment opportunities for post-16
students and enhance the capacities of governing bodies.

A particularly valuable initiative of the Safe and Cohesive Community Board has
been the partnership with Prevent, a Home Office strategy to prevent people
becoming radicalised and drawn into terrorism. As a result, schools have
undertaken awareness-raising training. All secondary schools have introduced the
‘getting on together’ curriculum, which challenges all forms of extremism and helps

Page 90



Estyn

to improve community cohesion in the city. This work is helping to inform practice
throughout the United Kingdom.

The local authority is currently reorganising its youth work provision, following
consultation with young people, neighbourhood boards, and voluntary sector
providers in Cardiff. The re-organisation is built around increased partnership work
between the local authority and the voluntary sector in order to deliver the Welsh
Government’s Youth Service Strategy, and its Youth Engagement and Progression
Framework. However, it is too early to assess the impact of this reorganisation on
youth support services in Cardiff.

Recommendation 5: Improve performance management processes to ensure
a consistent approach in delivering objectives

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation

Performance management processes within the local authority have improved. The
authority now has a better understanding of its current performance within education
services for children and young people and its progress in meeting objectives set out
in corporate and directorate plans.

The quarterly performance management process ensures that there is strong
challenge to the director’s quarterly performance report.

The director of education and lifelong learning provides quarterly reports on
performance to the cabinet and scrutiny committee. These reports appropriately
show links to corporate and directorate priorities as well as progress against
challenges identified in the previous quarter. In addition, they contain clear
information on progress against the directorate’s delivery plan and include suitable
information about the main risks together with appropriate mitigating action.

These reports are presented to the ‘Star Chamber’ prior to being formally considered
by the cabinet and scrutiny committee. The chief executive, the leader of the
council, relevant directors, the cabinet member for corporate services and
performance and other relevant personnel attend the ‘Star Chamber’ meetings.
During ‘Star Chamber’ meetings the director is challenged in relation to matters
identified in the report and suitable actions are agreed. As a result, quarterly
performance reports are more robust and their usefulness has improved.

The quarterly performance reports are also presented to the Cardiff Challenge
Forum. This forum was established in partnership with the Welsh Government and
the Welsh Local Government Association to secure the rapid improvement of
selected individual services, including education, and of the Council’s overall
corporate improvement capability. This forum meets quarterly and provides
appropriate challenge and support.

The director’s annual report is realistic and accurate in the way it evaluates the
performance of schools. It provides a useful commentary on performance and
identifies priority areas for further improvement. The appendices present useful and
balanced analyses of performance across the authority.

Page 91



Estyn

Other reports on performance including the self-evaluation report provide useful
details of the different education services including progress against the Estyn
quality indicator headings. However, these generally describe the actions
undertaken rather than how well those actions have been carried out and their
impact. They do not provide sufficient evidence to support assertions. Also, areas
for improvement are not clear enough to be able to determine a suitable range of
appropriate actions.

In 2014-2015, the authority introduced a revised personal performance and
development review (PPDR) process for managing the performance of staff. Nearly
all staff have been included in this process. Performance objectives for members of
staff in the directorate do not link clearly enough to team, directorate or corporate
priorities. Targets set for individuals are not consistently measurable, ambitious
enough or appropriate to be able to ensure that performance is assessed robustly.

Recommendation 6: Improve the scrutiny of local authority education services
and partnership working

The authority has made satisfactory progress in addressing this
recommendation.

The authority has responded well to this recommendation in a timely and appropriate
manner. The Council has made changes to the scrutiny committee structure and
responsibilities. There are now five scrutiny committees, and each is responsible for
the scrutiny of partnership work and its impact, in its respective work programme.
The children and young people scrutiny committee’s work programme appropriately
includes arrangements for the scrutiny of all education services for children and
young people. This includes services delivered through community settings and
through schools.

The children and young people scrutiny committee is increasingly effective. The
committee has agreed a framework to provide its members with structured
development and training opportunities. This training has helped scrutiny members
to improve their understanding of the issues relating to the achievement and
attainment of children and young people, and how to interpret the data sets used by
education officers and schools to track outcomes.

The committee has put in place a number of actions to better manage its range of
duties and the size of its agenda. These include a programme of pre-meetings and
briefings, as well as monitoring panels which look specifically at budget and
performance reports. These pre-meetings and panels enable the members to
identify clear lines of inquiry for follow-up at committee meetings. These changes
have helped the scrutiny committee become more focused.

The committee also makes good use of task and finish groups to follow up identified
areas in greater detail and to produce reports for the wider scrutiny committee. The
task and finish groups are working well. Their findings have, for example, led to
improvements in the way the local authority appoints its school governors and
matches governors’ skill sets to the needs of a governing body.

Page 92



Estyn

Following each scrutiny meeting, the chair writes to the cabinet member setting out
findings and recommendations from the meeting, and these are generally clear and
challenging. For example, following the task and finish group, which met with
headteachers from schools categorised as red, the chair of scrutiny’s letter included
challenges and recommendations to the education department and the regional
consortium. However, the letter does not include any challenges or
recommendations to the schools they scrutinised.

Next steps

Cardiff Council has made satisfactory progress overall since the monitoring visit in
February 2014.

There are important areas in this report that require particular attention. For
example:

¢ Improve the performance of pupils at key stage 4, particularly in the wider
capped points score, level 2 and level 1 threshold

e Improve the percentage of young people that are not in education, employment
or training

¢ Improve the information that the authority has on the extent and quality of
provision made by schools for pupils educated away from the school site

e Ensure that the local authority’s self-evaluation evaluates the impact of actions
taken

e Ensure that areas for improvement are supported by suitable action plans

Your link inspectors will continue to support and challenge the authority as part of
their usual link role.

Estyn will make arrangements to discuss the findings of this visit with the Children
and Young People Scrutiny Committee.

| am copying this letter to the Welsh Government and to the Auditor General for
Wales for information.

Yours sincerely

Clive Phillips
Assistant Director

Cc: Welsh Government
Auditor General for Wales

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenaa ltem /

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 17 MAY 2016

EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING DIRECTORATE: QUARTER FOUR
2015/16 PERFORMANCE

Reason for the Report

1. To present the Corporate and Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate’s
performance reports for Quarters 4 of 2015/16 prior to consideration by the

Cabinet. The Performance report for Quarter 4 is attached at Appendix A.

Performance Reports

2. The Committee has re-structured its approach to the scrutiny of Education
performance through scheduling throughout the year the examination of
particular aspects of performance, in addition to an overview of Annual

Performance in January.

Quarterly Performance

3. 2015/16 Quarter 4 Education Performance report, attached at Appendix A,
provides the Committee with information about the context that the Education
and Lifelong Learning Directorate is operating in, performance information
and the management actions that are being taken to address performance
issues. The report also provides an explanation of the progress being made

in addressing the challenges identified in each quarter.

Page 95



. The Council’s Performance Management Framework includes the regular

reporting of Quarterly Performance by Directorate. The Quarterly Report

covers:
. Progress on challenges previously identified
o Financial performance

. Estyn Outcome

o Corporate Commitments

. Delivery Plan Commitments

. Key Performance Indicator Data

. Corporate risks.

. Financial information shown in the report relates to Month 11 data as the
accounts for the end of year are to be finalised in time for their deadline of the
end of May. In addition, the PPDR end of year reviews are undertaken during

April and May.

. As part of the Committee’s assessment of progress around specific areas of
the Education and Lifelong Learning Directorate, addition performance reports
have also been provided on School Categorisation at Appendix B and Young

People not in Education, Employment or Training (Neets) at Appendix C.

. The Categorisation of Primary, Special and Secondary schools, at Appendix
B, is also analysed over the each of the 4 levels of categorisation for each
year since 2012/13. In addition the report includes the categorisation for all
schools for both 2014 and 2015.

. The analysis of data since 2008 on Young People not in Education,
Employment or Training (NEET) is attached at Appendix C, and shows that
the percentage has progressively reduced from 10.6% in 2008 to 4.5% in
2015. The report also includes a summary of progress since the last time the

issue was specifically reported to this Committee in June 2015.

Page 96



Scope of the Scrutiny

9. This performance monitoring report will enable Committee to review, assess
and challenge the implementation of all actions and thereby the delivery of
high quality education and improved outcomes for children and young people
in Cardiff's Schools. Members may also wish to pass any comments,
concerns or recommendations to the Cabinet Member and / or Director of
Education and Lifelong Learning. At this meeting Committee can review and

question:

(i) the progress being made in addressing the identified Corporate Risks;

(i) Actions being identified to assess the impact of the emerging risks
identified in Quarter 4;

(iii) the resources available to deliver these commitments;

(iv) the quality and analysis of the performance information presented to

Committee.

Way Forward

10. Councillor Sarah Merry (Cabinet Member for Education) has been invited and
may make a statement. Nick Batchelar (Director of Education and Lifelong
Learning), and Angela Kent (Head of Achievement and Inclusion) will

introduce the report and answer any questions Members may have.

Legal Implications

11.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, review and recommend but
not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to
consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However,
legal implications may arise if and when the matters under review are
implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any

Page 97



legal implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions taken by
or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal powers of the Council;
(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the
powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d)
be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by
the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed;
(f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the Council’s fiduciary
duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the

circumstances.

Financial Implications

12.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial
implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However,
financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are
implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with
recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any

financial implications arising from those recommendations.

Recommendation

The Committee is recommended to:

Consider the contents of the report, appendix and evidence presented at the
meeting;
Report any comments, observations or recommendations to the Cabinet and

the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning.

NICK BATCHELAR DAVID MARR
Director of Education and Lifelong Learning Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 98



Q4 Delivery and Performance

Report 2015/16

Progress against actions in the Corporate Plan 2015/16

Q4 2015/16 — (399*)

Green Amber

70% (278) 25% (99)

*Including 1 (0.25%) N/A

Progress against relevant Performance Indicators

Q4 2015/16 — (225%*)

Green Amber
39% (88) 11% (24)

| *Including 56 (25%) Annual Indicators, 18 (8%) with no results and 14 (6%) N/A

Page 99



Contents

Corporate Overview

City Operations

Communities, Housing and Customer Services
Economic Development

Education and Lifelong Learning

Governance & Legal Services

Resources

Social Services - Adults

Social Services — Children’s

Key to RAG Status

Page 100

Page 3

Page 11
Page 15
Page 19
Page 23
Page 28
Page 32
Page 36
Page 40

Page 45

Page 2 of 46



—— —4—1,938 followers-in Wels

Q4 Customer

Contact

Twitter Media followers
54,715 followers in English

5,474 Likes on Facebook

. Qt | @2 | @3 | a4 | a1 | @2 | a3 | Q
Complaints (14/15)|(14/15)|(14/15)|(14/15)|(15/16)| (15/16) |(15/16)|(15/1

New Complaints Received 682 676 507 533 497 603 569 625

Corporate Complaints 675 | 670 | 502 | 547 | 490 599 563 | 623
Complaints through the medium - 6 5 6 7 4 6 2
of Welsh
Acknowledgements not sent 2% 15 15 12 7 23 18 19

within 5 days

Response not sent within 20
days

Compliments Received 434 427 371 328 288 293 303

55 37 33 25 39 34 36 38

Members Enquiries
Received Responded on time

Q2 | Q3 Q4 Q4 %
City Operations 567 | 543 516 77%

A total of 680 Member En-
quiries were received during
Quarter 4, giving an annual
total of 2854, 98 of Quarter
4 requests were deemed as
Requests for Service, with
Highways & Waste continu-
ing to have the highest Re-
quest for Service. The AD
for Communities has carried
out training on how to deal
with member enquiries to
improve the response times.
The Members Central Team
are also developing a com-
munications strategy for the
Directorate which will cover
Member Enquiries, this is
alongside the AD issuing
guidance to Members on
what enquiries and Request
for Service are.

Directorate

Communities 127 | 101 136 90%

Economic 2 6 2 67%

Education 10 100%

Gov & Legal 1 100%

Resources 83%
SS - Adults 75%

SS— Children’s 100%

79%

Page 3 of 46



Total Staff Costs at Q4 £176,924,245

Total Agency Costs at Q4 £15,756,681
Total Overtime Costs at Q4 £3,751,851

The spend on agency may reflect an overspend against budget as there may be vacant posts where there
is a budget but the staff are employed through an agency, so the permanent staff budget will show an un-
derspend and the agency staff an overspend.

% Spend % Spend
Agency Overtime

Staff Costs to % of Annual
End Q4 Budget

City
Operations

£49,076,181 99.57% 14.09% 3.57%

£22,967,667 102.96% N @Le1aa10a10la ALk 8.11%  1.55%

£1,682,246  97.73% Corp Mgmt 4.91%  0.15%

£11,802,445 103.77% Economic 10.10%  3.76%

£20,969,134 96.66% Education 3.95%  0.80%
£3,194,074 92.66% [N CTeY A Lega| 4.44%  0.21%

£35,259,437 89.29% Resources 2.72%  1.12%
£15,244,373 101.84% SS-Adults 3.95%  3.52%
£16,728,687 101.32% Sttt ®4aY1le [8=11 18.75%  0.41%

A enc Overtime
‘i %

Page 102 2 o o 8 o/o

Page 3 of 46



97 Jo G 98ed

aJnpuadxa BINSU3WOY) PUB SHIOAA JJipJe) uo paseq Ajjueuiwops.d

S| uojewJojul 3y} ‘8104p48Y] "s|jooyds paledajap o1 padieyd aJe asay) se siayoeal Ajddns 01 uone|as ul 3uiylAue spnjoul Jo0U S0P Y| e

['sisAjeue ay} wouj wayy apndxd pue Ajiuapi o1 3|qissod
10U SI } J9AMOY ‘sjueus 214129ds uleliad 03 UOI1B[24 Ul 24N)PUSdXS SIPN|IUI UOIIBWIOLUI 3] "pund |eJBUdD S,[IDUNOY) 3Y) IPISIN0

S 3S9Y1 Se S|jooyos nwp__mmw_wn_ pue Juno22y anuaAay SuisnoH ‘Alluoyiny JnoqleH ay3 01 uolle[as ul aunipuadxs Aousde ousiaiay) e

‘puadsiano ue tm«_w AduaSe ay) pue puadsiapun ue moys ||im 183pnq Heis Juauewtad ay3 os ‘Adusde y3noayl paAojdwa Sulaq

aJe JJe1s 3yl 1nq 1989pNnq e st 49Y) 24aym s3sod Jueden aq Aew aiay3 se ‘198pnq suieSe puadsiano ue 103)3a1 Aew AduaSe uo puads ay) e

uaJpjiyd
~ SIIIAIDS |BII0S PUB SYNPY — SIIIAIDS |BIDOS 104 S3INS1Y 9Y] SOPN[IUI INQ |B10] SAIIAIDS |BID0S BY] SOPN[IXD 193png Jjeis 10} |ejo] 9yl ,
%IL'8 T89'9SLST SEEV09/S |%30°C TS8TSL'E SZS'sT0°e |%98'L6 SYZ'vZ6'9LT 9€'00808T [e10] pueip
%SL'8T  895'S60°E  0E6'0TS  |%IVO 9zy'L9 %CETOT  £89'8CL9T 0LT'TIS9T xSUSIP[IYD - S30IMIBS |eI50S
%S6'E 16€T6S 0gg‘oe %CS'E €9v'LTS 02L‘8S %8 TOT  ELEWYT'ST 000'696 VT *SHNPY - S3VIAIBS |BID0S
%CL'C G/8T/0'T 096S87 |%CT'T 7S9‘EvY 081°98¢ %6¢'68 LEV'65T'SE 180°06%‘6€ $32Jn0s3ay
%ty 9GT'eST %1¢0 LST'L %99°C6 vL0'V6T E 09T'Lirv'e S30IAJIDS |e337 ) 3DUBUIBAOD
%S6'€ y1v'958 06C'0TZ  |%08°0 T0V'€LT %9996 ¥€1'696°0C 0S5°€69°TC uoneinp3
%0T'0T  TOT'6VI‘T Ofv'Zel |%9L'E 1TV LTy 0S6°2L€ %LLEOT  ShP'C08'TT 0L0VLETT Juawdo|aAa@ 21wouod]
%16V TISv8 %ST°0 09°'c %ELL6  9IWTTBIT 082TZLT juswaseuepy ajesodio)
%T1'8 7€6'808°T 0LTT9T |%SS'T 9TE‘SE 01T LTE %96'¢0T  £99°196°CC 0TE'90€ce | SIASJI3wo03sn) 13 BUISNOH ‘saluNWwo)
%E0VT  VELVYE'9 GET'EL6'E |%LS'E G8T/SLT Q9Y‘S/8T |%L5'66 1819061 S09°/8T'6Y suonesado Ad
a8pn 28pn 2jel03234]
ytmﬂma ; «t .M m..._ : 193pnq je10323llq
|erol puads g [elol puads o Hes ¢ e
uouvam i 198pnq |{ej0l Jo % puadsuinmno  198pnq
e S Auasy S . SwIMaAQ | sepuads  jjels [elol Heis |exog
sepuads Aoualy [ |sepuads aswinanQ ’
Aouady / BWIUBAD HES [F101

¥ 4911enp je S1s0) jjels

Page 103



Sickness Absence Q4
FTE days

2015/16 9 - 5 6

Av FTE FTE 2015/16 Difference
Numbers Annual Day Lost
Target
City Operations 1,375 13.0 -0.20
Communities 960 9.0 1.42
Economic Development 245 6.0 2.25
Education 750 8.0 -0.64
Education - Schools 5,400 7.8 0.46
Governance & Legal 85 6.0 -0.61
Resources 927 8.0 0.78
SS - Adult 650 13.0 1.33
SS - Children’s 350 13.0 0.71
Total 10,746* 9.0 0.56

*This figure includes schools based education staff. Whilst the target of 9.0 FTE days lost per employee has not been
achieve, the performance for the provisional Outturn figure of 9.58 FTE days lost per employee remains the lowest
outturn in 5 years. Performance continues to improve through the targeted and focussed work being carried out by
HRPS within specific areas of Directorates such as Waste; this has resulted in significant improvements to City Opera-
tions sickness absence and the overall performance of the Authority.

Sickness FTE days lost per person
(Cummulative data)

12.00 1149 1L
R

10.00

8.00

600

FTE days lot]

4.00 1

200 !

000 le -+ — Ui [ - - - 3 15 1
g g g g g g g 2 ¥ F ¥ Z L v v e © ©w v @
T £ £ g 8 §g &8 8 & 3 &8 & F F I F & B B B
&8 R R &8 R R 8 8 § 8 | &8 8 8 &8 8 8 8 &8 R
~ o~ o -+ — o~ o s ~ o [se] ~t -~ o~ o -+ - o™~ () <+
a a [« (wg a c [« [e.] a [« 4 (e (a) [« a (e [« ] o a a o

Page 3 of 46



5% 40 £ aded

%6°TY L0ST S86S jeloL
%0°'1S 81§ 9T0T (jerol) sad1al0s |e1d0S
%891 Z9 69¢ SUJP|IYD — SIIIAISS |e1I0S
%S0L 9Sv L¥9 S} NPV — SIJIAIDS |eID0S
%E'9 8 (8T $32JNn0SaYy
%E'9E 0} S8 S9IIAIDS |B537 1§ DIUBUIDAOD)
%T'T9 AR IR%:) (s19yoeay |esauad pue sjooyds Ixa) ujuiead] Suojay 1g uoileanpl
%L°SC 99 LSt juawdo|aaaq d1wouod]
%196 TOTT 9PTT S92IAI3S JOWO03ISN) 1@ SUISNOH ‘SaIHUNWWOo)
%91 L6T €S€ET suonesadp A1

. R A AT (3uno) peaH)

Ud=iEnmad i |eloy ‘awep uonesiuedio

aauelduio) pu3 Jea; ¥add _

9TO0Z |11dV ;8T 1€ Se pu3 JesA — 3oUe[[do) MIIASY JUSWAO[IA3( PUE SIUBUIIOHISd [BUOSISd
y 1914enp

Page 105



Information Re

Change and Improvement Managed Requests

FOI DPA Overall IR Compliance
Compli-
Function Due | Compliance | Due ance Due Compliance 6 o 7

Children’s Services 19 84.21% 13 92.31% 32 87.50%

Crematoria & Cemeteries
Communication & Media RequeS"s
CTS

Culture & Tourism 1 100.00% 0O
Democratic Services 8 75.00% 75.00% 8 3 ) 3 6 //@
Econ & Major Projects | 13 23.08% _ 23.08% a

Education 23 86.96% 1 100.00% 87.50% comphance
Emergency Management| 23 86.96% 1 100.00% 87.50%
Ente.rprlse - In Quarter 4 the Council handled
Enterprise Archi 3 607 information requests under
Environmental Health | 20 80.00% 2 100.00% 81.82% FOI! & DPA Legislation. Compli-
Exchequer & Dev ance with requests handled cen-
Facilities Management | 2 50.00% 50.00% trally by the Information Manage
Finance & Procurement | 40 97.96% 1 | 100.00% 97.56% ment Team remains at a con-
Harbour Authority - sistent level & work will be under
Health & Safety tak_en in Quarter 12016/17 t.o _
Highways &Transport 63 100.00% 100.00% review handling pr(?cesses Wlthln
HRPS 63 100 00% 100.00% areas wherg comph_ance remains
low. Compliance with requests
ICT L 100.00% 100.00% managed by individual Direc-
Improvement & Info 7 100.00% 956 | 98.21% 98.41% torates remains below the Coun-
Infrastructure cil’s target compliance. The Infor
Legal Services 3 100.00% 100.00% mation Management Team will
Licensing 15 86.67% 86.67% be looking at opportunities for
Parks & Sport 15 86.67% 86.67% managing these directorates’
Planning 15 86.67% 86.67% rcequests asAset out withinﬁthe
: : orporate Assessment actions

PO.“Cy' Part.nershlp I 8616746 8697, durir;g Quarter 1 2016/17.

Project, Design, Dev , )
Multi Function requests cover a
Procurement 15 86.67% 86.67% number of service areas. The
Registration & Coronors | 15 86.67% 86.67% Council handled 56 of these re-
Risk & Audit quests during Quarter 4 & com-
Scrutiny Services pliance with these was 75%,
Shared Services which remains at a consislenl
Strategic Estates level.

Trading Standards 5 | 60.00% 60.00% During 2015/16 the Council han-
Traffic Network Man | 4 | 100.00% | 54 | 100.00% (N7  d!ed 2333 information requests
Waste Management 15 66.67% 66.67% with overall compliance with re-

quests for the year at 83%
Total 302 83.77% | 134 97.01% 87.84%
Multi— Function 48 70.83% 8 75.00% 71.43%
Total 407 78.87% | 200 92.50% 83.36%
1 1 5 Requests Managed by Directorates
FOI DPA Overall IR Compliance
Function Due |Compliance| Due [Compliance jisIlT-Jaeloly [o1IF [T
Customer Services 12 75.00% 0 - 12 75.00%
Req u ests Health & Social Care | 24 33.33% 56 83.93% 80 68.75%
72.17% Housing 21 80.95% 2 100.00% 23 82.61%
‘ Total it g% 15&55% 58 84.48% 115 7217%

Hests

compliance




Yluow yaea 31IS Y3 JO SUOIIIB5 pamala 1sow QT dol Y3 Uo SISwo1snd Ag SMalA

o8ed / 15a491ul JO S[9A3] SAIlRIE

nasnng -
P —— E— e flitet 1 3 B p—— — par s Wt

k- wiimip T

YO seauy IUSGIM 1PUNOD PAIUSIA ISOIN

seasy wu_ﬁnm..s P31ISIA 3SON

o
r oM Ry

aaesy,

dwod ay3 (1apJo SulpuaIsSap ul) SMOYS Jeyd SiyL

veray

5 .
us o
e
et
i
|
i
|
|

e ” ‘saiiunwiwod yum uidedus
- pue sjuana Suip|oy ‘s321AIaS gnH pue Adeiql] 3yl UIYm 1IN0 patsied 3ulag HIom
B . -~ — = Gonea 1UB||30X3 3y} SIIBIISUOWIP SIYL "EV6°0TS JO SWN|OA ST/HTOT ¥ 4211enD 3yl
i VD b h = 1suieSe gg]‘y8 JO 9SEAIOU| Ue ‘SIOHSIA TE]'S6S MES 9T/STOT v 1911enp :91epdn
=" re P o 2™ 2> A & 3D > Im A ~
e fna ) & F o?uuo o o mv.vo P vy AdbO & & A).vau
o)
PRSIy e Sk —
Q00O
AHOMLIT ST VELIMD N e } \w/ ]
I\ | il x 00000t
mawsmfsoen sanma— || [ 7\
___ / \..\. [ \\\:.//r _ - S A = et QOEOST
Wiy Furnrion | _r\ N \ 1/.. ; . [e]s 0le 014
| | M a'man Y
FILER AT D M A MR [e]e alelord
xeLrines — lej3oog Aseuaqil pue qnH apimn Aad
|33q50, B BIA 3pEW SYUSWAERY AJUIUOL JO INIEA
N~
aUsqaM 21 Yy3naJyl spew sjudwdhed Jo anjen ay| A1) 9y1 ssode sqniy 1@ saleIqi] yioq ui [|ej1004 €101 m
“€D 01 paJedwiod uaym s||ed puesnoyl jjey e pue
BUOI}IPPE UB PAAIDIA d JJep UO [BW.IOU UeY] J3IJed uesda M
€ 191Ny Juunp \ 8 |euoilpp panl 27D "YirT YdJey uo | Y 19y q
Bul)1q |enuue xey 1PUNo) yum pajdno) "ySiy ulewas sanss! Juswoseuew PBem

Suipsedau sjiewsa pue s||ed Jo SSWN|OA 3y} pue Asenigad pue Aienuer jo syToow
ay1 Suuinp aAn0e paulewsal awwesdold SUOIIDISAY SISEA YL :91epdn

SAEAMUBIH PUE 3150 AN —— ._ha.:Wm BuisnoH R X&) |IPUNS] —— A Bulptoday neday -—w - pIEPUC)Y —a—
fF g s §f9 5 Zcs§ftfzsgiesZcsiz
= S-S v v A O v T T S T v T T S T O - O
(&)
00’
ooo'ot
000°ST
00007
o00°se
000°0E

aun Aq pa13y0 siied

J7) 01 paiayo s||e)

10B3UO0) J2WO0lsn)




G{ 40 0T 93ed

"Slueual Joj 1pedwi J911aq e 3|qeua

01 awuweidosd Lm__on.wf 9s)Jod 01 uoIsIPap luswWasdeuew J1831e11s
e 01 @np 198481 Y1 papasdxa Ajpdie| sapesSdn usjloq Jo Jaquinu ay|
"198png ulylim pue awlil Uo Inc pallued ausm sqol pajnpayds ||y

1981e)

}nsay

|enuuy 91/S10Z

‘133N Suiwodaq o ysu je ajdoad BunoA aiow
11oddns o1 3|0l 43O peaT 2yl o1 Aloeded
[euoinpoe 3ulq |jim gTog |14dy ul Bupuawwod
s1o3foud pue pasijeuly usag aney spiq pun4
|e1s0s ueadoing om] "Sujuiel] 4o uojleanpl
“WawAojdw3 ut 1ou aJe g1 ‘siidnd gpg‘s

J0 11002 B JO 1N0 18Y] SMOYS B1ep 3A11RIIPUI
‘sianeg| TT JeaA 01 uone|al uj 'gLoz AeA J1zun
P3RLISA 34 10U |]IM S3UN31Y | JIN S JHPIeD
‘sjuawade|d suaiadxa JJom

10 3)e1dn Jamoj Uy paynsal sey siyl Alojepuew
J38u0| au 33u3IBdX3 NIoM Yylm pur ‘siapinosd
juswaze|d pue sjooyds usamiaq Ajeipawialul
ay1 8uraq ur Awapedy [12uno) Yipied

Aq paia}jo 231A135 Y1 U0} paau ayy uolisanb
01U pP3J|ed siy| ‘syuswade|d Idudiadxa yiom
01 Ucieds ul sisAojdwa yum syuswaduedse
UMO J13y3 dYew 01 S|o0yds uo snuc ayl padejd
1USWIUIBA0Y YS|ap GTOT Joqwialdas wodd,

1984e] |Enuuy

u_Smwm_
9T/5102

‘suoljdo paseq AJiunwiwiod 03 s1ualpd 3sodusis o3
yoeosdde s, [15Un0) 3Y3 JUNOIJE OU] 3] 10U SIOP |d
Siyl "sedexoed swoy aJed 13 3ued 3WOY 01 54343l /N

'Sonss| aJuewopad
ssaippe 03 @2e|d ul aie suo1dy "9T707 |1dy L0 pua anp
1|nsaJ |euly ‘ade) Jo susjsuel] paAe|aq 03 Sa1e[2J PaY,

paum
1% youjadieL m
vinm

upag .

UREEAN |ENUY =

sainsean
9JUBWI0}I3d 31E) [BII0S 13 Y}|eaH

1uswaAoidwl Juediiusis jo Asodaied ayy
ut pade|d s|ooyds { pue sainseaw |eads ul padeld 5|0oyds 7,

|enuuy

Jlwapesy

1jnsay
91/49102

198ie}
|enuuy

ainseap




Directorate: Education & Lifelong Learning

Director: Nick Batchelar Councillor: Sarah Merry

4 2015/16 | Projected . ‘i Variance
Q / Budget | A Variance s

£234,661,000 £234,661,000 0 0
Number of Employees (FTE) 750 [ . _
Sickness Absence YTD (Days Per Person) 7.36 IFETIog Projected Ve e g liancs
: ] 0
PPDR Year End Completion (Permanent staff) SRl S3Vines 15/16 | SIS (%)
£2,621,000 £2,459,000 £162,000 6.18%

Q4 Progress against Corporate Plan Commitment Actions 2015/16 (Total No. 23)

Green 65% __ <ol e e el N Amber 35% (8) Sixd ]
Q4 Progress against Directorate Plan actions (Core Business Priorities) 2015/16 (Total No. 50)

Amber 22% (11) | IRGHEEEINN

Progress on Challenges Identified Q3 (previous quarter)

1. Insufficient early intervention classes in both English and Welsh medium schools to meet the needs of primary aged

children with BESD. Work is underway to set up a revolving door class for Welsh Medium provision from September

2016, pending a long term solution. Consultation with schools regarding the need for an extended network of early

intervention classes has been completed and a report will be considered in June 2016.

2. A number of secondary head teacher appointments need to be made in the New Year (4). Interviews took place for the

head teachers of Willows High, Llanishen High and Cathays High. Appointments were made in Cathays High and

Llanishen High. Willows High will readvertise the head teacher’s post in the next academic year.

Q4 Service Delivery

Budget

As at the end of Period 11 (latest available report), the Directorate continues to project a breakeven position against a

budget of £234.661m. However, within this position there are pressures in respect of Friary, management restructure

and EOTAS that will require improved positions by the year end. Equally, the monitoring position has highlighted some
positive variances that need to be reviewed and monitored to ensure that they remain at the level anticipated.

Estyn Outcomes

Following their final monitoring visit to Cardiff in January 2016, Estyn concluded that the authority is no longer in need of

significant improvement and removed the authority from any further follow up activity. Satisfactory progress was noted

against all six recommendations, taking account of improved pupil performance across all key stages over the last 3

years. Estyn highlighted three areas of performance that require particular attention going forward: 1)improving the

performance of pupils at Key Stage 4, particularly in the wider capped points score, level 2 and level 1 thresholds.

2) Improving the percentage of young people that are not in education, employment or training. 3) Improving the

information available on the extent and quality of provision made by schools for pupils educated away from the school

site. These areas for improvement will be addressed in the Directorate’s delivery plan for 2016 — 2018.

School Performance — Academic Year 2015/16 to date

Figures collected from secondary and primary schools in March 2016 indicating the % of pupils ‘currently secure’ to

achieve expected levels in Summer 2016 show:

- 56.3% for the L2+ (5 GCSE’s — A*-C) which illustrates that more progress is needed to reach the target for 2016 of
65%.

- 78.4% for the L2 threshold which illustrates that more progress is needed to reach the target for 2016 of 87%.

- 94.3% for the L1 threshold which is already higher than the Summer 2015 figure of 92.1% and Summer 2014 figure of
93.2% (target for 2016 is 97.8%).

- 75.3% for the Key Stage 2 CSl against a current 2016 target of 89.6% and a 2015 performance figure of 87.76%.
School level interventions with targeted pupils should have sufficient impact to close the gap between the current
figures and the target for 2016.

Corporate Commitments

Local Authority Intervention in Schools:

The local authority has intervened in one special school and one primary school following poor inspection outcomes this

quarter. No additional warning notices have been issued. A warning notice remains in place in one school.

Inspections: Four primary schools were inspected in Q4: Ysgol Bro Eirwg, Kitchener Primary and All Saints CIW Primary

and Rumney Primary. The outcomes were Ysgol Bro Eirwg — Good - LA monitoring; Kitchener Primary — Excellent; All

Saints CIW Primary — Adequate — Estyn Monitoring; anciﬂ(g‘raneeyfaréary —report due in May.

Nar~A 12 Af AC



Three secondary schools were also inspected in Q4: Whitchurch High, Llanishen High and Radyr High.

The judgement for capacity to improve was adequate in two schools and these were placed in Estyn monitoring. The
Radyr report is due to be published in May 2016. One special school, Woodlands High was inspecled and placed in special
measures.

Challenge Cymru Schools: Currently secure figures collected from schools in Quarter 4 show that five out of the six
schools are likely to improve their performance in the level 2+ threshold indicator. In the sixth school, Michaelston
Community College, outcomes are expected to be similar to last year. Mathematics is the weakest subject area and
additional support for mathematics has been provided by the Central South Consortium. Pupils have attended intensive
courses, including revision sessions over the Easter break, but predicted outcomes in mathematics for 2016 remain low.
In the level 2 and level 1 threshold indicators, all schools are expected to improve their outcomes. Behaviour is also
improving in all six schools leading to a considerable reduction in the number of exclusions.

School Organisation Programme: The 21st Century Schools programme has progressed significantly. The new Eastern
High School design has been finalised and planning permission was granted on the 13th January 2016. Demolition of
buildings on the site has started and is expected to be complete by late Spring 2016. Wilmott Dixon is due to take
possession of the site by in June 2016, with the new school to be delivered for September 2017. Approval has been given
for the new high school in the West, Four Wards primaries and Willows primaries Three primaries are now out to tender
and tenders due back by the end of April 2016. Primaries agreed to proceed are due to be delivered by September 2017.
School Governance: As at the end of March 2016, the % of governor vacancies has increased slightly to 9.13% (175
governors), compared to 8.73% (169 governors) at the end of the last quarter. The % of LA governor vacancies has also
increased slightly to 9.21% (36 governors) from 8.72% (34 governors). It is anticipated that at least 10 new LA governors
will be recommended for appointment at the next panel meeting in May 2016.

Young People Not In Education Employment or Training

Cardiff's 2015 NEET figures will not be verified until May 2016 but the LA’s monitoring indicates that the position for
2015 is close to last year’s figure of 4.26% and is likely to be in the region of 4.5% with 152 pupils of a cohort of 3,343 not
in EET at the time of the Destinations count. (151 pupils of a cohort of 3,546 in 2014). The NEET picture therefore
remains static due in part to high levels of NEETs from a minority of schools. The Vulnerability Profile has been run in all
secondary schools 2015/16 and current year 11 pupils identified as at risk have been allocated for additional support.
Two European Social Fund projects will commence in April and will both bring additional capacity to the lead worker
team who will be able to support more young people identified by the VAP as being most at risk of becoming NEET.
Youth Service: Restructure complete - Full time staff (Senior Youth Officers) allocated and operational from April 1st. All
part time staff allocated and operational by 29th April 2016. Arrangements for decommissioning of 5 remaining youth
service buildings are ongoing.

Delivery Plan Commitments

Admissions: The service is facing increasing challenges to place children and young people in their school of first choice.
An increased number of children and young people have not been offered places in their catchment schools this year.
Action is ongoing to improve communication with parents/carers and to co-ordinate admission arrangements with the
voluntary aided sector. The School Organisation programme is delivering additional primary places, including new schools
at Glan Morfa and Hamadryad.

Improving provision for Pupils with Additional Learning Needs: Consultation outcomes from the public consultation on
proposals relating to specialist provision for primary aged pupils with Speech & Language Difficulties and Behavioural,
Emotional and Social Difficulties will be reported to Cabinet in June 2016.

Statements of Special Educational Needs: There is a decline in performance on both National Strategic Indicators
relating to the timeliness of processing Statements of Special Educational Needs and targets have not been met. The
main contributory factors to this decline are 1) An increase in the volume of requests for statutory assessments and the
associated work 2) A commitment to try to resolve issues with parents/carers which often extends timescales 3)
Challenges in securing placements at specialist provisions 4) The capacity of the Education Psychology Service and Local
Health Board to respond to the increase in demand for advice. Action to improve performance is focused upon reducing
the reliance upon statements to meet children’s needs in mainstream schools, by introducing alternative provision,
funding models, business processes and improved information sharing.

Exclusions: Work is ongoing to support two secondary schools (Michaelston and Glyn Derw) to support a reduction in
high rates of fixed term exclusions. Exclusions rates in the other 4 schools that were causing concern are falling more
rapidly.

Management (PPDR, Sickness and Health & Safety)

Page 110

NDharA Y74 Af AL



Key Performance Indicator Data — Q4 2015/16
Q4 Progress against Performance Indicators (Corporate & Delivery Plans) 2015/16
(CP) = Corporate Plan KPI (NC) = Not collected in year (NYA) Not yet available (P) Provisional
*NOTE: The Education Attainment data reported in Q4 column relates to In Year, currently secure outcomes
reported by schools in relation to pupil attainment for the current academic year, where this is collected in year

by the Consortium. Other figures are actuals.
Green 33.3% (8) | Amber 33.3% (8)

Performance Indicator Target Result
Academic | Academic | AcademicYear | Latest Mid
Year 14/15 | Year 14/15 | 15/16 ~ Academic
Year
% pupils achieving Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 85.8% 86.73% 86.4%
(CP) % pupils at Key Stage 2 achieving the CSI 86.5% 87.76% 89.62%
(CP) % pupils at Key Stage 3 achieving the CSI 79.3% 83.40% 85%
(CP) % pupils at Key Stage 4 achieving Level 1 threshold 94.5% 92.10% 97.81% 94.33 A
% pupils at Key Stage 4 achieving Level 2 threshold 81.15% 81.6% 87.08% 78.42 A
{CP) % pupils at Key Stage 4 achieving L2+ threshold 60% 59.3% 65% 56.29 A
(inc. English/Welsh and Maths)
(CP) Average point score Key Stage 4 497 497.2 525 NC
(CP) % point gap between eFSM/ non FSM at KS2 CSI 16.22% 14.3% 15% NC
(CP) % point gap between eFSM / nonFSM at KS4 L2+ 30% 34.37% 27% NC
(CP) Number of LA maintained schools placed in ‘Special 0 6 0 1
Measures’ or ‘Significant Improvement’ in previous year
(CP) % pupils leaving with no qualification (Yr 11) 0.3% 1.2% 0.15% NC
(CP) % Looked After Children leaving with no qualification (yr 2% NYA 2% NC
11)
(CP) % pupils entering volume equivalent to 2 A Levels 97.5% 97% 98% NC
achieving Level 3 threshold
(CP) Attendance at Primary School 94.6% 95.1% 95.4% 95.43%
(CP) Attendance at Secondary School 94.1% 93.86% 95% 94%
(CP) The percentage of pupils assessed at end Key Stage 3, 11.3% 11.8% 11.9% NC
receiving teacher assessment in welsh.
(CP) % Year 11 Leavers NEET 2.5% 4.5% (P) 3% NC
(CP) % Year 13/14 Leavers NEET 3% 2.95% (P) 3% NC
Number fixed term exclusions in primary schools 5 days or 8.5 9.16 8 3.8
fewer (per 1000 pupils)
Number fixed term exclusions in primary schools & days or 0.25 0.3 0.2 0.2
more (per 1000 pupils)
Number fixed term exclusions in secondary schools 5 days or 55 76.73 55 34.6
fewer (per 1000 pupils)
Number fixed term exclusions in secondary schools 6 days or 33 4.7 3.1 0.6
more (per 1000 pupils)
% School Governor Vacancies 5% 9.35% 4% 9.13%
(CP) % final statements of special educational needs issued 72% 62% 65% NC
within 26 weeks (including exceptions)
(CP) % final statements of special educational needs issued 100% 95% 98% NC

within 26 weeks (excluding exceptions)

Note: New targets have been set for 2015/16 academic year for those indicators carried forward into the new
Corporate Plan. These new targets have been used in the table above.

Page 111

NDAarA T ~AF AL



Q4 Challenges Identified Q4 Actions being taken
1) Demand for primary school places in particular areas 1) In excess of 180 permanent additional primary

of the City continues to

2) Anincreasing number of pupils have not been
offered places in their catchment area schools.

Q4 Risk Update

Risk Description

The Central South Consortium does
not deliver effective services that
challenge and support Cardiff schools

to improve and Educational

Attainment does not improve at the

required rate.

Large scale programme with tight
timescales for delivery, in context of
very rapidly growing primary age

school population.
Schools Delegated Budgets.

Secondary schools with deficit
budgets do not deliver agreed deficit
recovery plans, impacting on the
overall budgets for all schools.

Risk Description

Increased number of appea

relation to the offer of school places
for September 2016 onwards.

Risk Description

exceed supply. places, at reception, will be made available by
September 2017.

2) Applicants that have secured more than one offer
have been written to, to encourage the release of
places at oversubscribed catchment schools for Sept
2016. Reallocation of places in the second round
following assessment of Voluntary Aided School
offers. Cardiff is also in discussion with other
secondary admission authorities and Welsh
Government officers to pilot a Coordinated
admission arrangements scheme to reduce the
number of multiple offers for 2017.

Corporate Risk

Inherent = Residual e . .
Risk Risk Mitigating Actions Risk Owner |
Ensure the agreed commissioning

arrangements are delivered and make a

Aor positive impact on the performance of Angela
schools. Kent
Ensure consistent monitoring and

Amiber reporting of all risks to Schools Janine
Programme Board. Strengthen capacity in | Nightingale
team.

The revision of the protocol for
responding to schools in deficit, the
alignment of LFMS Officers and Challenge
Advisers, the intervention in three
Amber secondary school Governing Bodies is Neil Hardee
beginning to have a positive impact on
the ability of the Council to ensure
schools meet the targets set out in their
deficit recovery plans.

Emerging Risks Identified this Quarter

Inl::::nt Re;;:: Bt Mitigating Actions Risk Owner
Enhanced communication and web

presence to ensure that applicants make

appropriate choices from the outset and Janine
have realistic expectations, including the Nightingale
importance of stipulating more than one

preference in Round 1.

Isin

Update on Previous Quarters Emerging Risks

Inherent Residual

Risk Risk Progress Risk Owner

Several ‘red and amber’ schools are Three amber secondary schools - Angela
due for inspection in the next quarter. Whitchurch High, Llanishen High and Kent

DAarA & ~AF ALC



There is a risk that such schools could
enter an Estyn category.

Radyr Comprehensive were all inspected
in Qtr 4. All were placed in the Estyn
~monitoring category as anticipated..

Woodlands High Special School (a yellow
school) was placed in Special Measures
this quarter.

Page 113

NamA 27 Af AC



Page 114



Appendix B

NATIONAL CATEGORISATION

REPORT OF Director of Education & LLL

PORTFOLIO: Education and Lifelong Learning
1. Reason for this report

To update Scrutiny on the current position in Cardiff in relation to the national
categorisation of schools.

2. Background and context

This issue was previously reported to scrutiny in March 2015 so this report will
focus on the current situation and progress made in the last 12 months.

3. Key Issues
The National Categorisation Distribution of Cardiff Schools

In the primary sector, the proportion of schools in the categories requiring
least support (green and yellow), is in line with the Consortium and Wales
figures. In the secondary sector, however, the proportion of schools in the
categories requiring least support, is slightly below the Consortium and Wales
figures. In both sectors, Cardiff has a greater proportion in the green category
but also has a higher proportion of schools in the most intensive support
category (red).

As a proportion of schools in each phase, there are proportionately more
secondary schools in categories amber and red than in the primary phase and
more primary schools than special schools. Just over half of secondary
schools remain in the two highest risk categories (4 in red and 6 in amber),
just under a quarter of primary schools (5 red and 17 amber) and one special
school.

The proportion of schools requiring least support has increased in 2015/16.
The lower number of schools now requiring amber and red support this year
reflects the impact of the revised schools causing concern process and the
progress that has been made in improving standards in the city’s schools.

BACKGROUND
4. In May 2014, the Minister for Education and Skills announced the

development of a primary grading model and a review of the secondary
banding model. The application of this model results in one of 4 levels of

Page 115



Appendix B

support for each school categorised as green, yellow, amber or red, with
schools in green requiring the least amount of challenge and support and
those in red the most.

The procedures for identifying and intervening in schools causing concern are
common to all five constituent local authorities in the consortium. The
consortium’s challenge advisers have a key role in identifying schools causing
concern and in establishing and applying the appropriate level of challenge
and support for each school to which they are attached. The local authority
remains the final arbiter of categorisation and commissions support for
schools from the consortium.

The national categorisation system is based on three steps:
Step 1 - a judgement on standards placing a school in one of four groups 1 to 4
Step 2 - a judgement about a school’s capacity to improve A to D
Step 3 - a decision on the level of support that is required to bring about the
necessary improvement Green, Yellow, Amber or Red.

The first step and guidance on implementing both the second and third step is

common across all regions. However, the implementation methodology of the
second and third step is devised and implemented at a regional level.

SUPPORT & CHALLENGE

STANDARDS

INTERVENTION & CHALLENGE

ABILITY TO BRING ABOUT
IMPROVEMENT

The extent to which each school has a robust, self-critical and accurate view
of its strengths and areas for improvement is fundamental to the
categorisation process. Equally important is the school's proven capacity to
improve — that is, evidence of its ability to implement its improvement
strategies effectively so as to raise standards and improve the quality of

Page 116



10.

Appendix B

education. The starting point for the challenge adviser attached to each
school will be to validate and challenge the school’s self-evaluation and to
apply the national categorisation model.

The standards achieved by pupils and the progress they make are the key
measures of the quality of education they have received and of the
effectiveness of the leadership and management of the school. Therefore, the
key driver for any judgement about the most appropriate support category
(colour) overall will be the standards achieved by the school’s pupils. There is
a strong link between outcomes, provision and leadership and judgements
about provision and leadership will be made with reference to their impact on
outcomes. In particular, where leadership is effective this should be reflected in
the standards achieved by pupils and the quality of educational provision. In
normal circumstances, therefore, judgements about leadership and provision
would not be higher than those relating to outcomes. Where there are
differences in judgements there would need to be a clear explanation
supported by evidence.

The consortium’s challenge advisers have a key role in identifying schools
causing concern, establishing their need for support and ensuring that the
appropriate level of challenge and support for each school to which they are
attached is provided. They also have an important role in monitoring and
reporting each school’s progress.

Categorisation of Schools in Cardiff

11.

The category assigned to each primary, special and secondary school in
Cardiff is set out below. Progress and the impact of actions taken to secure
improvement, are monitored regularly by the challenge adviser, senior
challenge adviser and local authority officers during the academic year.

Number of schools in each category 2015/16

Number of Schools
Level of Challenge Primary Special Secondary
Green 36 4 5
Yellow 42 3 4
Amber 17 0 6
Red 5 1 4
Number of schools in each category 2014/15
Number of Schools
Level of Challenge Primary Special Secondary
Green 22 4 3
Yellow 40 2 5

Page 117




Amber 24 2 5
Red 12 0 6
Number of schools in each category 2013/14
Number of Schools
Level of Challenge Primary Special Secondary
A 26 4 2
B 37 2 6
C 20 1 7
D 12 1 5
Number of schools in each category 2012/13
Number of schools
Level of challenge Primary Special Secondary
A 32 6 3
B 43 2 7
C 17 0 7
D 7 0 4

12.

13.

14.

Appendix B

In the primary sector, the proportion of schools in the categories requiring
least support (green and yellow), is in line with both the Consortium and
Wales figures with more than three quarters of schools now in these two
support categories. Cardiff has a greater proportion in the green category
which means that we should have a greater proportion of schools with the
capacity to support other schools and have a significant part to play in the
developing school to school work.

However Cardiff also has a slightly higher proportion of schools in the most
intensive support category (red). These schools are visited regularly by the
challenge adviser and the progress that these schools are making is
evaluated on a half termly basis by the local authority jointly with the

consortium.
Support Cardiff 15/16 Consortium Wales 15/16
Category 15/16
Green 34.0% 28.0% 22.3%
Yellow 43.3% 50.9% 57.2%
Amber 17.5% 16.3% 18.0%
Red 5.2% 4.8% 2.4%

In the secondary sector, the proportion of schools in the categories requiring
least support (green and yellow), remains below both the Consortium and
Wales figures with just under one half of Cardiff schools in these two support
categories. Cardiff now has five schools in the green category which means

Page 118



15.

16.

17.

Appendix B

that our capacity to support other schools is improving and we are less reliant
on support from schools in other local authorities.

Cardiff also has a higher proportion of schools in the most intensive support

category (red). These schools are visited regularly by the challenge adviser

and the progress that these schools are making is evaluated on a half termly
basis by the local authority jointly with the consortium.

Support Cardiff 15/16 Consortium Wales 15/16
Category 15/16
Green 26.3% 24.6% 18.4%
Yellow 21.1% 35.1% 38.7%
Amber 31.6% 28.1% 30.7%
Red 21.1% 12.3% 12.3%

The support category for 2014 and 2015 for each individual school is shown in
Appendix 1. The majority of schools in standards groups 3 and 4 are
categorised as needing amber or red levels of support. There are however
some exceptions. For example, Moorland Primary School and Herbert
Thompson Primary School are in standards group 3 but are categorised as
Green. This is because they can substantially evidence that pupils make very
good progress across each key stage and that the leadership of learning and
teaching is strong.

As expected, the majority of schools in standards groups 1 and 2 are
categorised as needing yellow or green levels of support. A few primary
schools, for example, Trowbridge and Ton Yr Ywen and two secondary
schools, Radyr and Whitchurch are in standards group 2, but are categorised
as requiring amber support. This judgement has been made following either a
whole school review or an Estyn inspection where leadership capacity has
been found to be adequate and in need of additional support to improve.

Page 119



Appendix B

Appendix 1 — Outcomes from National Categorisation December 2015

Standards Ability to Level of
School Group improve support

2014 2015 | 2014 2015 2014 2015

Adamsdown

<\

Albany

Allensbank

All Saints CIW

Baden Powell

Birchgrove

Bishops Childs CIW

Bryn Celyn

Bryn Deri

Bryn Hafod

Cantonian High

Cardiff High

Cathays High

Christ the King RC

Corpus Christi High

Coed Glas

Coryton

Creigiau

Danescourt

Eastern High

Fairwater

Fitzalan

Gabalfa

Gladstone

Glan-y-Afon

Glyncoed

TN NN N N R N TN T TN T SIS T SRR S TS BNV N ENEN TR ES
YN POUYT O PN Y F0Y I N N B T Y BN G (N G PN POV NS G N G B P SN TN T G NS

Glyn Derw High

Grangetown Nursery

Grangetown Primary

Greenway

Hawthorn

Herbert Thompson

Holy Family RC

WWWWIN|W
W |WINININ

Hywel Dda

ECCC

Kitchener

Lakeside

Lansdowne

Llandaff City CIW

Llanedeyrn

Llanishen High

Llanishen Fach

Llysfaen

Marlborough

= IN=INWW=|WIN(W

Mary Immaculate High

Meadowbank Special

Meadowlane

Michaelston CC

Millbank

Moorland

Mount Stuart

O|>(>(>|0|0|0|w|(>(>|>|0|w|>|w(>|0> w0 0| w > 0Owo0|0> 00> > w0 WO w> 00w > wo> 0w o
Q> > > 0Owm> > > > 0|l > 0| > Wwow>0r0wo> 00> Ww > o> 00>w>Wmmmomo
AO<OAA P O<DDA > OFONFP0OI<KA<L>P LKL <A P TOII<ON<>Z>><0OFP << 0O<> 0D

TOODA KK > << K<< >Z <D< KDA|DO > <|<D>P|T OO O<LKOD TV OO <> 0O >|<|>

WIN|W2|RWWI2IN=2INWW=NIN|W

AINW(=2 |

Ninian Park

Page 120




Appendix B

Oakfield 4 3
Pen-y-Bryn 3 2
Pencaerau 2 1
Pentrebane 2 1
Pentyrch 3 2
Peter Lea 3 2
Radnor 3 2
Radyr High 3 2
Radyr 2 1
Rhiwbeina 1 1
Rhydypenau 2 2
Riverbank Special

Roath Park

Rumney

Severn

Springwood

St. Alban’s RC

St. Bernadette’s RC

St Cadoc’s RC

St Cuthbert’'s RC

St David’s CIW

St Fagan’s CIW

St Francis RC

St llityds RC High

St John Lloyd RC

St Joseph’s RC

St Mary’s RC

St Mary the Virgin CIW

St Mellons CIW

St Monica’s CIW

St Patrick’'s RC

St Paul’'s CIW

St Peter's RC

St Philip Evans RC

St. Teilos CIW High

Stacey

The Bishop of Llandaff

w|N|w|=a|a|alw|lw (v A A www[Nd]S|w|w]|= NN NN |w
ala|w|a|a|a|w|w|a w2 v N w N w s s s

The Court Special

The Hollies Special

Thornhill 1 1
Ton-yr-Ywen 2 2
Tongwynlais 3 2
Tredegarville CIW 2 2
Trelai 4 4
Tremorfa Nursery

Trowbridge 3 2
Ty Gwyn Special

Whitchurch High 3 2
Whitchurch 1 1
Willowbrook 2 2
Windsor Clive 3 3
Willows 3 1
Woodlands Special

Ysgol Bro Eirwg 4 3
Ysgol Coed-y-Gof 3 2
Ysgol Glan Ceubal 4 4
Ysgol Glan Morfa 3 2

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern

DOOW|W W@ WL >TO>0WOoONwW>wWO> > WwO|> > owmOoOOmO|mEEW WO W mWIETTON>TTOIO>>LB> O

WOOWI WL W O>0>0w>0|w>w>>0>>> 00> wW0|>ww> 2> w03 > Wm0 ww0|oom > >0 w

<> > <[> |<|<|<|<|0D|o|>|0x|<|<|<|>0o<|<|> 000> |<|<|> 1> << > <m0 <|<|< << |<|>|0|0|< > |>|<|<|<|0|>|>

<[> > <[> |<|<|<|<|o> 0> ox<|0> <0< 00> oo0> > 0> > o< > |<|<|<|no<|0|<|<|0|<|m|o|o| <[> |<|<|<|<|6a|<|<

Page 121




Appendix B

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaff

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr

Ysgol Melin Gryfydd

Ysgol Nant Caerau

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch

Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna

Ysgol Gynraedd Gwaelod-y-Garth

Ysgol Pen-y-Groes

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan

Ysgol Pen-y-Pil

Ysgol Pencae

Ysgol Y Berllan Deg

Ysgol Y Wern

NWINWWIRARINWWWIN[WW
NININEINBRINNWWINININ

Z>|OWO>|0W > 0> 0w

> 0> 0> 0> > Wo > 0|l

Q> <P |<L>Z<|<LL[>P|0O> <

QOI<[Z P OFP O0<<0><

Page 722




Appendix C

SCRUTINY: May 2016

Young People not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)

REPORT OF Director of Education & LLL

PORTFOLIO: Education and Lifelong Learning

1.

1.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

Reason for this report

To update Scrutiny on the current position in Cardiff in relation to young people
disengaged or at risk of becoming disengaged from education, employment or training
(EET) and outline the actions being taken to address the issues identified.

Background and context

This issue was previously reported to scrutiny in June 2015 so this report will focus on
the current situation and progress made in the last 12 months. A copy of the previous
scrutiny report is contained in Appendix 4.

Overview of Progress since June 2015

2015 - Year 11 NEETS

Cardiff's NEET figures will not be verified and published by WG until May 2016 but the
LA’s monitoring indicates that the position for 2015 is close to last year’s figure of 4.26%
and is likely to be in the region of 4.5% with 152 pupils of a cohort of 3,343 not in EET at
the time of the Destinations count. (151 pupils of a cohort of 3546 in 2014).

The 4.5% comprised of 118 young people (3.53%) who did not progress into EET and
18 young people or 1.02% who could not or were unable to enter EET due to illness or
being in youth custody. Disappointingly the NEET picture therefore remains static due in
part to high levels of NEETs from a minority of schools. Destination data by individual
secondary school is set out in Appendix 1.

Of the 152 young people who were NEET at the October 2015 Destination count, 106
had been identified by the VAP as being amber or red which is encouraging as it
demonstrates that the right young people who need support are being identified
appropriately.

Year 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

% NEET | 10.6 8.9 8.8 7.7 6.7 4.9 4.26 4.5%

( Source - The annual survey of school leavers undertaken by Careers Wales, providing a snapshot of pupil destinations
taken on 315t October)

1
Page 123



4.

4.1

4.2

2015 — Year 11 NEET Profile

An analysis of the characteristics of the 152 pupils identified as not in EET (in October
2015) indicates the following:

Pupil Characteristics
Total Number of pupils who o
were NEET at end year 11 152 4.50%
Able to enter EET 118 3.53%
Unable to enter EET (e.g.
due to illness, pregnancy, o
custodial sentence, disability, 34 1.02%
caring responsibilities)
Pupils with exclusions 68 pupils 44.70%
(1095 days exclusion) )
Pupils involved with YOS 15 9.80%
Pupils who are o
LAC/formerly LAC 10 6.50%
Pupils with SEN 99 65%
School Action 44 29%
School Action+ 35 23%
Statemented 20 13%
eFSM 69 45.30%
Qualifications
Did not achieve L1 70 46%
L1 40 26.30%
L2 28 18.40%
L2+ 13 8.50%
WBRI 128 84.20%

The number of NEETs in Cardiff is high because too many young people leave school
with low levels of qualifications, have complex multiple needs and face barriers to
progressing into and sustaining EET due to these issues.

Young people are more likely to become NEET if they have one or more of the following
characteristics; a low level of academic achievement; their ethnic origin is white UK, they
are entitled to free school meals and they have had more than one fixed term exclusion
from school.

2
Page 124



4.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

6.1

There is a clear correlation between the level of attainment and the percentage of
NEETs in school. The best schools ensure that the curriculum they provide meets the
needs of all pupils, enabling them to make a successful progression into education,
employment or training. Data for pupils not achieving level 1 and the number of NEETs
by individual secondary school is set out in Appendix 2.

Year 13 school leavers

Year 13 leavers known to be not | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015
in education, employment or

training
Cardiff percentages 6.2 8.4 4.9 4.2 4.4 2.95
Wales percentages 6.6 6.4 5.1 4.7 4.9 tba

( Source - The annual survey of school leavers undertaken by Careers Wales, providing a snapshot of pupil destinations
taken on 315t October)

Cardiff's year 13 NEET figures for 2015 have not yet been published but the LA’s
monitoring indicates that the position for 2015 is significantly improved on the previous
year with 2.95% of year 13 who had not progressed into Education, Employment or
Training (EET) at the point of the Destinations survey. This equates to 41 of the cohort
of 1389. This was a 1.45% improvement on the previous year’s position (2014) when 62
year 13 school leavers did not progress into EET.

The 2.95% comprised of 34 young people (2.45%) who did not progress into EET and 7
young people or 0.5% could not or were unable to enter EET due to illness or caring
responsibilities. The majority of these 34 young people have future pathways planned,
but were not in employment, education or training at point of the Destinations survey.

Over the previous four year period, the year 13 NEET figures have been below the
Wales average. WG have not published the All Wales data for 2015 so we do not know
what Cardiff's position is relative to that of the 21 other local authorities in Wales. Last
year (2014) this was 11th which was an improvement on 17th position in 2010.

The continuing reduction in the figures corresponds to an ongoing improvement in
outcomes at key stage 5. The proportion of subject entries at A* or A was 31.1% and at
A*-C the proportion was 78.4%. These figures represent increases of 3.7 and 1.3 ppt
respectively on the figures for 2014. At A*-E, considered the ‘pass rate’, the proportion of
subject entries was 98.1%. These results compare positively with the national figures for
both Wales and England. The proportion of subject entries at A* or A was 23.1% in
Wales and 25.9% across England. At A*-C the corresponding national figures were
74.3% and 77.2% respectively. The national pass rate in Wales was 97.3% whereas in
England it was 98.1%.

16-18 year olds on Careers Wales NEETs Register
Strong partnership arrangements for the post 16 Neighbourhood panels have been
developed and lead workers from range of partner organisations, including Families First

Partners, Youth Mentoring, Youth Service, Careers Wales and third sector attend to
contact and co-ordinate support for young people to engage in EET.

3
Page 125



The co-ordination of this support through Neighbourhood panels has enabled more
coherent support delivered in the communities in which young people live. There has
been a reduction in the numbers of young people in tiers 1 and 2 in the neighbourhood
panel data (tier 1 — status unknown or cannot be contacted and tier 2 - young people
who are unemployed and not with Careers Wales requiring personal engagement to
overcome barriers). In October 2015, 536 16-18 year olds were registered by Careers
Wales in these tiers. This compares with the 629 at same point the previous year
(October 2014). In February 2015 there were 440 16-18 year olds who were NEET in
tiers 1 and 2 and in February 2016 this figure was 397.

Summary of progress since previous scrutiny report June 2015

Estyn returned in October 2015 to review progress of a number of areas including the
recommendation to reduce the proportion of young people who are not in education
employment or training post 16 (2b). The third and final monitoring visit took place in
January 2016 where all of the six recommendations arising from the monitoring visit in
February 2014 were reviewed.

Following the final monitoring visit in January, Estyn judged that Cardiff had made
sufficient progress against all recommendations and confirmed that the LA be removed
from the significant improvement category. In relation to the recommendation to reduce
the number of NEETSs, Estyn judged that the authority had made satisfactory progress in
addressing this recommendation and noted the following progress:

» The percentage of young people who are NEET in Cardiff continues to fall.

= All secondary schools now use the vulnerability assessment profile and this has been
extended to the pupil referral unit and special schools. The profile assists schools in
identifying pupils that are at risk of becoming not engaged in education, employment or
training (NEET).

= All pupils that are educated otherwise than at school (EOTAS), now access taster
courses with local providers and receive information and support in respect of next step
opportunities. This has slightly improved the destinations for this group of learners.

» The local authority has recently started to track pupils that leave school during year 12
and 13 and it recognises that this is an aspect of its work that it needs to develop.

» The local authority has brought together a range of partners on its NEETs strategy
group. This has promoted a better understanding of each other’'s work and has resulted
in creative solutions.

= In 2015, 300 pupils identified as being at risk of becoming NEET were supported over
the summer term and through the school holiday. Young people were able to access
ongoing support and advice to help them to secure suitable education, employment and
training placements. This approach is beginning to have a positive impact. However,
unverified data for 2015 indicates that Year 11 NEETs has worsened slightly and that
Cardiff remains one of the worst performing authorities in Wales. The variation in NEETs
across schools remains too great.

4
Page 126



7.3

8.1

In order to improve destinations for looked-after children the authority has recently
implemented a trainee programme. This aims to provide looked-after children with new
skills and qualifications. Three LAC trainees from this programme have moved on to full
apprenticeships.

All pupils that are educated other than at school (EOTAS), now access taster courses
with local providers and receive information and support in respect of next-step
opportunities. This has slightly improved the destinations for this group of learners.
However, the overall percentage of pupils that are NEET from the authority’s special
school for pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties and EOTAS provision
is far too high at around 45%.

Relevant information on school exclusion and NEETs data is provided to the regional
consortia’s challenge advisers and this aspect of the challenge advisers’ work with
schools is beginning to improve. Expectations around support, challenge and reporting
have been communicated with the Consortium and Challenge Advisers. Reporting
formats have been agreed and exclusions, attendance and NEET’s will feature in all
future reports.

At the October visit it was noted that senior leaders in education had in shaping,
understanding and driving the reduction in the number of young people not in education,
employment or training (NEET) was unclear and that the local authority had no
overarching single NEET strategy. In response, by Estyn’s return visit in January had
produced a single strategy for youth engagement and progression. This strategy is in
line with the six priority areas outlined in the Welsh Government guidance and outlines
broadly the actions that need to be taken.

In addition since the January visit:

Leadership roles have been revised and strengthened and the new strategy will be led
by the Director of Education and the Director of Economic Development and the strategy
has been endorsed by the Council’'s Leader and Chief Executive.

The Director of Education is now chair of the EET Strategy Group to strengthen profile
and accountability for the strategy and delivery of the action plan.

The Youth Engagement and Progression Action Plan revised to reflect new strategy.

The WASPI has been finalised and submitted to WG to share personal information
about individuals legally, safely and with confidence,

Next Steps

In order to reduce the number of NEET young people in Cardiff, the LA has developed
the ‘Cardiff Commitment’ which is a comprehensive, integrated, Cardiff Youth
Engagement and Progression Strategy for the city. The strategy sets out how Cardiff
Council, together with a wide range of partners in the public, private and third sectors,
will seek to ensure a positive destination for every young person in Cardiff after statutory
schooling, into employment, education or training.

5
Page 127



8.2

8.3

8.4

The new strategy will be led by the Director of Education and the Director of Economic
Development and will ensure robust action to prevent young people becoming NEET but
will have a broader focus on providing opportunities for all young people at all skill and
qualification levels and aims to secure a commitment from employers in the city to
develop apprenticeships and employment opportunities for young people.

Cardiff and Vale College in partnership with the Council and schools are developing an
innovative Junior Apprenticeships pilot for 14 -16 year olds which aims to be a creative
solution to help reduce the numbers of young people who become NEET. The pilot
proposes that approximately 90 year 10 learners will follow one of seven pathways for
intensive vocational skill development as well as work related experience to develop
employability and interpersonal skills. The learners will also study GCSE’s in English
and maths at the college and will attend CAVC on a full time basis for the 2 year
programme. It is anticipated that prospective junior apprentices will be identified through
the vulnerability assessment profile (VAP) as those who are most at risk of becoming
NEET. Learners will achieve a Level 1 or 2 qualification in their chosen vocational area
and will be encouraged and supported to achieve Level 2 where possible. Post 16, it is
hoped that they will progress straight into further programmes at the college or
apprenticeships. The Council will also provide work experience placement opportunities
to support the learners in their vocational pathways.

The Youth Engagement and Progression Action Plan has been refreshed and will
address the following:

Having secured ESF funding, recruitment is underway to extend the capacity of the lead
worker team and enable commissioning of bespoke pre-engagement provision (tier 2) for
post 16 learners who are most at risk to address barriers.

Ensure that the additional resources that the bids will secure are targeted and support
differentiated in schools that continue to cause concern where the number of NEETs are
historically higher — Eastern High, Glyn Derw, EOTAS and Greendhill.

Broaden the scope of challenge and support to schools in respect of NEETs through the
work of the Challenge Advisers and Governors. Deliver training to Governors (January
2016) on NEETs and Exclusions to develop and ensure and understanding of the
variations in the data across schools in Cardiff and the questions that they need to be
asking in their schools.

Ensure that the strategy to reduce NEETs aligns to the wider preventative agenda,
including early years, parenting and family support and the Council’s Early Help
Strategy. Work with schools as part of Early Help Strategy to develop the arrangements
for identifying families and helping them to get the support they need through piloting the
use of a Joint Assessment Family Framework to provide a more effective joined-up
service for families.

6
Page 128



Appendix 1

Year 11 school leaver destination data (NEET) by school 2013 — 2015

School 2013 2014 2015*
Indicative Data
Bishop Of Llandaff 0 (0) 0.52 (1) 1.06 (2) %ﬁk
Cantonian 9 (10) 2.83 (3) 7.23 (6) %ﬁk
Cardiff High 1.39 (3) 1.9 (4) 1.45 (2) Zﬁ+
Cathays 4.31(7) 6.14 (10) 6.5 (10) Zﬁﬁk
Corpus Christi 1.56 (3) 2.5 (5) 2.82 (6) Zﬁﬁl
Eastern High 8.87% (22) 6.76 (15) % 12.94 (26) ZF
Fitzalan 5.53 (12) 3.13(8) 4.6 (11) %ﬁk
Glyn Derw 9.45 (12) 12.3 (15) 9.09 (8) Zﬁ+
Greenhill 45.2 (5) 60 (9) 55.56 (10) %
Llanishen 3.34 (9) 4.53 (12) 4.26 (11) Zﬁ+
Llanederyn 10 (10) 4.8 (5) N/A closed
Mary Immaculate 11.21(12) 3.7 (4) 5.5 (6) %ﬁk
Michaelston 8.47(10) 13.23 (16) 5.82 (6) Zﬁ+
Radyr 1.12(2) 0.47 (1) 2.98 (6) +ﬁk
St llityds 5.47(8) 4.0 (7) 3.57 (6) +¢
St Teilos 1.06 (2) 2.7 (5) 2.64 (6) Zﬁ%
Whitchurch 2.19 (8) 3.19 (1) 3.44 (12) Zﬁﬁk
Willows 6.36 (10) 9.15 (14) 7.69 (10) Zﬁ%
Ysgol Gyfun Glantaf 2.4 (5) 2.23 (5) % 2.74 (6) ﬁk
Ysgol Gyfun Plasmawr 0.62 (1) 0.61(1) <> 061(1) <«»
TOTAL 4.9% (174 of 4.26% (151 of 4.5% (152 of
cohort of 3547) cohort of 3546) cohort of 3343)

Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in Wales — annual survey providing a snapshot of pupil
destinations as at 31st October each year.

7
Page 129



2015 data is indicative and is subject to verification which will be released in May 2016

Appendix 2

Pupils who did not Achieve Level 1 (L1) threshold by secondary school

Bishop of Llandaff 191 6 3.10% 1.06%
Cantonian 80 6 7.50% 7.23%
Cardiff High 207 0 0.00% 1.45%
Cathays 130 14 10.80% 6.50%
Corpus Christi 211 2 0.95% 2.82%
Fitzalan 236 4 1.70% 4.60%
Glyn Derw 88 18 20.40% 9.09%
Llanishen 256 9 3.51% 4.26%
MIHS 109 1 0.90% 5.50%
MccC 103 11 10.70% 5.82%
Radyr 201 6 3.00% 2.98%
Eastern High 201 71 35.30% 12.94%
St llityd's 166 4 2.40% 3.57%
St Teilo's 227 11 4.80% 2.64%
Whitchurch 349 16 4.60% 3.44%
Willows 128 21 16.40% 7.69%
YG Glantaf 219 5 2.30% 2.74%
YG Plasmawr 162 1 0.60% 0.61%
Greenhill 18 15 83.30% 55.56%
Woodlands 9 9 100.00%

BYD 14 12 85.70%

CARDIFF 3305 242 7.32% 4.5%
WALES 5.59%

P

8
Page 130



Appendix 3

Year 13 school leaver destination data (NEET) by Cardiff secondary schools

5.47% (7)

Bishop of Llandaff 8.55% (10 0.00%
Cantonian 8.47% 4.69% (3) 4.76% (2)
Cardiff High 3.26% (6) 3.55% (6) 4.27% (7)
Cathays 5.26% (2) 6.35% (4) 5.8% (4)
Fitzalan 1.85% (2) 8.73% (11) 1.68% (2)
Llanishen 0.68% (1) 1.42% (2)
mMcC 16.22% (12) 20.51% (8) 0.00%
Radyr 1.69% (2) 0.85% (1) 2.16% (3)
St Teilo's 1.22% (1) 3.37% (3) 2.2% (2)
Ty Gwyn Special

School 30.77% (4)
Whitchurch 3.24% (7) 1.96% (4) 3.16% (6)
Woodlands 6.16% (2)
YG Glantaf 2.48% (3) 1.63% (2) 2.25% (4)
YG Plasmawr 4.65% (4) 2.56% (2) 2.83% (3)
CARDIFF 4.20% 4.42% 2.95%
WALES 4.70% 4.90% tba

Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in Wales — annual survey providing a snapshot of pupil

destinations as at 31st October each year.

2015 data is indicative and is subject to verification which will be released in May 2016.

9
Page 131




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem o

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
17 May 2016

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS - SPECIALIST PROVISION FOR
PRIMARY AGED PUPILS WITH SPEECH AND LANGUAGE
DIFFICULTIES, AND WITH BEHAVIOURAL EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL
DIFFICULTIES

Purpose of Report

1. To provide Members with the opportunity to hear the views from a number
of citizens who have expressed their comments and concerns at current

Cabinet proposals for the proposed closure of Meadowbank School.

Background

2. The proposal entitled “Specialist provision for Primary Aged Pupils with
Speech and language Difficulties, and with Behavioural Emotional and
Social Difficulties, was approved by the Cabinet in December 2015 (copy
attached at Appendix A). The report recommended the Cabinet to:

e Authorise officers to consult on the proposal to remodel SEN provision
specifically to respond to the falling demand for speech and language
places and increased demand for provision of children with behavioural
social and emotional needs through the closure of Meadowbank
Special School by August 2017.

This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

o An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children with
speech and language needs;

o A change in the use of the Allensbank Specialist Resource Base
(SRB) to provide additional places for pupils with severe and
complex learning difficulties;

o Anincrease in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in

mainstream schools across the city.

Page 133



¢ Note that prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will be
provided to the Cabinet providing details of any objections received,
the responses to those objections and recommendations for

implementation or otherwise of the proposal.

The Proposal

3. The proposal responds to falling demand for speech and language places,
and increased demand for provision for children with behavioural social

and emotional needs. It entails:

» The phased closure of Meadowbank Special School (this would require
the supported transition of current pupils to mainstream school or
Specialist Resource Base (SRB) with a strong package of support in

line with their needs).

* Increased capacity for mainstream support for children with speech and

language needs.

» A change in use of the Allensbank SRB to provide extra places for

pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties.

* Anincrease in the number of Nurture/ Revolving Door classes in
mainstream schools across the city, to provide at least one setting in
each of the six neighbourhood areas, including a Welsh medium
setting (this development to include the existing classes at
Springwood, Fairwater and Glan yr Afon, as well as new sites to be
identified). These classes would provide a network of early intervention
support for children with attachment difficulties, social and emotional
needs, and children who are socially vulnerable due to their speech

and language needs.

Page 134



Interim Arrangements

4. Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and
professionals to take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the
affected settings, to minimise disruption to their learning and to take full

account of parental views.

5. The likely closure date for Meadowbank School would be August 2017.
The majority of current pupils will have transferred to secondary school or
reintegrated to a mainstream primary by that date. Remaining pupils would
be offered a range of options, depending on their needs and on parents’

views:

» Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank

» A supported programme of reintegration to their local mainstream
school. This would include funded additional support from an
appropriately trained teaching assistant, school-based therapy if this
continues to be an assessed need;

» Support from the specialist teacher service.

6. The proposed change of use at Allensbank School would be timed to take
account of the needs and ages of existing pupils. The classes would
continue to operate as a speech and language specialist setting until these
pupils complete their primary education and transfer to secondary school.

Proposed Educational Benefits

7. The proposal would offer the following educational benefits:

+ Continued high quality support for speech and language pupils in

mainstream schools, with an extended specialist teacher team.

Page 135



* Reduce the number of school transfers for children with speech and
language difficulties, by ensuing every child can be effectively

supported in mainstream throughout their education.

« Significant expansion of Nurture and Revolving Door classes for

children with behavioural social and emotional difficulties.

+  Welsh medium specific provision for behavioural social and emotional

difficulties.

+ Expansion of SRB places for children with severe learning difficulties.

Alternatives considered

8. The option of keeping Meadowbank open as a speech and language
special school has been considered and rejected because the school roll
has fallen consistently over the last five years and there is no expectation
that the trend will reverse. This places the future of the school at risk even

if no action is taken.

Issues

9. The public consultation exercise was undertaken between 11 February
2016 and 23 March 2016. The outcome of the consultation exercise is still

being assessed.

10. The Chairperson of the Committee has received correspondence from a
number of citizens, who requested the opportunity to address the
Committee. They wish to express their views on the proposals, and for
Members to be aware of the impact they feel the closure of Meadowbank
would have on the lives of children with a Speech and Language
Impairment in Cardiff who receive at first hand the experience of the staff,

pupils and the environment in which they work in.

Page 136



11.The Chairperson has agreed to invite these members of the public to
address the Committee. A copy of the documentation which they have

sent for Member’s consideration will be circulated prior to the meeting.

Scope of Scrutiny

12.The scope of this scrutiny is for Members to:
o Consider the views expressed at the meeting on the proposal;

o Pass on any observations, comments or recommendations to the
Cabinet Member for Education and the Director of Education and
Lifelong Learning, to further inform the outcome of the consultation

process for the proposal, prior to its consideration by Cabinet.

Way Forward

13.To enable the Committee to received the views, comments and concerns
from Members of the public the following people have currently indicated

that they wish to address the Committee:

e Faye Dale — Parent of a pupil

e Diana James — Teacher

e  Suzanne Grover — Former Headteacher of Meadowbank School
e  Councillor Gareth Holden

e  Councillor Jayne Cowan.

Legal Implications

14.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in
this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal
implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the
matters under review are implemented with or without any modifications.
Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council

will set out any legal implicationpq@@g]_f@?n those recommendations. All



decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal
powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising
powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the
procedural requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure
Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be
taken having regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h)

be reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.

Financial Implications

15. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However,
financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are

implemented with or without any modifications.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is recommended to:

|. Consider the information provided in the report, views and comments
from Councillors, citizens, and discussions at Committee;

II. Consider whether they have any observations, comments or
recommendations they wish to make to Cabinet prior to its

consideration of the outcome of the consultation exercise.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 138



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 3 DECEMBER 2015 Lﬁ%ﬁg%lg

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: SPECIALIST
PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AGED PUPILS WITH SPEECH AND
LANGUAGE DIFFICULTIES, AND WITH BEHAVIOURAL
EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL DIFFICULTIES.

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG
LEARNING
AGENDA ITEM: 5

PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY)
Reason for this Report

1. To enable the Cabinet to consider a recommendation to hold public
consultation on the proposed re-shaping of specialist provision in line
with the falling demand for speech and language places, and increased
demand for provision for children with behavioral social and emotional

needs.
Background
2. There has been a trend away from special schools places for speech and

language needs as part of a national trend towards inclusion. Cardiff is
the only local authority in England and Wales still maintaining a special
school specialising solely in speech and language needs.

3. While special school continues to be an important option for some
children with complex, long term learning difficulties, there has been a
general trend for children with moderate learning delays, speech and
language difficulties and physical disabilities to attend a local school.

4. Meadowbank School is a small special school located in Gabalfa
adjacent to Gabalfa Primary School and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children
aged 4-11 with significant speech and language difficulties.

5. Additionally, the County wide primary phase Welsh Immersion Unit is
currently housed at Meadowbank and occupies three rooms. The close
proximity to Ysgol Glan Ceubal has allowed for the arrangement to work
well to date.

6. Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the
school and at that time the school operated at 40 places. In 2010, the

Page 139 Page 1 of 12



10.

11.

Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of their intention to withdraw from this
arrangement, making no new placements. In July 2015 the last Vale
child left the school.

Cardiff also maintains a specialist resource base (SRB) at Allensbank
Primary School, for 20 pupils with speech and language difficulties.

The speech and language therapy service provides school-based
therapy to pupils in Meadowbank and Allensbank in line with their
assessed level of need.

Admissions to Meadowbank and to Allensbank SRB are subject to a
statement of special educational needs (SEN) and are managed by the
local authority in accordance with the SEN Code of Practice for Wales
2002.

In line with equalities legislation and the statutory framework for SEN,
children are only placed in a special school or SRB where this is

e consistent with parents’ wishes and

e if there is substantial evidence to show that their needs cannot
reasonably be met other than by placement in a specialised
setting.

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be
reintegrated to mainstream school are good; the majority of pupils
attending Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high
school at Year 7, and many pupils make sufficient progress to transfer at
an earlier age.

Changes in demand for special school and SRB places

12.

13.

14.

Although the number of children and young people with speech and
language difficulties has not fallen, demand for places at both
Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB has fallen in recent years, with an
increasing number of parents expressing a preference for mainstream
education, with support provided in the local catchment school.

At the present time, November 2015, there are 23 pupils on roll at
Meadowbank.

Demand for places at Allensbank has also fallen from 18 in 2010-11, to
11 pupils in November 2015.

Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB numbers on roll, 2010-2015

M’bank Allensbank | total pupils
2010-11 40 18 58
2011-12 35 18 53
2012-13 34 13 47

Page 140 Page 2 of 12



15.

16.

2013-14 32 16 48
2014-15 27 14 41
Nov-15 23 11 34

The age profile across the two settings is heavily weighted to Key Stage
2. There were no new admissions to either school in September 2015.

Age profile of pupils in speech and language provision

M'bank | A'bank | total

Reception 0 0 0
Year 1 2 0 2
year 2 4 4 8
Year 3 3 2 5
Year 4 2 2 4
Year 5 6 3 9
Year 6 6 0 6

23 11 34

As the therapy caseload has fallen, the therapy allocation to
Meadowbank and Allensbank has been reduced and reallocated in order
to provide more support for pupils in mainstream schools.

Why has the need for special school and SRB places fallen?

17.

18.

The trend does not arise from a reduction of need, but from changing
expectations and from the availability of effective mainstream support.

The following factors are explored in more detail below:

e There is a national trend towards more inclusive educational
practice;

e A successful programme of early intervention and capacity
building has been implemented in Cardiff's mainstream schools;

e Between September 2014 and July 2015, the therapy service
rolled out a school-based therapy service, in place of the clinic-
based model;

e Pupil outcomes for children with speech and language difficulties
in mainstream are good.

National trend for inclusion

19.

20.

21.

The trend is away from special school places for speech and language
needs is part of a national trend towards inclusion.

The majority of children attending a special school now have severe and
complex needs and are likely to benefit from a specialist education
throughout their school life.

In contrast, children with speech and language difficulties have good
prospects for succeeding in mainstream education provided they receive

Page 141 Page 3 of 12



22.

23.

24,

effective specialist support when young. Increasingly, parents are
expecting this support to be provided in a mainstream context.

Pupils who attend Meadowbank or the SRB typically transfer to
mainstream secondary schools. It can be very challenging for pupils to
transfer directly from a small special class, to a large mainstream
secondary school in one step. The local authority undertook consultation
with Meadowbank and Allensbank parents in 2012, to identify the best
way of supporting transition to secondary school. There were two main
outcomes from this consultation. The capacity of the Specialist teacher
team was increased in order to provide more support for transition and
for secondary pupils in mainstream; and both Allensbank and
Meadowbank began working towards earlier reintegration to mainstream.
Many pupils now have the chance to reintegrate to a local primary
school, and to establish friendships there before transferring to
secondary school.

In the past, a significant factor in the choice of the special school or the
SRB was that these settings were the only schools where school-based
therapy was provided, and where therapists and teachers worked closely
together to provide support. Children who remained in their local
mainstream school would be obliged to miss school on a regular basis
and travel to a clinic to receive therapy. Direct contact between
therapists and mainstream teaching staff was minimal.

With the roll out of a school-based therapy service in 2014-15, pupils
included in mainstream are no longer disadvantaged in terms of access
to therapy and there are additional benefits to remaining in the local
school:

¢ the child experiences fewer transitions;

¢ local friendships;

e good role models to support their speech and language
development.

Early intervention and capacity building in Cardiff

25.

26.

27.

Since 2010, a successful programme of capacity building and early
intervention has significantly improved the extent to which children with
speech and language difficulties can be well-supported in their local
mainstream school.

The specialist teacher speech and language team provides effective
support, training and advice to mainstream schools, and provides direct
teaching intervention to pupils with the most severe difficulties.

Using the ‘Speech Links’ and ‘Language Links’ programmes, primary
schools assess the language development of all children entering
Reception and use a range of strategies and interventions to address
any language delays identified. This approach has been effective in
improving the language skills of children by an average of 20 percentage
points during the Reception year. The quality and timeliness of therapy

Page 142 Page 4 of 12



referrals has also improved, with a positive impact on reducing therapy
waiting times (evidence from therapy service.

28. Speech and Language Links has been established in all but one primary
school in Cardiff and is now being rolled out across secondary schools.
29.  Joint working between the UHB and Education Service has improved

efficiency and effectiveness of support for children with speech and
language difficulties. Speech and language therapists work closely with
the specialist teacher team to deliver the five step graduated response,
with a single referral pathway and a shared caseload, this approach has
led to less duplication and a more efficient and effective service. The
partnership between health and education in Cardiff has been awarded
an NHS prize for innovative practice.

School-based therapy service (introduced in Cardiff between September
2014 and July 2015)

30.

31.

32.

In 2014 -15, the UHB established a school-based therapy service, with a
range of benefits:

a. Children in mainstream are no longer disadvantaged in
comparison to special school or SRB pupils, as they no longer
have to travel to a clinic to access therapy;

b. School-based therapy is easier for families without their own
transport and children do not miss school in order to attend the
clinic;

c. There are stronger links between schools and therapy service,
with therapists providing direct advice to class teachers and
teaching assistants to enable them to deliver and oversee
programmes.

The school-based service was rolled out in the Vale of Glamorgan a year
earlier than in Cardiff. Data collected by the UHB demonstrates that the
school-based service has led to fewer pupils being discharged early due
to non-attendance at clinic. Early signs suggest that the same benefits
are being realised in Cardiff.

A breakdown of the therapy caseload demonstrates that the majority of
speech and language children are being supported in mainstream
schools.

Therapy caseload by level of need (Stage 5 being the highest level of
need), June 2015

Therapy
caseload,

Meadowbank

Allensbank
SRB

Mainstream

Total
caseload

Stage 5
(direct input)

7

1

48

56

Stage 4
(direct input)

11

12

188

211

Page 143

Page 5 of 12




Stage 3 2 249 258
(monitoring)

Not requiring 1 N/A N/A
therapy

Outcomes for pupils in mainstream

33.

Pupils in mainstream are achieving their measurable targets. These
targets are jointly set between education and health. Progress is also
measured via the Speech and Language Link screening tools and school
based attainment progress

Data showing increase in reception age pupils with age appropriate Language
Skills and the progress they make over the academic year

Year 2010- 2011 | 2011-2012 | 2012-2013 | 2013-2014 | 2014-2015
Pre 63.8% 57.2% 69% 63.8% 67.5%
Screen

Post 84% 80.1% 83% 83.7% 84.9%
Screen

Expanding need for special school and SRB provision for other areas of

SEN

34.

35.

36.

37.

A report on specialist provision for pupils with SEN/ ALN was completed
in 2013. This identified a number of priorities for future development of
special school and SRB provision. A summary of the current priorities is
attached to this report (Appendices 1 and 2).

In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health, children services
and parent partnership representatives was consulted on the priorities for
future development of BESD provision in Cardiff (Appendix 3). There
was consensus on the need for:

e More capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and
Revolving door classes;

e Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this
group including: mental health and medical needs; speech and
language difficulties; literacy and numeracy delays.

Demand for special school or SRB places for primary aged children
presenting with challenging behaviours has increased over the last two
years. In 2014-15 there was a 30% increase in the number of new
statements for this area of need.

Developing additional provision for pupils with behavioural emotional and
social difficulties is therefore a current priority.

Page 144 Page 6 of 12




Proposal

38.

The following proposal to respond to the falling demand for speech and
language places, and increased demand for provision for children with
behavioral social and emotional needs has been identified:

e The phased closure of Meadowbank Special School (this would
require the supported transition of current pupils to mainstream
school or SRB with a strong package of support in line with their
needs).

e Increased capacity for mainstream support for children with speech
and language needs.

e A change in use of the Allensbank SRB to provide extra places for
pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties.

e An increase in the number of Nurture/ Revolving Door classes in
mainstream schools across the city, to provide at least one setting in
each of the six neighborhood areas, including a Welsh medium
setting. (This development to include the existing classes at
Springwood, Fairwater and Glan yr Afon, as well as new sites to be
identified.) These classes would provide a network of early
intervention support for children with attachment difficulties, social
and emotional needs, and children who are socially vulnerable due to
their speech and language needs.

Interim Arrangements

39.

40.

41.

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and
professionals to take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the
affected settings, to minimise disruption to their learning and to take full
account of parental views.

The likely closure date for Meadowbank School would be August 2017.
The majority of current pupils will have transferred to secondary school
or reintegrated to a mainstream primary by that date. Remaining pupils
would be offered a range of options, depending on their needs and on
parent’s views:

e Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank

e A supported programme of reintegration to their local mainstream
school. This would include funded additional support from an
appropriately trained teaching assistant, school-based therapy if this
continues to be an assessed need; support from the specialist
teacher service.

The proposed change of use at Allensbank School would be timed to
take account of the needs and ages of existing pupils. The classes
would continue to operate as a speech and language specialist setting
until these pupils complete their primary education and transfer to
secondary school.

Page 145 Page 7 of 12



Educational Benefits
42.  The proposal would offer the following educational benefits:

. Continued high quality support for speech and language pupils in
mainstream schools, with an extended specialist teacher team.

o Reduce the number of school transfers for children with speech and
language difficulties, by ensuing every child can be effectively
supported in mainstream throughout their education.

. Significant expansion of Nurture and Revolving Door classes for
children with behavioural social and emotional difficulties.

. Welsh medium specific provision for behavioural social and
emotional difficulties.

. Expansion of SRB places for children with severe learning
difficulties.

Potential disadvantages of the proposal

43.  Pupils remaining in Meadowbank School at the time of closure would
need to transfer to an alternative school, whether a supported return to
mainstream, or a transfer to Allensbank SRB.

Alternatives considered

44. The option of keeping Meadowbank open as a speech and language
special school has been considered and rejected because the school roll
has fallen consistently over the last five years and there is no expectation
that the trend will reverse. This places the future of the school at risk
even if no action is taken.

Future use of the Meadowbank School site

45.  The future use of the Meadowbank School site would be considered
should the proposal be progressed to implementation. It is expected that
the site would be retained for educational purposes.

Impact of proposal on the Welsh Language

46. It is anticipated that either of the options would have a beneficial impact
on Welsh language. Both options would address the need for Welsh
medium nurture or revolving door class provision.

Local Member consultation

47.  Local members have been appraised of the proposal to consult and will
be included as part of any consultation undertaken along with all elected
members in view of the provision at Meadowbank being city wide.

Reason for Recommendations

48. To respond to the falling demand for special school places for primary
aged pupils with speech and language difficulties, and to the need for

Page 146 Page 8 of 12



additional provision for children with behavioural emotional and social
needs.

Financial Implications

49.

50.

51.

52.

All Cardiff schools are funded from the delegated schools budget which
is a ring fenced account that allocates funding to each school using the
Formula Funding mechanism. The Formula funding mechanism is
primarily based on a pupil number basis for Primary and Secondary
schools and on a place basis for Special Schools and Specialist
Resource Bases (SRB).

In this particular instance, the phased reduction of the number of places
at the special school will result in a corresponding reduction in the
amount of funding being provided to this school. The school is currently
operating within its delegated budget and maintains a surplus balance
despite falling number of places. However this may not continue to be
the case should pupil numbers continue to fall. Using the revised number
of places a financial profile of the school for the forthcoming medium
term is required in order to establish whether or not the school will be in
deficit at any point. In the event of the financial profile indicating a deficit
then there will be a need to identify the source which will bridge the gap.
Consideration also needs to be given to the governance arrangements of
the school when financial viability becomes a clear risk.

The report identifies the need for some additional places in some SRBs
and the funding for these will be found from the amount released from
the reduction in places in Meadowbank School. There will also need to
be consideration of any other financial impact on schools as a result of
increasing capacity in order to ensure that schools are appropriately
funded. This proposal is likely to generate savings for the delegated
schools revenue budget but this cannot be effectively quantified at this
stage and will need to be considered in detail.

Once identified, there will be a need for a future report which will outline
the intentions of the site currently occupied by Meadowbank Special
School in terms of potential capital receipt or alternative use.

Legal Implications

53.

4.

The recommended consultation would have to comply with Part 3 of the
School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and the School
Organisation Code.

Consultation gives rise to the legitimate expectation that the outcome of
the consultation will be considered in terms of determining the way
forward. Therefore consultation is required to be undertaken:

(1) when the proposals are at a formative stage (with no decision
having been made);

(i) on the basis that the consultation feedback will be properly
considered and could change the proposals; and

Page 147 Page 9 of 12



(i) with the provision of sufficient information and time to facilitate
expression of views by consultees and consideration of those
views prior to making any decision on the proposals.

55.  Following the outcome of the consultation further statutory notices may
need to be published.

HR Implications

56. A Human Resources Framework has been produced in consultation with
key stakeholders including head teachers, governors, representatives of
the diocesan authorities and the trade unions. It provides the basis for
managing the human resources issues associated with School
Organisation Planning and its purpose is to support governing bodies
and staff working in schools, through a variety of strategies and with the
ultimate aim of minimising compulsory redundancies across schools in
Cardiff.

57. In the period leading up to the closure of a school, as pupil numbers
reduce, the impact on the school budget and staff resources will need to
be managed through the School's Redeployment and Redundancy
Policy and Procedure, which has been developed in consultation with
trade unions and key stakeholders. The Council will also support the
Headteacher and governing body during this time, as they will need to
ensure that staff continue to be supported and motivated during what
may be a potentially difficult situation and the Headteacher is able to
manage recruitment and retention of employees.

58. A key aspiration for the Council is to achieve staff reductions as far as
possible through redeployment rather than voluntary redundancy or
compulsory redundancy means. Therefore the Council is committed to
maximising opportunities for school staff to secure employment in other
schools in Cardiff and will facilitate a redeployment process.

59.  Full support will be offered to the school staff and Governing Body of
Meadowbank School by HR People Services throughout the
reorganisation, this will involve attendance at consultation meetings,
meetings with school staff where appropriate and the circulation of a
Frequently Asked Questions document.

Statutory Screening Tool

60. This is attached at Appendix 4 and included the Equality Impact
Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment.

Equality Impact Assessment
61. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. The assessment

concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect a particular group
in society. This assessment will be reviewed following consultation.

Page 148 Page 10 of 12



Sustainability Assessment

62.

A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been
carried out in accordance with European Legislation. The assessment
confirms that the proposal is compatible with the environmental objective
identified the SEA of Cardiff's 215 Century: A Strategic Framework for a
School Building Improvement Programme.

Community Impact

63.

There is a need to respond to the trend away from special schools for
speech and language needs and to increase provision for primary aged
children presenting with challenging behaviours without impacting
adversely on the community. The following are taken into account when
considering a proposal: Public Open space,parkland, noise and traffic
congestion. Officers will work with schools and any community groups to
ensure that should the proposal proceed itwould avoid negative impacts
wherever possible.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1.

Authorise officers to consult on the proposal to remodel SEN provision
specifically to respond to the falling demand for speech and language
places and increased demand for provision of children with behavioural
social and emotional needs through:

e The closure of Meadowbank Special School by August 2017.
This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

e An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children
with speech and language needs

e A change in the use of the Allensbank SRB to provide additional
places for pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties

e Anincrease in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in
mainstream schools across the city

Note that prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will be
provided to the Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the
responses to those objections and recommendations for implementation
or otherwise of the proposal.

NICK BATCHELAR
Director
27 November 2015

The following appendices are attached:

Appendix 1 - Specialist Provision Review 2013, Overview and update of main

issues, July 2015

Page 149 Page 11 of 12



Appendix 2 - Specialist Provision Review 2013

Appendix 3- Provision for learners with social emotional and behavioural
needs- Summary of stakeholder views

Appendix 4 — Statutory Screening tool

Page 150 Page 12 of 12



Appendix 1
Specialist Provision Review 2013
Overview and update of main issues
EMT July 2015

Speech Language and Communication
Demand for speech and language special school and SRB places has fallen sharply since 2010, with the majority of SLCD
pupils now included in mainstream.

Primary provision for Behaviour Emotional Social Difficulties (BESD)

The Court special school is currently over-subscribed, with up to 8 additional places required.

The Court premises are not well-suited to educational purposes and there is no scope for extending the number of places
in the current accommodation.

Early intervention classes (Nurture and Revolving Door classes have been successful but there is insufficient capacity to
meet needs.

Secondary BESD
Greenhill- insufficient places for current demand. Accommodation is in poor condition, not well-suited to purpose.

16 pupils in Independent or other LA schools due to lack of in-county places at significant additional cost to the local
authority.

Greenbhill

PRU requires new accommodation within the next 2 years, as the Mynachdy/ Bryn y Deryn site has been marked for
redevelopment. Referrals have risen significantly and there is a need to consider additional PRU places.

Few options for BESD girls.

Amber issues

Provision for Complex Learning Difficulties

Riverbank and Woodlands accommodation is overcrowded.

Special school classes over-sized due to lack of space.

A range of SRBs across the city provide an alternative to special school placement.

Increasing incidence of complex learning needs, coupled with a growing population, will require additional SRB and/ or
special school places to meet the rise in demand.

Autism Spectrum Conditions (ASC)

Incidence and identification of ASC continues to rise.

No immediate issues identified in the review, largely because there has been a significant increase in provision over last 5
years: Marion Centre; Ty Gwyn; 3 new SRBs. These have absorbed the rise in demand, but are now full.

In next 3-5 years, Cardiff will need either: a) significantly more capacity for mainstream inclusion; b) a further growth in SRB
and special school places; or c) a combination of these approaches.

Cardiff High SRB (for SPLD Dyslexia)
The need for an SRB has diminished since delegation of SPLD funding to secondary schools.

Physical medical needs (PMED)

Growing number of children in mainstream schools with significant medical needs and/ or disabilities. The PMED classes at
Hollies have now closed reflecting the fall in demand for special school places.

Specialist teacher capacity to coordinate support in mainstream has been established from within existing resources. Better
information and support for families and schools.

Increased number of accessible schools achieved through SOP.

Specific Learning Difficulties (i.e. dyslexia)

Effective early intervention approaches established in primary.
Successful delegation of specialist support to secondary schools.
Number of statements has fallen sharply as a result.

Page 151



Appendix 2

Review of Specialist
Provision in Cardiff

November 2013

Review of Specialist Provision in Cardiff
Report to Education Strategy Board, November 2013

Page 152



Report Structure
1. Background and Introduction
1.1Purpose of this report
1.2Background and history of the review
1.3Conduct of the review 2010-11
2. Analysis of main challenges
2.1 Overview of review findings
2.2 Provision for pupils with Social Emotional Behavioural
Difficulties (SEBD)
2.3Provision for pupils with Severe Learning Difficulties
(SLD)
2.4Provision for pupils with Physical or Medical Needs, and
Hearing, Visual and Multi-Sensory Impairments (PMED, VI,
HI, MSI)
2.5Provision for pupils with Specific Speech Language and
Communication Difficulties (SLCD)
2.6Provision for pupils with complex needs in Welsh Medium
sector
2.7Provision for pupils with ASD
2.8Secondary provision for pupils with Specific Learning
Difficulties (SpLD) (i.e. dyslexia)
3. Summary of Challenges and Opportunities
Appendices: overview of data
1. Cardiff and Out of County Provision, average place costs
2. Cardiff Special Schools, budgets and place costs
3. Cardiff Special school accommodation, health provision
and transition issues
4. Specialist Resource Bases in Primary
5. Specialist Resource Bases in Secondary
6. Summary of actions undertaken since completion of the

review in 2011.

Review of Specialist Provision in Cardiff, 2013

Page 153

Page
3-4

10

14

16

19
21

23
25-35
25
27
28

30
33
35



1.

11

Background and introduction

Purpose of this report

To report on the current range of special school and specialist resource base
(SRB) places currently used to meet the needs of children with complex SEN,
with particular emphasis on:

Capacity and flexibility to meet current and future needs

Opportunities to reduce places where there is a fall in demand
Opportunities to re-invest in provision to meet areas of rising need and/
or cost

The extent to which accommodation is it for purpose’

The potential for reducing the use of Out of County placement

It is not the purpose of this report to make specific recommendations for
action. Options for moving forward will be developed following further
consultation with schools, parents, pupils and other partners. The intention is
to provide sufficient information to inform these discussions.

1.2

Background and history of the review

In 2006 the Citywide Investment Plan for Cardiff Schools was focused
on mainstream sufficiency and did not consider the needs of either the
7 special schools, 23 specialist resource bases or the PRU.

The omission of special schools and SRBs has continued in later
School Organisation Planning proposals and with hindsight, it is clear
that this omission has lead to missed opportunities. In the absence of
a Strategy for Specialist Provision Development to guide and inform
the process this has been unavoidable.

During 2007-10, two significant discrete projects were taken forward;
the rebuild of Ty Gwyn as a larger school on a different site and the
Marion Centre was also developed in response to increased demands
for Autism provision. Both of these developments have been
successful in addressing some areas of increasing need, but the lack
of a city-wide strategy means these projects have also highlighted the
widening disparity in the quality of accommodation and resources
between different areas of special school and SRB provision.

In 2009, in response to the concerns of Special School Headteachers,
the Chief Education Officer visited each school to collect Headteacher
views about the key issues for special school development in Cardiff.
The outcome of these conversations was an acknowledgement that
specialist provision should be included in the School Organisation
Planning Programme but that a shared vision and an agreed set of
goals were needed to inform the process.

In 2010 a review of specialist provision was initiated by the Education
Service. The review considered the full range of specialist provision,

Page 154 3



including the 7 special schools, 23 SRBs and the PRU, and the use of
placements in other Local Authorities and the Independent Sector.

e The review was completed in 2011 and initial feedback was provided to
the Special School Headteachers in February 2012. However, in the
context of significant service re-structure, there was a delay in the
process of reflecting on the review and developing a strategic plan.

1.3 Conduct of the Review

The main activities of the review were carried out in 2010-11. The review was
jointly overseen by Graham Dalton, School Organisation Planning Manager
and Jennie Hughes, SEN Provision manager.

Health and Children’s Services managers, parents and Headteachers were
consulted during the process.

The review has been multi disciplinary and multi agency in scope, and
considered buildings, facilities and access; data on current and projected pupil
needs; multi agency support for complex needs where relevant.

Although there have been delays in bringing the issues forward for wider
discussion, a range of issues have been taken forward in the intervening
period (summarised in Appendix 6).

Pupil and financial data has been revisited in 2013 and updated to reflect the
current position.

Page 155 4



Review of Specialist Provision in Cardiff, 2013
2. Analysis of main challenges
2.1 Overview of review findings

Special School Accommodation
Accommodation at the 7 special schools varies from excellent to inadequate.

Riverbank Significant over-crowding, inadequate facilities.

Woodlands Significant over-crowding, inadequate facilities.

Ty Gwyn High quality new build, with excellent facilities and capacity
for growth.

Meadowbank Generally good

The Hollies Generally good

The Court Inappropriate building, not fit for purpose

Greenhill Inappropriate building, not fit for purpose

Special school budgets

The special schools vary in size and economy of scale, which also affects the
average cost per pupil. (This is illustrated in Appendix 2.) The formulae and
pupil descriptors which determine the place funding level for each school were
set by the Welsh Office in the 1990s. It was agreed, with Special School
Headteachers, that these are out of date and work has started to consider
alternative approaches. However, in the current financial context this would
merely result in a redistribution of funding between schools.

Health provision
Resources held by the UHB are limited with allocations often being based on
historical models of need, rather than on current need.

Therapy and nursing provision is over-stretched in all settings, with the
exception of speech therapy provision for Specific Language Impairment
(Meadowbank and Allensbank). Currently in Greenhill and the Court schools
there is no therapy provision even though a proportion of SEBD pupils are
known to have unidentified speech and language needs.

The Local Authority funds some additional speech therapy provision, mainly
for ASD SRBs and in cases where tribunal appeals have required it.

In 2010-11 the Health Board managers indicated a willingness to work with
the Education Service to review health services across the special education
sector.

Whilst in the current financial climate, a review would result in a redistribution
of resources; the benefit of this would be that potentially a more needs and
child focussed allocation could be achieved. Further work needs to be done
in working towards more flexibility on the use of Health resources across the
city and further exploration into the cost benefits of joint funding of health
interventions to reduce the risk of the need for out of county placements.

Page 156 5



Childrens Services
Many pupils with complex SEN are also known to Childrens Services, either
as children with disabilities or as children in need or at risk.

The scope for collaborative work to improve the quality of services for these
children and to reduce risks needs to be further explored to inform a strategic
response to the issues raised in this report.

Opportunities may include:
e Greater use of special school facilities for respite or ‘wraparound’
provision.
e ‘Invest to save’ projects to reduce the risk of children needing to go out
of the authority to have their needs met.

Primary SRBs

The review of the Primary SRBs has progressed with the findings having been
shared with the relevant schools and are being addressed in partnership.
Most of the issues will be resolved within existing resources, by phasing out
some SRBs and reducing places in some areas of need, in order to increase
provision in other areas. This work is summarised in Appendix 4.

Secondary SRBs
The number of SRBs at secondary phase has been increased in the last three
years to meet increasing demand in some areas of need. There are other
areas where there is a need to reduce places, either in the SRBs, in the
special schools or in both. These issues are outlined and included in the
following sections.

Challenges and Opportunities

The sections below provide a brief outline of the major challenges in relation
to specialist provision, in the different areas of specialism and pupil needs,
with an indication of some of the opportunities to release or re-organise
resources.

The main activities of the review were carried out in 2010-11, with pupil and

financial data revisited in 2013 and updated to reflect the current position.

2.2 Provision for pupils with Social Emotional Behavioural Difficulties
(SEBD)

Accommodation

Both The Court and Greenhill special schools occupy unsuitable, inadequate

buildings. The location of both schools would suggest that they would be of

interest to developers.

The PRU operates over two main buildings, at Mynachdy and Howardian.
The accommodation is generally adequate, but the future of both buildings is

Page 157 6



under consideration as part of the council’s goal to reduce the number of
council premises across the city. Alternative accommodation will need to be
identified.

Pupil trends and demands: secondary

Currently SEBD presents the most significant area of pressure in terms of
requests for statutory assessment, placement and provision issues. There
has been a 37% increase in referrals for statutory assessment in 2013-14 and
an increasing number are for very young children, in the Foundation Phase of
education.

There is no Cardiff provision for girls with high tariff needs. This is a difficult to
provide for group for all local Authorities as the numbers tend to be very small.
Typically there are 0 to 4 girls who require provision at KS3/4. The age range
may be significant and it is challenging to maintain provision that may not be
needed continuously. Appropriate Out of County provision is not always
available therefore this presents Cardiff with a significant challenge.

There is no provision for SEBD pupils at post-16. Some pupils transfer to FE
places or to work-based learning, but this is not suitable for all pupils. A
number of Greenbhill leavers are at high risk of becoming NEET.

Cardiff is currently funding 16 young people in Headlands or Mounton House.
A redeveloped Greenhill with scope for girls and post 16 provision would help
to negate these risks.

Comparison of current costs:

Average cost Number of Total cost

per pupil pupils
Greenhill £18,708.39 56 £1,047,670
Mounton House £27,511 5 £137,555
Headlands £38,750 11 £426,256

In addition, there are currently 30 LAC pupils, with primary need of SEBD, in
Out of County specialist residential places, funded by Education, Childrens
Services and Health. There may be scope for collaborative in-county
solutions and early intervention to reduce out of county risks which should be

explored.

LAC pupils in residential specialist settings:

LAC pupils in Education Total cost to Typical cost per

specialist average cost per | Education pupil to

residential pupil Childrens

settings (shared Services and

funding) Health

30 £25,995 £779,842 £170,899
Page 158 7




Pupil trends and demands: primary
Pressures within the primary phase are similarly intense.

The Court is currently over number, and will need to limit the Revolving Door
places to 4 during the next two terms (usually offer 8 places) in order to
provide for additional long term placements.

The number of referrals for Revolving Door places at Glan yr Afon and The
Court is currently twice as high as capacity. If no action is taken, this will lead
to further requests for statutory assessment, increase the risk of exclusion and
put further pressure on capacity for long term places. Whilst this position
appears to be temporary, due to an unusually large cohort in Year 6, it should
resolve next year in primary, but the ‘bulge’ in pupils will now begin to put
further pressure on capacity at secondary phase.

Current places and costs:

Average cost Number of Total cost

per pupil pupils
The Court £20,515 30 long term £779,590

8 revolving door

Fairwater SRB £8,938 10 long term £89,380
Glan yr Afon, £10,056 | 8 revolving door £80,450
Revolving Door
class

Provision issues: Nurture Bases v. long term placements

The review of 2010-11 identified a wide consensus that we should continue to
move in the direction of early identification of SEBD in primary, with short term
‘nurturing’ provision focussed on building resilience for the child and sustained
support and advice to the mainstream school.

This policy will increase the opportunities for young children to succeed in
mainstream schools and has already reduced the demand for long term
places. Further development of nurture group provision has the potential to
further reduce statements and long term places in future.

Developments in Cardiff over the last 5 years illustrate this:

e Since 2008, 16 long term places for statemented pupils have been re-
designated as short term ‘Revolving Door’ places for pupils at School
Action+ (8 places at The Court and 8 places at Glan yr Afon SRB).

e The reduction in long term places has not been a problem as the
demand for long term places fell at the same rate as the availability of
RD places.

e The mainstream re-integration rate from Revolving Door is
approximately 60%

e Most of the 40% of pupils who do not re-integrate have been placed
under assessment and moved directly to appropriate long term

Page 159 8




provision, without the experience of ‘failure’ and exclusion that can
precede SEBD statutory assessment.

The majority of RD pupils have been from KS2.

The next step would be to establish full Nurture Group provision, which
would offer 3-4 term placements for Foundation Phase pupils.

In addition to the RD class, The Court also manages a re-integration
programme for long term statemented pupils. This has enabled
between 2 or 3 Year 6 pupils to transfer to secondary mainstream
schools over the last three years. 4 pupils are expected to transfer to
mainstream in September 2014.

Current position regarding nurture provision

As described above, considerable work has already been achieved to shift the
emphasis from long term SEBD places, to nurture or RD provision working
within current resources. However, there are barriers to moving forward that
will require some initial investment to resolve:

For this early intervention policy to be fully effective there is a need to
move beyond single term ‘Revolving Door’ places at KS2 to the full
Nurture Group model which provides places for 3-4 terms for
Foundation Phase pupils.

Glan yr Afon is working towards this model during 2013-14

Fairwater SRB is willing to move to Nurture group provision but there
are 10 long term pupils with a wide range of ages in the SRB. It’'s
unlikely that these pupils would be appropriate for nurture provision so
this could block the development for the next 3-5 years.

There are short term pressures on capacity in primary phase in 2013-
14. A temporary solution is being explored but this would require
funding for a temporary nurture/ RD class to manage current
pressures.

SEBD challenges:

1. Both special schools are operating in poor quality, inappropriate
accommodation, with limited scope to expand places.

2. The PRU will require alternative accommodation within next few
years.

3. There is a lack of provision for girls in KS3 and KS4.

4. There is no provision for post-16 pupils.

5. Early Intervention through RD or Nurture Provision has been
successful within current constraints. Further development is
hampered by the need to work within resources.

SEBD opportunities:

1. Potential value of the special school sites.

2. Potential for reducing out of county spend and re-investing in Cardiff
provision.

3. ltis already clear that RD and/ or Nurture Group provision is a
successful early intervention strategy that can reduce the demand
for long term placements in Primary.

Page 160 9



2.3 Provision for pupils with Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD)

Accommodation
There are significant overcrowding issues at both special schools.

At Riverbank there is a lack of non-teaching space; classrooms are small and
overcrowded, designed for open plan team teaching. Toilet and changing
facilities are inadequate for the needs of the pupils, 50% of whom have
toileting/ changing needs.

At Woodlands there is severely limited outdoor space and the school relies on
several demountables in poor condition.

There has been work on accommodation at many of the SRBs, although there
remain some challenges to be addressed.

Pupil trends and implications for places: primary

Prior to 2006 Cardiff funded a significant number of places in ‘MLD Units’ but
demand had fallen significantly by this time. The greater capacity of
mainstream schools to include learners with mild to moderate difficulties had
lead to a sharp fall in demand. In 2006 the number of funded places was
reduced significantly, from 250 to 140 in primary, and MLD units were ceased
altogether in secondary schools. Funding for MLD was delegated to schools
with the result that the number of pupils requiring a statement for MLD has
decreased significantly and continues to fall.

Riverbank, Woodlands and the remaining SRBs now focus on pupils with
severe learning difficulties, many of whom have additional complex needs
such as delayed speech, language and communication, physical or medical
needs. As predicted in 2006, the demand for places has continued to fall, as
the older ‘MLD’ pupils move on, but the needs of the younger population are
significantly more complex.

In 2011 there were approximately 40 ‘empty places’ per year in the primary
SRBs, but the bases were finding the wide range of needs, with a mixture of
SLD and ASD pupils placed together, very challenging.  In 2013 the SRBs
are being re-organised to eliminate empty places, create additional ASD
provision and to reduce the range of need in a single SRB. The current plan
is to reduce SRB places for SLD to 64 by September 2015 (there will need to
be an increase in the number of ASD specific places to facilitate this).

Riverbank’s numbers have remained stable at 70.
Pupil trends and implications for places: secondary
Most of the MLD units in secondary schools were phased out in 2006, during

the re-organisation of the primary units. Whitchurch SRB continues, with
some post-16 classes at Cantonian.

Page 161 10



The further fall in primary SLD demand is now being felt at secondary phase,
where the number of ‘empty places’ is high. This can be seen in the tables
below. Secondary places will need to be reduced by 30.

Demand for places in Whitchurch SRB has dropped significantly over the last
two years.

Demand for Woodlands places has remained stable at 130 places.

Cantonian provides an SRB class for post-16 pupils with SLD. This class was
originally established to provide for a ‘bulge’ year moving through secondary.
It was anticipated this class would phase out by 2014, but this year it has
been necessary to admit some pupils returning from an out of county setting.
Like Whitchurch, the classes are not at full capacity.

SLD places 2013-14, by NCY

Emp Total
1 (11 |1]|1] Tot ty places
School RI1|2|8|4|5]|6]7]8]9 0o|1]|2]|3]|4 al plac | availa
es ble
(SLD pop only)
BrynHafodSRB | 0 [ O | 2 [ 1 | 5] 0|1
LlanedeynSRB | 3 [ 3 | 3 |2 [ 3] 2] 2 18
Llanishen Fach
SRB 1{0]1[4]2[3]2 13
Trelai SRB 0OfO0jJOJO]2]2
Windsor Clive
SRB 0OfO0]2|3]3[2]1 11
Marlborough
SRB 1 {112 [3]1[4]2 14
11101111
Riverbank 518041 ]0]1 69
138
111 1
Whitchurch SRB 4(5]0[0]9]1]2 51 19 70
Cantonian (SLD)
SRB 2 |6 8 12 20
111121111 [1]1
Woodlands High 4 0 1149|8132 -2 130
191 29 220
1 11212 |2]2 1 11232222 1
Total population o(2|0|7]|7|3|9|8|4|0|7 |07 ]|T7]8]32

Projected secondary demand 2014-19

Yr 14
Secondary projections 2014-19 | v¢7 | vrg | vro Yr Yr Yr Yr (w'lands | Total
10 11 12 13
only)
2014-15 19 18 24 30 27 20 27 19 184
2015-16 23 19 18 24 30 27 20 14 175
2016-17 27 23 19 18 24 30 27 11 179

Page 162 11




2017-18 27 27 23 19 18 24 30 17 185

2018-19 20 27 27 23 19 18 24 20 178

Places and comparative costs, SLD

Average cost Number of Total cost

per pupil pupils
Primary SRB £9,254 68 £629,272
Riverbank £14,744 70 £1,032,120
Whitchurch SRB £10,357 51 £528,230
Cantonian SRB £16,981 8 £135,854
Woodlands £13,477 130 £1,752,060

14-19 Opportunities

Woodlands has developed a range of accredited entry level courses and
work-based learning opportunities for their pupils. It is difficult to provide the
same range of opportunities in a mainstream setting, with smaller groups of

pupils.

Cantonian SRB has worked closely with Woodlands to offer a similar range of
opportunities. Collaboration between Whitchurch and Woodlands is les
developed as the complex SLD population has only reached Y12 in 2013-14.
There are a small but significant number of mainstream pupils who would also
benefit from accessing this provision.

Further development of 14-19 pathways at Woodlands is hampered by the
physical constraints and over-crowding.

Parental choice, inclusion issues

Parental choice is the determining factor for most SLD placements. As a
result, it should not be assumed that pupils in the SRBs are less complex than
those in special schools.

Many parents prefer a special school setting for the secure environment, the
opportunity for their child to be among peers with similar needs and the
expertise offered by a special school. Many want this to be combined with
inclusion opportunities and this can be achieved through partnership with
mainstream schools, but can be resource intensive and complicated as it
means transfer between sites.

Some parents want their child to learn in a mainstream environment and to
have social and learning opportunities with mainstream peers. Obviously
these parents also expect a secure environment and the benefits of specialist
support.

The primary SRBs have varied in the extent to which they can include SRB
pupils in mainstream lessons. The current work with primary SRB heads
includes discussion about how a more consistent approach might be achieved
in future, without the need for additional funding for each individual pupil.

Page 163 12




At Whitchurch the opportunities for inclusion in mainstream classes are
restricted as the school is over-subscribed. Adding an individual or small
group of pupils to a mainstream class, with the SRB staff to support them,
would not be realistic.

At Cantonian the level of mainstream integration is better, and is easier to
achieve in a setting where mainstream admissions are below capacity.

Mainstream inclusion and implications for school performance data

The effect of large groups of SLD pupils on Pupil Outcome data is an issue for
secondary schools. SRB pupils cannot be excluded from the data and this
can have a significant impact on end of year results.

Staff CPD in SRBs

The review showed that it can be difficult to secure the necessary expertise,
experience and CPD for special class staff in an SRB. Many teaching staff
were originally teachers of ‘MLD units’ and have found the complex SLD
population a challenge. Where schools may be facing staff reductions, they
may not have the luxury of advertising and appointing experienced specialist
staff when an SRB post becomes vacant: in some cases, mainstream
teachers have taken on the role with minimal training or experience.
Teachers in SRBs can also feel ‘isolated’ as their classroom practice may be
radically different to that of their colleagues so there are fewer opportunities
for peer support.

There is a need to develop common CPD opportunities across SRBs and
special schools.

SLD challenges:

1. Significant accommodation pressures at both special schools

2. Some accommodation issues in SRBs

3. Demand is falling overall. Place numbers are being reduced in
primary, but will need to be reduced at secondary in the near future.

4. Parental expectations for both inclusion and specialism need to be
borne in mind.

5. There are significant CPD challenges, particularly for the SRBs.
Further development of Post 14 opportunities

SLD opportunities:
1. The opportunity to reduce places at secondary level may release
resources to resolve some of these challenges.
2. Opportunities for common CPD.

Page 164 13



2.4  Provision for pupils with Physical or Medical Needs, and Hearing,
Visual and Multi-Sensory Impairments (PMED, VI, HI, MSI)

PMED and disability access

Special school places

The maijority of special school places are at Ty Gwyn. Two classes remain at
The Hollies: historically these places have been regarded as more appropriate
for ‘higher functioning’ pupils although there is an overlap with Ty Gwyn in
practice. Classroom facilities at the Hollies are poor in comparison to Ty
Gwyn, particularly the toilet facilities. There are on-site nursing and therapy
services at The Hollies but these have been reduced in recent years.

Pupils in mainstream

There are growing numbers of children with physical and medical needs in
mainstream schools. In most respects their needs are well met. However,
there have been some issues in relation to effective forward planning for
disability access.

Consultation with parents shows that lack of information has been a key issue.
Many of our reasonably accessible primary schools feed secondaries with
significant barriers to disability access. This can result in a child being unable
to transfer to secondary with their friends or significant pressure to undertake
significant building work in a short time scale. Although the LA is required to
improve access across all schools, the statutory requirements allow for a
strategic approach over time. School Organisation Planning is successfully
improving disability access in many schools but better information needs to be
made available about this aspect of the programme.

Parents have asked for better information about which schools are accessible;
which schools will be improved in the next few years and which accessible
primaries feed accessible secondaries. They have also asked for more
transparency about the progress the LA is making in improving disability
access across all schools.

Current Admissions and Transport policies can be barriers to a more strategic
approach to disability access. Not all disabled children require a statement of
SEN, and the current policy is to introduce IDPs in place of statements in
Early Years. A number of children will need to be given priority for admission,
or be provided with transport, so they can access a more accessible school,
but current policies will only prioritise children with statements.

Page 165 14



PMED Challenges:
1. Uneven special school facilities, including over-stretched health
resources for this area of need.
2. Updating the strategy regarding disability access and providing better
information for parents.

PMED Opportunities:
1. School Organisation Programme

Hearing and Visual Impairments (HI/VI)
There are well-established SRBs for HI pupils in both primary and secondary
phases, at Coed Glas and Llanishen High.

There is no primary SRB for VI. The secondary SRB for VI was formerly at
Llanederyn High School. Purpose-built facilities have been included in the
new build St Teilo’s. However, the lack of an effective base for new Year 7
admissions for the last few years has resulted in the complex pupils being
distributed across several local secondaries. This was anticipated. The SRB
staff were incorporated into the central team and are providing an effective
peripatetic service to support the local schools. There is a need to consider
the future role and development of the SRB.

Provision for pre-school, mainstream and special school pupils with HI and VI
are severely over-stretched as this is a growing area of need. Cardiff is also
affected by high mobility rates, with significant numbers of EU arrivals with
complex Sensory Impairments.

There is a statutory minimum qualification required for this area of work. In
the absence of national training initiatives, the specialist teacher population is
a ‘mature population’, with very few teachers under forty and very few
teachers entering this field of specialism. Future staffing and retention issues
need to be considered, as well as capacity, perhaps on a regional basis.

HI/VI/MSI Challenges:
1. Re-establishing an SRB for pupils with VI
2. Addressing the shortfall in support for pupils with sensory impairments
in mainstream and special schools settings
3. Recruitment and retention issues

HI/VI/MSI Opportunities:
1. Purpose built accommodation for the VI SR at St Teilo’s School

Page 166 15



2.5 Provision for pupils with Specific Speech Language and
Communication Difficulties (SLCD)

Context: Improved capacity in mainstream schools and collaborative
work therapy/ specialist teacher teams

Over the last few years, Speech and Language Links have been rolled out in
the majority of primary schools. Secondary Language Links is now being
rolled out to Secondary Schools. Most schools now have at least one
ELKLAN trained teacher and Teaching Assistant. As a result, mainstream
schools have considerably more skill and capacity to address language
delays, to identify specific difficulties early and to make good quality referrals
for these children. They are also better equipped to implement the statements
of children with more complex needs.

The specialist teacher service and speech and language therapy service have
been collaborating on workloads for two-three years, in order to provide a
more efficient and effective service, with less ‘waste’ and ‘doubling up’ of
effort. The services have now established a single referral pathway that will
further improve collaboration and efficiency.

This work at stages 1-4 of the ‘pyramid of provision’ constitutes a significantly
stronger context for specialist provision.

Specialist provision: pupil needs and parental expectations

Pupils with specific language impairments have good potential to re-integrate
to a mainstream class, providing they are well supported and receive the early
input they need. Consequently, specialist provision and speech and
language therapy is mainly targeted at primary phase. The expectation is that
the majority of pupils will make good progress and reintegrate fully to
mainstream education by Year 7 or earlier.

The transition from a small class specialist setting at Allensbank SRB or
Meadowbank Special School directly to a mainstream secondary school is
challenging and has lead to high parental anxiety about support in
mainstream secondary.

Meadowbank and Allensbank
Both settings have reduced in capacity over the last 6-7 years.

Places at Allensbank were reduced from 30 to 20 in 2007, due to a fall in
demand. Places have been further reduced to 16 in 2013-14 as part of the
Primary SRB review. A further fall in demand has made this possible, and the
smaller class size will facilitate a stronger programme of mainstream
reintegration during the primary phase.

Cardiff places at Meadowbank have remained stable at 30, but the school has
been affected by the Vale’s decision to phase out the ten places formerly
funded by them. Vale policy is now to support all SLCD children in
mainstream or SRBs. Two Vale pupils remain but will have left the school by
September 2015.

Page 167 16



Demand for specialist placement is expected to fall further, as the capacity of
mainstream schools continues to improve, and as earlier reintegration to
mainstream is achieved.

‘Virtual’ Secondary SRB

Whitchurch SRB was originally funded to include pupils with SLCD, but it is no
longer regarded as appropriate due to the difficulties providing mainstream
integration opportunities, as described above. The shift in pupil needs
towards SLD, rather than MLD, also makes the base inappropriate for pupils
with specific language impairments.

Following consultation with parents in 2012, a ‘virtual’ resource base has been
established for pupils from Meadowbank, and, where appropriate, from
Allensbank. This model will ensure pupils continue to receive school based
therapy if this is indicated, and will be supported by specialist teaching
assistants. It will ‘follow the child’ to their local secondary school, rather than
be established in any single school.

The ‘virtual base’ is in early stages of development but includes pupils at
Cardiff High and Fitzalan, Llanishen and Cathays. These schools will not
become permanent bases: if pupils move on they will no longer operate as
part of the SRB partnership. Future pupils will not automatically be proposed
to these schools but to the local secondary of their parents’ choice.

The goal is to build parental confidence in secondary mainstream placement,
and to enable earlier reintegration to mainstream during the primary phase.

Places and comparative costs, SLCD

Average cost Number of Total cost

per pupil pupils
Allensbank SRB £9254 16 £148,064
Meadowbank £24,016 32 £792,550
‘Virtual SRB’ £11,513 8 £92,110

SLCD Challenges
1. Continuing to facilitate reintegration
2. Continuing to address the fall in demand for special class places

SLCD Opportunities
1. Improved capacity to meet needs at stages 1-4
2. Improved collaboration between specialist teachers and therapy
services.

Page 168 17



2.6 Provision for pupils with complex needs in Welsh Medium sector

A separate and intensive review of Welsh medium provision was carried out in
2010, which informed the full review of 2010-11.

Pupil trends

There are very low numbers with complex needs in WM, which makes it
impossible to provide the same range of options to English medium context.
However, it is important to consider the needs of Welsh medium in every area
of need, as an embedded practice, not an ‘add on’.

The demand for WM mainstream is rising steadily, and there may be the need
to consider Welsh medium special school places in future, perhaps on a
regional basis.

A small number of Welsh first language children attend EM special schools.
Although numbers are too low to provide a WM ‘class’, it is possible to provide
a stronger Welsh language context through the deployment of Welsh
speaking staff. A present there is no formal policy to promote this approach.

Most pupils with complex needs are included successfully in the mainstream
Welsh medium schools, with support and advice from special school outreach
or the specialist teacher teams.

Coed y Gof and Glantaf SRBs
Both SRBs successfully support a wide range of needs.

The SRBs are in different clusters which can create transition difficulties for
some pupils. Good collaboration and transition planning between the two
schools usually succeeds in preventing and resolving any difficulties.

Physical space is limited in the primary SRB and there is currently no scope to
extend in this location. Future investment in new WM schools may provide an
opportunity to address both these issues by transferring the provision to
purpose-built accommodation within the same transition cluster.

WM challenges:
1. Limited space in the primary SRB
2. The SRBs are not in the same transition cluster
3. Monitoring demand for special school places and ensuring a range of
options s available: supported mainstream places; EM special school
with Welsh language input; a special school class if there is sufficient
demand.

WM Opportunities:
School Organisation Programme

Page 169 18



2.7  Provision for pupils with ASD

Pupil demands

In Cardiff there has been a significant rise in identified need in this area over
the last 10 years. The numbers of pupils diagnosed with autism continues to
increase, with the number of places in specialist provision being extended
each year to meet the demand.

There has been significant investment in additional provision, partnership
working and risk management so that ASD is no longer the most pressing
area in terms of demand and out of county risks. However, the continued
growth in this area needs to be planned and monitored carefully.

Extended SRB and special school places

The development of the Marion Centre and extension of Ty Gwyn has
resolved the over-dependence on places in the Vale special schools and
assisted in managing the out of county risks associated with Ty Coryton. The
establishment of a third secondary SRB at Llanishen in 2013 provides the
required flexibility to meet the projected needs over the next 4-5 years.

Developments in the Vale

Cardiff has reached agreement with the Vale regarding future placements in
the new ‘Super School’ that will replace Ashgrove and Erw’r Delyn. Cardiff
places have been falling gradually in recent years and are expected to
stabilise at 40 places by 2016 if trends continue. However, the trends may
change if parents begin to request the new school in preference to The Hollies
or Ty Gwyn.

Primary places

There is one ASD-specific primary SRB at Pentrebane. The Primary SRB
review demonstrated the need for a second base, to avoid combining pupils
with ASD and SLD in the same classes. This can be achieved within the
existing primary SRB budget as there are two bases phasing out over the next
two to three years, releasing the funding for a new base.

Many complex pupils are successfully included in primary mainstream, but
then require an SRB to cope with the demands of secondary school.

The numbers with complex needs identified pre-school continues to grow, with
additional places funded at the Hollies each year. The Hollies has reached
capacity in terms of accommodation and will struggle to extend further.

Secondary places

Places are extended each year at the Marion Centre, Ty Gwyn and in
secondary SRBs. Reduced reliance on Ashgrove accounts for some of this
growth, but increased levels of need is the key issue.

Currently there is a good range of provision at secondary phase, with capacity
for growth to meet the rising numbers transferring from primary.

Page 170 19



Health provision

The provision of speech and language therapy and occupational therapy for
ASD pupils is over-stretched. A small but significant group of parents
challenges this each year, often commissioning private reports to strengthen
their case. The Local Authority can be vulnerable to SEN Tribunal appeals as
the ultimate responsibility for ensuring children’s therapy needs are met lies
with Education. If provision cannot be secured from the UHB then the LA is
obliged to commission additional therapy from the UHB or from private
practitioners.

ASD Challenges:
1. Meeting the demand for additional primary special school places.
2. Monitoring and planning for future growth
3. Therapy provision.

ASD Opportunities:

1. Re-organisation of the Primary SRBs, releasing resources for a second
ASD SRB.

Page 171 20



2.8 Secondary provision for pupils with Specific Learning
Difficulties (SpLD) (i.e. dyslexia)

Secondary SRB for SpLD: historical context
The SRB was established in the 1990s following a spate of successful tribunal
appeals for private residential colleges for pupils with dyslexia.

At that time there was little expertise in mainstream schools to respond to
dyslexia/ SpLD. This left the LA unable to defend the Tribunal appeals with a
convincing package of support in our own schools.

The SRB was successful in attracting parents who might otherwise have
lodged appeals. Pupils have made good progress at the SRB and it has set a
high standard in support for this group of learners.

The Literacy Strategy and delegation of SpLD resources

In recent years Cardiff has developed significant expertise in effective literacy
interventions, and in understanding and supporting pupils with dyslexia/ SpLD.
The Learning Intervention Team has provided specialist teaching input to
pupils with statements, and training to mainstream schools to enable the
development of focussed literacy interventions.

The reliance on statements of SEN to identify and meet needs, resulted in the
Learning Intervention Team being increasingly tied to secondary aged pupils,
restricting the scope for capacity building training programmes and for early
intervention at primary phase.

In 2008 the Learning Intervention Team was therefore re-organised.
Resources for specialist teaching were delegated to the secondary schools.
All secondary schools now have qualified SpLD teachers to support pupils
with dyslexia/ SpLD. This support is available without a statement.

As part of the Cardiff Literacy Strategy, the Learning Intervention Team re-
focussed on training and capacity building at primary phase, with the goal of
achieving functional literacy for all pupils by the end of Y6. This strategy is
proving successful and the rate of functional literacy has improved each year.

Impact on the secondary SRB

These developments have changed the context in which the SRB is
functioning and raises questions about whether there will continue to be a
need for the base in future years.

With all secondary schools resourced to provide specialist teaching and
support to pupils with dyslexia, the reasons for SRB placement are
increasingly linked to parental demand, rather than clear evidence of more
complex need than pupils attending their local secondary school.

Since delegation, there has been an unanticipated difficulty when pupils reach

the ‘cease criteria’ for the SRB. If transferred out of the base they will, as
pupils from outside the natural catchment areas, impact unfairly on the Cardiff

Page 172 21



High School’s delegated SpLD resources. If maintained within the base, the
pupils are receiving a ‘gold standard’ level of specialist support, despite
having reached the cease criteria.

SpLD Challenges:
1. Monitoring the need for SRB places.

Page 173 22



v/ T abed

Review of Specialist Provision in Cardiff, 2013
3. Summary of Challenges and Opportunities

SEBD challenges:

1. The Court and Greenbhill
special schools are
operating in poor quality,
inappropriate
accommodation, with
limited scope to expand
places.

2. The PRU will require
alternative accommodation
within next few years.

3. There is a lack of provision
for girls in KS3 and KS4.

4. There is no provision for
post-16 pupils.

5. Early Intervention through
RD or Nurture Provision
has been successful within
current constraints. Further
development is hampered
by the need to work within
resources.

SLD challenges:

1. Significant accommodation
pressures at both special
schools

2. Some accommodation
issues in SRBs

3. Demand is falling overall.
Place numbers are being
reduced in primary, but will
need to be reduced at
secondary in the near
future.

4. Parental expectations for
both inclusion and
specialism need to be
borne in mind.

5. There are significant CPD
challenges, particularly for
the SRBs.

6. Further development of
Post 14 opportunities

PMED Challenges:

1. Uneven quality of special
school facilities, including
over-stretched health
resources for this area of
need.

2. Updating the strategy

regarding disability access

and providing better
information for parents.

HI/VI/MSI Challenges:

1. Re-establishing an SRB for

pupils with VI

2. Addressing the shortfall in
support for pupils with
sensory impairments in
mainstream and special
schools settings

3. Recruitment and retention of

specialist teachers

SLCD Challenges

1. Continuing to facilitate
reintegration

2. Continuing to address the
fall in demand for special
class places

WM challenges:

1. Limited space in the
primary SRB

2. The primary and secondary

ASD Challenges:

1. Meeting the demand for
additional primary special
school places.

SpLD Challenges:

1. Monitoring the need for SRB

places.

23




G/ T obed

SRBs are not in the same 2. Monitoring and planning for
transition cluster future growth

Monitoring demand for 3. Therapy provision.

special school places and
ensuring a range of options
s available: supported
mainstream places; EM
special school with Welsh
language input; a special
school class if there is
sufficient demand.

Opportunities:

Potential value of The Court and Greenhill special school sites.

Potential for reducing out of county spend and re-investing in Cardiff provision, especially in the area of SEBD provision.
Evidence that RD and/ or Nurture Group provision is a successful early intervention strategy.

Opportunity to reduce SLD places at secondary level.

Opportunities for common CPD across special schools and SRBs

School Organisation Programme

Purpose built accommodation for the VI SR at St Teilo’s School

Improved capacity to meet needs at Stages 1-4, reducing the need for statements and Stage 5 provision for some areas of
need.

Improved collaboration between speech and language specialist teachers and therapy services.

Re-organisation of the Primary SRBs, releasing resources for a second ASD SRB.

24




9/, T abed

Review of Specialist Provision in Cardiff, 2013

Appendices

Appendix 1: Summary of placement costs, Cardiff and Out of County Provision

Cardiff maintained specialist provision places

Type of Provision Cardiff funded places Budget 2013-14 Average cost per pupil Range of per pupil costs
7 Cardiff maintained special
schools 541 £10,687,000 £19,593 £13,477- £24,141
23 Cardiff maintained SRBs
345 £4,413,121 £12,792 £9,254- £24, 153
Pupil Referral Unit
44 £542,050 £12,319 N/A

Specialist places in schools maintained by other Local Authorities

Type of Provision Cardiff funded Total cost 2013-14 Average cost per Notes
places
Vale Special Schools Shared use of these schools dates back to Local
64 £1,882,400 £28,631 | Government reorganisation.
Mounton House Special Pupils placed 2012-13 due to lack of scope to
School 5 £137,555 £27,511 | extend Greenhill places. These places also incur
significant transport costs.
Other LAC pupils fostered in other areas, or lack of in
17 £238,372 £14,022 | county provision.
Although these placements are in LA schools, the
86 £2,252,827 £29,196 | average costs can be significantly higher than
comparable provision in Cardiff.

25




/1T abed

Specialist Places in the Independent sector

Type of Provision Cardiff funded Budget 2013-14 Average cost per Notes
places pupil
LAC: Independent Out of Pupils with high tariff needs requiring specialist
County 33 £890,492 £26,984 | residential places. Majority are SEBD or ASD.
Non-LAC Independent
special schools 22 £1,070,899 £48,677 | Placement via Tribunal appeals or lack of in-
county provision (e.g. Headlands)
Non-LAC Independent E.g. funded places in Kings Monkton, Howell’s or
mainstream 14 £156,389 £11,170 | Cathedral Schools.
Funded nursery settings N.B. These pupils transfer to maintained settings
17 £17,385 £1,022 | in reception.
ABA Home Programmes
2 £30,735 £15,367 | Tribunal appeals.
Tuition/ alternative education
(pupils not on a school roll) Reflects insufficient capacity to provide for pupils
8 £135,207 £16,900 | with high tariff SEBD particularly girls.
96 £2,301,107 (Not meaningful) | The first two groups represent the greatest

opportunities for ‘investing to save’ in Cardiff
provision.

Comments

Significant investment in some areas of Cardiff provision (Ty Gwyn and Marion Centre) in recent years has reduced the risk of
Independent placement in some areas, notably ASD, PMLD and PMED.

The main opportunities to further reduce out of county spend and re-invest in Cardiff schools are in the area of SEBD.

26




8/ T abed

Appendix 2: Comparison of Cardiff special school places and per pupils costs

School Age range Primary Av. place No. of Total pupil based | Formula Total budget 2013- | Total per pupil
Need funding per places funding funding other 12 cost
pupil 2013-14
Ty Gwyn (3-19) PMLD £16,462.00 131 £2,160,640.00 £954,220.00 £3,114,860.00 £23,732.27
ASD
Woodlands (11-19) SLD £9,000.00 130 £1,169,960.00 £582,100.00 £1,752,060.00 £13,477.38
Riverbank (4-11) SLD £9,408.00 70 £658,530.00 £373,590.00 £1,032,120.00 £14,744.57
Meadowbank (4-11) SLCD £12,462.00 33 £409,130.00 £383,420.00 £792,550.00 £24,016.67
The Hollies (4-11) ASD £16,112.00 83 £1,329,270.00 £608,840.00 £1,938,110.00 £23,350.72
PMED
The Court (4-11) SEBD £11,929.00 38 £453,310.00 £326,280.00 £779,590.00 £20,515.53
Greenhill (11-16) SEBD £12,381.00 56 £693,360.00 £354,310.00 £1,047,670.00 £18,708.39
541 £10,456,960.00

27




6.1 abed

Appendix 3: Special school accommodation, provision and transition issues

School Accommodation Health Services Transition Other

Ty Gwyn High quality, purpose built Specialist nursing, OT, Provides across 3-19 age Scope for out of school hours
accommodation physio and SLT on-site range. provision in partnership with

provision. Also provides a secondary Children Services and health
transition for some Hollies
pupils.

Woodlands Severely limited outdoor Liaison with OT, physio. Half | Admits pupils from Scope to further develop
space. Several day consultative service from | Riverbank, primary SRBs post-16 provision for pupils
demountables in poor SLT. and mainstream. from across the city, but
condition. accommodation prevents

this.

Riverbank Severe over-crowding in Liaison with OT, physio. Half | Pupils usually transfer to
classrooms. Lack of non- day consultative service from | Woodlands.
teaching space. SLT.

Meadowbank Some small classrooms but On-site speech and language | Pupils used to transfer to Transition from a small
generally a high standard of | therapy service. Whitchurch: this became an special school to mainstream
accommodation, with many issue due to lack of secondary is extremely
specialist curriculum areas integration opportunities. challenging. It results in very
and non-teaching spaces. Following consultation with high expectations from

parents in 2012, the LA has parents re support levels,
developed the concept of a and pupils who are highly
‘virtual SRB’ to resolve this. vulnerable socially.

The Hollies Generally good quality of Specialist nursing, OT, Historically, most Hollies The PMED provision at

accommodation for ASD.
Very poor quality toilet and

specialist facilities for PMED.

physio and SLT on-site
provision. However, this is
being reduced by UHB.

pupils have transferred to
vale specials schools:
Ashgrove for ASD and Erw'r
Delyn for PMED.

Crisis re lack of spaces at
Ashgrove was a driver for
development of Ty Gwyn
ASD provision and for the
Marion Centre. Vale schools
continue to be an option, but

Hollies is small and facilities
are poor.

28




08T abed

Cardiff is less dependent on
this provision than formerly.

The Court Generally agreed that the Liaison with CAMHS. No Pupils transfer to Greenhill or | 8 of the 35 places are used
school accommodation is not | speech and language or to mainstream with support. for revolving door places for
‘fit for purpose’. other provision. The school runs a re- KS2 pupils at SA+.
integration class to support
re-integration prior to
secondary.
Greenhill Generally agreed that the Liaison with CAMHS. No Pupils transfer from The Accommodation limits scope

school accommodation is not
‘fit for purpose’.

speech and language or
other provision.

Court, or from mainstream
secondary, following place
breakdown, often mid-year.
Pupils move on to college or
work-based learning. Some
pupils with significant
learning difficulties are
unable to access these
options.

for further development of
the school. The school has
the expertise to develop
provision for girls, post-16
provision, and high tariff
pupils at risk of becoming
looked after. Lack of
provision in these areas
results in rising out of county
costs.

29




T8T abed

Appendix 4: Specialist Resource Bases in Primary

The review of 2011 has resulted in a set of broadly agreed priorities and actions that have been discussed and agreed with the
Primary SRB Headteachers and some actions are underway to resolve some of these issues. The range of provision is
summarised below, followed by a summary of the main issues and actions required, or already in train, to resolve these.

Specialist Resource Bases in mainstream primary schools

Schools Phase Range of needs Number of places Cost per place
(NB this is the agreed
standard number: several
bases are currently over
number)
Bryn Hafod Primary School 8 (Proposed increase to 16 from £10,182
SLD September 2014)
Llanederyn Primary School 16 £9,254
Many pupils also have related
Llanishen Fach Primary School needs such as delayed 16 £9,254
Marlborough Primary School Primary development of language and 16 £9,254
(4-11) communication; emotional, medical
Trelai Primary School or sensory needs. Phased closure: no further £14,406
admissions
Windsor Clive Primary School Phased closure: no further £12,088
admissions
Ysgol Coed y Gof Primary ASD and SLD 10 (Welsh medium) £11,694
(4-11)
Allensbank Primary School Primary 16 £9,254
(4-11) SLCD
Coed Glas Primary HI 16 £14,070
(4-11)
Pentrebane Primary School 16 £12,965
Primary ASD

30



28T obed

A.N.Other Primary School (4-11) (First admissions September 2014) tbc
Fairwater Primary School Primary
(7-11) SEBD 8 £8,938
Many pupils also have related
needs such as speech and
Glan yr Afon Primary School Foundation Phase language disorders or delays;
(4-7) delayed literacy and numeracy. 8 Nurture Base places £10,056

Main issues

Actions planned or required

Demand has fallen over the last several years and a high
number of ‘empty’ places were being funded.

Two SRBs with low numbers have opted for ‘phased closure’

Some classes were designated for 10 pupils others for 8
although the review demonstrated the classes were equally
complex.

The standard class number for all SRBs has now been
standardised at 8, although there several classes still over that
number in 2013-14.

There is sufficient demand/need for a second primary SRB for
ASD.

Options for creating a second base, or converting from an
existing base, are being considered.

The SEBD bases have been developed in different ways and for
different purposes. There is a need for early intervention
through Nurture Base provision.

Glan yr Afon SRB is converting to a Nurture Base in 2013-14.
Fairwater would be willing to convert but there are 10 long term
pupils who would need alternative placement.

These developments would be best considered as part of a
wider strategic plan to include The Court, Greenhill and the
PRU.

The skills and qualifications of SRB teachers and TAs vary
widely from school to school. Practice and expertise is also
uneven.

Additional EP time has been allocated this year, to support SRB
improvement planning.
Proposal to establish a training action group of SRB heads.

31




€8T abed

As a result of parental pressure, some pupils have been
individually funded for mainstream integration. Many others
would benefit from integration but the cost of individual support
for each child would be prohibitive and cancels out the economy
of scale of an SRB.

Discussions with the SRB heads around how mainstream
integration can be secured as standard for all SRB pupils by re-
thinking the overall staff ratios and operation of the bases.

Standard of accommodation varies widely. Even in schools
which have benefitted from significant SOP investment the SRB
may not have been factored into the wider project. Potential for
improvement also varies widely.

There is a need for SRB numbers and accommodation to be
factored into all future SOP projects as standard.

32




8T abed

Appendix 5: Specialist Resource Bases in Secondary

Since the review was carried out in 2011, there have been some steps taken to fill ‘gaps’ in secondary provision through new
developments, but no work has been taken forward collectively with the SRB Headteachers as has happened with the Primary

SRBs.
Specialist Resource Bases in mainstream secondary schools
Schools Phase Range of needs Number of places Cost per place
(NB This is the actual
number currently on roll: in
most cases there is
flexibility in line with need/
demand)
Cantonian High School 18 £20,785
Secondary
Cathays High School (11-18) Pupils with Autism Spectrum 14 £24,153
Conditions
Llanishen High School 3 (First admissions September
2013)
Llanishen High School Secondary Pupils with Hearing Impairments 22 £11,710
(11-18)
St Teilo’s High School Secondary Pupils with Visual Impairments 3 N/A In practice we have a ‘virtual’
(11-18) base, with pupils across several
high schools. The SRB staff were
absorbed into the central team in
order to facilitate a peripatetic
approach to support.

Various High Schools Secondary Pupils with specific speech and 8 (This is a 'virtual’ SRB which

(11-16)

language disorders

supports pupils in their local
catchment High School.)

£11,513

33



GgT abed

Cardiff High School Secondary Vulnerable learners with specific £10,357
(11-16) learning difficulties- dyslexia, 14
dyscalcuia, dyspraxia
Marion Centre, Bishop of Llandaff Secondary Pupils with Autism Spectrum 36 (6 new admissions per year) £18,945
High School (11-18) Conditions
Cantonian High School in Pupils with significant learning
Partnership with Woodlands Secondary delays. Many pupils also have 8 £16,981
Special School (16-18) related needs such as delayed
development of language and
Whitchurch High School communication; emotional, medical
Secondary or sensory needs. 70 £10,357
(11-18)
Ysgol Glantaf Secondary 10 £20,336

(11-18)

General comments re secondary SRB provision

1. Most secondary SRB provision operates on a full-integration model, with pupils enrolled in mainstream classes as part of the
standard admission number for the school. The pupils at three SRBs require small discrete class teaching, and are counted as
additional to the standard admission number (i.e. at Whitchurch, Bishop of Llandaff and Cantonian SLD). This causes
significant practical difficulties in providing opportunities for individuals or groups to access some mainstream learning

opportunities when appropriate.

2. The ASD SRB budgets used to be supplemented by matrix funding for some individuals. Since delegation of matrix funding the
extra staffing has been included in the SRB budget. This is a less flexible approach which can lead to over-staffing. For

example, the numbers have fallen at Cathays ASD this year, which accounts for the high per pupil cost.

34




0gT abed

Appendix 6: Summary of actions undertaken since completion of the review in 2011

. Opening of the Marion Centre at the Bishop of Llandaff High School. A large purpose built centre for secondary pupils with

ASD.

. Development of a third secondary SRB for pupils with ASD at Llanishen High School, to supplement the SRBs at Cantonian

High and Cathays High.

. The Court Special School (SEBD) has developed a successful ‘revolving door’ class for pupils at School Action Plus which has

enabled a significant number of pupils to return to their mainstream school after a period of intensive input.

. The SRB for Visual Impairment has been transferred from Llanishen High School to St Teilo’s High School. As anticipated, the

period of transfer (which rolled out over 3-4 years) has resulted in VI placements being more widely distributed across the city.
At present the VI SRB therefore operates as a ‘Virtual SRB’ based at St Teilo’s but supporting pupils in 4 high schools.

. A collaborative piece of work was undertaken by the Headteachers of Meadowbank Special School and Allensbank Primary, the

Speech and Language Therapy Manager and the Lead Specialist Teacher for Speech and Language. The focus of this work
has been to achieve more consistent criteria for speech and language placements, to support capacity building approaches and
early intervention across mainstream schools and to ensure a more efficient and effective use of resources by achieving a
single referral pathway and collaboration between Education and Health re the management of caseloads. The achievements
of this piece of work include:

A re-focussing of Meadowbank Outreach Service

Roll out of Speech and Language Links in mainstream primary schools

Establishing a joint speech and language panel to consider all referrals and admissions

Earlier re-integration programmes for children in SRB or special school placements

Widespread consultation with parents re the ‘gap’ in secondary provision

Established a ‘Virtual SRB’ for secondary pupils to close the ‘gap’ and which will enable all pupils with specific speech and
language difficulties to return to mainstream education at Year 7 or earlier.

35



/8T abed

6. A review and re-shaping of all Primary SRB provision is underway to reduce the number of ‘surplus’ places, refine admission
criteria and support schools in developing a shared CPD programme for specialist teaching staff.

36



Appendix 3

SEN Focus Group 1: provision for learners with social emotional and
behavioural needs- Summary of stakeholder views

What makes a difference for learners with social emotional and
behavioural needs?

1. Good multi agency working, addressing education, social care and
health needs. Ideally this should include well-coordinated liaison with
Childrens Services; school-based services to address therapy and
counselling needs, mental health and medical issues; educational

psychology.

2. Excellent teaching and learning; a relevant, flexible curriculum
tailored to pupils’ specific learning needs.

3. Good relationships; trust and respect. Stability and consistency.

4. Strong home-school links.

5. Attendance, engagement.

6. Inclusion.

7. Early identification and assessment: a holistic view of the child and
the needs that underpin challenging behaviours.

8. Effective pathways to address the full range of needs, e.g. speech

language and communication, specific learning difficulties, social skills,
emotional well-being, medical needs. Core entitlement.

9. Accommodation that is ‘fit for purpose’. A calm, safe environment.

10.Skilled staff, access to good CPD.

11.Effective outreach services focussed on capacity building
(whether provided by special schools, central or delegated services).

What are the strengths and limitations of our current range of
provision?

Strengths/ potential strengths

Systems leaders/ challenge advisers should have a greater focus on this
area.

Behaviour and Behaviour Management Policies

Securing enough capacity at each level

Clear entry/ exit criteria at each stage

Primary/ secondary graduated responses should be consistent

Clear links with achievement/ learning and behaviour.

Role of PARMs- Schools taking shared responsibility for placement/ provision
decisions.

Limitations/ weaknesses

No post-16 provision

No special school places for girls

No links with speech and language services

Insufficient places

Reduced curriculum

Integration after the Revolving Door placement (at The Court) can be
challenging: mainstream schools vary in their willingness.

Parenting

Page 188



Painting a blue sky...What might a successful spectrum of provision for
learners with social emotional and behavioural needs look like?

Primary continuum:

Secondary continuum:

Whole school inclusive approach
(BESD)...

Whole school inclusive approach...

Person Centred Planning takes
account of all needs...

Person Centred Planning takes
account of all needs...

In school nurture groups (ELSA)...

In school nurture groups (ELSA)...

Access to Nurture Provision in every
cluster of schools...

Pupils dual registered local school/
specialist base...

PRU (stage 4) Ks3/KS4 dual
registration...

Alternative curriculum- need more
flexibility...

Alternative provision pathways...

Special schools- girls and boys
catered for...

Special schools- should have health
and childrens service staff attached...

NB Access to speech and language provision/support from stage 3

Blue sky provision would include:
Full time innovative curriculum

Access to mainstream where appropriate

Age appropriate

Mix of BESD provision to also meet underlying SEN issues
Needs-led pathways/ provision planning for exact needs
Multi agency working model: nurse; speech and language; YOS; social

worker; flying start
Early identification and intervention

Supportive of pupils, parents and teachers

Small scale settings

Page 189




Plenary: 5 most important points to share

5 Point Summaries from Groups

Group A

1. Action —create a strategic overview and deliver.

2. Bravery —front load resource for long term gain.

3. Design an appropriate curriculum for SEBD needs — focus on achievement rather
than attainment.

4. Early identification and holistic approach needed (Education, Health, Children,
Parents).

5. Whole school inclusive approaches to nurture approach.

Group B

1. 24 hour integrated services

2. Multi agencies based in schools in cluster areas to increase attendance at specialist
appointments and to provide training to upskill staff so consistency is achieved.

3. Joint policy commitment from all partners to provide sustainable annual core
funding.

4. Schools to become the hub of the community and more family focussed.

5. Parenting support, parenting education and early family intervention is needed to be
delivered from multi-agency providers.

Group C

1. Analyse need of SEBD and build for capacity.

2. Early identification and successful interventions so can target response correctly for
each child’s specific needs.

3. Purpose built accommodation in the right location at the right time at the right size
including post 16 provision.

4. Training of staff and sharing of good practice — locally and across UK. Capacity
building across all schools and provide a shared training schedule accessible by all
school staff (including PRU, special schools and mainstream).

5. Undertake mapping of services — what is the point of the service, how can the

service be accessed, how assess children to qualify for service, to ensure multi
agency working with adequate funding.

Page 190



N
Appendix 4 Y

\I{I)Ill
CAERDYDI>

’\\\

—~

Cardiff Council
Statutory Screening Tool Guidance

If you are developing a strategy, policy or activity that is likely to impact people, communities or
land use in any way then there are a number of statutory requirements that apply. Failure to
comply with these requirements, or demonstrate due regard, can expose the Council to legal
challenge or other forms of reproach.

For instance, this will apply to strategies (i.e. Housing Strategy or Disabled Play Strategy),
policies (i.e. Procurement Policy) or activity (i.e. developing new play area).

Completing the Statutory Screening Tool will ensure that all Cardiff Council strategies, policies
and activities comply with relevant statutory obligations and responsibilities. Where a more
detailed consideration of an issue is required, the Screening Tool will identify if there is a need
for a full impact assessment, as relevant.

The main statutory requirements that strategies, policies or activities must reflect include:

e Equality Act 2010 - Equality Impact Assessment

e Welsh Government’s Sustainable Development Bill

e Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance - Shared Purpose Shared Delivery
¢ United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

¢ United Nations Principles for Older Persons

¢ Welsh Language Measure 2011

¢ Health Impact Assessment

¢ Habitats Regulations Assessment
e Strategic Environmental Assessment

This Statutory Screening Tool allows us to meet all the requirements of all these pieces of
legislation as part of an integrated screening method that usually taken no longer than an
hour.

The Screening Tool can be completed as a self assessment or as part of a facilitated session,
should further support be needed. For further information or if you require a facilitated session
please contact the Policy, Partnerships and Citizen Focus Team on 2078 8563 e-mail:
siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk. Please note:

— The completed Screening Tool must be submitted as an appendix with the Cabinet report.
- The completed screening tool will be published on the intranet.

Page 191


http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
mailto:siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk

\\. .

a\

(q‘:\;tl{ll)n-'l-' Statutory Screening Tool

CAERDYDIY

Name of Strategy / Policy / Activity:

School Organisation Proposals: The provision of additional Welsh-
medium and English-medium primary school places in and around the
Butetown, Canton, Grangetown and Riverside areas of Cardiff.

Date of Screening:

November 2015

Service Area/Section: Education

Lead Officer: Nick Batchelar

Attendees:
Self-assessment

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/

Service/Function
U

Please provide background information on the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]

Jgs proposed to:
@

‘5 Close Meadowbank Special School by August 2017.
N
This will be supported by the following proposed
changes:-

e An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for
children with speech and language needs

e A change in the use of the Allensbank SRB to provide
additional places for pupils with severe and complex
learning difficulties

e An increase in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door
classes in mainstream schools across the city

There has been a trend away from special schools places for speech
and language needs as part of a national trend towards inclusion.
Cardiff is the only local authority in England and Wales still maintaining a
special school specialising solely in speech and language needs.

While special school continues to be an important option for some
children with complex, long term learning difficulties, there has been a
general trend for children with moderate learning delays, speech and
language difficulties and physical disabilities to attend a local school.

Meadowbank School is a small special school located in Gabalfa
adjacent to Gabalfa Primary School and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children
aged 4-11 with significant speech and language difficulties.

Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the
school and at that time the school operated at 40 places. In 2010, the
Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of their intention to withdraw from this
arrangement, making no new placements. In July 2015 the last Vale
child left the school.

2




€6T abed

Cardiff also maintains a specialist resource base (SRB) at Allensbank
Primary School, for 20 pupils with speech and language difficulties.

Although the number of children and young people with speech and
language difficulties has not fallen, demand for places at both
Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB has fallen in recent years, with an
increasing number of parents expressing a preference for mainstream
education, with support provided in the local catchment school.

At the present time, November 2015, there are 23 pupils on roll at
Meadowbank.

Demand for places at Allensbank has also fallen from 18 in 2010-11, to
11 pupils in November 2015.

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be
reintegrated to mainstream school are good; the majority of pupils
attending Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high
school at Year 7, and many pupils make sufficient progress to transfer at
an earlier age.

A report on specialist provision for pupils with SEN/ ALN was completed
in 2013. This identified a number of priorities for future development of
special school and SRB provision.

In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health, children services
and parent partnership representatives was consulted on the priorities
for future development of BESD provision in Cardiff (Appendix 3). There
was consensus on the need for:

e More capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and
Revolving door classes;

e Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this
group including: mental health and medical needs; speech and




Demand for special school or SRB places for primary aged children
presenting with challenging behaviours has increased over the last two
In 2014-15 there was a 30% increase in the number of new

language difficulties; literacy and numeracy delays.

years.

statements for this area of need.

Part 1: Impact on outcomes and due regard to Sustainable Development

Please use the following scale when considering what contribution the activity makes:

+ Positive Positive contribution to the outcome
- g Negative contribution to the outcome
ntrl Neutral Neutral contribution to the outcome
Uncertain Not Sure Uncertain if any contribution is made to the outcome

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

BT abed

People in Cardiff are healthy;

Consider the potential impact on

e the promotion of good health, prevention of damaging
behaviour, promote healthy eating/active lifestyles etc,

e vulnerable citizens and areas of multiple deprivation

e Addressing instances of inequality in health

- the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing
provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city
travel.

- the proposal would reduce the number of school
transfers for children with speech and language
difficulties, by ensuring every child can be effectively
supported in mainstream throughout education.

- the proposal would allow for continued high quality
support for speech and language pupils in mainstream
schools, with an extended specialist teacher team.

- Developing additional provision (English-medium and
Welsh-medium) for pupils with behavioural emotional and
social difficulties will contribute to meeting the needs of
vulnerable citizen.

1.2 | People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable
environment;

- the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing
provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city




Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

- Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

Consider the potential impact on
e the causes and consequences of Climate Change and
creating a carbon lite city

e encouraging walking, cycling, and use of public transport
and improving access to countryside and open space

e reducing environmental pollution (land, air, noise and water)

travel.

the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing
provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city
travel.

the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing
provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city
travel.

U |« reducing consumption and encouraging waste reduction, N/A
g reuse, recycling and recovery
) e encouraging biodiversity N/A
@ People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; - the proposal would reduce the number of school
Q1 | Consider the potential impact on transfers for children with speech and language
e reducing crime, fear of crime and increasing safety of difficulties, by ensuring every child can be effectively
individuals supported in mainstream throughout education.
e addressing anti-social behaviour - the proposal would allow for continued high quality
e protecting vulnerable adults and children in Cardiff from support for speech and language pupils in mainstream
harm or abuse schools, with an extended specialist teacher team.
- developing additional provision (English-medium and
Welsh-medium) for pupils with behavioural emotional and
social difficulties will contribute to meeting the needs of
vulnerable citizens.
1.4 | Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; N/A.

Consider the potential impact on
e economic competitiveness (enterprise activity, social
enterprises, average earnings, improve productivity)




Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

- Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

e Assisting those Not in Education, Employment or Training

e gttracting and retaining workers (new employment and
training opportunities, increase the value of employment,)

e promoting local procurement opportunities or enhancing the
capacity of local companies to compete

1.5 | People in Cardiff achieve their full potential; - the proposal would reduce the number of school
Consider the potential impact on transfers for children with speech and language
e promoting and improving access to life-long learning in difficulties, by ensuring every child can be effectively

Cardiff supported in mainstream throughout education.

e raising levels of skills and qualifications - Developing additional provision (English-medium and
e giving children the best start Welsh-medium) for pupils with behavioural emotional and
e improving the understanding of sustainability social difficulties will contribute to meeting the needs of
e addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, vulnerable citizens.

o participation poverty)

Q e the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child and

Q Principles for Older persons

J;._VQ Cardiff is a Great Place to Live, Work and Play N/A

g Consider the potential impact on

e promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff

e encouraging participation and access for all to physical
activity, leisure & culture

e play opportunities for Children and Young People

e protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic
heritage of Cardiff

e promoting the City’s international links




Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

- Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

1.7

Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society.
Consider the potential impact on

the elimination of discrimination, harassment or
victimisation for equality groups

has the community or stakeholders been engaged in
developing the strategy/policy/activity?

how will citizen participation be encouraged (encouraging
actions that consider different forms of consultation,
through more in depth engagement to full participation in
service development and delivery)?

See Equality Impact Assessment below (and attached).

- Statutory public consultation would be carried out on formal

proposals (including engagement with school pupils)
- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged

/6T abed

The Council delivers positive outcomes for the city and its

citizens through strong partnerships
Consider the potential impact on

strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary
sectors

the collaboration agenda and the potential for shared
services, cross-boundary working and efficiency savings

N/A




Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

- Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

86T obed

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project have a differential impact on
any of the following:

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact (positive
and negative), and what action(s) can you take to address any negative
implications?

e Age (including children and young people aged 0-25 and
older people over 65 in line with the United Nations
Conventions)

Age4d4-11

The likely closure date for Meadowbank School would be
August 2017. The majority of current pupils will have
transferred to secondary school or reintegrated to a
mainstream primary by that date. Remaining pupils would
be offered a range of options, depending on their needs
and on parent’s views:

e Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank

e A supported programme of reintegration to their
local mainstream school. This would include
funded additional support from an appropriately
trained teaching assistant, school-based therapy
if this continues to be an assessed need; support
from the specialist teacher service.

The proposed change of use at Allensbank School would
be timed to take account of the needs and ages of existing
pupils. The classes would continue to operate as a speech
and language specialist setting until these pupils complete
their primary education and transfer to secondary school.

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with
parents and professionals to take account of the needs of
pupils attending each of the affected settings, to minimise
disruption to their learning and to take full account of
parental views.




66T abed

Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

Employment Age

Redeployment/recruitment

There may still be a perception that redeployment/recruitment
opportunities could be affected by age.

The Council's procedure for managing staffing changes arising
from reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes
as a result of this proposal. This would ensure that good practice
is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies on
equal opportunities.

¢ Disability

Transport for disabled pupils would not be affected as it would be
provided to meet the child’s needs in accordance with the SEN
Code of Practice.

¢ Gender Reassignment

N/A

¢ Marriage & Civil Partnership

N/A

¢ Pregnancy & Maternity

N/A

e Race

N ERNIRNEN

The proposal would not have a differential impact upon one
particular ethnic group as the provision would be available to all.

e Religion/Belief

<\

N/A

e Sex

All schools would continue to admit pupils of both sexes.

The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising
from reorganisation would be used in implementing the changes
in this proposal. This ensures that good practice is followed,
including the application of the Council’s policies on equal
opportunities.

e Sexual Orientation

Fears that recruitment opportunities could be affected by sexual




Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes?

Please Tick

Ntrl

Un-
Crtn

Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation

orientation.

Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that LGB
people are likely to be discriminated against in workplace
recruitment.

The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising
from reorganisation would be used in implementing the changes
in this proposal. This ensures that good practice is followed,
including the application of the Council’s policies on equal
opportunities.

e Welsh Language
e Other languages

00¢ abed

The proposal would provide Welsh-medium specific provision for
behavioural social and emotional difficulties.

Other Language support

The proposal will not directly impact on the level of support
provided s all support is dependent on the Minority Ethnic
Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed
according to the results of the annual Needs Assessment
Survey. The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual Teacher
Assistants (BTAs) is usually in place for the period of the
academic year but is liable to change throughout the year to
meet fluctuations in demand.

SUMMARY OF APPRAISAL (highlight positive and negative effects of the policy / plan / project being assessed, demonstrating how
it contributes to the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the city):

Economic/Educational/Social

The proposal would offer the following educational benefits:

e Continued high quality support for speech and language pupils in mainstream schools, with an extended specialist teacher team.

10




e Reduce the number of school transfers for children with speech and language difficulties, by ensuing every child can be effectively
supported in mainstream throughout their education.
e Significant expansion of Nurture and Revolving Door classes for children with behavioural social and emotional difficulties.

e Welsh medium specific provision for behavioural social and emotional difficulties.
e Expansion of SRB places for children with severe learning difficulties.

Pupils remaining in Meadowbank School at the time of closure would need to transfer to an alternative school, whether a supported return to
mainstream, or a transfer to Allensbank SRB.

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and professionals to take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the
affected settings, to minimise disruption to their learning and to take full account of parental views.

WHAT ACTIONS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED OR CHANGES BEEN MADE TO THE POLICY / PLAN / PROJECT AS A RESULT OF THIS
APPRAISAL:

The following assessments to be undertaken:
e Equality Impact Assessment to be updated post consultation

TOg 9bed

11




Part 2: Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening

Yes No

2.1 | Does the plan or programme set the framework for future X

development consent?
2.2 | |s the plan or programme likely to have significant, positive or X

negative, environmental effects?
Is a Full Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening | Yes No
Needed? X

» If yes has been ticked to both questions 2.1 and An SEA has been

undertaken (see

2.2 then the answer is yes attached) and will be

= |fafull SEA Scree|'1|ng is required then ple.ase updated following
contact the Sustainable Development Unit to public consultation on
arrange (details below) the school proposals.

If you have any doubt on your answers to the above questions regarding SEA then please
consult with the Sustainable Development Unit on 2087 3228
sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk

Part 3: Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)

Yes No Unsure

3.1 | Will the plan, project or programme results in an activity X
which is known to affect a European site, such as the Severn
Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods?

3.2 | Will the plan, project or programme which steers X
development towards an area that includes a European site,
such as the Severn Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods or
may indirectly affect a European site?

3.3 | Is a full HRA needed? X

Details of the strategy will be sent to the County Ecologist on completion of the process to determine if a Habitat
Regulation Assessment is needed. For further information please phone 2087 3215 or email
biodiversity@cardiff.gov.uk

Page 202

12


mailto:sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk

Appendix 1 — Statutory Requirements

It is possible that the Impact Screening Tool will identify the need to undertake specific statutory
assessments:

e Equality Impact Assessment: This assessment is required by the Equality Act 2010 and Welsh
Government’s Equality Regulations 2011.

e Sustainable Development Bill: The Bill, when it comes into effect, will require sustainable
development (SD) to be a central organising principle for the organisation. This means that there
is a duty to consider SD in the strategic decision making processes.

e Shared Purpose Shared Delivery- The Welsh Government requires local authorities to produce a
single integrated plan to meet statutory requirements under a range of legislation. Cardiff
Council must therefore demonstrate its contribution towards Cardiff’s own integrated plan;
“What Matters”.

¢ United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: The Children Act 2004 guidance for
Wales requires local authorities and their partners to have regard to the United Nations
Convention on the Rights of a Child.

¢ United Nations Principles for Older Persons: The principles require a consideration of
independence, participation, care, self-fulfillment and dignity.

e The Welsh Language Measure 2011: The measure sets out official status for the Welsh
language, a Welsh language Commissioner, and the freedom to speak Welsh.

e Health Impact Assessment: (HIA) considers policies, programmes or projects for their potential
effects on the health of a population

e Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment: A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is an
European Directive for plans, programmes and policies with land use implications and significant
environmental effects.

e Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment)
Regulations 2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
of land use plans.

Page 203

13


http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/content.asp?nav=260&parent_directory_id=2
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made

CARDIFF COUNCIL

Initial Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template

— )
CARDIFF
CAERDYDD

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:

School Organisation Proposals: Specialist provision for primary aged pupils with speech and
language difficulties and with behavioural emotional and social difficulties

New/Existing/Updating/Amending:

New

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Job Title:

Jennie Hughes Senior Achievement Leader Inclusion

Service Team: Service Area:

Inclusion Education

Assessment Date: December 2014

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

It is proposed that:

Meadowbank Special School close by August 2017.
This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

- An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children with
speech and language needs

- A change in the use of the Allensbank SRB to provide additional places for
pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties

- An increase in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in
mainstream schools across the city

2. Please provide background information on the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function
and any research done [e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]

There has been a trend away from special schools places for speech and language
needs as part of a national trend towards inclusion. Cardiff is the only local authority in
England and Wales still maintaining a special school specialising solely in speech and
language needs.

While special school continues to be an important option for some children with
complex, long term learning difficulties, there has been a general trend for children with
moderate learning delays, speech and language difficulties and physical disabilities to
attend a local school.

Meadowbank School is a small special school located in Gabalfa adjacent to Gabalfa
Primary School and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children aged 4-11 with significant speech
and language difficulties.

Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the school and at that

Page 204

14



time the school operated at 40 places. In 2010, the Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of
their intention to withdraw from this arrangement, making no new placements. In July
2015 the last Vale child left the school.

Cardiff also maintains a specialist resource base (SRB) at Allensbank Primary School,
for 20 pupils with speech and language difficulties.

Although the number of children and young people with speech and language
difficulties has not fallen, demand for places at both Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB
has fallen in recent years, with an increasing number of parents expressing a
preference for mainstream education, with support provided in the local catchment
school.

At the present time, November 2015, there are 23 pupils on roll at Meadowbank.

Demand for places at Allensbank has also fallen from 18 in 2010-11, to 11 pupils in
November 2015.

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be reintegrated to
mainstream school are good; the majority of pupils attending Meadowbank and
Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high school at Year 7, and many pupils make
sufficient progress to transfer at an earlier age.

A report on specialist provision for pupils with SEN/ ALN was completed in 2013. This
identified a number of priorities for future development of special school and SRB
provision.

In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health, children services and parent
partnership representatives was consulted on the priorities for future development of
BESD provision in Cardiff (Appendix 3). There was consensus on the need for:

e More capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and Revolving
door classes;

e Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this group including:
mental health and medical needs; speech and language difficulties; literacy and
numeracy delays.

Demand for special school or SRB places for primary aged children presenting with
challenging behaviours has increased over the last two years. In 2014-15 there
was a 30% increase in the number of new statements for this area of need..

Interim and transition arrangements

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and professionals to
take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the affected settings, to minimise
disruption to their learning and to take full account of parental views.

The likely closure date for Meadowbank School would be August 2017. The majority
of current pupils will have transferred to secondary school or reintegrated to a
mainstream primary by that date. Remaining pupils would be offered a range of
options, depending on their needs and on parent’s views:

e Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank

Page 205

15




e A supported programme of reintegration to their local mainstream school.
This would include funded additional support from an appropriately trained
teaching assistant, school-based therapy if this continues to be an assessed
need; support from the specialist teacher service.

The proposed change of use at Allensbank School would be timed to take account of
the needs and ages of existing pupils. The classes would continue to operate as a
speech and language specialist setting until these pupils complete their primary
education and transfer to secondary school.

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative/] on
younger/older people?

Yes No N/A
3-11 years +ve /-ve
12 - 65 years X
Over 65 years X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

3-11 year olds

The likely closure date for Meadowbank School would be August 2017. The majority
of current pupils will have transferred to secondary school or reintegrated to a
mainstream primary by that date. Remaining pupils would be offered a range of
options, depending on their needs and on parent’s views:

e Transfer to the SRB at Allensbank

e A supported programme of reintegration to their local mainstream school.
This would include funded additional support from an appropriately trained
teaching assistant, school-based therapy if this continues to be an assessed
need; support from the specialist teacher service.

The proposed change of use at Allensbank School would be timed to take account of
the needs and ages of existing pupils. The classes would continue to operate as a
speech and language specialist setting until these pupils complete their primary
education and transfer to secondary school.

Changes would be carefully planned in consultation with parents and professionals to
take account of the needs of pupils attending each of the affected settings, to minimise
disruption to their learning and to take full account of parental views.

Redeployment

There may still be a perception that redeployment opportunities could be affected by age.

Page 206

16




The Council’'s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation would be
used in implementing any changes as a result of this proposal. This would ensure that good
practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
disabled people?

Yes No N/A

Hearing Impairment +ve

Physical Impairment +ve

Visual Impairment +ve

Learning Disability +ve

Long-Standing lliness or Health Condition X
Mental Health X
Substance Misuse X
Other X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

)-

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
transgender people?

Yes No N/A

Transgender People X
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have undergone a
process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex by changing physiological or
other attributes of sex)

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

N/A

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A

x

Marriage

Civil Partnership X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 207

17




If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

N/A

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
pregnancy and maternity?

Yes No | N/A

Pregnancy X

Maternity X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

N/A

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
the following groups?

Yes No N/A

White

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups

Asian / Asian British

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British

XX [X|X|X

Other Ethnic Groups

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

N/A

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?

Yes No N/A

Buddhist

Christian

Hindu

Humanist

Jewish

Muslim

XX [X|X|X|X|[X

Sikh

Other X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

Page 208

18




N/A

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
men and/or women?

Yes No N/A
Men X
Women X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

All schools would continue to admit pupils of both sexes.

The Council’'s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation would be
used in implementing the changes in this proposal. This ensures that good practice is
followed, including the application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on the
following groups?

Yes No N/A

Bisexual

Gay Men

Gay Women/Lesbians

X[ X|X|X

Heterosexual/Straight

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

Fears that recruitment opportunities could be affected by sexual orientation.

Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that LGB people are likely to be
discriminated against in workplace recruitment.

The Council’'s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation would be
used in implementing the changes in this proposal. This ensures that good practice is
followed, including the application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.

3.10 Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential impact [positive/negative] on
Language?

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language Proposal seeks to establish X
Welsh -medium SEBD
provision
Other languages X
Page 209

19




Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

If no differential impact, explain the reason(s) for this assessment:

The proposal would provide Welsh-medium specific provision for behavioural social and
emotional difficulties.

Other Language support

The proposal will not directly impact on the level of support provided s all support is dependent
on the Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed according to
the results of the annual Needs Assessment Survey. The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual
Teacher Assistants (BTAS) is usually in place for the period of the academic year but is liable
to change throughout the year to meet fluctuations in demand

4. Consultation and Engagement

What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities Groups?

- Statutory public consultation would be carried out on formal proposals (including
engagement with school pupils)
- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions

Age

Disability Transport for disabled pupils would not be affected as it would be provided to
meet the child’s needs in accordance with the SEN Code of Practice

Gender None identified

Reassignment

Marriage & Civil | None identified
Partnership

Pregnancy & None identified
Maternity

Race None identified
Religion/Belief | None identified
Sex None identified
Sexual None identified
Orientation

Language None identified .
Generic Over- None identified .
Arching

6. Further Action

This equality impact assessment will be updated to reflect feedback received from the public
consultation

7.  Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each Service Area.

Completed By: | Date:

Page 210

20




Designation:

Approved By:

Designation:

Service Area: Education

Page 211

21




Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
of the proposal to provide additional Welsh-medium and English-medium primary school
places in and around the Butetown, Canton, Grangetown and Riverside areas of Cardiff.

Background

In 2008, a retrospective Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Cardiff’'s 21st Century: A
Strategic Framework for a School Building Improvement Programme (published in 2006) was
carried out based on the guidance that supports the European SEA Directive 2001/42/EC.

The retrospective approach to assessment was quality assured by an external consultant and
their independent compliance review determined that the report detailing the assessment on the
strategic framework met the key requirements set out for reporting the SEA process as required
by the SEA Directive.

The assessment provides the basis for assessing current and future school organisation
proposals at a strategic level.

To request a copy of the assessment on the Strategic Framework please contact Clive
Bailey, 029 2087 3166, CBailey@cardiff.gov.uk .

Proposal
It is proposed that:

Meadowbank Special School close by August 2017.
This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

- An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children with
speech and language needs

- A change in the use of the Allensbank SRB to provide additional places for
pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties

- An increase in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in
mainstream schools across the city

Background to the proposal

There has been a trend away from special schools places for speech and language
needs as part of a national trend towards inclusion. Cardiff is the only local authority in
England and Wales still maintaining a special school specialising solely in speech and
language needs.

While special school continues to be an important option for some children with
complex, long term learning difficulties, there has been a general trend for children with
moderate learning delays, speech and language difficulties and physical disabilities to
attend a local school.

Meadowbank School is a small special school located in Gabalfa adjacent to Gabalfa
Primary School and Ysgol Glan Ceubal, for children aged 4-11 with significant speech
and language difficulties.

Historically the Vale of Glamorgan Council funded 10 places at the school and at that
time the school operated at 40 places. In 2010, the Vale of Glamorgan gave notice of

Page 212

22


mailto:CBailey@cardiff.gov.uk

their intention to withdraw from this arrangement, making no new placements. In July
2015 the last Vale child left the school.

Cardiff also maintains a specialist resource base (SRB) at Allensbank Primary School,
for 20 pupils with speech and language difficulties.

Although the number of children and young people with speech and language difficulties
has not fallen, demand for places at both Meadowbank and Allensbank SRB has fallen
in recent years, with an increasing number of parents expressing a preference for
mainstream education, with support provided in the local catchment school.

At the present time, November 2015, there are 23 pupils on roll at Meadowbank.

Demand for places at Allensbank has also fallen from 18 in 2010-11, to 11 pupils in
November 2015.

The prospects for pupils with speech and language difficulties to be reintegrated to
mainstream school are good; the majority of pupils attending Meadowbank and
Allensbank SRB transfer to a local high school at Year 7, and many pupils make
sufficient progress to transfer at an earlier age.

A report on specialist provision for pupils with SEN/ ALN was completed in 2013. This
identified a number of priorities for future development of special school and SRB
provision.

In March 2014 a focus group of Headteachers, health, children services and parent
partnership representatives was consulted on the priorities for future development of
BESD provision in Cardiff (Appendix 3). There was consensus on the need for:

e More capacity for early intervention such as Nurture Classes and Revolving door
classes;

e Greater emphasis on the underlying needs experienced by this group including:
mental health and medical needs; speech and language difficulties; literacy and
numeracy delays.

Demand for special school or SRB places for primary aged children presenting with

challenging behaviours has increased over the last two years. In 2014-15 there was
a 30% increase in the number of new statements for this area of need..

Page 213

23



Key:

XX =very incompatible; very negative effect
X =incompatible; negative effect
v = compatible; positive effect
vv =very compatible; very positive effect
0 = no links; neutral effect
? = uncertain effects
DNA = data not available

* Comparison of the preferred option to do nothing or possible alternative options is required in a SA/SEA.

modes of transport and
integrated transport
systems

likely to resultin
more children
accessing

provision in local

schools avoiding
the need for
cross city travel

SEA objective Proposed Closure of Do Nothing
Meadowbank
Rating Commentary/ Rating | Commentary/ explanation
explanation of of compatibility with SEA
compatibility objective
with SEA Do nothing is not an option
objective as the the change in the
1. Promote a greener v Achieved as this X pattern of Speech and
economy by delivering a proposal would Language demand and the
sustainable pattern of provide a better increased need for SEBD has
Speech and Language match of supply to be addressed
and SEBD provision to demand.
_6cross Cardiff
QO
(@)
(D
N
H=. Reduce greenhouse N/A N/A N/A N/A
gas emissions through:
a) Energy efficient
building design and
disposing of poor quality
surplus accommodation
b) Promoting sustainable v the proposal is N/A N/A

24



Pl

3. Promote health and N/A N/A N/A N/A
wellbeing by protecting
and enhancing public
open space and
improving access to
POS

4. Minimise air, light and N/A N/A N/A N/A
noise pollution
associated with building
development and traffic
congestion

5. Protect and enhance N/A N/A N/A N/A
biodiversity, flora and
fauna

.
N/A
@j Protect and enhance N/A N/A N/A

e landscape
abitats/visual
(Bmenities)

7. Conserve water N/A .N/A N/A N/A
resources and increase
water efficiency in new
developments and
promote sustainable
urban drainage systems
8. Promote regeneration N/A N/A N/A N/A
by delivering inclusive
schools that will improve
equality of opportunity
and access for all

9. Protect and enhance N/A N/A N/A N/A
designated historic
assets

Conclusion
The proposal has been assessed to be largely compatible with the environmental objectives used to assess the goal and principles of the”21st Century Schools: A Strategic Framework for A School Building

Improvement Programme” that underpin school organisation proposals. The proposal should have a positive impact on the environment as it will allow for children to be educated in a local school avoding the
need for cross city travel and the more likely to use polluting modes of transport. Congestion is also exacerbated due to the volume of traffic transversing the city.

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 9

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN and YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

17 May 2016

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION - Report of Committee’s Task & Finish Group

Reason for the Report

1. . This report enables the Committee to approve the draft report of this
Committee’s Task & Finish Group, copy attached at Appendix A. The draft
report also includes the All-Wales National Action Plan for Tackling Child
Sexual Exploitation in Wales 2016/17.

Background

2. Atits meeting in September 2015 the Committee agreed a Task & Finish group
to investigate ‘Child Sexual Exploitation in Cardiff. The Committee agreed the

following Terms of Reference for the task group:

o To assess the robustness of the Child Sexual Exploitation strategy,
preventative measures and the level of the Council’s and partner
organisations responses to incidences of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE);
- Exploring partnership working and resources allocation associated with

managing CSE in Cardiff;

- Exploring the scale of CSE in minority groups;
o To gather stakeholders views with regards to the above, including
statutory partners and relevant Cabinet Members and Cardiff Council

officers;

o To explore relevant best practice in external organisations and other local

authorities, that is transferable to Cardiff; and

Page 217



o To make evidence based recommendations to improve the reduction of
CSE in Cardiff, to the Cabinet and relevant stakeholders.

3. Members of the Task & Finish group were:

e Councillor Richard Cook (Chairman)
e Councillor Dianne Rees
e Councillor Jim Murphy

e Patricia Arlotte — Roman Catholic co-optee member.

Throughout the Inquiry, Members considered a wide range of research,
guidance and Policy documents, as well as deliberating upon examples of
good practice, and lessons learned from recent high profile CSE cases. The
report’s bibliography sets out the breadth of information and data considered

as part of the Inquiry.

In addition, Members held telephone conversations with witnesses and
encouraged written statements from those who were unable to attend the
round table discussions. Whilst these are not specifically referred to detail in
the Background Evidence, they played a significant role in the Inquiry and in

shaping findings and recommendations

6 The task group Inquiry was informed by evidence from relevant Members who

were Cabinet Members at the time of the Inquiry, and senior officers as follows:

e Councillor Sue Lent, Deputy Leader, Early Years, Children & Families
e Councillor Sarah Merry, Cabinet Member, Education

e Tony Young, Director of Social Services

e Carol Jones, Assistant Director Education & Lifelong Learning

e Sian Cadwalladr, Principal Education Welfare and Safeguarding Officer
e Jan Coles, Lead Manager, CSE

e Nici Evans, Partnership Manager, Policy, Partnerships & Citizen Focus

e Gary Bowen-Thompson, Education Outreach Team

Page 218



Paul Clayton, Specialist Education Team

Jade Harrison, Children’s Services CSE Coordinator

Mary Lewis, Ethnic Minority and Traveller Advisory Service (EMTAS)
Olwen Evans, EMTAS

Balwinder Sandhu, EMTAS

Kay Evans, EMTAS

Brigitte Stavrakis, EMTAS

lan Whittaker, Willows High School

lan Loynd, Assistant Headteacher, St. Teilo’s High School.

The task group Inquiry also heard from the following external witnesses:

Phil Evans, Chair C&V Local Safeguarding Children Board

Bernie Bowen Thompson, Safer Wales/Streetlife

Donna Tucker, Safer Wales/Streetlife

Rachael Ray, NSPCC

Allyson Davies, Barnardo’'s SERAF

Caroline Ryan, YMCA Sexual Health Outreach Team (SHOT)

Amy Stuart-Torrie, YMCA (SHOT)

George Grindle, YMCA (SHOT)

Debbie Farrar, Missing Children Lead, South Wales Police

Linda Hughes-Jones, NHS Safeguarding Children, C&V Health Board
Pam Flanagan, Looked After Nurse, C&V Health Board

Peter Greenhill, Probation Services

Alasdair Macinnes, Youth Offending Service

John Davies, Senior Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Policy Manager, Welsh
Government Inclusion Unit

Dr Dan Allen, Lecturer in Social Work, Trustee to The Romani Cultural
and Arts Company, Salford University

Ruth Nash, Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) Manager

Sadie Alexander, Substance Misuse and Young People, Public Health

Wales.

Page 219



8

Evidence received from all of the above witnesses was used by the task group
members to identify appropriate findings for the Inquiry and its

recommendations.

Way Forward

9

10

The draft report of the Task & Finish Group is attached at Appendix A.
Members’ attention is particularly drawn to the Key Findings section (pages
11 - 20) and the Recommendations section (pages 21- 26). These are based

on the evidence heard throughout the Task & Finish Group Inquiry.

Members may wish to consider the report, make any amendments and agree

whether to approve the report to be considered by the Cabinet.

Legal Implications

11

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not making policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal
implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters
under review are implemented with or without any modifications. Any report
with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out
any legal implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions
taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal powers of the
Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be
within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the
Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements
imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and
properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in

all the circumstances.

Page 220



Financial Implications

12 The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not making policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial
implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However,
financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are
implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with
recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any

financial implications arising from those recommendations.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Committee is recommended to:

e Consider the draft report of the Task and Finish Group, copy attached at
Appendix A.

e Endorse the report, subject to any comments the Committee wish to make, for

submission to the Cabinet.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

A Report of the:
Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee

Child Sexual Exploitation

May 2016
'—\\’ r&
4
CARDIFF
CAERDYDD The City and County of Cardiff

Page 223



CONTENTS

Lod 0] N 1 =1 N = 7 2
CHAIR’S FOREWORD........cvvecuereeercsssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssassssssssasssssssassssns 3
TERMS OF REFERENCE .......ooovcuctceeecaetreeecsssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssnsassssssnsanes 4
DEFINITION OF CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE) ....ceevuvreecerencsrennn. 5
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......ooriucrirreeccsssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssssasssnes 8
KEY FINDINGS ....cocuiurcucunerecsssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssassssssssasssssssassssens 11
RECOMMENDATIONS ......ooucteecurecassecasessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssssssasssseas 21
BACKGROUND EVIDENCE .......covvecurecureecasseesseesssssssssssssessssssssssssssssasens 27
INQUIRY METHODOLOGY w......ccuiurermcacsssesssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssassssssssans 29
BIBLIOGRAPHY ......oovvceceeereccsssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasassssssasssssssasasssens 33
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS.......octreecureceseecassessseesssssssssssssssssassssasssssssssssasens 36
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS .......ocueeetrecassecasseessesssssssssssasssssssessssssassssasssssssssneas 36
COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE.........ccccouiteeierrerecsssesesssssssesssssssenes 37
Appendices:

Appendix 1 — All Wales National Action Plan for Tackling Child
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Wales 2016/17

Page 224




Councillor Richard Cook
Chair, Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee

Page 225


http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=119

TERMS OF REFERENCE

As part of their 2015/16 Work Programme, Members of the Cardiff Council
Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee established a task and finish

Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation. This inquiry sought:

e To assess the robustness of the CSE strategy, preventative measures and
the level of the Council’s and partner organisations response to incidences

of CSE.

- Exploring partnership working and resource allocation associated with

managing CSE in Cardiff.
- Exploring the scale of CSE in minority groups.

e To gather stakeholders views with regard to the above, including statutory

partners and relevant Cabinet Members and Cardiff Council officers.

e To explore relevant best practice in external organisations and other local

authorities, that is transferable to Cardiff.

e To make evidence based recommendations to improve the reduction of

CSE in Cardiff, to the Cabinet and relevant stakeholders.

Members of the Task & Finish Group were:
e Councillor Richard Cook (Chair)
e Councillor Dianne Rees
e Councillor Jim Murphy

e Mrs. Patricia Arlotte, Roman Catholic Co-Optee.

Page 226




WHAT IS CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE)?

1. Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves
exploitative situations, contexts and relationships where young people (or
a third person or persons) receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation,
drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a result of them

performing, and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities.

2. Violence, coercion and intimidation are common, with involvement in
exploitative relationships being characterised in the main by the child or
young person’s limited availability of choice resulting from their social,

economic and/or emotional vulnerability.

3. The sexual exploitation of a child under the age of 18 is illegal under
Section 65(1) of the Children Act 2004.

Statutory responsibilities

4. Following the publication of statutory guidance “Safeguarding Children:
Working Together under the Children Act 2004”, Councils were required to
establish Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs).

The objectives of an LSCB are to:

e Protect children within its area who are experiencing, or are at risk

of abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm, and

e Prevent children within its area from becoming at risk of abuse,

neglect or other kinds of harm.

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan established LSCBs in 2006, merging
as one LSCB in October 2013.

Page 227




5. The Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan LSCB brings together
representatives of each of the main agencies and professionals
responsible for helping safeguard children. In Wales, the statutory
responsibility for establishing the LSCB rests with the local Children’s

Services authority.

6. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a
strengthened, robust and effective partnership approach to safeguarding.
Part 7 of the Act sets out clear statutory responsibilities for local agencies,
including Councils, in relation to safeguarding children (and adults) via

local safeguarding boards.

7. In addition, the Welsh Government published the “All-Wales National
Action Plan to Tackle Child Sexual Exploitation” which sets out a
framework and minimum standards that Safeguarding Children Boards
and partner agencies should work collectively and individually towards and
build on to:

e Prevent and protect children and young people from sexual
exploitation.

e Provide responsive, appropriate and consistent support to those
identified as being subject to or at risk of sexual exploitation.

« Contribute to the identification, disruption and prosecution of

perpetrators.

A copy of the All Wales National Action Plan for Tackling CSE is
attached as Appendix 1.

8. Councils play a crucial, statutory role in safeguarding children, including
tackling child sexual exploitation. However, they cannot do this alone. It
needs the cooperation of the wider community and partner agencies.
Councils can use their links with police, schools, health professionals, and
community and faith groups to highlight the signs and ensure people know
where to turn if they have concerns. Child sexual exploitation is a difficult
and unpleasant subject to discuss, but having these conversations is

crucial to stamping it out.

Page 228



9. The experiences of Rotherham go to demonstrate the key role that the
Leader of the Council, the lead Member for Children’s Services, scrutiny
committees and all Councillors have in questioning and challenging

responses to CSE in their local area.

Page 229



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.

This Inquiry took place between November 2015 and April 2016 and
during this time, Members were working in a fast-moving, ever changing
landscape around tackling CSE. This ranged from an improved drive and
recognition of the issue across the Council, the work of key partners and
other agencies, a raft of research and guidance, the implications of the
Social Services and Well-being Act 2014, and most recently, the launch of
an “All Wales National Action Plan to Tackle Child Sexual Exploitation”.

At the same time, national media reported extensively on several issues

related to CSE, including Rotherham, Savile and Operation Yewtree.

During this Inquiry, Members received evidence from a wide range of
individuals and organisations that directly deal with children, young people
and their families. In addition, Members considered a wide range of
evidence and research undertaken across the UK, including the serious
case reviews of high profile cases in areas such as Rochdale, Oxfordshire,

Rotherham and Manchester.

Members concluded that it is critical to ensure that those children and
young people subjected to CSE are always recognised as victims, despite
the possibility that they may display a range of challenging negative
behaviour, be disruptive, not want to engage, or display criminal
behaviour. It should also be noted that legislation states that all children

and young people under the age of 18 should be protected.

CSE has a devastating impact on children, young people and their families
and it is the conclusion of the Inquiry Team that CSE should be a concern
for everyone. CSE is largely a hidden crime, and raising awareness of this
type of abuse is essential to preventing it and stopping it early when it

does happen. Welsh Government has strengthened this by stating;

Page 230




“One of the most important principles of safeguarding is that it is
everyone’s responsibility. Each professional and organisation must do
everything they can, to ensure that children... at risk are protected from

abuse?”.

5. The Inquiry has highlighted the need for whole-scale recognition of not just
the issue within the City, but also the importance of having a range of
initiatives and mechanisms in place to enable the wider public to also play

a part in tackling the issue.

6. Itis crucial that partners, practitioners and the wider public in general are
equipped with the knowledge to recognise and report potential victims and
perpetrators, as well as feed invaluable evidence to organisations, for

example, potential “hotspots” in the City.

7. The Inquiry heard and read evidence that the approach (particularly in
terms of language used) in any awareness raising and engagement with
the wider community must be carefully considered. This is particularly so
in relation to minority groups and how they are perceived. For example,
at the beginning of the Inquiry, “Roma” communities were highlighted as a
particular group being exploited, but the Inquiry concluded that
children/young people in this group were no more vulnerable than any
other child sharing similar wider socio economic circumstances to those
within the Roma community. Therefore, they should not be stereotyped

and “myths” about them allowed to be further communicated.

8. Looking further inward to the partners and other organisations involved
tackling CSE, the Inquiry concluded that this issue should be viewed as a
priority across all agencies, and a commitment to a holistic approach
adopted, as it is critical that joined up, open and intelligence led work is
undertaken, not only in tackling individual cases, but delivering wider,

large-scale work. In addition, CSE should be joined up with other

! http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/safeguarding/?lang=en

Page 231



safeguarding children-related strands such as human trafficking, missing,

forced marriage etc.

9. Only through an open, proactive dialogue across all agencies can the
whole issue of CSE be tackled. No one agency should be viewed as

“responsible”, with others passive in playing their part.

10.Linked with all of the above, the Inquiry concluded that central to all work
going forward is ensuring everything being victim-centred and victim-
led. This links with the principles set out in the Social Services and Well-
Being Act 2014, which places the individual at the heart of their own

decisions.

10
Page 232



KEY FINDINGS

There were a number of key findings and conclusions arising from the Inquiry

that could be drawn under a number of themed headings. These are as

follows:

Cardiff Council’s Strategic Approach to CSE

KF1.

KF2.

KF3.

The Inquiry concluded that there needs to be a real commitment across
the whole Council to make sure that it plays a key role in this issue, and

a need for further commitment at a higher level within the organisation.

In order to ensure that the Council meets its part in the wider
commitment in the Welsh Government National Action Plan to
“establish a strategic response to tackle CSE that reflects statutory
guidance”, Members concluded that an officer at, for example,
Operational Manager level or above should have a specific
responsibility to coordinate CSE issues at a strategic level, including
being responsible for raising awareness of CSE across the Council,
playing a role in making strategic linkages, pooling resources, linking
with the LSCB on strategic issues, reporting to Cabinet and Scrutiny
Committees and ensuring that systems for referral, support and

rehabilitation within the Council are fit for purpose.

During the Inquiry, Members did not receive any evidence that any
“CSE Referral Pathway” system was in place, which would set out a
clear and concise route of support and rehabilitation services and end-
to-end care for those referred into the Council. This Pathway, if in
place, could also be used as a tool across a range of activities to
promote a clear, consistent message across all practitioners, partners

and the wider community.

11
Page 233




KF4.

On 21 January 2016, Members undertook an in-depth review of the
Cardiff & Vale LSCB Multi-Agency Draft CSE Strategy and a copy of
the full response is set out in the “Background Evidence” section of this
report. It concluded that the Strategy, at that time, required the

following additional information:

Key baseline data;

e Explicit references to governance and lines of accountability;

e Performance measures, including targets, costs and clear
timeframes for review;

e Details of progress made to date; and

e Links to other key plans and strategies

Cardiff & Vale Local Safequarding Children Board (C&V LSCB)

KF5.

KF6.

As stated above, the LSCB is the key strategic body in ensuring that
children and young people who are at risk of, or subjected to, CSE are
safeguarded against harm or abuse. The majority of the actions and
outcomes required by the National Action Plan will be the responsibility
of the LSCB.

Some witnesses to the Inquiry suggested that the C&V LSCB was a
reactive body, waiting for national guidance to be imposed before
taking action. Throughout the Inquiry, little reference was made about
the C&V LSCB in organisations’ and partners’ dealings with CSE;
where, in fact, Members felt that the work of the LSCB should have
been more pivotal in taking this issue forward. Members also felt that
this could have resulted in delays in driving forward and implementing
key initiatives to ensure that children were being safeguarded against
CSE, as well as driving forward the wider issues of awareness raising,
training, developing a CSE Strategy, linkages with other strands of

working etc.

12
Page 234



KF7.

Members also highlighted the situation in the Cardiff and Vale area,
where the Chair and Vice Chair of the C&V LSCB were both Directors
of Social Services. They felt this could present a risk to the objectivity
of any reviews undertaken in their areas of work. Evidence suggested
that Chairs from differing partner bodies were seen to be commonplace
in other area LSCBs. An independent Chair could offer even more
scrutiny and autonomy, as required in England under Chapter 3 of
“Working Together” (2015).

Working in partnership (including information sharing)

KF8.

KF9

KF10.

KF11.

Members were pleased to receive evidence that a Multi Agency
Service Hub (MASH) developed in Cardiff had been launched (but not
yet operational), and that this would further improve partnership

working between agencies.

Members concluded that critical to its success was the need to operate
as a positive, proactive strategic multi-agency working arrangement,

ensuring the leadership of the MASH is effective.

Members acknowledge the major improvements made since the
appointment of the CSE Lead Manager and the CSE Coordinator.
They concluded that the responsibility should not just lie with them, but

across the whole authority.

During the Inquiry, there appeared to be some anomalies between the
evidence provided by the Council and other organisations in relation to
arrangements for data sharing. Numerous witnesses agreed that
training was needed, and that a clear guidance or protocol needed to
be developed to address this. Whilst it was acknowledged that
sensitive information cannot be disseminated widely, it was felt that
positive working relationships across all partners should result in key
data and information being made available for those working within this

area.

13
Page 235



Children’s Services

KF12.

KF13.

Throughout the Inquiry, Members heard praise from all withnesses on
the work the CSE Lead Manager and the CSE Coordinator had
achieved to date. The improvements they have made, and continue to
make to the operational aspects of CSE are to be highly commended.
Members were concerned that these posts were fixed term contracts

and felt that both of these posts should be made permanent.

However, some witnesses expressed their concern that the CSE Lead
Manager and CSE Coordinator could not take forward the whole CSE
agenda within the Council, and bearing in mind the scale and scope of
the work required to tackle the issue in Cardiff, they should be
supported more widely across the Service Area and beyond. Whilst
the MASH will greatly assist them once operational, it was felt that
currently, the weight of the success of this work rested heavily on their

shoulders and that wider support from all stakeholders was required.

Referrals/Reporting CSE Allegations

KF14.

KF15.

Despite improvements to the process being made, witnesses identified
issues remaining in their dealings with Children’s Services. This
appeared to be particularly apparent in referrals/reporting and advice
for the 81 CSE related referrals presented to Children’s Services

between January and December 2015.

Members became aware that there seemed to be a “mismatch” of
expectations between what the referrer anticipated would happen and
what the Service could provide. For example, messages given to

Members included:

14
Page 236



¢ Inconsistencies in advice via the Children’s Access Point (CAP)
desk;

e Alack of practitioner/referrer involvement in Strategy meetings;

e An apparent reluctance to take on cases;

e The need to provide “hard” evidence;

e Referrals not being “taken seriously”;

e Referrals not being dealt with in a “timely manner”;

e Joint referrals being made to give them added weight.

Overall, the witnesses felt that they have to fight hard to get Children’s
Services to listen to what they are saying about clients and their

experiences;

KF16. Whilst Members were aware that the MASH would operate a more
joined-up approach, with a dedicated line and signposting into
organisations, they wanted to flag up that these issues still existed
under the current arrangements. Members also felt that every CSE
referral should be assessed to ensure that all evidence is picked up,

recorded and flagged, particularly where multiple referrals are made.

Awareness Raising and Training

KF17. Critical to the success of addressing and tackling CSE will be the need
for a coordinated, well organised system of awareness raising and
training initiatives that can be delivered to a wide range of audiences.
This major piece of work is a requirement of the National Action Plan
during 2016/17. Members were made aware of the training undertaken
by the CSE Lead Manager and the CSE Coordinator, and again, this
work needs to be commended. From witness suggestions, some

initiatives could include:

15
Page 237



e Coordinating a number of initiatives already in place, including:

SWIS (Safer Wales Inclusive Service) accredited learning
SERAF (Sexual Exploitation Risk Assessment Form)
including online tools

Safeguarding training

Work of the CSE Lead Manager

Work of the Partnerships Manager

e Large scale/high profile campaign - hotspots, targeted work with

vulnerable groups, bottom-up community engagement

e More targeted work with:

Schools

Foster Carers

Staff in children’s homes

Providers of Council Services (Commissioning &

Procurement requirement).

e Campaigns for children and young people, developed by young

people, including:

e PSHE (Personal Social Health & Economic) teaching
materials — sexual health; healthy relationships etc.
e Apps

e Social media.

The Role of Schools

KF18. The Inquiry concluded from the evidence received that a major factor

in minimising risk of CSE was the importance of ensuring children and

young people remain in school, and acknowledges and commends

the work that schools, mentors and youth workers undertake in

facilitating this.

Page 238

16



KF19.

KF20.

KF21.

Of particular concern to Members were issues in relation to elective
home learning; reduced timetables etc. and “hidden” non attendance,
and how these could contribute to increased risk to young people.
There are currently no legislative powers to see/check a child who is

being home educated.

Members stated that it is critical that all parties work with schools to
give them ownership of the issue, but provide the support (awareness
raising, class materials and training) to enable them to act on
managing disclosures. Examples of work within St. Teilo’s and
Willows High Schools were cited as examples of good practice that

could be rolled out across all schools in Cardiff.

Witnesses suggested that training (for both staff and pupils) within this
setting should be coordinated, covering Child Protection, CSE, forced
marriage and radicalisation. This may be better done by partner
organisations working with individual schools, including offering

training facilitators for staff and pupils.

KF22. Witnesses also expressed the view that a higher profile should be

given to PSHE lessons and the issue of sex education and healthy
relationships more generally. Evidence has shown that doing this
could be very influential in preventative work and should be provided at

the earliest opportunity (even at Primary level).

Prevention Work

KF23.

Members received evidence that concluded that there was a lack of
preventative work and very few programmes available across the
Cardiff and Vale area. The National Action Plan places a duty on the

LSCB and partners to “identify a range of preventative services” during

2016/17, and witnesses cited the NSPCC “Respect and Prevent’

17
Page 239



programme as an example of good practice in relation to CSE which

needs to be considered by all partners.

Low/Medium Risk Intervention

KF24.

KF25.

Members received evidence that this is another area that needs to be
reviewed to ensure that more options are available in tackling risk at an
earlier stage. Members were informed that those who have been
subject to significant harm as a result of CSE required an average of

six months intensive help, and capacity is a major issue.

Linked to this, witnesses stated that, to date, it can take up to 12
months to get a referral to CAMHS (Child & Adolescent Mental Health
Services) and this poses a significant risk of links breaking down, whilst
waiting so long for referrals. Members were informed of a major
restructure of CAMHS and this would go some way in greatly improving
referral times, but there appeared to be no target date for the

implementation of the restructure.

Post Trauma Support

KF26.

KF27.

Members heard that post trauma support was currently felt to be
inadequate as, in many cases, significant mental health services are
required. Witnesses informed Members of limited access to
counselling services, but capacity and a lack of funding continues to be

a maijor barrier for them.

In addition, there is also a lack of victim support services for clients
once they have gone through the criminal justice system, particularly

aftercare.

18
Page 240



Vulnerable Groups

It is widely assumed that the maijority of victims of CSE are young girls, but

during the Inquiry, Members also considered other potential vulnerable groups

and details of these are set out as follows:

Young Males

KF28.

KF29.

KF30.

The Inquiry concluded after evidence from Barnardo’s that, in terms of
boys and young men, there is a need to acknowledge that 1 in 4

victims of CSE are male.

Members were informed that young males’ behaviour can easily be
categorised as ‘just’ low level criminal behaviour, thus the potential for
CSE of young males is ignored. Additionally, males are less aware of
where to go for help. Research also suggested that there could be a
link between male victims potentially moving on to become facilitators

or even perpetrators of CSE.

Evidence suggested that there was need to treat suspicions of male
victims on a par with female and this needs to be publicised as a part of

awareness raising and training.

“Roma” Children and Young People

KF31.

The Roma community were highlighted as a potentially vulnerable
Group in Cardiff, and this concern was therefore built into part of this
Inquiry’s terms of reference. Members heard from staff from the
Council’s Ethnic Minority and Traveller Advisory Service (EMTAS)
about repeat referrals within this Group. Also there was an ongoing and
serious issue regarding interpreters, who have little knowledge of the
large number of languages spoken within the Roma community. This
made case conferences difficult and is a major concern for staff within

the Service.

19
Page 241



KF32.

KF33.

KF34.

During the Inquiry, Members heard that the Roma community were

also concerned about the “westernisation” of their children..

A recent study undertaken in England? had revealed that, contrary to
the “myths” surrounding Roma, these young people were no more
likely to be at risk of CSE than any other group who had been
subjected to similar socio economic vulnerabilities. Members were
informed that Roma families often had a lack of basic funds and
services, which made them vulnerable in terms of poor diet, poor living
conditions, issues of special educational need (SEN) in their family,

and a poor image of who they are and how they are perceived.

Due to this, international scale criminal organisations target newly
arrived Roma and can exploit them on a number of levels — eg housing

/ landlords, slave labour, loan sharks and CSE.

2 Research undertaken by Dan Allen, on CSE and Roma in North East England — yet to be published.

20
Page 242



RECOMMENDATIONS

This inquiry was undertaken to investigate how the Council and its partners
work together to respond to incidences of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and
meet the statutory duty to introduce a range of measures to tackle CSE in
Cardiff.

During 2016/17, the Council and its partners (via the Cardiff & Vale LSCB) will
be required to develop and implement a challenging programme of work via
the All Wales National Action Plan to tackle CSE. Many of the key
activities and actions that would have been recommended by Members
arising from this Inquiry are covered by the Action Plan, and therefore, the

following recommendations aim to complement and enhance this work.

Please note that the recommendations below do not cover every aspect of the
key findings highlighted in the previous Section due to the specific

requirements of the National Action Plan, particularly in the areas of:

e Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy (KF4)
e Solutions to Low/Medium Risk Intervention (KF23)

e Services in relation to Post Trauma Support (KF26, KF27).

These three issues are likely, however, to be factored into future scrutiny

activity as appropriate.

It is recommended that the following recommendations are commended to the
Cabinet and the Cardiff & Vale LSCB for their consideration, and that an
Action Plan be developed and form part of a Cabinet response to this Scrutiny

Inquiry by the 31 August 2016, unless otherwise stated.

21
Page 243




Recommendations to the Cabinet:

It is recommended that:

The Council’s Strategic Approach to CSE

R1.

R2.

A CSE Referral Pathway be developed, which will set out clear and
concise route of end-to-end care for those referred into the Council.
This Pathway could also be used as a tool across a range of activities
to promote a clear, consistent message across all practitioners,
partners and the wider community.

Supported by Key Finding KF3

An Officer at Operational Manager or above be made responsible for
CSE, and their job description to include a range of responsibilities
including raising awareness of CSE across the Council, playing a role
in making strategic linkages, pooling resources, linking with the LSCB
on strategic issues, reporting to Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees and
ensuring that systems for referral, support and rehabilitation within the
Council are fit for purpose.

Supported by Key Finding KF2

Working in Partnership/Information Sharing

R3.

After 12 months of operation, a survey be carried out amongst all
partners and practitioners to gauge the effectiveness of the Multi
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in Cardiff and also improvements in
partnership working and information sharing.

Supported by Key Findings KF8 — KF11

22
Page 244



Children’s Services

R4.

Members would like to commend the work carried out to date by the
CSE Lead Manager and CSE Coordinator and that our thanks and the
thanks of the many witnesses who took part in the Inquiry be passed
on to them. ltis also recommended that these posts be made
permanent.

Supported by Key Findings KF12, KF13

Referrals/Reporting CSE Allegations

R5.

R6.

That Children’s Services review the way that it deals with incoming
CSE referrals as detailed in KF15. This is to meet the commitment
required by the National Action Plan to “support the identification of
CSE and enable a timely range of appropriate responses”.

Supported by Key Findings KF14, KF15

Ongoing training be given to social workers to ensure that consistent,
professional, timely advice is given to everyone who makes a referral to
Children’s Services. Linked to this, wider training outside of the
organisation (particularly to schools) should form part of the wider
training programme to empower individuals and organisations to
intervene at lower levels and therefore assist in reducing the number of
referrals being made via the CAP Desk.

Supported by Key Findings KF16, KF17

23
Page 245



Awareness Raising and Training

R7.

R8.

A strategic, coordinated awareness raising and training programme be
developed with input from all partners. Whilst it is acknowledged that
the CSE Lead Manager and CSE Coordinator are currently engaged in
CSE training with social workers and practitioners, further work needs
to be planned, developed and implemented. This should include the
coordination of current materials that could be used as part of the
programme. The programme should include mechanisms for delivering
a large scale campaign across the City, and also more targeted
awareness raising and training to include vulnerable groups,
community groups, schools’ training, those engaged in the night-time
economy, foster carers, staff in children’s homes and those engaged in
providing council services via the commissioning and procurement
process.

Supported by Key Findings KF17, KF28-30, KF31-34

It is also recommended that a programme of campaigns for children
and young people is developed by young people, to included PSHE
teaching materials, social media, development of apps, etc. The
wording of all material should be very carefully considered not to
stereotype victims, and materials should also pay particular attention to

boys and young men who were identified as a particular “hidden”

group.

Supported by Key Findings KF17, KF28-30, KF31-34

24
Page 246



The Role of Schools

R9.

R10.

That the LEA (Local Education Authority) conduct a risk assessment of
those not in mainstream education, and that the results of this risk
assessment be reported to the C&V LSCB and to the Children & Young
People Scrutiny Committee. Members were particularly concerned
about the potential risks inherent in children undertaking alternative
curriculum and home schooling. Whilst it is recognised that the LEA
does not have statutory responsibility to account for those children and
young people, an idea of the scale of the issue and potential “risks”

should be assessed.

Supported by Key Findings KF18-19

It is also recommended that the Education Department play an active
role in the awareness raising and training programme for schools. The
proactive and positive work undertaken by Willows High School and St.

Teilo’s High School should be included within the programme.

Supported by Key Findings KF20-22

Low/Medium Risk Intervention

R11.

It is recommended that a report on the restructure of the CAMHS
service be factored into the work programme of the Children & Young

People Scrutiny Committee for consideration at a future date.

Supported by Key Findings KF24-25

25
Page 247



Recommendations to the Cardiff & Vale Local Safeguarding Children

Board

R12. Whilst it is recognised that the LSCB is not accountable to the Council,

R13.

it is recommended that the Cabinet requests that C&V LSCB make a
commitment to report to Cabinet and the Children & Young People
Scrutiny Committee on progress towards achieving the All Wales
National Action Plan, and commit to submitting, for information
annually, progress against the Multi Agency CSE Strategy.

Supported by Key Findings KF 5 — KF7

It is also recommended that the LSCB should review whether the
current governance structure enabled robust scrutiny of the

organisation and consider the need for an independent Chair.

Supported by Key Finding KF7

26
Page 248



BACKGROUND EVIDENCE

What we know about CSE in Cardiff and how we will make sure we

understand the scale of the problem3

From January to December 2015, 3741 referrals were made to Children’s

Services and of these 81 referrals where there was a concern regarding CSE.

Of those 81, 79 processed to initial assessment.

Breakdown of who refers cases — where do they come from?

Source of CSE referral Total Total %
(based
on 81
CSE

referrals)
Family, friend or neighbour 1 1
Local Authority's own Social Services
Dept. 17 21
Other Agency 4
Other Departments of own or other LA 4 5
Police 31 38
Primary health / Community health 3 4
School 20 25
Secondary health 1 1
Grand Total 81 100

Number of multi agency/STRAT meetings by month:
Month Janto | Aprto | July | Octto | Total
Mar Jun to Dec
Sep
Number of CSE 0 14 40 49 103
STRAT meetings

3 Information received by Children’s Services, January 2016

Page 249

27




Characteristics of those vulnerable to CSE

e Poor family relationships — excluded families, single parents

¢ A history of being in care — not just young people, but their parents

e Drugs/alcohol problems

e Lack of money/poverty

e Family expectations/perceptions — “it happened to me, therefore its
going to happen to my children”

e Additional learning needs — both young people and their families

e School experiences — particularly girls who have indicated they had a
positive primary education, but secondary school is a problem

e The critical importance of keeping children and young people engaged

with school

Case Studies set out in Appendix 2.

Background evidence under the themes/headings in the report is
currently being collated.

28
Page 250



INQUIRY METHODOLOGY

M1. The Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee applies a project

management approach to its inquiries; including mechanisms to

consistently prioritise topics suggested for scrutiny, scoping reports and

project plans. The aim of these is to ensure there is a dialogue with the

services involved in the scrutiny process with the ultimate aim of

improving overall service delivery and enabling effective scrutiny.

M2. The process for the Inquiry was agreed via a Scoping Report agreed by

Members. The key milestones were as follows:

Meeting 1
Task Group Members

November 18 2015

Context briefing

Agree the scope of Inquiry and research.

Comprehensive report providing background context to
the main issues, to include the following:

e Overview of existing policy and resource landscape
regarding tackling CSE in Cardiff including:

o Legislation and National Policy governing
CSE

o Welsh Government Document ‘All Wales
Protocol’

o Cardiff Local Safeguarding Children Board’s
“Protocols and Procedures”

Review the Cardiff LSCBs “Protocols and Procedures”

Overview of structures in place for tackling CSE in Cardiff

Meeting 2
Task Group Members

Scrutiny Officer

21 January 2016

Draft CSE Strategy

Review a copy of the draft Cardiff LSCB CSE Strategy,
with a view of informing its development and
implementation.
Examine a number of good practice examples of tackling
CSE work; high profile inspection reports on CSE (e.g.
Rochdale and Oxford); and examples of CSE joint working
in Core Cities and Wales.

Agree a way forward for “round table” event — 23 February

2016

29
Page 251




Meeting 3a

23 February 2016
Mansion House
Session 1

10.00am-11.30am

To receive evidence from 3 Sector/Outreach/Frontline Staff
witnesses regarding:

e What is currently working well in tackling CSB in
Cardiff

o What issues and concerns face witnesses regarding
CSB in Cardiff;
Issues relating to the Czech Roma community; and
Views and perspectives on how to further improve
approaches in Cardiff

Meeting 3b
23 February 2016
Session 2

11.30 — 12.30pm

To receive evidence from Council Partners regarding:

e What is currently working well in tackling CSB in
Cardiff

e What issues and concerns face witnesses regarding
CSB in Cardiff;

e Issues relating to the Czech Roma community; and

e Views and perspectives on how to further improve
approaches in Cardiff

Meeting 3c
23rd February 2016
Session 3 - Roma

12.30pm

To receive evidence from EMTAS staff regarding issues
relating to the Czech Roma community

Meeting 4
34 March 2016
2.30pm —4.00pm

Evidence gathering - To hear the views of Cabinet
Members, Senior Officers and the Cardiff & Vale LSCB on

- Strategic Overview on how the Council is addressing
CSE;

- The Council’'s commitment to tackling CSE

Meeting 5
7 March 2016

Gather evidence on Roma research undertaken by Dr Dan
Allen, Lecturer in Social Work, Trustee to The Romani Cultural
and Arts Company, Salford University.

3.15pm
Meeting 6 To receive evidence from following internal and external
15 April 2016 witnesses regarding:
2.00pm e Whatis currently working well in tackling CSB in
Cardiff
e What issues and concerns face witnesses regarding
CSB in Cardiff; and
e Views and perspectives on how to further improve
approaches in Cardiff
Meeting 7 e To review evidence received to date and any written

Review Meeting

25 April 2016 — 2.30pm

evidence.

e Consider content, findings, conclusions and
recommendations for the draft report.

Page 252

30



Meeting 8
Draft report
3 May 2016
*-10.30pm

Members to consider draft report, including agreeing key
findings and recommendations.

Sign Off

M3. Members heard from the following Council witnesses:

Cabinet Members

e Councillor Sue Lent, Deputy Leader, Early Years, Children & Families

e Councillor Sarah Merry, Cabinet Member, Education

Officers

e Tony Young, Director of Social Services

e Carol Jones, Assistant Director Education & Lifelong Learning

e Sian Cadwalladr, Principal Education Welfare and Safeguarding

Officer)

e Jan Coles, Lead Manager, CSE

¢ Nici Evans, Partnership Manager, Policy, Partnerships & Citizen Focus

e Gary Bowen-Thompson, Education Outreach Team

e Paul Clayton, Specialist Education Team

e Jade Harrison, Children’s Services CSE Coordinator

e Mary Lewis, Ethnic Minority and Traveller Advisory Service (EMTAS)

e Olwen Evans, EMTAS

e Balwinder Sandhu, EMTAS

e Kay Evans, EMTAS

e Brigitte Stavrakis, EMTAS

¢ lan Whittaker, Willows High School

¢ lan Loynd, Assistant Headteacher, St. Teilo’s High School

Page 253

31



M4. Members also heard from the following external witnesses:

e Phil Evans, Chair C&V Local Safeguarding Children Board

o Bernie Bowen Thompson, Safer Wales/Streetlife

e Donna Tucker, Safer Wales/Streetlife

¢ Rachael Ray, NSPCC

e Allyson Davies, Barnardo’s SERAF

e Caroline Ryan, YMCA Sexual Health Outreach Team (SHOT)

e Amy Stuart-Torrie, YMCA (SHOT)

e George Grindle, YMCA (SHOT)

e Debbie Farrar, Missing Children Lead, South Wales Police

e Linda Hughes-Jones, NHS Safeguarding Children, C&V Health Board

e Pam Flanagan, Looked After Nurse, C&V Health Board

o Peter Greenhill, Probation Services

e Alasdair Macinnes, Youth Offending Service

e John Davies, Senior Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Policy Manager,
Welsh Government, Inclusion Unit

e Dr Dan Allen, Lecturer in Social Work, Trustee to The Romani Cultural
and Arts Company, Salford University

e Ruth Nash, Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) Manager

e Sadie Alexander, Substance Misuse and Young People, Public Health

Wales.

Throughout the Inquiry, Members considered a wide range of research,
guidance and Policy documents, as well as deliberating upon examples of
good practice, and lessons learned from the high profile CSE cases. The
following bibliography sets out the breadth of information and data considered

as part of the Inquiry.

In addition, Members held telephone conversations with witnesses and
encouraged written statements for those who were unable to attend the round
table discussions. Whilst these are not specifically referred to detail in the
Background Evidence, they played a significant role in the Inquiry and shaping

findings and recommendations.

32
Page 254



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee and Children & Young

People Scrutiny Committee — Human Trafficking Report, September 2014

Data from Jan Coles — arising from request made at meeting 1 of the Task
Group — March 2016
W.A.G. Supplementary Guidance — Safeguarding Children & Young

People from Sexual Exploitation

All Wales Child Protection Procedures Review Group — Safeguarding and

promoting the welfare of children who are at risk of abuse through Sexual

Exploitation — All Wales Protocol

Cardiff Local Safeguarding Children Board — Children & Young People

Abused Through Sexual Exploitation — Protocol & Procedure

Local Government Association — Resource Pack for Councils — December
2014

Barnardo’s Cymru — Child Sexual Exploitation in Wales: 3 Years On

Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board — Child Sexual Exploitation
“Making a Difference” (June 2015)

Barnardo’s Cymru — Educate to Stay Safe: A Rights Based Approach to

Preventing Child Sexual Exploitation (November 2014)

OFSTED - Tackling CSE: Blackburn and Darwen Borough Council
(Operation Engage) (February 2013)

OFSTED - Children & Young People who go missing and CSE — a
Partnership Approach: Staffordshire County Council (June 2013)

Lancashire Constabulary — ENGAGE

Alexis Jay OBE -_Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in
Rotherham 1997 — 2013 (August 2014)

33
Page 255




Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board - Serious Case Review into

Child Sexual Exploitation in Oxfordshire: from the experiences of Children
A, B,C,D,E,and F (February 2015)

Ann Coffey, MP - Real Voices - Child sexual exploitation in Greater
Manchester (October 2014)

Birmingham LSCB — CSE Strategy 2015-17

Leeds LSCB — CSE Strategy 2015-17

Bristol LSCB — CSE Strategy — 2015

Newcastle Multi-agency Sexual Exploitation Strategy - 2015-2018

Nottingham LSAB & LSCB - Safeguarding Children and Young People

from Sexual Exploitation, Interagency Practice Guidance, 2015

Shared Regulatory Services — Briefing Note on the Role of Regulatory

Services with new Psychoactive Substances — March 2016

Written statement from Paul Clayton, Senior Education Psychologist

following 23 February 2016 meeting

Community Care Webinar on “Protecting young people from child sexual

exploitation: addressing the challenges” — recording and summary note —
16 March 2016

Welsh Government — Consultation Document — Out of school education

settings, February 2016

Welsh Government National Action Plan To Tackle CSE In Wales (March
2016)

Barnardo’s Cymru/ Glyndwr University — “You Can Trust Me....."” (March
2016)

NSPCC - “Getting Help — What Children Tell Us About Accessing
Services After Sexual Abuse” (2016)

Barnardo’s Cymru/Welsh Government — “Sexual Exploitation — Sex,
Secrets And Lies, Your Guide” (2013)

Barnardo’s - ‘It's Not On The Radar’ - The Hidden Diversity Of Children
And Young People At Risk Of Sexual Exploitation In England” (2016)

34
Page 256



Barnardo’s — “Unprotected, Overprotected: Meeting The Needs Of Young
People With Learning Disabilities Who Experience, Or Are At Risk Of,
Sexual Exploitation” (2015)

House of Commons Communities and Local Government Committee:
Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham: some issues for Local
Government (18 November 2014)

OFSTED — The Sexual Exploitation of Children: It Couldn’t Happen Here,
Could It? (November 2014)

Guidance On Safeguarding, The Social Services And Wellbeing Act 2014
(March 2016)

Cardiff & Vale LSCB — Annual Progress Report 2014/2015

Cardiff & Vale LSCB — Business Plan 2015/16

Cardiff & Vale LSCB Draft Business Plan 2016/17

Barnardo’s/NatCen/UCL - Research on the Sexual Exploitation of Boys

and Young Men, Summary of Findings (August 2014)

St. Teilo’s School — Presentation on Child Sexual Exploitation (11 April
2016)

Community Care Webinar — Protecting Young People from Child Sexual
Exploitation: Addressing the Challenges (16 March 2016)

35
Page 257



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial
implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However,
financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are

implemented with or without any modifications.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal
implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters
under review are implemented with or without modification. Any report with
recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet / Council will set out any
legal implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions taken by
or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal power of the Council;
(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the
powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d)
be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by
the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and
properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in

all the circumstances.

36
Page 258




COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

The role of the Committee is to scrutinise, measure and actively promote
improvement in the Council’s performance in the provision of services and
compliance with Council policies, aims and objectives in the area of children

and young people, including:

e School Improvement

e Schools Organisation

e School Support Services

e Education Welfare & Inclusion

e Early Years Development

e Special Educational Needs

e Governor Services

e Children’s Social Services

e Children & Young Peoples Partnership
e Youth Services and Justice

e Play Services.

To asses the impact of partnerships with and resources and services provided
by external organisations including the Welsh Government, Welsh
Government Sponsored Public Bodies, joint local government services and
quasi-departmental non-government bodies on the effectiveness of Council

service delivery.

To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to
make recommendations on measures, which may enhance Council

performance and service delivery in this area.

37
Page 259




09¢ abed

Appendix A

APPENDIX 1

ALL-WALES NATIONAL ACTION PLAN FOR TACKLING CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION IN WALES 2016/17



APPENDIX 2

Examples Of CSE Cases

Case study 1 -K

K went to the Basement at 33 for support as she was no longer able to live at
home with her mother and siblings. She was age 17 years and assessed as
homeless and was offered a choice as to whether or not to choose to become
a child looked after by the local authority. Choosing to become a looked after
child, she was allocated a social worker. The initial assessment identified very
serious concerns that this child was being sexually exploited and a CSE
MASM was convened. The child was in real danger and following an
escalation of risks which put the lives of others in danger, she was placed in a
residential children’s home away from the Cardiff area. Regular review CSE
MASMs were convened and an effective safety plan running alongside the
looked after child plan was able to see the reduction of risk to CSE over time.

Services involved/ provided: e Looked After Children
e Social worker Education
e Hostel placement e Looked After Children
e Police Missing Person’s Health

coordinator e Sexual health services
e Police intelligence e Personal Adviser
¢ Residential placement e Careers Wales

e Specialist training for the
residential staff

39
Page 261



Case study 2 — The G family.

The G family is made up of 6 siblings — 3 girls and a boy aged 13 to 17 and 2
adult siblings. The girls were reported missing by their family when they failed
to return home over night. When the girls returned they claimed they had
been abducted and taken out of the area and sexually assaulted.

A police investigation discovered that the children had been groomed by adult
males and moved around the country for the purpose of sexual exploitation.
The case is ongoing.

The case is subject to regular review CSE MASMs which is ensuring that the
CSE safety plan is being effective. All four siblings as well as parents are
receiving support from agencies who are working to raise awareness of the
risk to CSE, reduce risks and increase protective factors.

Services involved/ provided:

e SARC e Sexual health services

e Police e Police Missing Person’s

e New Pathways coordinator

e FISS e Foster placements

e Education — schools e Barnardo’s Missing Person’s

e Education Welfare Advocate

e Looked After Children e Barnardo’s Seraf Service
Education e NSPCC Protect and

e Looked After Children Respect
Health

40
Page 262



Case Study 3

M is a 16 year old girl who is looked after by the local authority. She has been
reported missing numerous times in the last 6 weeks. She lives in a
residential placement because no foster placement can be found for her due
to the concerns.

She will not confide in any of the many professionals involved in her life and
wants only to return home with her family who will not have her. She does not
attend any form of education.

She has no steady friendship group but rather drifts from one group to another
without any ability to judge whether new friends are safe. She has had a
number of ‘boyfriends’ who are considerably older than her. She is using
drugs and alcohol. She exchanges sexual acts for cigarettes, drugs and
alcohol.

e Youth mentoring service e Looked After Children

e Social worker Education

e Residential placement e Action for Children

e Foster placements Counsellor

e Sexual health services e Barnardo'sUp2U

e Police Missing Persons service
Coordinator e Barnardo’s Missing

e Youth Service Person’s Advocate

e Looked After Children e Careers Wales
Health

41
Page 263



Appendix A

Case Study 4 - A

Ais age 13 years and lives at home with her family. A has learning
difficulties and attends school regularly. Last year A was in contact with adult
males in countries as far away as USA and Egypt via social media. Sexually
explicit messages and material was exchanged.

Some weeks ago A’s mother contacted children’s services to say that she
was concerned when A had not returned from walking the family dog and
had gone to look for her. She had found A in a field with a man and observed
a man in a car watching. When she approached the man got into a car that
had been waiting nearby.

Social worker

Sexual health services

Police Missing Persons Coordinator
Police CID

Barnardo’s Missing Person’s Advocate
School

NSPCC Protect and respect

Page 264



National Action Plan to Tackle Child Sexual Exploitation (Wales)

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is child abuse and a criminal act. CSE as defined in statutory guidance and the All Wales
Protocol is:

“Child sexual exploitation is the coercion or manipulation of children and young people into taking part in sexual activities. It
Is a form of sexual abuse involving an exchange of some form of payment which can include money, mobile phones and
other items, drugs, alcohol, a place to stay, ‘protection’ or affection. The vulnerability of the young person and grooming
process employed by perpetrators renders them powerless to recognise the exploitative nature of relationships and unable
to give informed consent”.

The Welsh Government is committed to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), an international
&yreement which protects the human rights of children under the age of 18, enshrined in the Rights of Children and Young
Iﬂl\l)ersons (Wales) Measure 2011.

o
Child abuse directly contravenes the UNCRC and its universal goals of provision, protection and participation. In compliance
with the UNCRC and specifically article 34, all children and young people must be protected from all forms of sexual
exploitation and sexual abuse.

This national action plan sets out a framework and minimum standards that Safeguarding Children Boards (SCBs) and
partner agencies should work collectively and individually towards and build on to:

e Prevent and protect children and young people from sexual exploitation;
e Provide responsive, appropriate and consistent support to those identified as being subject to or at risk of CSE;
e Contribute to the identification, disruption and prosecution of perpetrators.


http://www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Publication-pdfs/UNCRC_PRESS200910web.pdf

The four overarching outcomes of this national action plan are:

PREPARE: | Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies assume CSE to be present and have

specified objectives to support:-

- The identification of children and young people subject to or at risk of CSE

- Arange of appropriate responses and resources designed to improve well-being outcomes for
children subject to or at risk of CSE

PREVENT: | Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies have a prevention programme and responsive

services in place to help children and young people at risk of CSE and their families

PROTECT: | Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies actively protect children and young people

g-? from CSE, by working together to achieve the continuity and effectiveness of care plans for those

= children and young people subject to or at risk of CSE

RWRSUE: Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies have a clear and shared understanding about

8 how they can contribute to the disruption and prosecution of perpetrators and to the support of

victims through a consistent child centred approach

This plan is for use by all agencies, statutory and non-statutory, that have a responsibility for safeguarding specifically to
prevent and protect children from abuse, neglect or other forms of harm.

Page 2 of 12



Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

1. PREPARE - Overarching outcome:

Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies assume CSE to be present and have specified objectives to support:
- Theidentification of children and young people subject to or at risk of CSE
- Arange of appropriate responses and resources designed to improve well-being outcomes for children subject to or

at risk of CSE

1.1SCBs and partner agencies 1.1a Statutory safeguarding guidance including CSE July 2016 WG
have established a strategic guidance to be reviewed to ensure it reflects accurately
response to tackle CSE that new legislation including a clear definition of CSE that
reflects statutory guidance makes appropriate links with other associated risky
and aims to prevent and behaviours
protect children from abuse
1.1b SCBs and partner agencies contribute to and agree September | SCBs and partner
U revisions to the All Wales CSE protocol and definitions | 2016 agencies
g within the All Wales Child Protection Procedures
@
8 1.1c SCBs and partner agencies adopt and implement December SCBs and partner
< revisions to the All Wales CSE protocol and definitions | 2016 agencies
within the All Wales Child Protection Procedures
1.2 SCBs and partner agencies | 1.2a Effectiveness of SERAF assessment tool to be July 2016 WG
have established evaluated across agencies and improvement action
operational arrangements taken as needed
and practitioner tools to
éuspé) Zﬁéhsnlgslgtlgiﬁﬂgam 1.2b Service analysis of demand and need to include those ggfg mber ié: eE;]sCie;r;d partner

Page 3 of 12




Outcome Actions needed Timeline Responsibility to
take forward
range of appropriate resulting from risk / impact of CSE
responses
1.2c The availability and usefulness of risk assessment December | SCBs and partner
processes /tools, to be reviewed and improvement 2016 agencies
action taken as needed
1.3 SCBs and partner agencies | 1.3a SCBs have a CSE strategy and action plan in place March 2016 | SCBs and partner
assume CSE is present and which is incorporated into the SCBs work plan agencies
have identified children and
young people subject to or 1.3b SCBs prioritise work plans according to local issues March 2016 | SCBs and partner
at risk of CSE as a shared agencies
o priority
Q 1.3c Development of national response to address CSE January WG
Q 2016
D
1584 SCBs and partner agencies | 1.4a Development and agreement of a national data set to December WG and SCBs and
@ contribute to a national enable the collection of data that captures the profile, | 2015 partner agencies
shared dataset informed prevalence and response to CSE in Wales
through local evidence and
intelligence to improve .
understanding, profiling, 1.4b SCBs and.partner agencies to captyre and ret.urn data April 2016 SCBs and partner
and response to CSE to WG to inform both local and national collation and agencies
analysis of data
1.4c WG to publish a summary report on the CSE data April 2016 WG
submitted
1.4d Development of CSE_lnformatlon s.harl.ng systgms e.g. July 2016 SCBs and partner
CSE WASPI to contribute to effective information agencies
sharing in known or suspected CSE cases

Page 4 of 12




Outcome Actions needed Timeline Responsibility to
take forward
1.4e As statutory partner agencies of SCBs, probation July 2016 SCBs and partner
(Community Rehabilitation Companies and National agencies
Probation Services) will hold information about
individuals linked to CSE. SCBs (and where appropriate
partner agencies) should ensure effective information
sharing amongst partners to support this
1.4f Safeguarding quality assurance and reporting systems December SCBs and partner
to include CSE 2016 agencies
1.5 SCBs and partner agencies | 1.5a WG/SCBs and partner agencies to develop general December WG/ SCBs and
are active in informing all awareness-raising strategies and activities in respect of | 2016 partner agencies
U members of the community CSE (aimed at children, young people, their families
g of the role that they can and the general public)
® play to make the community
N safer from CSE
S
1.6 SCBs and partner agencies | 1.6a SCBs and partner agencies undertake a review and July 2016 SCBs and partner
ensure that the risk and analysis of their training needs in relation to CSE agencies
impact of CSE forms part of
safegua}rqing training for all 1.6b SCBs to develop a relevant multi-agency training July 2016 SCBs .and partner
staff, this includes . agencies
awareness raising ( pro_gra}mmg that promotes the bqard s aims and
including about those at objectives in relation to CSE (which seeks to
greater risk of CSE as a complement not duplicate individual partner agencies
result of their training)
vulnerabilities), warning
signs and the responsibility | 1 gc SCBs training sub-groups to lead on and report progress | D€cember | SCBs and partner
to report and respond to . . . L . 2016 agencies
CONCETNS to SCBs in relation to multi-agency training in relation to

Page 5 of 12




Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

CSE, and related risky behaviour (e.g. missing children)

1.7 SCBs and partner agencies
improvement agenda are
supported through
inspection activity that
evaluates the service
effectiveness in promoting
the safety and well-being of
children and young people

0/¢ abed

1.7a All inspection frameworks to include safeguarding and
well-being focus

1.7b SCBs and partner agencies to share inspection reports
and resulting action plans to inform shared SCB and
partner objectives regarding CSE and safeguarding

December
2016

Annually/
December
2016

Inspectorates

SCBs and partner
agencies

Page 6 of 12




Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

2.

PREVENT - Overarching outcome:

Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies have a prevention programme and responsive services in place to
help children and young people at risk of CSE and their families

2.1 Agencies preparedness for | 2.1a SCBs and partner agencies to develop mechanisms to December SCBs and partner
the implementation of the identify, map and assess risk and patterns of CSE 2016 agencies
Social Services and Well- within their areas
being (Wales) Act 2014
includes a focus on the 2.1b SCBs and partner agencies to develop best practice April 2016 SCBs and partner
well-being outcomes of approach to LAC placements of children and young agencies
children subject to or at risk people (at high risk of CSE) through effective
of CSE communication and cooperation arrangements. (LAs
should be aware of the requirement in the Care
- Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales)
Q Regulations 2015 to refer decisions about placements
18 out of area to a panel, and to notify relevant partners
N about the placement)
\I
2 SCBs and partner agencies | 2.2a SCBs and partner agencies to undertake /update a December SCBs and partner
have identified the range of needs assessment that enables them to understand: - 2016 agencies

preventative services to
support those at risk of CSE
in their locality

- Service demand in relation to CSE prevention

- The impact and effectiveness of the preventative
activity and services available to help those at risk
of CSE in their locality

- The impact and effectiveness of activity aimed at
changing perception, motivation and behaviour of
those likely to offend

- ldentify any gaps in service and areas for
development

- The impact and effectiveness of targeted
preventative activity and services available to

Page 7 of 12




Outcome

Actions needed

Responsibility to

Timeline

take forward

children and young people who have particular
vulnerabilities or risks associated with CSE

2.3 SCBs and partners 2.3a WG, SCBs and partner agencies to develop December WG, SCB and partner

agencies to hold each other mechanisms in relation to CSE prevention to:- 2016 agencies

to account for their - Monitor practice and ensure a consistent multi-agency

contribution to the safety response is applied

and protection of children - Disseminate good practice and promote a learning

and young people including culture

those at risk of CSE and

challenge practice shortfalls | 2.3b Amend interventions to reflect the local picture and December SCB and partner
ensure activity is kept updated relevant to service 2016 agencies
demand and emergent issues

SCBs and partner agencies | 2.4a SCBs and partner agencies to develop mechanisms December SCBs and partner

act to make Wales a hostile that raise awareness of CSE and how to report 2016 agencies

place for perpetrators of
CSE and empower children
and young people to make
positive choices

2/z abd

concerns including:

- Targeted campaigns (for such groups as vulnerable
children and young people, race and faith networks,
night time economy staff )

- SCBs and partner agencies to ensure safeguarding
training provided to all staff working with children and
young people that supports vigilance and confidence
to act on risky behaviours, signs of abuse, including
exploitation

- Knowledge or access to expertise regarding specific
risks such as those related to: gender, disability,
culture, modern technology/social networking, LAC
status etc

Page 8 of 12




take forward

Outcome Actions needed Timeline Responsibility to

3. PROTECT - Overarching outcome:
Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies actively protect children and young people from CSE by working
together to achieve the continuity and effectiveness of care plans for those children and young people subject to or at
risk of CSE
3.1 SCBs and partner agencies | 3.1la SCBs and partner agencies to review, evaluate and December SCBs and partner
promote the well-being of update their operational arrangements and training 2016 agencies
children and young people programmes to ensure that in relation to CSE:
who are subject to or at risk
of CSE including those at - Thresholds for intervention are understood and
greater risk of CSE as a consistently applied
result of their vulnerabilities - Staff get adequate supervision and support
- Interface between risk assessment and risk
management mechanisms are clear and understood
U - Partners work together at the earliest opportunity to
g coordinate assessments and action aimed at mitigating
@ risk
32 CSE is considered as part 3.2a Children, young people and their families are supported | July 2016 SCBs and partner
a of any risk management through a responsive child protection/care and support agencies
process /mechanisms plan aimed at reducing risk based on individual need
3.3 SCBs and partner agencies | 3.3a SCBs and partner agencies to undertake /update a December SCBs and partner
have identified the range of needs assessment that enables them to understand: 2016 agencies
services available /needed, - Service demand in relation to children and young
to help those children and people subject to or at risk of CSE
young people affected by - The impact and effectiveness of the activity and
CSE, in their locality services available to help those affected by CSE in
their locality
- Identify any gaps in services and areas for
development

Page 9 of 12



Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

3.4 SCBs and partners

/¢ abed

agencies to hold each other
to account for their
contribution to the safety
and protection of children
and young people subject to
CSE and challenge practice
shortfalls

3.4a SCBs and partners have mechanisms in place to assess
and challenge whether they are fulfilling their statutory
responsibilities to work in partnership to help protect
children and young people experiencing or at risk of
CSE

3.4b SCBs and partner agencies routinely evaluate the
difference /improvement made by changes in guidance,
operational systems practice makes to outcomes for
children and young people

July 2016

December
2016

SCBs and partner
agencies

SCBs and partner
agencies

Page 10 of 12




Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

4. PURSUE - Overarching outcome:

Safeguarding Children Boards and partner agencies have a clear and shared understanding about how they can
contribute to the disruption and prosecution of perpetrators and to the support of victims through a consistent child

centred approach

4.1 Make Wales a hostile place | 4.1a Problem profiles on CSE to be developed and to July 2016 Police
for perpetrators of CSE incorporate multi-agency data to be shared with SCBs.
through development of
robust investigative 4.1b Profiles to be reviewed annually with appropriate Annually/ Police
strategies to disrupt intelligence to help ensure a multi-agency response. December
perpetrator activity and 2016
better protect children and
young people 4.1c Ensure perpetrators of CSE are prosecuted where there | December Police
- is sufficient evidence to do so and the victims of CSE 2016
Q receive appropriate protection in court
«Q
® 4.1d Information exchange mechanisms to be developed July 2016 Police and
N . . . .
~ between police and probation to ensure coordinated Probation
o1 criminal justice response
4.1e Training and awareness programmes to include July 2016 SCBs and partner
disruption and protection strategies agencies
4.2 Crown Prosecution Service, | 4.2a Equip professionals to understand the CPS structure December SCBs and partner
Police and partners to work and to gather high quality evidence consistently and in 2016 agencies
collaboratively to deliver accordance with Achieving Best Evidence
guality and timely
investigations that meets 4.2b Develop working relationships between partner July 2016 SCBs and partner
the needs of the victim and agencies and the CPS Rape and Serious Sexual agencies
brings abusers to justice Offences (RASSO) Unit

Page 11 of 12




Outcome

Actions needed

Timeline

Responsibility to
take forward

4.3 Increased understanding of | 4.3a Analysis of experiences to ensure that victims are December SCBs and partner
the needs of young victims treated sensitively and given adequate support 2016 agencies
and witnesses of CSE
giving them a voice, 4.3b Develop an approach in responding to victims of CSE
ensuring they are treated where their needs are recognised consistently, where December SCBs and partner
fairly, sensitively and in an they are treated fairly, sensitively supported in an age 2016 agencies
age appropriate way appropriate way which avoids blame
4.4 Identifying and dismantling 4.4a Welsh Police Forces to be supported by partner December SCBs and partner
organised crime groups agencies in conducting operations relating to CSE 2016 agencies
targeting and exploiting involving groups and gangs
children and young people
o in our communities 4.4b Welsh Police Forces to work collaboratively with the December Police
Q Regional Organised Crime Unit and the National Crime | 2016
Q Agency to include CEOP
{? Welsh Police Forces to work | 4.5a Training and awareness programmes across all July 2016 SCBs and partner
~Jl with partner agencies to agencies to include disruption and protection strategies agencies
O identify and disrupt
perpetrators targeting 4.5b SCBs and partner agencies to develop formal July 2016 SCBs and partner
young people in our multiagency arrangements to effectively manage CSE agencies
communities risk and protect vulnerable young children within their
locality
4.5c SCBs and partner agencies to strengthen enforcement | July 2016 SCBs and partner
and adherence of licensing laws agencies
4.5d Utilise ancillary and civil orders to maximise effect to December Police
assist investigations and restrict and manage offenders | 2016

thereby supporting and safeguarding victims

Page 12 of 12




Agenda ltem 10

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD
17 MAY 2016

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

DRAFT SCHOOLS CAUSING CONCERN - MEMBERS VISITS

Purpose of Report

1. To provide Members with an update on the outcome of the latest series of visits to
schools causing concern in 2015/16. The visit were arranged to enable the
Members to explore the factors challenging the performance of schools which had

shown an unexpected drop in pupil performance last year.

2. To seek agreement to report the task group’s findings to the Cabinet Member for

Education and the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning.

3. To determine whether the Committee wishes to develop a further programme of
visits to schools, as identified by an assessment of the 2015 — 2016 pupil

performance results.
Background

4. On 15 September 2015 the Committee agreed their work programme for 2015/16,
which included the scrutiny of the advice, support and challenge of Cardiff's
schools categorised as causing concern. The Inquiry was programmed to take
place throughout the year, with head teachers and chairs of governors being

either invited in to County Hall, or visited within their schools.

5. The Committee agreed an interim report in November 2015, which was sent to
the Cabinet Member, who provided a full response in January 2016. The task
group subsequently agreed to re-focus its work to visit those schools that had
show an unexpected drop in pupil performance, as show in the previous year’'s

result. The change of focus was to better understand the causes for the change in

Page 277



performance, the challenges that the school is facing, actions put in place, and

the support being received from the Council and the Consortium.

Aim of the Visits

6. The Task Group’s key aim for each visit was for:

a. The Members to explore the factors challenging the performance of the
schools, whose results had shown an unexpected drop in performance,
as published in the 2014/15 School Results.

b. To enable the school to demonstrate its ambitions, capacity and
commitment to rapid and sustained improvement.

c. To identify any barriers that the school considers it is facing, which

could be resolved by action of the Council or the Consortium.

7. The Committee’s Task Group Members included, Councillors Cook, Chaundy,
Murphy and Rees, and Carol Cobert, Church in Wales Representative. The
Chairperson also extended an invitation to any Committee Member from a

School’s Electoral Ward.

8. The visits were also designed to offer constructive challenge to the Head Teacher
and Chair of Governors, as well providing feedback and observations that might
support the improvement of the schools performance. To aid in the review of the
school a visit feedback form was developed which included questions for the

Head Teacher and Chair of Governors to respond to, where appropriate, around:

The reasons for the dip Tracking and Support from
in performance monitoring Pupils the Council
Leadership Learning pathways Skills of the
Governing Body
Improvement Attendance Governor
process & Punctuality Training
Interventions Exclusions Governor Challenge

of performance

Teaching Support from the
Consortium

Page 278



9. The Members were provided as background information, the latest Estyn

inspection report, progress against the Estyn recommendations, School

Improvement plans, and details of which areas of performance had shown an

unexpectedly dip.

10.The Task Group arranged to visit three schools (one each term) to Bryn Hafod

Primary School, Thornhill Primary School and Eastern High, and met with Head

Teachers and (where possible) the Chair of Governors. The dip in performance

that prompted the Members to visit each school were:

Bryn Hafod Primary School

School Name Zifolm Zﬁglls BMA 1 it |sra nos 203:314 20;1:1;15‘ BMQ \ DIff | 5Rg nos
BRYN HAFOD PRIMARY SCHOOL 71.74 | 71.74 0.00[sRB1 | 75.68 | 55.88 -19.79|SRB 1
Thornhill Primary School
School Name Zilpac;lm 2(;315 BMAT pitr |sra nos 20(1:;14 20(1:2-'15 BMQ | Diff |cpg nos
THORNHILL PRIMARY SCHOOL 91.80 | 86.67 -5.14 94.74 | 89.09 3 -5.65
Eastern High School
ALL PUPILS Level 1 Threshold
2015
2015 (from
School Name 2012 2013 2014 Target | school)
Eastern High School 79.8 78.1 79.8 80.6 63.7
ALL PUPILS Level 2 Threshold
2015
2015 (from
School Name 2012 2013 2014 Target | school)
Eastern High School 45.3 43.9 43.9 44.3 39.3
ALL PUPILS Level 2+ Threshold
2015
2015 (from
School Name 2012 2013 2014 Target | school)
Eastern High School 25.0 25.4 21.5 30.3 13.9

Page 279




Outcome of School visits

11.The Members were pleased to meet with the Head Teacher and where possible
the Chair of Governors. The Members took the opportunity to be shown around
the schools, observing where possible lessons and facilities. The information
provided and discussions around the areas of concern were open and honest.
The Members were also pleased with all three of the visits, and considered that
the Head Teachers had each identified the key areas for improvement, and these

were being supported appropriately by the Council and Consortium.

12.Each of the Members who visited the schools completed the pro forma with their
own perspective on the answers provided during their discussions with the Head
Teacher, around the areas of interest highlighted through the questions listed in

the visit pro forma.

13.The visit pro forma also included an opportunity for the Members to provide their
overall comments on the visit, areas for improvement, future actions and any
other comments. Detailed below are the comments provided by Members for

each visit:

Bryn Hafod Primary School

Overall comments on visit Areas for Further Other comments
improvement actions

The Members were very pleased Investigate the None None

with the progress being made by progress being

the new head teacher since her made on the

appointment in September 2015. outstanding safety

issues and building
The Members judged that the work

performance assessments made by
the Head Teacher following her
appointment were well documented
and that the Head Teacher had
implemented a number of key
changes to address the issues she
had identified.

Page 280



The Members agreed to:

» Monitor the impact of the changes
brought in, through the
implementation of the changes by
the Head Teacher, prior to the

Estyn inspection in January 2017.

+ Seek feedback from the Chair of
Governors on the Governing
Body’s:
e response to the dip in
performance
e involvement in school’s
improvements process
e fully trained in performance
data analysis and up to
date with school

performance.

Thornhill Primary School

Restructure of leadership team and

teachers is now working well

None

Appointment
ofa LA

Governor to

None

Recently appointed Deputy head provide a

has brought in a number of new more

ideas to improve performance and balanced

better engage with parents and the governing

community body

Staff are much more proactive

Eastern High School

Now feels like a “normal school” Lessons for New
Western High

School needs extra support for high | Need extra training | CAMHS —

level behaviour issues + mental days for staff when | extra Head should be on-

Page 281




Heath (CAMHS). Behaviour, child
psychologist

Very Good

With the appointment of a new
Head and two deputies the school is
showing signs of positive
improvement both in teaching and

behaviour.

move to new school

About 12 pupils
have significant
behavioural
problems who need

special help

Maths and literacy.
Attendance needs
to improve

There is a need to
improve teachers
with a more
consistent
approach across

key stages.

resources

site at all times — or
an experienced
Deputy — apparently
it is proposed that
Head is off-site.

Be aware of, and
quickly address, any
conflicts between
the staff of the two
merged schools.
Draw line in the
sand.

Good governing
Body.

Boundaries on
behaviour — and
keep them.

More support from
high level behaviour
issues + mental
Health (CAMHS)
Liaison with
children’s services —
better — full time
child protection

officer at school.

Future Scrutiny of schools

14.Members may wish to agree to undertake further visits to schools causing

concern during the summer term or continue the visits following the publication of

the next set of school performance data in September.

Way Forward

15. Committee Members will have the opportunity to discuss the information provided

in this report, and agree whether any of the information included in the feedback

Page 282




from the visits should be forwarded to the Cabinet Member for Education, Director
of Education and Lifelong Learning or the schools. Members may also wish to

discuss the future scrutiny of Cardiff Schools.

Legal Implications

16. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications.
However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters under review are
implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations
for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising
from those recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council
must (a) be within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural
requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person
exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with
the procedural requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure
Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken
having regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be

reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.
Financial Implications

17.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications
at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, financial
implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented
with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision
that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from

those recommendations.

Page 283



RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to discuss the information provided in this report
and:
i. Agree on the way forward for the continued scrutiny of Cardiff's Schools and
overspends;
ii. Agree to report the outcome of the visits to the Cabinet Member for Education
and Director of Education and Lifelong Learning; and

iii. To identify any areas for further investigations.
DAVID MARR

Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 284



Agenda ltem 11

CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEPOLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
17 May 2016

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
ANNUAL REPORT 2015 - 17

Background

1. The Council’s Constitution requires all Scrutiny Committees to ‘report annually to
the Council on their workings and make recommendations for future work

programmes and amended working methods if appropriate’.

2. A copy of the Scrutiny Committee’s draft Annual Report 2015-16 is attached at
Appendix A. This report outlines the Committee’s main activities from June 2015
to April 2016. Wherever possible the report identifies the impact that the
Committee has had, in terms of the Cabinet’s responses to the Committee’s
comments and recommendations. Where responses on specific topics have not
yet been received, these will be added to the Report prior to it being laid before

Council if possible.
Way Forward

3. The Committee’s Principal Scrutiny Officer will present the draft report at the
meeting, and Members will discuss and agree any changes that Members feel
need to be made. The Scrutiny Officer will then make any required amendments,
and send the agreed Annual Report for presentation by the Committee Chair at

June 2016’s Full Council meeting..

Page 285



Legal Implications

4. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and
recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this
report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications.
However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters under review are
implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with recommendations
for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising
from those recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council
must (a) be within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural
requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person
exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with
the procedural requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure
Rules; (e) be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken
having regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be

reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.
Financial Implications

5. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to consider, if necessary amend, and approve the
attached draft Annual Report 2015-16 to be laid before Council.

DAVID MARR
Interim Monitoring Officer
11 May 2016

Page 286



Appendix A

A Report of:

Children & Young People Scrutiny
Committee

Annual Report 2015 - 2016
May 2016

N\

2\

~A
CARDIFF
CAERDYDD

The City and County of Cardiff Council
Page 287




CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Councillor Richard Cook
(Chairperson)

|/

(_30unC|IIor Dlanne Rees Councillor Jim Murphy

Councillor Jo Boyle Councillor Lynda Thorne

Co-opted Members:

‘. t - 1 1 |i \ \
Mrs Patricia Arlotte Carol Cobert Vacant Mrs Hayley Smith

Roman Catholic Church in Wales Parent Governor Parent Governor
Representative Representative Representative Representative

Ms Catrin Lewis (Parent Governor Representative) resigned in February 2016

Page 288


http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1195&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1205&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1196&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=6973&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1166&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1207&Language=
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,4274,4280&parent_directory_id=2865&id=1212&Language=

Councillor Richard Cook
Chairperson of the Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee
May 2016

Page 289



INTRODUCTION

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee plays an important role in
assessing service performance and informing service and policy development
across a range of Council services, including all aspects of Education, Social Care
for Children, Children’s Play and the Youth Service.

This report presents the Committee’s main activities during 2015-16 and uses
where ever possible the National Welsh Characteristics of Good Scrutiny to

ensure that there are:

e Better outcomes - Democratic accountability drives improvement in public
service.

e Better decisions - Democratic decision making is accountable, inclusive and
robust.

e Better engagement — The public is engaged in democratic debate about

current and future delivery of public services.

Between May 2015 and April 2016 the Committee Members have undertaken
training in performance information and budgeting, and visited front line services.
The Committee has scrutinised a wide range of topics contributing to the
development and improvement of services for children and young people, a list of

which is set out below under the following headings:

¢ Inquiries — Where the Committee has undertaken an examination of a topic
over a period of time, resulting in a formal report to the Cabinet. The

Committee has also undertaken a number of short one day investigations.

e Policy Development — Where the Committee has contributed to the
Council’s policy development processes by considering draft policy

documents.

e Pre-decision - Where the Committee has evaluated and commented on
policy proposals before they go to the Cabinet, giving the Cabinet the

opportunity to know Scrutiny Members’ views prior to making their decision.

Page 290



Monitoring - Where the Committee has undertaken monitoring of the
Council’s performance and progress in implementing actions previously
agreed. The Committee has also set up two Monitoring Panels, one for

Budget monitoring and the other for Performance monitoring

Call-In - Where a Member has invoked the Call-in procedure under the
Council’s constitution, to review a Cabinet decision prior to its

implementation.

Inquiries

*
L %4

X/
L X4

X/
o

*,

*,

L4

The Effectiveness of School Governors
Child Sexual Exploitation

Schools Causing Concern

Procurement of external fostering service

Cost of accommodating Looked After Children

Committee Panels

7/
L X4

Budget Monitoring

% Performance Monitoring

Policy Development

Regional Adoption Services

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act
Youth Guarantee

Prevent Strategy

Long-term Plan for Education (Cardiff 2020)

Scrutiny of Central South Education Consortium

Pre-decision Scrutiny

>

L)

S

X/
°

X/
L %4

2015-16 Budget Proposals
Corporate Parenting Strategy
Play Strategy

Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy

Page 291



Performance Monitoring

®,

% ESTYN Inspection monitoring

% Children’s Services — Quarterly Performance Monitoring

¢ Education and Lifelong Learning — Schools Annual Report 2014/15 and
quarterly performance reports

CSSIW Evaluation on Social Care in Cardiff in 2013/14 (Jointly held with

Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee)

X3

%

3

%

Central South Education Consortium — Annual Performance Report

X/
L X4

Integrated Family Support

X3

%

Corporate Parenting Annual Report

+ Families First Annual Report

Member Briefings

®,

% Social Services Managed Team
% School Organisation Planning Proposals

« Pool of Social Workers

Call-in

< Welsh Medium Schools Catchment Areas

Inspection Reports

% CSSIW - Inspection Report on Children’s Services
« Estyn — Monitoring Visit Letter
% WAO - Corporate Assessment

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee has held 12 full Committee
meetings, and two joint meeting with Community and Adult Services Scrutiny
Committee since May 2015. As a result of the consideration of over 41 reports
covering policy development, pre-decision scrutiny, monitoring progress and
service area performance, the Scrutiny Committee Chairperson sent 32 letters to
the Cabinet and officers, which included requests for additional information,

comments, and observations on items considered at the Committee Meetings.

Page 292



Also as a result of these meetings the Committee agreed to write to the relevant
Cabinet Member identifying 13 recommendations for the Cabinet and officers to
consider. The Committee received timely responses from the Cabinet to all letters
that requested a response. In addition officers have provided information where
requested and agreed to amend future reports in response to the Committee’s
requests. Members of the Committee have also participated in a cross cutting
Task and Finish Group inquiry along with Members from other Scrutiny

Committees, namely a joint inquiry into the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Page 293



PUBLIC QUESTIONS TO SCRUTINY — BETTER
ENGAGEMENT

The Council’s five scrutiny committees regularly invite citizens and representatives
of community and third sector organisations to provide evidence at committee
meetings and Task & Finish inquiries. During 2015/16 the committee has received
advice, comments and concerns from numerous people who have either been

invited or requested attendance at Committee.

During the summer of 2015 the scrutiny chairs introduced arrangements for public
questions from the City’s Third Sector Council (C3SC) around issues of interest to
the C3SC. On this occasion C3SC did not identify any issues within the terms of
reference of this Committee, but the Committee remains willing to receive

questions from third sector bodies and citizens.

The Committee is committed to ensuring that citizens are involved in Governance
and that the “voice” of local people and communities are heard as part of decision
making and policy development. To this end the Committee has encouraged the
participation of the public at numerous meetings, with representatives from the

following external organisation participating in the Committee work:

Barnardos’ YMCA (SHOT)
Action for Children South Wales Police
Grangetown Play Centre C&V Health Board
Chair C&V LSCB Probation Services

Safer Wales / Streetlife Ely Play Centre

NSPCC Youth Offending Service

Head Teachers School Governors
Sexual Assault Resource Centre Welsh Government

Public Health Wales

Page 294



Inspection and Assessment of the Committee’s work —

Better Decisions

The work of this Committee has been assessed by her Majesty’s Inspectorate for
Education and Training in Wales (Estyn), the Care and Social Services
Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) and the Wales Audit Office (WAQ) Corporate
Assessment, during the last 12 months. The assessments have been undertaken
through attendance as observers at Committee meetings, review of reports,
minutes and letters, together with interviews with Councillor Richard Cook, the

Committee Chairman and Officers.

The aim of each of the assessments was to review and acknowledge the
Committee’s key role in holding the Executive to account, aiding in the pre-
decision scrutiny of policy development helping challenge and monitor the

performance of services provided for Children and Young People in Cardiff.

During the past year all three Inspectorates have provided reports on Cardiff

Council, which included an assessment of the work of Scrutiny.

WAO - Governance — “The Council’s scrutiny function is improving. Actions from
scrutiny meetings are issued to relevant Cabinet Members by the Scrutiny

Committee Chair, and our review found that Cabinet Members respond promptly’”.

Estyn — Improve the Scrutiny of local authority education services and
partnership working — “The authority has made satisfactory progress in

addressing this recommendation.

The authority has responded well to this recommendation in a timely and
appropriate manner. The Council has made changes to the scrutiny committee
structure and responsibilities. There are now five scrutiny committees, and each is
responsible for the scrutiny of partnership work and its impact, in its respective
work programme. The children and young people scrutiny committee’s work

programme appropriately includes arrangements for the scrutiny of all education

Page 295



services for children and young people. This includes services delivered through

community settings and through schools.

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is increasingly effective. The
Committee has agreed a framework to provide its members with structured
development and training opportunities. This training has helped scrutiny members
to improve their understanding of the issues relating to the achievements and
attainment of Children and Young People, and how to interpret the data sets used
by education officers and schools to track outcomes. The Committee has put in
place a number of actions to better manage its range of duties and the size of its
agenda. These include a programme of pre-meetings and briefings, as well as
monitoring panels enabling members to identify clear lines of inquiry for follow-up
at committee meetings. These changes have helped the scrutiny committee

become more focused.

The Committee also makes good use of task and finish groups to follow up
identified areas in greater detail and to produce reports for the wider scrutiny
Committee. The task and finish groups are working well. Their findings have, for
example, led to improvements in the way the local authority appoints its school
governors and matches governors’ skill sets to the needs of a governing body.
Following each scrutiny meeting, the chair writes to the cabinet member setting
out findings and recommendations from the meeting, and these are generally clear
and challenging. For example, following the task and finish group, which met with
head teachers from schools categorised as red, the chair of scrutiny’s letter
included challenges and recommendations to the education department and the
regional consortium. However, the letter does not include any challenges or

recommendations to the schools they scrutinised”.

CSSIW - Theme 1 - Providing Direction — “Scrutiny arrangements had been
strengthened. Considerable investment in promoting improvement in Children’s
Services using expert advice to support better practice and strengthen scrutiny

arrangements”.

Page 296



Committee Member Development — Better Decisions

Scrutiny is a Member-led function whose success is closely linked to the capacity
and capabilities of the Members who sit on Scrutiny Committees. The Scrutiny
Team therefore worked closely with colleagues across the Council to provide a
continuous range of opportunities for Members to build or refresh their Scrutiny
skills, and to extend their knowledge and insight into a range of issues relevant to

their Scrutiny role.

The Committee undertook a four-module programme of school performance and
analysis training to further support the Council in improving the educational
outcomes for its pupils. These outlined the various levels of accountability and
performance reporting that underpins schools performance, with input from
Scrutiny officers, corporate performance officers, managers from South Central
Wales Consortium and the Council’'s Education Service. The Committee also
holds Committee pre-meetings to discuss, analyse and understand the issues
being considered, and where necessary asks for further clarification of information.

From this, the Members established a number of lines of inquiry for the meeting.

Members of the Committee participated actively in briefings provided in the lead
up to the Budget scrutiny meeting in February. The Members also agreed to set up
a Budget Monitoring Panel and a Performance Monitoring Panel. These were
developed to better focus the work of the Members on monitoring Directorate
performance, and to reduce the number of items considered at Committee
meetings. Members received briefings and guidance on various aspects of

expenditure and performance.

Page 297



Highlights from the Committee’s work during 2015/16

This section of the Annual Report presents highlights of the Committee’s activities
during 2015-16. The report identifies what the scrutiny committee was trying to

achieve in each piece of scrutiny, and what it actually achieved.

Task & Finish Group Inquiries — Better outcomes

A key part of the Committee’s work is identification and investigate of a key area of
concern, to enable better outcomes for public services and drive improvement in
service provision. These are often areas which are not being actively worked on by
a Directorate, or which are cross cutting in nature, involving several Directorate
and partner organisations. The outputs from these investigations are reported
back to the Cabinet Member for consideration, and — where appropriate — the

implementation of the Committee’s recommendations.

The Appointment and Effectiveness of Local Authority School

Governors

The Committee agreed to undertake a phased inquiry into Local Authority School
Governors (LASG). The first phase of the inquiry was held in 2014 /15 to gain an
understanding of the role of school governors; assess the level of local authority
governor vacancies across Cardiff’'s schools. The key issue that the Members
anticipated achieving was identify ways in which the skill base of local authority
governors could be improved, the process by which local authority governors are
appointed be improved and the number of local authority governors vacancies

reduced.

The Members received and reviewed evidence from key professionals and
supporting organisations and agreed a report. The Members recommended that
the Council delegate its powers of LEA Governor Appointment to a cross party

Member Panel. The Director of Education, Monitoring Officer and a representative

Page 2398



from the Cardiff Governors Association would act as advisors to the Panel, the
Panel also should ensure that appointees had the appropriate skills for the

Governing Body.

The Cabinet Member subsequently confirmed support for these proposals
and recommended to amend the Constitution at the council meeting on 29
January 2015 and was implemented at the beginning of 2015/16. The
Committee was pleased to see that its recommendations were fully

implemented.

The second phase of the inquiry was held during June and July 2015. The
expected result from this phase was the identification of key issues to improve the
effectiveness of Governing Bodies. The Members received background
information in respect of the support and training of school Governing Bodies, as

well as the findings of a survey of 599 Governors.

The Task & Finish group and the Committee agreed ten specific recommendations
for the Cabinet to consider, which covered: the Effectiveness of the Governing
Body, the Support for School Governing Bodies; and the Training of Governors,
which if all implemented would over time improve the effectiveness of Cardiff

Schools’ Governing Bodies.

The Cabinet Member responded to the inquiries recommendations in a detailed
letter dated October 2015.

In the letter the Cabinet Member agreed to all the recommendations except
for “That the Cabinet explores whether there would be benefits from the
Governors Support Services being transferred fully to the Central South
Consortium”. The Committee was pleased to learn that the Inquiry’s
recommendations were also reviewed during the recent Estyn Inspection,
which commented: “the task and finish groups are working well. Their
findings have, for example, led to improvements in the way the local
authority appoints its school governors and matches governors’ skill sets to

the needs of a governing body”.

Page 299



Schools Causing Concern

Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee was concerned at the number of
schools classified by Estyn as “causing concern”. The Members agreed to review
the improvement action for a number of schools together with the support and
advice provided by the Council and Consortium. Following the completion of these
meetings and visits the Members identified a number of issues which they
captured in a report approved by Committee in November 2015. The report
included 14 recommendations for the Cabinet Member and Consortium to
consider. These covered the school improvement process; Governing Bodies and

Governors’ involvement in school improvement; and school support categorisation.

The Committee was pleased to receive the Cabinet Member’s answer to the
inquiry’s findings and recommendations in January 2016. She provided a
full response to the issues raised in the first phase of the inquiry, and
explained the work which was now being undertaken to improve the services

and support for these specific schools.

The Members agreed to refocus the second phase of the inquiry to visit schools
which had experienced unexpected recent dips in pupil performance. The
Members were particularly interested to find out what had cause the dip in
performance, what actions had been put in place and what support and advice the
schools had received. The Members have already visited a number of schools, but

this inquiry is still ongoing. It plans to report back to Committee in the summer.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

The Committee agreed to undertake a Task & Finish Inquiry into Child Sexual
Exploitation in Cardiff, as concerns had been raised during last year’s inquiry into
Trafficking. The Director of Social Services also highlighted it as an issue of
concern. The Members organised the inquiry to assess the robustness of the CSE
strategy, the preventative measures in place and the level of the Council’s and

partner organisations response to incidents of CSE. It agreed to explore

Page 300



partnership working and resource allocation associated with managing CSE in
Cardiff. Members were also interested in assessing the scale of CSE in some

communities.

On 7 January 2016, the Director of Social Services asked the CSE Task Group to
review the draft Cardiff CSE Strategy, which was due to be considered by the
Cabinet on 10 March 2016. The Task Group reviewed the draft Strategy and
Action Plan made a number of observations and recommendations for
consideration by the Directorate prior to the implementation of the Strategy, which

were reported to Committee and sent to the Cabinet Member.

The Committee were pleased to receive a letter clarifying a number of points
that the Committee identified, and outlining the approach being taken by
partners in Cardiff, in partnership with the Local Safeguarding Children’s
Board, to make sure that the Council has a coherent starting point from

which to strengthen prevention and intervention in relation to CSE in Cardiff.

The Task Group has continue its investigations into CSE in Cardiff and has heard
from third sector organisations, the Police, Cardiff & Vale University Health Board,
Probation, Youth Offending Service, Education, Welsh Government and the Local
Safeguarding Children’s Board. The Members have also considered the All Wales

Protocol and best practice examples from other Local Authorities.

The Task Group is expected to report its findings to the Committee’s May meeting

Page 301



Policy Development & Pre-Decision Scrutiny
— Better Decisions

A key part of the Committee’s work is the review and assessment of effectiveness
of the Council’s policies which will impact of the lives of Children & Young People
in Cardiff. The Committee always ensures that its work programme enables the
scrutiny of any policy development and the pre-decision of any Cabinet report

seeking approval for a strategy or policy affecting Children & Young People.

The Committee has during the past year undertaken pre-decision scrutiny of the

following key policies:

National & Regional Adoption Services

The Committee had previously reviewed the establishment of a National and
Regional Adoption Service in 2014/15. It wished to receive a further update on the
implementation of the service, further reviewing the structure, the role of the
central team, governance arrangements and performance measures to ensure
that they were fit for purpose. This was arranged at Committee’s October 2015

meeting.

The Committee was pleased with the progress being made by the National
Adoption Services in particular the Governance and Operation. Members
also welcomed the additional performance data as well as the positive

picture it was now showing.
The Members recommended that that the scrutiny of the National and Regional

Adoption Service should continue, to enable the Committee to be assured that the

services are providing an appropriate service for Cardiff's Looked After Children.

Page 3602



Prevent Strategy

The Committee agreed to review how the Government’s Prevent Strategy is being
implemented in Cardiff. The Committee was interested to hear how various
partners were working together and how the Strategy was being developed to

work in Cardiff.

The Committee was informed that Welsh Government was still developing an
updated guidance and self assessment tool. Members considered the training and
awareness raising to be of key importance, and requested that specific training
must be developed for Councillors. In addition Members felt that clearer links

needed to be made with Council directorates.

The Committee subsequently received a very positive response from the
Prevent Coordinator, which responded to all the points raised by the
Members, agreed to organise Training for Members, and to ensure that the

strategy clearly identifies links with all Council Directorates.

Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014

The Committee requested a series of reports on the progress being made to
ensure the Council is prepared to implement the Social Services and Well-being
(Wales) Act 2014.

The Committee initially considered the Regional Implementation Plan, which had
been submitted to Welsh Government on 16 October 2015. Members noted that
the Plan reflects the nine work streams being delivered through the Sustainable
Social Services Programme and includes a risk assessment of the tasks required
to implement the Act. The Members also reviewed the governance structure for
this Programme, which included regional task and finish groups for each work

stream and lead co-ordinating officers. The Committee requested further reports

Page 303



giving more detail on the implementation on the areas of the Act that will introduce

the greatest change, namely:

e Information, Advice and Assistance Service

e Financial Assessment and Charging

e Planning and promoting Preventative Services
o Eligibility/Assessment of Need

e Performance Measures

e Advocacy.

The Members are now receiving a programme series of briefing papers
covering each of the above elements. Members are providing feedback on
each work stream so that the regional task & finish groups and lead co-
ordinating officers can take into considerations the comments, concerns

and recommendations of the Committee.

2016-17 Budget Proposals

The Council’'s Constitution allows for Scrutiny Committees to consider the draft
Cabinet budget proposals prior to their consideration by the Cabinet and Full
Council. The Committee considered the Council’s draft Corporate Plan and draft
budgetary proposals for 2016 -17, including their detailed savings proposals and
Capital Programme at its meeting in February 2016. It reviewed the draft
Corporate Plan and budget savings proposals, and tested their impact on the

outcomes for Children and Young People.

The Committee expressed concern around the budget consultation exercise
undertaken during December 2015, as Members considered that the weight given
in the formulation of the budget to such a small sample was overstated. The
Members also expressed concern around the achievability of a number of budget
savings proposals. In particular Members were concerned that the savings in

respect of tuition of children who are not educated in school could have a

Page 304



detrimental impact on their educational outcomes. The Members also expressed
concern that the Play Service savings proposals did not allow for the continuity of

the service during the transfer of facilities.

The Committee’s letter was considered by Cabinet and Council during their
deliberations on the proposals. The Cabinet Member for Corporate Services
and Performance also responded to the letter providing a full explanation on
the specific budget savings points raised by the Committee and also
provided assurance that the review of the budget consultation would include

the comments made by the Committee.

Page 305



Performance Monitoring — Better outcomes

The Committee has a clearly defined role in the Council’s improvement and
governance arrangements, and its work programme includes a high level of the
monitoring and review of Directorate performance, resource management, target

setting and improvement management.

This year the Committee reviewed the level of Member involvement in monitoring
performance and budget, particularly at Committee. The Committee agreed to set
up a Budget Monitoring Panel and a Performance Monitoring Panel to determine
whether this would free up some time at Committee and better focus the Members’
analysis of information through an ongoing informal panel that reported back to the

Full Committee.

Budget Monitoring Panel

The Committee agreed to create a Budget Monitoring Panel to more effectively
investigate each Directorate’s progress in achieving the Council’s agreed savings

proposals, and in managing any potential expenditure overspends during the year.

The Panel agreed a programme of four meetings to review the Cabinet Budget
Monitoring reports as and when they are published. The Panel has met three
times this year and has reviewed the Month 4, 6 and 9 Cabinet budget monitoring
reports. The outcome of each panel meeting has been reported to Committee and
appropriate letters sent to Directors seeking clarification on savings programme,
details of funding calculations and a commitment to undertake a detailed

investigation.

All requests for information have been responded to promptly and reported

to Members at the next Panel meeting.

Page 306



Performance Monitoring Panel

The Committee agreed to create a Performance Monitoring Panel to more deeply

investigate each Directorate’s progress against the key performance indicators.

The Panel has undertaken its work during the pre-meeting before Committee as it
was subsequently felt that the Corporate Performance Reports were better

reviewed at a public meeting.

The three pre-meetings already held have enabled the Members to
understand in more detail the narrative behind many of the indicators, and
Members have requested clarification on particular indicators, background
information and a commitment to undertake more detailed investigation into

the reasons for variations in performance.

The pre-meeting format has worked well and it is anticipated that this format

will continue in the future.

Quarterly Performance Reports — Children’s Services

During 2015/16 the Committee noted generally improving performance across
many indicators; however they expressed their concern at a few indicators
showing reduction in performance. The Committee has reviewed each quarterly
corporate performance report together with a catalogue of local indicators which

the Members have requested to regularly monitor.

The Committee has reviewed all of the local performance indicator reports in
detail, following which the Committee has always written expressing their
concern about areas where performance was either slowly reducing or had
experienced a sudden dip in Performance, Members have also written
passing on their appreciation of the work officers had made in those areas

where performance has improved.

Page 307



Performance Reports — Education and Lifelong Learning

The Committee continued its new approach to the scrutiny of educational
performance by scheduling throughout the year examination of particular aspects
of performance, in addition to an overview of Annual Performance in January. This
approach has, however, been seen to have created duplication in reporting, and

as such will be reviewed during the development of next year’s work programme.

The performance monitoring reports enable Committee to review, assess and
challenge the implementation of all actions and thereby the delivery of high quality
education and improved outcomes for children and young people in Cardiff's

Schools.

The Committee has regularly written to the Cabinet Member seeking

clarification on actions and recommended improvements in performance.

Central South Consortium — Annual Performance Report

The Committee considered the Consortium’s draft business plan and reviewed the
agreed business plan as part of its consideration of the Education Business Plan.
The Committee’s key task was to ensure that the two business plans fitted

together in ensuring the improvement of outcomes of Cardiff’s pupils.

The Committee also reviewed the monitoring and assessment of the work of the
Consortium in Cardiff, and agreed to continue to do this at three meetings a year.
The Members also discussed how best the five participating local authority’s
Scrutiny Committees could scrutinise the strategic direction and output of the
Consortium, and agreed initially to enable the Chairpersons of all five scrutiny

committees to meet to undertake a more strategic overview.

The Committee at its Meeting in March queried the Director of Education and

the Consortium as to whether the two Business plans did complement each

Page 308



other in driving forward improvements in outcome for Cardiff’s pupils. The
Members were reassured to receive confirmation that both Business plans

did ensure Cardiff’s pupil outcomes would improve during the year.

ESTYN Inspection Report

An ESTYN inspection of educational services in Cardiff took place in the summer
of 2011, to help form a judgment on the local education authority’s performance.
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector was of the opinion that the local authority was in
need of significant improvement. An additional follow up monitoring visit was
undertaken in February 2014, which recognised that progress had been made, but

that there was still more that the local authority needed to do.

The Committee continued to monitor the service area’s progress in improving
educational attainment, and received regular briefings and progress reports

throughout the year.

The Committee continued to work to address its actions designed to address the

Estyn recommendations directed to the scrutiny committee:

o Ensure that the Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee receive clear,
accurate and up to date information, together with improved quality analysis

in all school performance reports;

. Develop and agree a clear protocol on the roles and responsibilities of the
Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee and the Cardiff Partnership

Board Scrutiny Panel in respect of the performance of education services;

o Develop and deliver a formal programme of training, covering education
performance, analysis, and assessment, for Children & Young People

Scrutiny Committee Members; and

o Establish a programme to scrutinise the Education and Lifelong Learning

Directorate’s delivery of its Monitoring Revisit Action Plan which addresses

Pags 309



Estyn’s recommendations and which will improve educational performance in

Cardiff schools.

The final Estyn inspection was undertaken in January 2016, which assessed the
Council’s progress against all six recommendations. The outcome of the
assessment was that the Council had made satisfactory progress and was

removed from Estyn monitoring.

In respect of the recommendations directed at the Scrutiny Committee, the
inspection letter stated that “The children and young people scrutiny
committee’s work programme appropriately includes arrangements for the
scrutiny of all education services for children and young people. This
includes services delivered through community settings and through
schools. The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is increasingly
effective. The Committee has agreed a framework to provide its members
with structured development and training opportunities. This training has
helped scrutiny members to improve their understanding of the issues
relating to the achievements and attainment of Children and Young People,
and how to interpret the data sets used by education officers and schools to

track outcomes”.

CSSIW Evaluation on Social Care in Cardiff in 2014/15
(Joint CYP & CASSC Scrutiny)

The Care and Social Service Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) Performance
Evaluation Report 2014-15 of the City of Cardiff Council Social Care Services
provides their judgements on both Adult Services and Children’s Services, and
details their findings on the key strengths as well as areas for development and

improvement.

Page 310



The report takes into account the Director of Social Services Annual Report 2014-
15, as well as the views of other auditors, and draws on inspection work
undertaken during the year. It also provides a summary of the overall review and
evaluation of performance for 2014- 2015. The main messages in the summary

are:

e The Director’s report presents a clear picture of the challenges and areas of

progress made, as well as clearer aims for improvement;

e Performance indicators show some key areas requiring improvement

although the Council is moving in the right direction;

e Improvements are required in reducing the number of people waiting for
Hospital discharge, and Children’s intake and assessment needs continued

improvement;

e Planned appointments of assistant directors should enable the department
to:
o Take up the strategic challenge it faces;
o Promote integrated services with Health and the Vale of Glamorgan;
o Manage new models of care;

o Promote service users well being in ever increasing financial restraint.
e There is strong corporate support for the delivery of social services;

e Elected Members are briefed and understand the implications of the Social

Services and Wellbeing Act;

e There is good corporate understanding of the challenges facing the
department, and the difficulties it faces in its efforts to provide services to

the most vulnerable.
Following consideration of the Inspection report The Joint Committee wrote

to the Cabinet Member setting out the following comments and concerns

that related to Children’s Services:

Page 311



to prepare an action plan to address the areas for improvement
highlighted in the CSSIW report;

That the Director of Social Services to provide a written briefing on
our readiness to implement the Social Services and Well Being Act
(Wales) 2014 to our January 2016 committee meetings, with progress
reports on each work stream to come each month to subsequent

committee meetings;

Be informed about how the Directorate proposes to monitor
performance in the critical area of Personal Education Plans for

Looked After Children and to be informed how this will be reported;

Provide Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Members

with sight of the review into recruitment of Personal Advisors;
Provide reassurance regarding the clarity of the various

responsibilities and roles for early intervention and prevention

services.

Page 342



Committee Briefing Reports — Better outcomes

The Committee agreed to receive briefing papers outside the normal Committee
agenda so that they could be more effectively reviewed. The Committee agreed to

receive these briefings as and when they were available.

Subjects covered included:
e Social worker vacancies and the pool of social workers
e Budget scrutiny

e Schools organisation plans.
The outcome from the Members’ review of the briefings has been reported to

Committee and appropriate letters sent to Directors. All requests for

information have been responded to promptly and reported to Members.

Page 313



The Council’s Call-In Procedure provides that any non-Executive Member may

request to call-in a decision of which notice has been given in writing to the
Operational Manager (Scrutiny Services). The Committee received a request for a
call in on Cabinet Decision CAB/15/84 on Welsh Medium Schools Catchment

Areas. The Call-in was held on 17 May and the outcome of the meetings was to :

Page 334



Suggested Items for 2016/17 Work Programme

The Committee receives regular work programme updates at which Members
have the opportunity to consider items suggested by members of the public, young
people, organisations, Council Members and other Scrutiny Committees, for
inclusion on the work programme. Committee Members can also suggest any new

issues which may be of interest to the Committee.

The Committee will be starting the development of its work programme in June
2016. It has recommended that the following issues could be prioritised for

scrutiny:

e Schools Causing Concern

e Education Long term Strategy

e Update on Youth Guarantee

e Cardiff Commitment to Youth Engagement and Progression
e Appointment of School Governors

e Consortium performance

e Merger of Glyn Derw and Michaelston High Schools

e Social Services Wellbeing Wales Act

e Regional Adoption Service

e Play Service.

The Council is responsible for co-ordinating the production of the main strategies
and plans covering service development and provision across a range of services

and agencies. The Committee’s future work programme could include:

e Education long term strategy

e Children’s Services Improvement Plan
e Corporate Plan and Budget

e Integrated Family Support Team.

Page 315



The Committee has undertaken a number of Task Group inquiries during the year

and will be identifying further issues for consideration during June/July 2016.

It is suggested that the Committee continues to receive the regular progress and

performance reports on:

e Children’s Services performance
e School performance

e Budget proposals and monitoring.

Scrutiny Services, City and County of Cardiff,
Room 263, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff. CF10 4UW
Tel: 029 2087 2953 Email: scrutinyviewpoints@cardiff.gov.uk
© 2016 City and County of Cardiff

Page 3346



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Care & Social Services Inspectorate Wales - Inspection of Children's Services
	Item 4  App A Inspection Report

	5 Children's services Quarter 4 Performance Report
	Item 5 Q4 App A Perf Report
	Item 5 Q4 App B
	Item 5 Q4 App C1
	Item 5 Q4 App C2

	6 Estyn Monitoring Visit Letter
	Item 6 App A Letter from Estyn March 2016

	7 Education Quarter 4 Performance Report
	Item 7 Q4 App A Perf Report
	item 7 O4 App B Categorisation of schools 2015-2016
	Item 7 Q4 App C NEET Scrutiny Report 2016

	8 Specialist Provision for Primary Aged Pupils with Speech and Language Difficulties, and with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties
	Item 8 App A Cabinet Proposal
	Cabinet 3 Dec 2015 SOP Specialist Provision Meadowbank
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 3 Dec 2015 SOP Specialist Provision Meadowbank App 1
	Cabinet 3 Dec 2015 SOP Specialist Provision Meadowbank App 2
	Cabinet 3 Dec 2015 SOP Specialist Provision Meadowbank App 3
	Cabinet 3 Dec 2015 SOP Specialist Provision Meadowbank App 4
	- the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city travel.
	-  the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city travel.
	- the proposal is likely to result in more children accessing provision in local schools avoiding the need for cross city travel.
	Consider the potential impact on
	Consider the potential impact on
	 promoting and improving access to life-long learning in Cardiff
	 raising levels of skills and qualifications
	 giving children the best start
	 improving the understanding of sustainability
	 addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, participation poverty)
	 the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child  and Principles for Older persons
	Consider the potential impact on
	 promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff
	 encouraging participation and access for all to physical activity, leisure & culture
	 protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic heritage of Cardiff

	See Equality Impact Assessment below (and attached). 
	- Statutory public consultation would be carried out on formal proposals (including engagement with school pupils)
	- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged
	Consider the potential impact on
	 strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary sectors

	 Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment) Regulations 2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of land use plans.
	- Statutory public consultation would be carried out on formal proposals (including engagement with school pupils)
	- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged
	Conclusion
	The proposal has been assessed to be largely compatible with the environmental objectives used to assess the goal and principles of the‘’21st Century Schools: A Strategic Framework for A School Building Improvement Programme” that underpin school orga...



	9 Draft Task & Finish Report on Child Sexual Exploitation in Cardiff
	Item 9 App A CSE draft report
	Item 9 App A - App 1 National Action Plan 3 March 2016

	10 Draft Task Group's Report on visit to schools causing concern
	11 Committee's Draft Annual Report 2015/2016
	Item 11 App A CYP Annual Report 2015-16




